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CHAPTER I  

 

 

The Punjab Annexed  

 

 

At the beginning of the nineteenth century, the Honourable  

East India Company, by a combination of commercial  

acumen and military opportuniim. wai master of most of  
India. Among the remaining independent states, the Punjab  

was the most strategic of its territorial aspirations. India, it  

was feared, might be ins'aded through the arid pastes of the  

North-West Frontier: Alexander the Great had moved that  

way into the 'Land of the Five Rivets’ two thousand years  

earlier; the Mughals had follow'cd to conquer the subconti-  

nent. Afghans and Penians had plundered the fertile  

plains; there had been alarmist talk that Napoleon with Rus-  

sian help, planned to follow in the footsteps of Alexander;  

and now Russia was again threatening to advance her empire  

step by step in that direction through the independent kha-  
nates of Central Asia. Doth for commercial exploitation and  

the security ofthe subcontinent the company wanted control  

of the Punjab, Runjit Singh, the great Sikh warrior who had  

consolidated the kingdom from the disunited clans of his  

caste and made himself their maharajah, wanted his power  



endorsed and his territory extended.  
 

Runjit Singh, ‘Lion ofthe Punjab’, was wary enough to  

know that the British were unlikely to be beaten in battle,  

but he thought himself svisc enough to outwit them politic-  

ally, In 1 83 1 , on what was described as another Field of Cloth  

of Gold, he made a treaty of friendship with the company  

which he hoped would allow him to pursue his ambitions  

unopposed. To the British, this diminutive tyrant, pock-  

marked and blind in one eye, was a man to be admired and  
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he in his turn admired them, especially their military disci-  

pline which he sought to instil in his own army with the help  

of European officers. Runjit Singh stuck to his treaty of  

friendship - there was co-operation in an expedition to  

Afghanistan; there was resignation at British infiltration of  

his territory south of the Sutlq; there was tolerance at their  
occupation of the Sind he coveted himself. At least he  

acquired Jammu, Kashmir and Peshawar. Still trusting in the  

two-edged alliance, he seemed content to amass treasure and  

debauch his remaining days.  

 

Dulcep Singh,* the hero of this story, was the last of the  

four ‘acknowledged’ sons of Runjit Singh. He was bom on  

4 September 1838, at a rime when the great man was unlikely  

tohavebeenableto father achild for. apan from a preference  

for the company of beautiffil boys, he had had two strokes  

and was partially paralysed; in addition, an indulgence in  
laudanum, brandy fortified with powdered pearls, and fat  

quails stuffied with spices, had wrought havoc with his  

liver.  

 

Duleep Singh's mother was Jindan Kour. daughter of a  

palace doorkeeper, a woman of considerable chataaer and  

influence in the royal household. Adopted by Runjit Singh  

at an early age, her ready vrit and lack of sexual inhibitions  

had made her well qualified to organire the mote outlandish  

entertainments of the court. It was said that the ageing  

Maharajah took perverse pleasure in her amours even to the  

extent of encouraging her lovemaking with his current  
favourite, formerly a bfcijfcfi or water-camer m the palace  

courtyards. On the birth of a boy. Runjit Smgh was amused  

to accept the flattering pretence that the child was his; by  

officially recogmzing him as such he made more certain the  

continuance of lus dynasty.  

 

Runjit Singh died the following summer and was duly  

burned, along with a number of his self-sacnfiang women-  

 

•Thc ipcJling oi'Dulccp Smshvino throughout the text The tudiort hive  

Oicd that veraon by which the Mahaiqih wu chrutened md which be Uied  
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palace generals. A test of strength came when the Rani Jin-  
dan’s brother, Jewahir Singh, brought about the death of  

another brother who had the support of a powerful military  

group. It led to an occasion that must have been profoundly  

unsettling to the psyche of one small boy.  

 

The troops had sworn to avenge the murder of their cham-  

pion and summoned the suspect sirdar to appear before them.  

He had no choice but to face the large force of clamorous  

soldiery outside the gates of Lahore. To enhance his prestige  
and for a measure of protection he sat the young Duleep  

Singh beside him on his elephant and was followed by the  

Ranijindan and her attendant women. The rani, who had  

considerable influence over the troops, being regarded by  

them as ‘the mother of the people’, pleaded her brother’s  

cause and ofTcted extra pay for their support. Encouraged by  

their apparently accommodating mood he prepared to de-  

liver his conciliatory address. Bugles suddenly sounded and  

drums began to beat, upon which signal his elephant was  

seized and made to knee). Duleep Singh was snatched from  

the howdah at the same moment as his uncle was bayoneted  
through the side and a bullet blew out his brains. The terrified  

child was held that night by the soldiers, who feared that his  

mother, mad with grief and cage, might do harm both to  

herself and their maharajah. The following morning, when  

he was returned to her, she took him to sec the mangled body  

and threw herself and him upon it, screaming and tearing  

her hair. It was some time before she could be restrained.  

 

Real power now lay with the military committees even  

if they continued to recognize the ram as regent and Duleep  

Singh as maharajah. Their inustent demands for more pay  
and privileges undermined the fabric of the state; with an  

emptying treasury and a threat to replace her son on the  

throne with the litdc Shahzadah, son of the murdered  

Maharajah Sher Singh and thus grandson to Runjic Singh,  

the Rani Jindan and her mmisten could by no means consider  

themselves secure. The only hope, they decided, was to  

weaken the immediate grip of the army by encouraging it  
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to make war on the British, who averc themselves piepaimg  

across the Sutlej for what they had long seen as an  

eonflict with the Sikh nation. Inspired by evidence of the  

warlike intentions of the British and visions of the conquest  

of Delhi and even the entire subcontinent, the army insisted  

on going to war under the leadenhip of the very people svho  

 

hoped todestroyitspowerbycollisionwitha more powerful  

 

"Sit not been for the double-dealing of the ram's  

generals, it is likely that the ambitions of the S^h a™y  
lould have been reaUzed. They crossed the Sutlej >>“' ^^ 8 ;  

ingly held back from attacking Ferozepore. ‘'■c  

British base. Mudki. Ferozshah. Aliwal. and finally, Sobmon  

battles fodght valiantly by both “Westants. each one of  

which migL have been a L  



 
traitorous commanders quit the field. Wil « ,  

 

operation British troops crossed the Sutlq  

on 20 February 1846 took possession of the “P™;  

 

On 9 March, the Treaty of Lahore was ratified by Gov  

 

emor General Hatdinge, now a viscount, in his «  

 
side the walls of the city. Duleep Singh sat onh'' "ght and  

 

a travelling notable. Prince Waldemar <>rP"«»'  

 

Around his neck the Duleep Singh svore  

of Queen Victoria, given to Runjit Singh «!>'" Lo'd Auck  

land was governor general. Hardinge h™ m the  

 

queen as ‘a very beautiful brave  

 

without any fear and with all the good breeding pecuhar  
the Eastern people.’^ the  

 

Hardinge did not feel 5 ^' rpS^^^^  

whole of the Punjab, but sizeable piem ol wer p  

 

iutheBririshintiest-lUshmirandJammuweresoMm^^^^^  

traitorous sirdar, Gholab Singh, who un ^  

 

watk against Afghan or Russian g°”Beas  

 

north; a rich piece Raj- The rump of  
 

and Sutlq was engorged . -Uore bv the durbar  

 

the Punjab was to be governed Lahore by the  

 

in the name of the Maharajah unnl he came of age.  

 

 

5  
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So forceful was the character of Duiccp Singh’s mother,  

said by Herbert Edwardes, who knew her well, to have more  

‘wit and daring than any man of her nation’,^ that she easily  

established dominance over the durbar and, with her lover  

asprimcministcr.sctout to rule the country in her own way.  

The ambitious rani was soon to find out, however, that under  

the terms of the treaty it was the British ‘Resident’, installed  

on her doorstep in Lahore and backed by the bayonets of  

the British army that she herself had invited into the city to  

maintain order, who was in effect dictator of the country.  
As Lord Hardinge expressed the situation: 'In all our  

measures taken during the minority {of Duleep Singh) we  

must bear in mind that by thcTreaty . . .the Punjab was never  

intended to become an independent sute ... in fict the native  

prince is in fetters, and under our protection, and must do  



our bidding.’* The Resident, lundiy Henry Lawrence, did his  
best to respect the sentiments of the durbar and the Sikh  

people, and for a time it seemed as if the rani was getting  

the better of him. But he tightened his grip when, fretting  

under the restrictions to her power, she began to intrigue  

against him. Her downfall was not long in coming.  

 

At Lawrence’s instigation, the title of rajah was to be con-  

ferred on the commandcr-in-chicf of the Lahore army, a man  

whom she regarded as the arch-collaborator with the British  
and responsible for the recent banishment of her lover and  

former prime minister. In no way anxious to endorse her  

enemy’s elevation she delayed her son’s arrival at the cere-  

mony for over an hour, much to the annoyance of the Sikh  

sirdars and theBricish officials who were kept waiting. When  

he finely appeared, the young maharajah firmly refused to  

(Aey the Resident’s urgent order to mark the forehead of  

the commander-in-chief, TeJ Singh, with the saffron sign of  

rajafehip. According to Hardinge. ‘When Tej Singh knelt  

at the httle pnnee’s feet, to have his forehead anointed by  

the Boy dipping hU finger in the perfumed oil, he refused,  
and when he was pressed to do so he tucked his litde hands  

and arms and resolutely resisted any entreaty ... It is knosvn  

6  
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that the Rani had drilled the Boy to play his part 2 days  

before.’* The rani was clearly in a defiant mood, for despite  

admonishment from Lawrence, she further asserted her will  
by forbidding her son to attend the celcbtatory display of  

fireworks that evening. Her ungovernable behaviour was to  

have untoward consequences; the governor general, svho  

had earlier referred to ‘the Billingsgate in svhich she has  

indulged, the anti-English side she has taken, and the  

scandalous profligacy of her conduct’,* wtmt further on hear-  

ing the report of her performance at the investiture and  

wrote to Lawrence that he could see no reme y u  

•remove’ her from Lahore and that ’her general  

and habits of intrigue ate sufficient to justify her separation  

from her son .. . The British Government being the “  

 
of the Maharajah have the right to sepatate him from the  

contagion of her evil practice.*’ ,1,-11 ani  

 

Less than two sveeks after the investiture incident, the Rm  

Jindan was ’removed’ to an uncomfortable provincial for-  

tress. She was said to have been involved in a murder plot  

but no charges were laid against her m ‘  

 

there was little concrete evidence, other than a  

cepted letters and reports from spies. On the "'“'"‘"S  

reLval Duleep Singh was packed off to the Shalimar  
Gardens with a new toy to occupy him. According to  

rente, when he asked ro be returned to the PJ’" *-0  

attendant informed him he could not do so '”i'‘ ^  

 

he replied loftily; ’Perhaps 1 am detained  



I am not able to leave without permusion. Later  
was told that his mother had been raken away  

have remarked that at least he had been allowed to keep his  

 

q had entrusted my head to your care  

Lawrence from her place of confinement.  

 

•it under the feet of traitors. You have not "/j  

 

You ought to have instituted “ " 4 ,  
 

me with what you found against ‘ ^ > wty Jq  

 

possession of my kingdom by underhan  
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you not do it openly? ... Do juito to me or '  

io London hejdqu.tters." Wiihout her ton  
without power and wrote paitionate lettett ■» '•awtcnc Kg  

ging to he re-united with him: ‘You have been  

L me!- the wailed. •You have toatehed my ton f'”™ ”  

For ten montht I kept him m toy womb ... In the nam  

of the God you worthip and in the name of the Kmg  

— . — , ,o I cannot bear  

 

 

whose salt you eat. restore my s  

the pain of thit separation. Initead you ihould pot me to  

 
‘'”t'wrence wrote a eoncilialoty reply, atsuring her thar her  

son was petfecUy happy and in good hands I am very glad  

to hear fmm your letter that the Maharajah j. happy, she  

answered. 'Wlutever you write may be true. But my nund  

ZTnc, believe that the Maharajah ts happy. How can he.  

whose mother has been separated from him. be happy. ...  

Weeping, he was tom away from his mother and taken to  

Shalimir Gardens. whUe the mother was dragged out by her  

hair Well has the friendship been paid. You never thought  

in your mind how the Maharajah who was very young,  

could live happily without his mother.’”  

 
The gentlemanly Lawrence was moved to pity, and poss-  

ibly to shame, by such maternal pleas, but Hardinge, who  

had motivated and taken full responsibility for her removal,  

was little more than cynical. ‘We must expect these letters  

in various shapes, which a woman of her strong mind and  

passions will assume as best suited either to gratify her ven-  

geance or obtain her ends . .  

 

Whether as a result of losing his mother or not. Lawrence  

noticed that the boy looked ‘downcast’ and did his best to  

cheer him up. He hoped to persuade him that the English  
were not as bad as he had been led to believe, and to gain  

influence over him by tact andcharm. The Resident arranged  

visits to the racecourse where he could ‘mix with the Euro-  

pean ladies and officers’;” he took him to a display of fire-  

works. and a lecture illustrated by 'dissolving views’ pro-  



jected from a magic lantern. Lawrence thought that the boy  
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needed to be removed from the indulsem and  

manly atmosphere of the zenana and given sterner  

nnder English auspiees: he proposed that some of W  

eivU servants might take on the task, hot -ho Sikh «ra  

who may have wished to keep their maharajah "^0“ on  
 

inthcirownhands.proteitedonthegroundst o'oa  

 

very young and timid*. Lawrence persisrc an^  

claiming that those same sirdars were passing 00^°^ ,  

on the precocity of Hi. Highness*, mtelleet. which they  

ascribe to the visits of my Assistants .  

 

His report indicated that his charge showed proimsc . 1 he  

 

Maharajah’swritinglessonswcrcasusualshown .  
 

1 said that I hoped he read a little every day . . ‘ '  

 

sent ‘for the pictures drawn last With a reed  

 

Edwardcs and seemed much pleased with t cm. .1^  

 

pen he then scratched off several pictures  

and men. He has a turn for mechanics and for ,iy  

 

writing, and is altogether a very intelligent an pp  
welwtposed boy. His manners are particularly good and  

his temper secml excellent. I hope that he becom«  

accustomed to us. we will be able to teach  

thing; at present my main endeavour is to keep  

cvil.’»»  

 

At the beginning of 1848 the strain of running  

 

affairs of the Punjab forced Hardinee,  

 

England on sick leave. The old soldier, He ry  

 
retired at the same time to be replaced j j gcot  

 

by James Andrew, tenth Earl of Dalhousie. »  

 

and lately president of the Board jTthority  

 

only thirty-five, but was capable of acting wil - ^55.  

 

and determination that belied hts poor healt an  

 

ive appearance. In public he expected his aut 01 y ^  
 

questioned: ‘There can only be one *"****[ ^ jt should  

 

wrote, ‘and while I am in India, I have no m (-mmcil  

 



be anybody else than the Governor ^ , he  
 

Hardinge had assured his successor that ‘it would not be  
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necessary to fire a gun in India for seven years to come  

This wishful forecast was disproved within three months  
when, towards the end of April 1848, Lieutenants Anderson  

and Vans Agnew were murdered by the excited retainers of  

Moolraj, governor ofthc outlying province ofMooltan. The  

young officers had been sent to relieve him of a position he  

no longer wished to retain under the exasperating conditions  

ofBritishfiscalsupervision. Moolraj, who may not have insti-  

gated the murder, was funher compromised by his men  

attacking the British escort and had no choice but to set up the  

standard of revolt in his fortress headquarters.  

 

In his proclamation calling on the Sikh army to support  
him, Moolraj called for the release of the Rani Jindan - who  

had been moved to an even less comfortable accommodation  

following the discovery of a plot to murder the Resident -  

and for power to lie in the hands of their Maharajah rather  

than the usurping feringhees. Such was the aggravation  

caused by the monitorial concern of the British for the wel-  

fare of the common people that several of the important  

sirdars, including two members of the Lahore durbar, joined  

the rebellion along with substantial and revengeful remnano  

of the Sikh army. Thus, what had started out as a local inci-  

dent, which might have been rapidly suppressed if British  
noops had been allowed to help the loyal forces immediately,  

developed into a situation which only powerful reinforce-  

ments could hope to contain. ‘Unwarned by precedents, un-  

influenced by example, the Sikh nation has called for war,'  

Dalhousic announced at a Government House banquet,  

adding, to the cheers of the assembled diners, ‘And on my  

word. Sirs, they shall have it with a vengeance!’**  

 

On 18 November 1848, having held back until the hot  

weather was over,Lord Gough proudly, if belatedly, entered  

the Punjab with his grand army of fifteen thousand men. A  

proclamation was addressed to ‘all loyal subjects of the  
Maharajah’ to assure them that the Bntish had come ‘not as  

an enemy to the constituted government, but to restore order  

and obedience’.”  
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On 13 January 1 849 Gnugh-snnny met twice their number  

of Sikhs in a ferocious battle:  

 
ChillianwalUh. ChflHanwallah!  

 

Tis a wild and dreary plain  

Strewn with plots of thickest jungle,  

 



Matted with the gory stain.  
 

There the murder-mouthed artillery.  

 

In the deadly ambuscade.  

 

Wrought the thunder of its treachery  

On the skeleton brigade.^  

 

Thus sang George Meredith to  
 

thousand British who were left dead wounded m the  

ravines and underbrush. The old Duke of  

 

anoracleon Indianaffairs. calledfor Napier to take comman^^  

 

and threatened to lead the troop Luctit^  

 

The army’s reputation was happily rptored by  

of Moolraj’s fortress from a lucky hit on the po' .-my  

zine and a notable victory at Gujrat ov« the m  
of thirty-four thousand men which led to a ° Duleep  

While all these great events were being enacted D^eep  

Singh remained in Lahore and in almost comp c 8  

of 4 at was being effected in his name. He only kn'iw that  

a young companion, the son of a rebel sirdar, P  

 

confinement, and he cannot have failed to observe  

British regiment was put to guard the pa jJqj, of  

 

treaty. Lord Dalhousie was committed to th --sien it  

 
the Punjab. Despite Henry Lawrence’s threats to resign, u  

 

wasdecided to depose the young maharajah w ° ■  

 

Treaty of Lahore, the government was committed to protect  

 

andmrimain. .i, tB.q theeov-  

 

From his camp at Ferozepore, on 30 Mar •  

 

emor general issued the manifesto that sonoro  

 
drewrLg-doingsofthcSikhnarionandpr^cIa.^^^^^^^^^  

 

kingdom of the Punjab was at an end. miMtionable  

 

and moral justification were interspersed wi q ^^nry  

charges and grim admonishment. B t  

Eliot, sccteury to the government of India,  
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Maharajah and his ‘council of r^ency’ ihc precise terms to  

which they were expected to submit*  

 

1. His Highness the Maharajah Duleep Singh shall resign for  

himself, his hein, and successors all right, title and claim to the  



sovereignty of the Punjab, or to any lovercign power whatever.  
 

2 . All the property of the Snte. of whatever description and  

wheresoever found, shall be confiscated to the Honourable East In-  

du Company, in part payment of the debt doe by the State of  

Lahore to the Bridib Government and of rhe expenses of the war.  

 

3. The gem called the Koh-i-noor, which was taken from Shah  

Sooja-ool-moolk by Maharajah Runjeer Singh, shall be sur-  

rendered by the Maharajah of Lahore to the Quern of England,  
 

*. His Highness Duleep Singh shall receive from the Honourable  

East India Company, for the support of himself and his rcladves.  

and the servants of the Sure, a pension of not Ins than four, and  

not exceeding five, lakhs* of the Company’s mpees per annum.  

 

5. Hi) Highness shall be treated with respect and honour. He shaS  

retain the Dtle of Maharajah Duleep Singh Bahadoor, and he thall  

continue to re«lve during hishfe such portion of the above-named  

pension as may be allotted to hiouelf personally, provided he shall  

remain obedient to the British Govemmeot, and shall reside at surii  
place as the Governor General of India may select.^*  

 

Oalhotuse had little sympathy for the boy who was sup-  

posedly his protege and who had now been relieved of ^  

throne and fortune. He did not sec why a penon he had  

earlier referred to as ‘a ch0d notoriously surreptitious, a brat  

begotten of a bhishti, and no mote the son of old Runjit  

Singh than Queen Victoria is’.” should be treated with more  

than cursory justice. He thought it necessary, however, to  

justify his action to his critics in London and wto» to Sir  

John Hobhousc, chairman of the East India Company,  
explaining the reasons for the confiscation of property that  

might be considered by some the rightful heritage of their  

juvenfle charge: ‘that the means of mischief hereafter might  

 

*UU>=< 100.000 nipca n»eD WMth about CiojDOo  
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not bclcft to the Meherejalf ; ind ‘thit the greet debt which  

 

irdne to thh government todeyforlheexpent« of ^rmtBh  

 

be diminhhed by the emount of the property . The letter  

continued:  

 

It hit now found in proper toting pUce.  

 

The pmion of the Mehervh .. ,Jno Rr.  
 

Hi. own Hipend, I mean, and alwa>-, ^ ‘’but he » a  

 

like the Rjji of Sattarah. He ha. a large i T  

 



The Maharajah u allowed lo remain for this year, ai the h  
weather h on. Next year he mo« go. it U a super-  

 

I am torty for him. poor little fellow, himself  

 

fluous compassion. He does not care tw P . . income tax')  

 

. he will have a good and regular y nd. ( w thoot mcom  

all his life, and will die in his bed like > 1 J aa  

 
other circumstances, he certainly would not have done.  

 

The members of the regency council were Jjf  

anxious to incut the odium of signing aw y  

to the Dtitish, but Eliot cunningly played on b-r fear'  

losing estates or salaries and persnadrf  

the grounds that if they refused he .vhatevet" When  

 

that they would receive any wnsidcra pre-  

 

ihc document, known as the Treaty o ^...-aia'critYwith  
 

sented tothe Maharajah.Eliotrepotted that the  

 

which he took the papers when offered o ’..ibiyhehad  

 

ofrema,ktoall,andsyestedtheidea|ha,poss.bl^^^^^^  

 

been instructed by hts favourable than  

 

might lead to the substitution of term  

 
those which had been offered^ Eliot described  

 

in a manner which the Maharajah s fu g ^vhole  

 

Login, described as •undignified exultation. The  
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ceremony was conducted widi grave decorum. No Sirdar  

was armed. The cosily jewels and gaudy robes, so con-  

spicuous in the Sikh Court on other public occasions, now  
were thrown aside. I did not observe the slightest sign of  

wonder, sorrow, anger, or even dissatisfaction, upon the  

countenance of any one present ... As I left the Palace, 1 had  

the proud satisfaaion of seeing the British colours hoisted  

on the citadel under a royal salute from out own artillery,  

at once proclaiming the ascendancy of British rule, and  

sounding the knell of the Khalsa Raj!'^^  

 

Thus the most important piece of real estate on the sub-  

continent became an integral part of the British Raj and the  

warlike Sikhs submitted gracefully to the well-interitioned  
operations of the Bririih civil servants. Their former  

maharajah, son of the founder of thenanon, was taken in hand  

by a Scottish doctor.  

 

On 6 April iSaOi Duleep Singh was formally introduced to  



his new'Superintendent’, Drjohn Login, a native of Orkney,  
who had started his career as a medical officer in the Bengal  

army. He had served the company both in a medical and  

lately in an administrative capacity with a dedication that  

earned him the respect of the civil establishment. Henry  

Lawrence had entrusted him with command of the Lahore  

citadel and Us prisoners ofstate-Mooltaj and the recalcitrant  

sirdars — as well as giving him charge over the treasury of the  

lungs of Lahore. It may have been the doctor’s moral recti-  

tude that persuaded the Resident to offer him the permanent  
post of guardian to the Maharajah - a job whsch could hardly  

advance his career in the service - so that be would not have  

him looking over lus shoulder m the new administration of  

the Punjab. His salary of £i,ooo a year was to be paid from  

the Maharajah’s stipend.  

 

Login described his first meeting with the boy m a letter  

to his wife Lena, who had (or health reasons returned to Eng-  

land some time earlier with their children ; ’The little fellow  

seemed very well pleased with me, and we got on swimm-  
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ingly. I told him that now you had gone to take my little  

ones to England, I was left alone, and wanted someone to  

care for and be kind to ... He seems a very fme-tempered  

boy, intelligent, and handsome.’**  

 
Login’s other charge, the royal treasury, contained much  

of the riches accumulated by Runj'it Singh - a profusion of  

gold and silver, religious relics, jesvcls of immense sire,  

golden thrones, cashmere shawls, magnificent armour and  

weapons, embroidered tents, bejewelled saddles, and a por-  

trait of Queen Victoria. Among this magpie’s hoard, which  

Login had to sort out and catalogue, was the object described  

in his inventory' as the diamond, the legendary Koh-i-  

noor referred to in the treaty, which Runjit Singh had ‘per-  

suaded* his old ally Shah Shuja of Afganistan to part w'ith.  

The Koh-i-noor, ‘mountain of light’, had passed from con-  

queror to conqueror as a symbol of power and glory and  
was regarded as the greatest treasure in India. The great uncut  

stone, the size of a pigeon egg, was at that time mounted with  

two other diamonds in an enamelled armlet. Dalhousie de-  

cided that it should be presented to Queen Victoria with the  

compliments of the East India Company and it was accord-  

ingly dispatched to England in a metal box guarded by two  

soldiers. It w'as agreed that the Maharajah could retain a small  

part of the treasure to be selected by his guardian, a concession  

that may have indicated a guilty awareness that the hoard  

could be considered 'family’ rather than ‘state’ chattels claim-  

able under the treaty.  
 

‘Now that I know what I can keep for him out of the  

accumulated property I must take care that his possessions  

arc not diminished by pilfering,’ the cver-conscicntious  

doctor wrote to his wife. ‘Poor dear little fellow,’ he con-  



tinued, ‘so far he seems mightily pleased with me, and I do  
hope wc shall continue to like each other ; he is very lovable,  

I think . . . His studies at present are Persian and English. For  

amusement he is passionately fond of hawking, and thinks  

of nothing else. He is busy getting up a book on the subject  

... this takes up his whole attention, and renders him  
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indiffermrtoaUelseforthetjinebeing , . . Hchaspainten con-  

tinuously near him at this work and himself tries to draw  

and paint a httle. I want you to send me out for him a nice  

paint-box and materials for tus use, and a good book of in-  

structions in the art of drawing and painting, till 1 can get  

him good lessons. Send also some mechanical toys to amuse  

him. also geographical puzzles or dissected maps, plates of  
animals etc.fi t for a boy of his age to amuse and interest him.’  

Login added a positive idea for his charge’s future: ‘I think  

the Maharajah shows a great desire to hear about England.  

Sir H. Lawrence wished he could be educated there, and not  

left to grow idle and debauched in India, with nothing to do.  

He will surely have as much to live on as any of our nobles,  

considering what he has httindwe bivegaineJl Why, then,  

should be not be brought up to the life of one (in the highest  

seme of the Nvord) - he is young enough to mould.’®^  

Login decided ^t the Maharajah should have a party for  

his cles’cnth birthday, ‘Don’t you think it woxild be proper  
to make up a parry from the Residency to offer him their  

good wishes V he asked Henry Lawrence, who was now back  

in the laddle. ‘A little civility and attention shown on this,  

his first birthday since he lost his throne, would be kindly  

taken. It need not be in the least official, merely friendly: but  

as the natives will all do their best to do him honour, I think  

our party should not sport joJah hau and shooting jackets on  

this occasion.’^’  

 

‘Solah’ hats svould have in any case been superfluous on  

that occasion as it poured with rain. The Maharajah himself  

was dressed ‘most splendidly’, weanng the diamond aigrette  
andstar and various otherjeweh that Login had rescued from  

the treasury and handed over to him on that day as a ‘birthday  

present*. ‘When I congratulated him on his appearance,’ he  

wrote to his svife. ‘he innocently remarked that on his last  

birthday he had worn the Koh-i-noor on hu arm.’ The boy’s  

observation on receiving his own possessions as a present  

might have been less ‘innocent’ than the doctor supposed.  

But the pany was voted a success and Login had cerumly  
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t^iedhlsbes.: •Everything hC";!  

 



and feel a great difference, poor little m „i,h  
 

he thoroughly enjoyed be. LuckUy the  

 

the fireworks as any hoy | of rain in the morning  

 

evening was fine though the deluge ot ram m  

 

was drLdful and upset all my fine y""f ”ws period was  

 
A colourful impression of Duleep Singh at to ^  

 

provided hy Helen (be Maharajah in the  

 

who was taken hy Dr Login ceilings  

 

Shish Mahal, or ?'“’ ^biu of coloured mirror: ‘Dalip  

covered in a mosaic of litUe hi . . ^^^bful eyes and nose,  

 

Singh is about eleven years old. He met us at the  

 
but *e lower part of *e face » ^ „ for the  

 

door and took Dr Login s , p Login. A box  

 

little prince, and a >.il«V”“ ~ ‘^‘^ti^and hofh the litUe  

MZa^hi“nd ZsTr^li.rwere anxiously waiting to see its  

 

“Malnaiemadeanumhe^of^^^^^^^^^^^  

 

Lahore. Dulcep Singh asked h j silver, with  

 
depictedhim ‘richly dressed! m y niaenificent pearls  

 

a sLt of crimson tunic “"f^'.’trk isTlways in the hall,  

 

°^-Z::i:higpartyt<^a.m;^hy.^M— -S;  

 

commander-m-chicf of the * J* p ^housic described  

 

conqueror of of .8 ^  

 

his arrival at Lahore on t c .^^troopswcrcinconsidcr-  

 
Thc chiefs came out to mcet^ and * ^  

 

able strength - there was an abundance  
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and lowered colours, and toaiing salutes: and as the camp was  

pitched just under the Walls of the citadel of Lahore, a fine mass  

of building, and as 1 knew that Chutter Singh, and Shcre Singh,  

and Moolraj, our prisenm, as well as the little Maharajah, were  

looking down on us, the sight was rather a fine one m sentiment  



as well as gay externals . . . The little Maharajah is an engaging lirde  
fellow, and has quite won my heart. He appears to be happy, enjoy-  

ing his hawks and his fun, and already very fond of Dr. Login who  

has had charge of him.  

 

The governor general on his elephant was met by the  

Maharajah on his and taken for a conducted tour of the city.  

Afterwards there was a garden fete at the residency for the  

soldiers, where the Maharajah expressed great interest in the  

Highlanders in full dress - ‘Login, tell him they arc my coun-  
trymen,' said Dalhomie.  

 

On a visit to the treasury, which Login had to admit had  

just been broken into by British soldiers, the governor  

general selected various additional jewels for the queen’s coJ-  

lection and two sets ofhistoric arms and armour. Added to  

the selection was an item that it must have been sad for its  

owner to pan with, described by Dalhousic to the queen  

as 'a suit of his own little caparison, which he was accustomed  

to wear at the bead of the boy-regiment which was formerly  

kept up for him at Lahore. The Maharajah begged that the  
Arms might be presented on his part, and with his respects,  

to His Royal Highness the Prince of Wales ... It is a curious  

specimen of modern native workmanship.'^* Queen Vic-  

toria failed to acknowledge the Maharajah's charming gift-  

The queen might have been expected to disapprove of the  

fact that her statesmen in India had separated a sovereign  

prince not only from his country and possessions but also  

from his mother, and Oalhousie was aiudous to assure her  

that all was for the best. In one of his regular reports to her  

he wrote; At Lahore, the Governor General had much com-  

munication with the little Maharajah. He is an intelligent and  
engaging child, most sensible of loudness, and apparently as  

happy as the day u long. He is old enough to be sensible of  
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what he has lost, but old enoogt. too,  

 

has gained. He recollects what he saw four .  

 
mates that he knew the risks of his own fate -  

 

to return to his mother, who "put discredit on ’  

 

“by beating him every day,” and he wishes to r  

 

“'The Maharajah's motherhadin fact escaped from her ht«t  

 

place of detention. The resourceful lady had ^  

 

as one of her maidservants and. being alwa^ys veded had  
easily deceived the guards. In the role infsaha-  

 

reached Nepal and taken sanctuary with the tul't. Ju 8  

dur. -The Ranee Jindan is. even by her own  

upon as exceptionaUy bad, even among t es  



people.' Login wrote. ‘I trust she won t come himself  
[Dideep Singh] told me gravely that he won t tr t h  

among the Sikhs again and declines to go o  

drive unless 1 accompany him/^* mieht  

 

There was indeed some danger that her p ^  

 

tty to abduct her son from British agent at  

 

hard-headed man as Colonel Hodson,  
 

Peshawar, could write : ‘Punjabees recently _-.yrcd for  

 

below assert that a plan has •>'!" h’"c to the Hills,  

 

carrying the little ex-Maharajah f"”" jj  

 

and that should a favourable opportuni y •  

 

tainly be attempted. This maybe “ 'af in-  

 
the Ranee is alive and free, we ""fY “P “ P , f in  

 

finitum.'a* It was clear that the Punjab was no place  

 

cx-king. ^  

 

I shall be truly glad when it is wife]- Sir Henry  

 

destination of Dulcep Singh ILo^ wr Copland at once; but  

and Lawrence both advise his being sent decision.  

 
Lord D. is not fond „tatc. nught not^^  

 

 

Lord D. IS not fond ot suggesninm » «tatc might nol  

 

Sir Henry says that the Dhoon. with a arg  

a bad thing. Either of these plans , India.’and to bring him  

 

cided to send him to some place in t^ ^ mere pensioner,  

 

up with no other expe«aUon than I fpeJ it is no  

 
debauched and worthless like so many  
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work for me, and HI wash my hands of the charge, take my fur-  

lough and join you in England; buraD this is in wiser hands than  

mine, and 1 leave it there contentedly.^*  

 

The wise men at Government House decided that the  
Maharajah should be removed to Fuiteghur, a small station  

on the Ganges, the other side of the country.  
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Tea Witli Tommy Scott  

 

w*  

 
 

The removal of the cx-kinp of the Punjab from Iiii ancestral  

lands was a minor military operation invoK’ing an escort of  

infantry, horse artillery andieveral squadrons of cavalry. The  

govemorpcnerarsmarchingordersaddeda svarning that the  

boy might be rescued or ‘inveigled aivay at night** by parti-  

sans instigated by his mother, who was then under house  

arrest in Katmandu and not in fact in a strong position to  

intervene. Included in the convoy was Dulccp Singh's six-  

year-old nephew, the Shahzadah. and his Rajput mother: as  

another rallying point, the little boy could not be allowed  
to remain at large in the Punjab. Instructions were given that  

the child should be treated as a companion to Dufeep Singh  

but ‘as in all respects his inferior’.* Another companion had  

been promised when they reached Futteghur, an English boy.  

Tommy Scott, son ofa company officer. En route. Dr Login  

recruited a young man caHed Walter Guise to act as ruror.  

Logjji described him as: amiable, patient, and attentive,  

 

of mild manners ... rather slow, perhaps, and not altogether  

the man who would suit later on’.’  

 
They reached Futteghur on 19 February 1850 and in-  

spected the property that was to be their home for the next  

four years. The house, formerly occupied by an East India  

Company ‘nabob’, looked forlorn and neglected, having  

been empty for several years. ‘I must do my best to get it  

soon to look bright and cheerful/ the worthy doctor wrote  

to his wife. Tm afraid, however, that we shall have to live  

among bricks and morur for a long time, until I can get  

it to look what I wish it to be. and what 1 shall not feel is  
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iinsuited to the Msharajah, who has lost his own splendid  

home through no fault of his own.’^ In its favour the house,  

though indeed no palace, was surrounded by an attractive  

park and lay on the banks of the Ganges. Scattered bungalows  

were put in order - British installed in some, Indians in  

othen - and each household established their own routine.  

 

Login took great pride and pleasure in organizing the little  

establishment on behalf of his landlord and paymaster. The  
only thing missing for his complete contentment was the pre-  

sence of his wife, Lena, who had been away in England for  

eighteen months and was showing no great inclination to  

return to his side. ‘I do so need you to assist me,' he wrote  

plaintively, though his reasons for requiring her cannot have  



warmed her hean: 'I am anxious to give this young Mahara-  
jah (and Shahzadah) a favourable impression of us as Chris-  

tians, in our domestic state, and to make him acquire respect  

foe the character of an English lady. His opinion of them may  

afterwards have weight among his countrymen, and dispose  

them to think better of our ladies than they do ...Just think  

what their idea of ladies dancing the polka and drinking  

healths must be. if they had no opportunity of knowing them  

better and acquiring respect for them!’* Mrs Login, a Cami>-  

bell of Kinloch, obeyed the call of duty and arranged to  
return. In advance of her departure she entered into a moth-  

erly correspondence with the Maharajah and sent him  

pictures of herself and her children. Her fim gift parcel con-  

tained a paint-box, as earlier requested, and a copy of TTie  

Boys’ Oien Book which, according to Login, was 'seldom out  

of his hand' and 'the book above all others he prefers to  

study.’*  

 

The ‘companion’. Tommy Scott, duly arrived and he  

and the Maharajah soon became fast friends. Study did  

not seem to be Duleep Singh’s strong point : ‘1 wish I could  
give the little fellow a taste for learning,’ his governor com-  

plained, ‘in fact for study of any sort; but you see he has  

not been trained to do anything of that kind, and it is so  

difficult to get him to apply his rmnd for even five minutes  
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at a time. Poor Guise has a lively time of it. and needs great  

 

^^^e^good dortorhad to aa as mother and father to Dulecp  

Singh md. though he disapproved of the wstom of cbl  

manages, set about finding a suitable bnde  

matter which had been in abeyance since nego la .  

 

ated at Lahore for marriage to an infant cousin a  

 

down. •! have been making enquiries and  

 
litdeboy,’ he wrote home. ‘He says I am hu a- P  

he trusts me to do what may be necessa^ for his •  

 

He wUl have nothing to do. he says, with Shcrc  

to whom he was betrothed, so I am left quite « hb^y o  

choose for him. I have heard of a little daug ter o p  

 

of Coorg, at Benares. She is being educated .  

 

child, and her father has asked, and has 0 tame P ,  

 
for her to visit England to have her education i-ok-  

 

She b only cigh, y«n good bbod  

 

ing, and also intelligent, with decided m B  



 
andlineage about her.- The Rajah of Coorg. h^d ^  

 

deprived of his small and hilly territory ui o ...  

 

bring in Benares in exile. As he had lost most of t »su e  

stolen during the evacuation of his  

 

Gourammacouldbynomcansbeconsi should  

 
Dalhousic. who was anxious only that t ^ fgci,  

 

not marry a Sikh, expressed his approva . . -.u would  

 

been talk in the Indian household ' Shahzaih, which  

 

marry his brother’s widow, mother of the Shahid . ^  

would have been permitted by Sikh Login  

 

put. who had broken caste by marrying a S ^ . M  

was to describe her as ’the most absolutely  
she had ever met’,’ but the Maharaja mention  

 

interest in her. He expressed more en usi consulted  

 

of the little princess from Coorg. but was^told that she  

the appropriate Sikh elder on the su j ^  

 

would be quite unsuiuble on the groun the  

 

in the habit of drinking broken caste.‘°  

 
Englbh ladies at Benares and had thereto  
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Life at ‘Futteghur Park*, as Login called the place, con-  

tinued on its leisurely way. There were lessons and games  

for the boys, hawking and hunting in the country and riding  

out in the Hour of cool. In his passion for hawking,  
a favourite sport among the Sikhs, the Maharajah now  

took an absorbing interest not only in flying his birds after  

game but also in their training and feeding. All along  

Login had tried to discourage his dedication on the grounds  

that the cruelty inherent in the pursuit ‘might develop the  

tendency to barbarity which is so inherent in the oriental  

charaacr’.'*  

 

Despite orders from Government House that he should not  

be given ideas of his own imporunce. Login encouraged the  

Maharajah to keep up considerable slite. One of the more  
picturesque sights at Futteghur was the elegant cavalcade  

attending his daily rides - the prince on his high-stepping  

hone, hawk on ouutretched wrist, accompanied by the  

ShahiadahandhisEnglishfriends-Tommy Scott and Robbie  

Canbore, the padre's son - a retinue of fierce-looking Sikhs  



jostling behind, followed by a detachment of the Body  
Guard in scarlet uniforms and troopen of the famous regi-  

ment Skinnen Horse, otherwise known as 'Canaries', in saf-  

fron. Sometimes he would go out on his elephant with its  

silver howdah, or ride in his smart carriage with its four grey  

arabs, driven by his English coachman, Thornton.  

 

It was still thought necessary that he should be protected  

against his mother, several of whose emissaries from Nepal  

had been caught at the frontier. ‘Honour thy father and  
mother’ was one Christian precept that Login had made no  

effort to instil: ‘As far as I can judge, not the least desire exists  

on the part of the Maharajah to communicate with his  

mother,’ he reported to Government House. ‘Having lately,  

in the course of reading history with him, met v.’ith an  

allusion to his being the acknowledged, though not the  

reputed son of Runjcct Stn^ I told him that the conduct  

of the Maharanee, and the character she had acquired,  

exposed him to this imputation; he said, “Ah. yes; it was  
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al) too (ntc!" And hf had frequent])’ made up hit mind, while  

at Lahore, that he would have hi» mother killed, that she  

might not ditgracehim.'** Such aummary execution was not  

altogether unorthodox in the Punjab - IVunjit Singh  

had killed hit mother when, at a boy, he had found her in  
bed with a lover.  

 

In November t850 Dr Login took a month*i leave so at to  

be in Calcutta to meet hit wife and children on their arrival  

from England. While he was away an event took place that  

mutt have gratified himbui 2t the tame time given him some  

feeling of shame, that though he was the young Maharajah’s  

mentor he had not fully appreciated what wat going on in  

his mind. The twcive-ycar-old Sikh suddenly announced  

that he wat going to become a Christian! Login might have  

taken some hint from a camally-dropped request in a letter  

from hit distant charge: ‘My dear go<^ friend •> We are all  
well here. Captain Campbell presided at our examination,  

and 1 got twenty marks; but Shazada got only ten. Will you  

kindly send me a nice biblc, because Bhajun Lai wat reading  

to me; and alto to tend me a chest ofllne tools for carpenter’s  

work.*’* TTie Maharajah’t next letter contained the un-  

expeeted affirmation ; ‘You will be surprised to Jeam of my  

determination to embrace the Christian religion. I have long  

doubted the truth of the one 1 wat brought up in, and con>  

vinced of the truth of the religion of the Bible, which I have  

made Bhajun Lai read pottion of it to me.'*^  

 
It was a delicate political matter, at a time when the ver-  

nacular press was free to present even the mott controversial  

arguments, that thejuvcnile ex-bead ofa warlike and sternly  

religious nation, educated under British protection, should  

embrace an alien faith. Such an event would require the auth-  



orities to establish to the people of India, and to some people  
of England, that 'improper influence' had not been brought  

to bear. Religious tolerance wasacardinal principlcofDritish  

rule and, though Christian missionaries were active through-  

out the country, the charge of proselytizing a prince would  
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have convincingly to be rebutted. Login was called upon to  

provide an explanation:  

 

The Governor-General de«res to be informed whether you have  

had any reason to suppose, at any time since the Maharajah has  

been under your charge, that His Highness gave his attention to  

matten connected with the Christian faith. Whether you or Mr.  

Guise, or any European person who have had charge of him, or  

may have had access to him, have introduced the subject of our  
rchgion to his notice ; have talked to hsm upon it. or engaged him  

in any question regarding it? Whether the young gentlemen who  

have been allowed to reside with him as Ws playfellows have talked  

to him. or have been talked to by him thereupon . . . and where  

the bible was procured, which H« Highness says has been read to  

him by an attendant, and who that attendant »?**  

 

Dr Login would have been proud enough to consider him-  

self the true progenitor of the Maharajah's conversion.  

'Though he was quite aware that U was against the rules to  

evangelise, he had done bis best to set a Christian example-  
*l trust that God helping os. we shall be enabled as "written  

epistles" to manifest the spirituality and benevolence of a  

Christian life, if we cannot otherwise preach to him,’ he had  

written to his wife soon after he was appointed guardian.**  

His frequent homilies on ‘frankness’, designed to correct  

what he regarded as an inborn dcceitfulness in the Indian  

character, and the setting out for copying and translation of  

such precepts as ’Do unto others as you would they should  

do unto yourscir was intended as a disneet projccoon of the  

Christian ethic.  

 

What may have influenced the Maharajah more than  
anything was the behaviour of the English boys on the station  

who were his friends ; his exclusion from their intriguing reli-  

gious observances, their hmts that m then eyes he was no  

mote than a heathen, and irritation that the rides of his caste  

forbade him taking food in ihcir company, must have under-  

minedhis confidence m h» own fanh. In fact he had confided  

his intention to Tommy Scott some time earlier and sworn  

his best friend to secrecy. That Tommy Scott might have  
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had something to do with it did not go unconsidered by Dr  

Login. In his report to the governor general he observed:  



‘Considering the relative charaacr and disposition of His  
Highness, as compared with Master Scott, to whom he first  

made known his intention orbccoming a Christian, I cannot  

consider the latter altogether passive in the matter; or if he  

did exert any influence over the Maharajah’s mind, in leading  

him to adopt the same faith, it could only have arisen from  

His Highness’s friendly regard for the boy, and the admira-  

tion of the honesty and truthfulness of his character, which  

he has frequently expressed/*^  

 
Knowing' Login's Christian real, the governor general  

might have held him totally responsible. Lengthy statements  

of innoecncc were taken from all concerned, and there was  

some relief when the Indian ‘attendant’ referred to oficred  

himself as a convenient scapegoat. The gentleman in ques-  

tion, Bhajun Lai, was a young Brahmin; he had been edu-  

cated at the American Presbyterian Mission where, though  

still observing (he rules ofHmduism, he had acquired more  

than a toleration of Christianity. Bhajun Lai was ordered  

by Logan to write a full report of the matter. He described  

such steps towards apostasy as might be held to put no one at  
fault:  

 

At you want to know the circumstances of HU Highness  

Maharajah's breaking his casce since you tefc, I have the honour  

to explain before your honour, what all I have known from the  

time when 1 was employed in His Highness's service.  

 

When the Maharaj b^an to learn out of a English book, by  

name of Englisfi fnstruttor. there were some lines at the back end  

of the book with a few words about Christian religion. You once  

said to Maharaj, ‘These arc records of our religion; if you want  
to read them, then read, and if you don't want, you can leave them,’  

but His Highness say to me, 'Never mind, 1 will read them, because  

I want to know everything'; then they were read. As I was svith  

him at all the times, he used to ask me questions about our religion  

(Sudras): What is the benefit of bathing in Gunga Dec? Would  

It take us into heaven if we stUl do other wicked works and bathe  

in Gunga ? I replied, and said, ‘Maharaj, it's written in our Shastras,  
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but I do not know whether we would go to hejven or hell.’ Then  

he »aid, ‘Yet. but it depends on our works.' And so on he would  

speak.  

 

In the month of Barsakh. Maharaj began to have some of our  

religious boob read, and in one book there was written a paragraph  

about a Rajah who used to make charity of ten thousand cows  

every morning before takmg his breakfast! This way the said  
Maharajah used alms of ten thousand cows during the time of hb  

life. But it came to pass, that if any one of these cows came again  

or was bought by his servant* withtwt knowing it, and the Rajah  

made his alms of that cow again, by thb he was cast into hell. Now  

when the Katha was over the Pundit gone. His Highness's servant  



Jewindah said to the Maharaj, 'See, H U not impossible that now  
the Rajah could get so much new cow every day?' Maharaj  

answered and said, ‘Yes! itii quite nonseme: and that’s why 1 doubt  

many things what the Pundit do say.*  

 

Such convemiions had been many times, but I always found  

him very conscious, and of high opinion, and not superstitious, and  

of a reasonable mind.  

 

Now, Sahib, after some rime you went to Calcutta, Maharaj saw  
one copy ofHoly Bible intomyhand. and asked of me, ’WiU you  

sen this over to me?' 1 replied, and said. 'Maharaj, I don't want  

to sell it to you, but I can present you, if you can read a chapter  

out of it without any assisance.' So be did read, and 1 presented  

him my Bible. After some time, he asked me to read to him. and  

let him hear it, and according to hb orders 1 did read. First day  

I read 6th chapter St. Matthcw.and afew others during the whole  

week. Sometimes Bible, sometimes a few tricb, then sometimes  

outofBtfy’sO«^ff«k:but lamsurcinever heard any Englbhman,  

talking or reading him any of their religious things.  

 
After thb week, then Maharaj disclosed hb designs to Captain  

Campbell and to Mr. Giuse, that he approves the Chrunan religion  

is true, and that of hb own is not true. Then the gentlemen said.  

‘Well, Maharaj, if you understand it with your conscience, it i* far  

better, and we would be only very happy if you would understand  

it.’ But I well know and can cemfy that whatever Maharaj did  

say or do, he did it by hb pleasure and opinion, but not by any  

man's beguiling.  

 

When 1 did ask Maharaj, 'Do you really believe, or merely jok-  

ing?' he then answered, and said, 'I really do believe, and 1 will  
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embrace thcChrhiian religion, because long before mine designa-  

tion was to do this.'  

 

After two or three dap. on Sundap J came back from my city  
house at twelve (because 1 often go to city on Saturday evening,  

and comeback on Sunday at midday). Maharaj told to me.'Dhajun  

Lai, I have become a Christian.' I then say, 'What did you eat?'  

He answered and said, has'c not eaten anything, but my hcan  

is changed. See now, I have not gone lo play, nor like to play,  

on this day.* Dut when the cool of es'cning came, he went out  

hawking with his favourite hawk. When he came back into the  

house ( asked him, 'Maharaj. how (s it that you told me that you  

would rto more play this day, but you went and plajrd with your  

hawks?' He answered, and said. ‘I forgot, and am very sorry for  

that.* After two dap he began to say that he would like to take  
tea with Tommy Scott and Robbie Canhore. I said 'Very well,  

do whatever you like, but do only that thing which jou well know  

will do good for you at the end.' On Wednesday J had some work  

in the city, and 1 took leave of him at twelve and went; and when  

I came back at evening. I found Maharaj. T. Scott, and R. Car-  



shore. in Maharaj's room, sitting at a table, and he (the Maharaj)  
svas boiling the svater. As soon as he saw me, he came our of the  

room and told me. ‘See now, I am going to make tea with mine  

own hands, and then we all three take together.' 1 answered, and  

said. 'Very good. Maharaj, do whatever you like; but I tell you  

one thing, that you must not rake rea, or do anything, until Dr.  

Login Sahib comes back.' He replied, 'Tliat you do not know if  

Dr. Login will allow me to do it, and then I will be very sorry!*  

After this he went and made the tea with his own hands, and took  

with T. Scott and R. Carshore; bur all whates’er he did, he did  
with his pleasure, and was very anxious if Dr. Login will like him  

to do his wilful work. He will be very much pleased and glad, to  

hear if you will allow him to break his caste, and he will be very  

happy in breaking his caste.  

 

Sir, at far as I know, I have Klaied with justice. Your most  

obedient, humble servant,  

 

nhajun Lal.‘*  

 

The Brahmin’s simple statement of events effectively  
reassured Dalhousie that no overt influence had been applied  

by the Maharajah's guardians and he was inspired to write  
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a jocuUr account of the convenion to his friend and confid-  

ant in England, Sir George Couper:  
 

My Httle friend Duleep has taken us all aback lately by declaring  

his resolution to become a Christian. The pundits, he says, tell him  

humbug — he has had the Bible read to him, and he believes the  

Sahib’s religion. The household, of course, arc in a grand state.  

Politically we could desire nothing better, for it destroys his poss-  

ible influence forever. But I should have been glad if it had been  

deferred, since at present it may be represented to have been  

brought about by tampering with the mind of a child. This u not  

thccase— it islus own ffce aa, and apparently his firm resolution.  

He ufill be a Christian, he says, 'and he wi// take tea with Tommy  

Scott', which his caste had hitherto ptevcnied! This last cause is  
a comical point in his profession of fairhJ 1 have thought it right  

to report the thing to the Court for their orders. But. as you may  

suppose, 1 have intimated that if the lapse of time shall show that  

this is not a fantasy of the boy. that he knows the effect of what  

he bdoing and still penisu in his desire to be instructed m Christian  

truths, I can be no party to discouraging, still less to opposing it.  

He it a remarkable boy in many ways.'*  

 

The governor general’s assertion that the Maharajah's  

political influence would be 'destroyed forever’ now that he  

had ceased to be a Sikh was to some extent counteracted by  
the mother of the Shahzadah, who began to encourage her  

son to feel that it would now one day be he who would be  

restored to the throne of the Punjab. The little boy began to  

put on airs and affected to avoid his uncle’s company. Login  

was sternly instructed by Dalhousie to bnng the mother  



to account: ‘You will inform the Ranee that the Raj of the  
Punjab is at an end for ever, and that any contemplation of  

the restoration of her son, or anybody else, to sovereignty  

there is a crime agtinsi the State. It is her duty to instruct  

her son accordingly. If on any future occasion, either she or  

her son is detected in expressing or entertaining expectanons  

of t^storarion to power, or to any other posinon than that  

which he now occupies, the consequences will be immediate  

and disastrous to his interests.^®  
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Mrs Login, newly arrived from England, described a  

domestic confrontation with the lady which showed that  

even if power was no longer a matter for discussion,  

was. The rani wanted personal proof that the Maharajah had  

in fact broken caste and thrown in his lot with the Jenit^htts-  

Mrs Login had taken the boy. who for some time had been  
‘keeping away’, on a visit to his neighbouring relations.  

 

There was the usual constraint observable during the  

the little Shahzadah seemed not at case, and as i ° j  

 

thing about to happen. The Ranee offered ’"A S  

 

for fruit sherbet, for which she wasfamous. The tray "PP"  

only cue glass upon it. This the Ranee fflled md ffr f  

 

revIrenemoherSovereignibutthe Maharajaheourteou  
 

the glass fust to me. Drinking part of the  

 

on the tray. To my horror, it was immediately ‘ . j  

 

more presmted by the Maharanee ro the  

 

in a low voiee, in English I ‘Don’t touch it. Ma at j ' / ,  

 

and turning toward, me with a eourteom salute, h' “‘’J' 8“”  

 

inhishand drank offit. contents. and abrupdy J"  
 

left the house, giving the slightest possible f*" „„„  

 

hi. sister-in-law, who gated after him  

 

alarmed at the result of her experiment ... I V • ^  

 

may he sure, directly after this insult to my husband s  

 

was much touched to find the Maharajah was  

 
order that I might not return without hu rsmrt, Astang h.m ^y  

 

he took the glass, and thus permitted himself to be *0 ff  

 

-‘What?‘hereplied.hi,eyesflashing.‘youwouldhavemeleuhem  



 
insul, y„, leuT They shaU see tha, 1 honour you! And 1 am not  

ashamed to show thus that I have broken caste.  

 

The Maharajah, who soon came to regard kindly Mn  

Login as a mother, performed a further ^  

 

inv her with the tress of hair, long and abundant as a  

wLan’s. which, in accordance svith the S^h 'ehg.om cm-  

tom, he had worn twisted inro a knob under hts turW He  
had wanted to shear his locks as soon as h' ^  

 

would be a Chrisrian. in order to look more 1 ke tl^e Engl h  

boys, who had probably teased him as looking like gi  

 

 

31  

 

 

 

QUEEN victoria's MAHARAJAH  
but Login had dissuaded him {n>m taking so drastic a step  

until he had been at least a year ‘on probation*.  

 

On Christmas Day 1851 Eird Dalhousic visited Futteghur  

with the primary purpose of meeting the Maharajah whom  

he had not seen since he had dethroned him at Lahore. The  

governor general and the boy were to be seen walking  

together round the little estate, inspecting improvements and  

chatting away like father and son. Dalhousie was said to have  

shown himself so thoroughly kind-hearted and genial that  

it was hard to realizeit was the same man whom his detractors  
portrayed as uncompromisingly frigid and autocratic.  

 

Lord Dalhousie asked the Maharajah for a portrait to re-  

member him by. and George Becchey, who lived in Cal-  

cutta. was commissioned to paint tt. Beechey, whose foUow-  

ing in England had declined disastrously after the death  

of hb more distinguished father, had married an Indian lady  

and become court painter and comptroller of the household  

to the King of Oudh. His picture shows a big-eyed, strong-  

nosed boy with a sensual mouth. He is decked out m jewels  

and wears Runjit Singh’s miniature of Queen Victoria  

around his neck. He does not look as if he was in the habit  
of taking too much exercise and an over-indulgence in sweet-  

meats may have been one of hu failings. ’If only you could  

keep down hb fatl’ Dalhousie wrote Login. 'But there you  

arenotihebestofcxamples!'2*Tothe Maharajah he ss’rote:  

'At last after a long delay upon the river. Your Highness’s  

poruait has arrived. It is in cxccUent condition, not at all in-  

jured by the weather. It h really very like you and does great  

credit to Mr. Becchey as an artist. Your Highness has really  

done me a great favour in offering me the likeness of younelf-  

If it pleases God that 1 shall live till 1 am old. 1 shall look upon  

it with strong feelings long after my connection with this  
country shall have been dissolved and always with a renewal  

of the interest which I feel tn yourself and in everything  

belonging to your fate and fortunes.’**  

 

The Maharajah’s future had been the mam subject of dis-  



cussion between Login and Dalhousie during his visit. What  
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was to be done with him? Certainly he and his entourage  
could not rot away forever at Futleghut. Perhaps he might  

be given a really large estate in another part of India which  

he could consider a substlmte principality. Logm put forward  

the old plan that the boy should go to England, ^ut there  

had been an excess of Indian visitors to London around that  

time and Dalhousie didnot approve of the attennon they had  

been receiving, especially when they had some grudg  

against his government. The governor 6™"“'-.'’°'^"'’  

became almost enthusiastic about that idea when it came to  

the question of the Maharajah’s marriage. How  

ever find a suitable Indian girl for a Christian Them  
 

was even then in Londonlittle Princess Gouramma, youngest  

 

daughter of the deposed Rajah of Coorg "’>'0 had gone o  

plead his case for compensarion - that same chil  

been rejeeted earlier on the grounds of her braking  

While marrying off one daughter to Jung .  

 

of Nepal, the rajah had turned the other mto a Chtiman Jh  

Maharajah had read an account of “ e..  

 
English newspaper and after thinking the matter over for  

several days had himself suggested that a „  

 

might be negotiated. What to do with P™«“;  

caUed Victoria Gouramma after the queen had 8  

 

mother, was a question already  

 

East India Company panjandrums in leadenhaU Street  

■I am an advocate for his going to England, Da -  

 

housie to Login, having thought the O'',''';,  
 

should help a marriage between him and the ^e  

I shall be very glad for it wHl teconale much which would  

oAe^im he^a^onsiderable perplexity both in her mse and  

his.’ The governor general, who did not have "uch nme fo  

the ’rascally’ Rajah of Coorg. went on to “P','“ j”'  

about the daughter’s christening with a certain deg  

cynicism: ,  

 

,j,r.tE5’.:«^sSr3s‘!  

 
provided ag«mt it here and had warned them on the subject.  

 

 

33  

 



 
 

QUEEN Victoria’s maharajah  

 

had been calculated to tutn the gitl's head, and hh too, for he will  

now be more convinced than ever of hi* accomplishing hi* object  

ofmatryingher to an English nobleman. Whether he would prefer  

a Maharajah pucka to a nobleman in prospect, I don't know! nor  

do I feel that the Maharajah would do well to arrange any marriage  

until he has seen the young lady; for as a Christian, he can't get  
Ranees m duplicate, he may as well see how he likes her first . . ,  

The little heathen sister whomjung Bahadoor took away with him  

to Nepal was really very pretty. The orthodox one is not nearly  

so good looking.  

 

Consider these points, and let me know what you thmk. You  

arc aware that 1 have been mosr inxioas that there should be no  

fuss or display connected with Duleep’s profession of Christianity,  

in order that I might feel satisfied in my conscience that the boy  

had not been, unintentionally by us. or unconsciously fo himself,  

led into the act by any other motive* than that of conviction of  
the truth. To that end your management of the matter has been  

most judicious and highly satisfactory to me, 1 should wish that  

course steadily pursued. I consider that the Coorg christening in  

St.James's Chapel, with royal godfathers and godmothers, and the  

name Victoria given her, has been a great mistake, calculated to  

make the child regard a sacrament a* a Court pageant, and to lead  

all the world to believe (as I vetHy believe myself) that the father's  

motive was not so much that hb child should be an ‘heir of salva-  

tion', as that she should be a goddaughter of Queen Victoria: I  

do not think I am uncharitable in concluding that the man could  

have no higher motive who, while he was leading with one hand  
his elder child to Christianity, gave over the younger with the other  

to Hinduism and Jung Bahadoor! Let us avoid all such reproach.  

If Duleep b to go to England, let him be quietly baprired before  

he goes, and by his own name of Duleep Singh. Indeed I am pre-  

pared to advbe hb being baptized now, as soon as his minister can  

declare that he is sufficiently instructed, and a willing to be baptized  

at all, he is quite old enough to take the obligations directly upon  

himseJf, and to be baptized without the intervention of godfathen  

and godmothers.**  

 

Though the governor general was prepared to encourage  

the immediate baptism of the Maharajah. Mr Carshore, the  
padre in charge of his icligious education, would under no  
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circumstances admit that his pupil was yet ‘suffiaently m-  

structcd‘. . , .  
 

Early in the spring of 1852 the Logins set out with the  

Maharajah on a short tout, as much for their osvn pleasure  

as their employer’s education, before movmg up to the cool  

of the hill station at Mussootie where they were to spend the  



hot season. It must have been a stimulation to all concerned  
to leave the limited confines of Futteghut and proceed on  

a princely match complete with elephants, a herd of goats  

and a pack of greyhounds, and set up the red and white  

striped tents with their silver tent poles in delectable spots  

only ten miles’ match apart. Their progress took them o  

Delhi, where the Maharajah was unable to resist addmg to  

his alteady considerable collection of Jewellery by purchases  

in the baaaar. At Agra, a breakfast was given in h” h“nour  

by the English community who took over the ’Taj Mahal for  
the occasion. Login laid on other more educational expert  

ences for his pupil - a visit to a printing foimd^. an  

of the electric telegraph station, and the headquarters of^the  

Ganges Canal Works. The Maharajah wanted to uke a look  

at the Hindu religious ceremony then in progress on th  

Ganges, which was attended by a large number of “  

from the Punjab, The authorities feared >.*n’o"”.'>h“"  

arranged for the main party to be sent m one itc  

a decoy, while the boy made a hurried visit ro *e g>"“  

his elephant. He was recognized when Icavmg y a  

of his former subjects, who hailed him with an enthusiasm  
that may have given him food for future thoug .  

 

Asthemain object of the Maharajah s move to the cooh g  

 

hills was to enable him to pursue his studies mote e e ,  

 

Login forbade attendance at the more amusing enter-  

tainments of a h'dl station such as balls, theatnea , u ,  

 

mectings.thoughthcmorcsobcrplcasurcso arc -  

 
and pimics were permiued. The Maharajah, who ha-* A  

for music, developed by his music master, ^ ’  

 

formed a band and would play the flute or c c  

in concerts on the Mall. Login also encouraged his ch ge  
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to ‘finance’, the fees going to locaj good causes, a scries of  

‘improving’ lectures by local experts on such varied subjects  

as astronomy, the habits of bees, loology of the Himalayas,  

and the peculiarities of the English language.  

 

He made a number of new friends among the ‘sons of  

gentlemen’ on the station who would come every Saturday  

from Mr Maddock’s school to join him at play. As well as  

Tommy Scott and Robbie Catshore his particular com-  

panions were thesonsofMajorBoilcauofthe Artillery, Frank  

and Charles; together they would go riding, hawking or  
coursing attcndedbyThomton.hii English servant, and with  

an escort of troopen within easy hail. 'The [Ooileau] boj’S  

have just arrived from England,* Login informed Dalhousie,  

‘and as they are very intelligent lads of fifteen and sixteen,  

who appear to have been canfully educated, and are very  



diligent and attentive to their Urdu studies. 1 have litde doubt  
that their example will be in every way beneficial to His  

Highness.' That some sort of an ‘example’ was desirable was  

indicated in Login’s following paragraph:  

 

From all lhave seen of the Maharajah’s disposition, 1am the more  

satisfied as to the great advanuge and tumulus of example in hts  

case. His disposition isnaturaUyiDdolcnt.3nd nothing but his strong  

good sense, and his deure to be on an equality in knowledge and  

accomplishments with Uds ofhis own age, enables him to over-  
come die natural sloihfulness ofhis charaner. It is on this account  

that I am so anxious that he should be permitted to visit England,  

as he so earnestly desires it. whde he is young, and while he can  

have an opportunity of mixing wish lads ofhis own age. and mnir  

less risk ofbeing spoiled by too great attention.**  

 

The season at Mussooric was voted a great success. So  

much so that it was decided the Boilcau boys should come  

back to Futteghur and continue to share their studies. Mr  

Htmter, the music master, who had made himself popular  

with the boys, also accompanied them back 'by request*.  
 

After two years of probation and instmcoon in the mysteries  

of the Christian religion, the Maharajah, at the instigation  

 

36  

 

 

TEA WITH TOMMY SCOTT  

 

of Login, wrote to the governor general rajHng that he had  

a 'itrong detire' to be haptired and hoped that he might now  
he eonhdeted fit. Lord Dalhoutie replied:  

 

My dear Maharajah. I have received with the moidivcly lalitfa^  

tion the letter in which yon expree. your J”'" ^ chrin  

 

tiaed. and to be admitted a. a member of 'h' Church of Chnm  

Whai you at fint ahowed an incimanon to M.eae  

which you found declared in the word of lor^. '  

to aa handy, to continue in your .tody of the Bible, and to teat  

 

by time the atrength and aincenty of your belief.  

 
You have followed my advice, and 1 have * "d  

 

pleaaure from the aratement of the Archdeacon ^  

 

they have found you quire fir to teceave the  

to obtain. I. on my parr, moat readily .aaimt to  

thanl die God and Saviour of ua all. who ^d put ’’"'J  

 

a Inowledge of. and a belief in. the troth of  

that you may ahow to your countrymen " 'I’f.'”"  

a pure and Wameleaa life, aoch at befita a Chnatran p ; ,  
 

I beg yout highneaa to believe in the atrength and ainceti y  

of tSe're’^ardb which 1 ahall eaxr feel ”  

 

remain, nL and alwaya. Your Highneal’a arncere and alfearon.te  



 
friend.^*  

 

OnSMareh tSjj what the governor general dcambcd«  

 

•a very remarkable qvent in hiatory. and '"•Y B  

 

fying- avaa enaeted at Fotteghur - the baptiara of M'^arajah  

 

Duleep Singh. Thia ia the f.rat  
 

wrote to George Couper.'ofihe many W O adopted the  

 

to our power or have acknowledged tt, i V .  

 

faith of the arranger. Who ahall aay to what rt  

 

proaper and multiply itll have never ftointe doubt  

 

I aigned the decree had one moment * ^  

 
to the juatiee or neeeaalty of my aer i" f"*'''’""’® 'J' gta  

 

If I had aueh a doubt, thj aigh. of the bleated  

 

to which that act has led would now ha\ e t or g . .  

 

soled me for what 1 did then. As it »s. my  

 

content as to what he lost; immeasurably con  

 

gain he has found in his loss.'*’  
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The christening look place at the Maharajah’s house rather  

than in the church, which at that moment was under repair.  

Login insisted on the minimum of display but all the chief  

people of the station were there and sever j of the native staff  

who were eager to watch the strange ceremony. Mrs Login  
described ‘the earnest expression on the young boy’s face, and  

the look, half-sad, half-curious, on those of his people present  

by their own wish’. In the absence of Jordan water, Mrs  

Login suggested the use of water from the nearby Ganges,  

not so much as a concession to Hindu custom as on the  

grounds that the river would ‘henceforth be sanctified to  

Dulcep Singh with a new and holier association’.^*  

 

The great occasion was described by the Maharajah’s reli-  

gious instructor, the Reverend William Jay, to his friend  

Robert Montgomery, then judicial commissioner to the  
Punjab at Lahore;  

 

The service was inexpressibly solemn and affecting, and every-  

one seemed deeply moved. The boy answered the questions put  

to him in a firm, reverent, and decided tone, and nothing as far  



as man’s eye can see could have been bener. For the last ten weeks  
1 have been reading very carefully with him the Gospels, and it  

is astonishing to remark his great improvement. Three months ago  

I said I svould rather resign my Chaplaincy than baptize a person  

so unprepared as I thought the lad then was. Many and many a  

time have 1 felt shame to the very bean’s core that I could have  

uttered so rash, hasty and ^ful a speech. For I believe that few  

people have ever received the sacrament of baptism m greater sin-  

cerity or inner faith than the boy who has this day been admitted  

into the Christian Church. Much ofhis future life wiU humanly  
speaking depend on Dr. Login, who has managed his interests with  

much wisdom, although with him too I must very foolishly now  

and then be vexed, because he docs not see everything in the same  

way that 1 do, about parties and entetuinments etc. May God grant  

that the young Maharajah indeed be a child of Grace.*’  

 

Now that the Maharajah had become a complete Chris-  

tian, Login began to press die poinc of the visit to England  

and made theboy put his request in writing for onward trans-  
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missjon to Government House: *I wUh to say that I am vcr>‘  

anxious to go. and quite ready to start whenever hb Lordship  

gives me permission. 1 do not want to go to make a show  

of myself, but to study and complete my education, and 1  

wish to live in England at quietly as possible,’ Such a con-  

trived text was probably formulated by Dr Login to satisfy  

the Court of Dirccton in London, whose permission it would  
be necessary to obtain.  

 

To Login’s covering letter Dalhouiic replied:  

 

We are at one in thinking he should go to England. It is my  

opinion, as it is youn, that he should go while be is yet what we  

should consider a boy. I shall therefore ask permission from the  

Court to let him go next Spring, if you consider him ready and  

desirous, as before, to go. f ss-ill not disguise from you that the  

Court may not gls-c a very gracious artent ; the visit of Jung Daha-  

door, svhom they spoiled, and itiJl more, the present visit of the  

M-IUjah of Ccorg, svhom. in apite of all my precautions and  
warnings, they have lifted wholly out of bis place, making a fool  

both of him and of themselves thereby, has disgusted the Court  

and the board ofControl with native, and especially with princely,  

visitors. Still I hope they will agree, and still more, I hope that the  

Maharajah will not expect pompous receptions, and will rather  

seek quiet and privacy while he shall remain in England.*®  

 

To Couper hr wrote: ‘He b dying to see Europe and all its  

wonders. He told me he used to dream every night he was  

visiting the Duke of Wellington.’*’  

 
At the beginning of J85.1 the Court of Directors of the  

East India Company in London duly agreed that on the  

governor general’s recommendation they approved a visit to  

England by thedeposed Maharajah ofLabore. Dalhousic per-  

sonally informed him; 'I am very happy to tell you that I  



have this moment received the permission of the Court of  
Directors that you should visit England. In the belief that this  

intelligence will give you pleasure, I hasten to convey it to  

you with my own hand. I have not time to write another  

word beyond the assurance of the pleasure it will give me  

to sec your Highness again.*** In his covering letter to Login.  
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he added: ‘I hope he will do me credit, for they have had  

a sickener of native grandees at home lately.’’’  

 

Duleep Singh was anxious not to be separated from his  

younger nephew, the Shahzadah. with whom he was again  

good friends. The government, who were glad enough to  

see a possible claimant out of the way, gave permission for  

him to accompany thcMaharajah to England. His mother did  

not wish him to go. and he tried to enthuse her with pictures  
of England from the IlUistrateJ Et>«<fon Neu's. He was to get  

only as far as Calcutta before the outraged rani petitioned the  

government to prevent his sailing. A mother’s plea could  

hardly be gainsaid and he was hauled back, protesting, by  

her emissary. ‘I have sent you a huge memorial from the  

mother of the brat,’ Dalhousie wrote to Login, ‘accusing you  

of many enormities, of which child-stealing b the least!’’*  

The Maharajah was filled with excitement at the idea of  

crossing oceans, seeing new lands, and visiting the country  

of his guardian and favourite playmates. Inspired by stories  

in The Boys’ Own Book, he talked of entering a public school  
and taking hb place among boys of his own age. This sugges-  

tion did not commend itself to the governor general: ‘The  

proposal to go to a public school won’t do at all’ he wrote  

to Login. 'He is much too old. and would be thrashed with-  

out a doubt periodically. Even a university would not do.’”  

 

In April 1854 the Maharajah’s party set off for Calcutta,  

the port of departure for Europe. He was provided with a  

mounted escort, and orders had been given that he should  

be greeted with the full honours of a twenty-one-gun salute.  

‘Pray impress upon His Highness.’ Dalhousie instructed  

Login, 'that while in India he receives all the honours of hb  
rank — in England he will be entitled only to courtesy.’’*  

 

At Lucknow they stayed with the famous Colonel  

Slceman. scourge of the murderous lhu£S. An ardent  

ethnologist, he had studied die settling of northern India by  

distant peoples. He did his best to explain ho\y the Maharajah  

was descended from the Jutes, and as many old families in  

Kent were also of Jute descent, he would find they were all  
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hh comim! The Maharejih ptesen.cd Mn S'"™" “  
 

ring, -vv-hich. unlike Queen Victoni. she vs'as unable lo accept  

beeause of company rules forbidding thetr rmplojees to  

accept gifts from natives. The old colonel suggested to Log n  

that the Maharajah offer it To the fitst pretty Kentish gitl  

he sees, and claim brotherhood with her, on the  

of an old Indian officer, his friend. Colonel 'J'  

 

1, of pure Kentish descent, he may feel assured that they  
 

members of the same great family. s<,i„„iahT  

 

M Benares a new member was attached to the Maharajah s  

suue th^ twenty-year-old Pundit Nilakanth (Chnsnanized  

^ NehemUh) Go?ch. one of the first D tahmins to be co„_  

verted to Christianity. He had been "  

among hi. own people and was a candidate for  

He expressed an earnest wish to go to England ^ ^  

of the mission to which he was attached ^ . .p ^  

 
allow him. A term of three years was agreed upon svith fot^  

and raiment' a. his only remuneration,  

 

tutor in oriental languages to the Mahamjah. Dhaju^W ^  

 

persuaded by his family to stay behind m India where n  

 

became a prosperous tentmaker. Mn *'°B'"  

 

though he had 'very strong' Christian . v  

 
S3 mo'heTTnrMf Guhe'was paid off with a bonus  

 

"'dZ'Z”,, then in Calcu^tn.-d Govem^men. Hou«  

was full, so the party wasinstalled in t e w .-.L-jy^jhara-  

 

atBatrackpote.ashortboattripuptheHoog y- report  

 

jah was invited to dinner and Dalhousie  

 

favourably to hi, friend George Couper, rr om^B th  

 

boy to his care, and asking him to see that he was  
 

exploited by the missionary socieucs: n  

 

L is a. an asvkwatd age. and ha. dark eallosv  

his face, but his manners are appals y ni attended by  

 

and he now speaks English exeeedingly well. He is  
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Dr. Login, an excellent wan for the oHice, whom I should ask leave  

to introduce to you ... I earnestly desire this boy should make a  



good impression in England, and equally so that he should not be  
spoiled and made a fool of... 1 look upon him as in some sort,  

ray son, and am really solicitous for his success and well-being . . .  

1 hope you will discourage any idea you may detect of taking the  

boy to public meetings, especially Exeter Hall ones-therc to be  

paraded as a Christianised prince. 1 have warned him against it but  

Tam a little afraid ofthc temptation when it comes close; and vAsh  

to guard against it. for it would be very bad for the boy  

 

On ig April 1854, (he Maharajah and his party sailed for  
England. Lord Dalhoosie’s letter of farewell to his ward was  

delivered before departure along with a beautifully bound  

bible:  

 

My dear Maharajah, before you quit India, I have been desirous  

of elTenng you a parting gift which in future years might some-  

times remind you of me.  

 

Since that day when the course of public events placed you a  

litde boy in my hands, t have regarded you in tome sort as my  

son. I therefore ask you. before we part, to accept from me the  
volume which I should ofler to my own child, as the best of all  

gifts, since in it alone is to be found the secret of real happiness  

etcher in this world or that which is to come  

I bid you farewell, ray dear Maharajah, and beg you to believe  

me always, with sincere regard, your Highness’s faithful friend,  

 

Dalhousie.^®  
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Visits to Queen Victoria  

 

 

T tiEMahirajah Duiccp Singh arrived in England in midium-  

mcr 1834. He had been gratified on the journey with the use  

of the khcdi%'e's carriages in Egypt and by twenty-one-gun  

salutes from Malta and Gibraltar. As Dalhousie had made  
clear, such official tokens of respect would stop as soon as  

he reached England; certainly Mrs Clartdgc, proprietress of  

Mivart's Hotel in Drook Street, organired no special recep-  

tion when the Login party moved in. But there svas soon  

to be recognition in the form ofa summons to meet the queen  

at Buckingham Palace and on the afternoon of i July the first  

encounter took place between the fifteen-year-old boy and  

the ihirty-fivc-year-old woman who was to be the greatest  

influence in hts life. In her journal. Queen Victoria made the  

first of many entries concerning her exotic subject whose  

background sbe had studied in a memorandum from his  
sponsor. Sir Charles Wood, secretary to the India Board:  

‘After luncheon, to which Mama came, we received the  

young Maharajah Duleep Singh, the son of Runject Singh,  

who was deposed by us after the annexation of the Punjaub.  

He has been carefully brought up, chiefly in the hills, and  



was baptised last year, $0 that he is a Christian. He is ex-  
tremely handsome and speaks English perfectly, and has a  

pf^tty. graceful and dignified manner. He svai beautifully  

dressed and covered with diamonds. The “Koh-i-noor  

belonged to, and was once worn by him. I always feel so  

much for these poor deposed Indian Princes. ‘  

 

The queen was so impressed by the handsome young man  

in his dashing Sikh costume that she at once decided that he  
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must be painted by her favourite artitc, Winterhalter, who  

was then in London working on portraits of members of her  

family. Meanwhile, within a week of the 6rst presentation,  

there was an invitation to a big dinner party at the palace,  

and it was perhaps to show ofFber latest find that she asked  
some of her closest friends and sat the Maharajah at her right  

hand. The entry for 6 July in die journal describes the  

occasion:  

 

. . . Mama, &c, the Maharajah Dulcep Singh, the Abercoms, &  

Etta, the Van de Weyers, the D“ of Sutherland, M&L’’ Churchill,  

Sir C. & L* M. Wood, Sir G. Bonham &c dined. The Maharajah  

sat next to me & is extremely pleasing, sensible & refined in his  

manners. His young face is indeed bcauriftti & one regrets that hjs  

peculiar headdress hides so much of it. He speaks English remark-  

ably well & seems to prefer doing so. mote than his own language,  
which he thinks he wfl! forget. So far he does not feel the cold,  

likn the dimaie & is pleased with everything. He regrets India not  

being nesrer, to enable more Indians to come here, 'as it would  

open ihetr eyes’. The Maharajah seems to be very fond of music.  

Sir C.Wood told me that the young man had been horriBed by  

the iniquities and cruelties he had witnessed that it gave him quite  

a honor of returning to the Sikh country. L' Hatdinge said that  

the Maharajah had been in the arms of jewahir Singh, on an ele-  

phant, when the latter had been shot; his mother, the Ranee, was  

a very violent woman, who now lived in Nepaul.  

 

Of course she must write and tell Lord Dalhousie about  
her meeting with the young man who was soil to some extent  

his responsibility; ‘The Queen wishes to tell Lord Dalhousie  

how much interested and pleased we have been m making  

the acquaintance of the young Maharajah Dulcep Singh. It  

is not without feelings of pain and sympathy that the Queen  

sees this young Prince once destined to so high and powerful  

a position and now reduced to so dependent a one by our  

arms; his youth, amiable character, and striking good  

looks; as well as his being a Chnstian, the first of his high  

Rank who has embraced our faith, must incline every one  

favourably towards him. and it will be a pleasure to us  
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It) do all v,e can to help him and to befriend and protect  

 

“Tord Dalhousie. in his reply, wa, to take some credit for  

the creation of such a paragon: The Governor General  

read with grateful pleasure the senttnrents  

exoressed lecarding Maharajah Dulcep Singh. J  

 

each other, and from the frankness &  
 

so honourably as they do, with those of ot cr y  

 

“S' m -our dear Winterhalter, « *X.'e"Dmwtog  

to him, were to start almost at once m the ^  

 

Room at Buckingham Palace. The qu . progress,  

artist herself, would often drop in to see =p® rnal  

 

‘Wenttosee 'e' tjh in his full dress  

 
for to July, ‘where we found M>ha ajah m h« m  

 

with Dr. Login and Col. ° ^p has had charge  

 

The former is a Scotch gentleman. evCT since the annexation  

 

ofthe Maharajah for 4 years, iiideed touch attached  

 

of the Punjab. “'""’’’p ' 'rim out of all mischief  

 

to the Maharajah & anxious to k p oreretir to enter  
 

He has come Le to leam 8c see. but ^r.  

 

society.exceptinghereandthetc. to a *1“’' , ..j pj-rhe young  

 

halter was in ecstasies at the beauty and iiobil ‘V ' ig  

 

Maharajah. He was very aimiable 8t panent standmg  

and giving a silting of up to 2 houn. rovalty of  

 

Winter^lter, who had painted the  

 
Europe and was used to problems o pre easily elon-  

 

Maharajah stand on a dais so t^ explained that he  

 

gate his rather stocky figure. P . /s he was never  

 

wanted his sitter to ‘grow into th P . factual.  

 

to grow taller the effect is more ‘’’J'” ^ ^ whom she  

At the next sitting the queen met Mrs Logm.  
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described as 'a pretty, pleasing person, quite like a mother  



to the Maharajah’. *We were present for a while at the  
Maharajah’s sitting, which went very well,’ the queen  

entered in her journal for it July. ‘He was again in full dress.  

The portrait of me, set in diamonds, which he generally  

wean, was the gift of Ld Auckland to his father, as well as  

the ring with my miniature, which he had on today . . . We  

showed him a drawing of himself & a view of Lahore done  

by young Hardinge, which seemed to interest and please  

him; Dr. and Mrs. Login told me many curious & interesting  

things about the Maharajah, his family, & Indta generally.’*  
Two days later Pundit Nehcmiah Goreh, the Maharajah's  

convert attendant, was brought along for her to meet. ‘Albert  

talked with him for an hour about the Brahmin and Christian  

religions,’ noted the queen. TTicre was further informative  

ulk about India - ‘Dr. Login says that the Sikhs are a fat  

superior race to the other Indians . . . that the women kept  

up superstiUon. as we both observed they did in many  

countries. They were very ill educated and schools for girls  

were much needed. If they could be started it would be an  

immense change.’* The queen drew a lively miniature sketch  

ofthe pundit and another of the Maharajah which she pasted  
in her journal for the appropriate day. She tintrf the  

Maharajah’s turban {lus ‘pec^ar headdress') gold and  

the Pundit's monkish robes a sombre brown.  

 

During one silting the queen drew Mrs Login aside and  

asked her in a low voice if the Maharajah ever referred to  

the Koh-i-noor and if so did he seem to regret it. Mrs Login  

replied that he had often spoken of it in Indta but not since  

he had been in England. TTie queen then said that she felt  

a certain delicacy about mentioning it to him and, now that  

it had been re-cut, even of letting him see it. She asked Mrs  
Login to find out his feelings on the subject. While riding  

in Richmond Park, Mrs Login casually asked if he would  

like to see the Koh-i-noor again? The Maharajah's response  

was encouraging enough for her to make a favourable report  

toihequccn. In her fiefal/cfrienr, Mrs Login described theem-  
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barra«ingoccaslonof.hcm.=.mBor.heMaha,a>hwi,h^^^  
•mountata of lighf. now icducea to half m s.« b> a  

mond-cutter from Amsterdam:  

 

Shtcamcacto,,.on.= a.onctontmc™e*-^  

 

jab bcioB on tho platform, potmg the  

I had exited her eommandt ... The  

 

atlhad been at Duleep Singh j tesponicto iny q ' ^ ^,^,1,  

 

ling to the Prince Consort, who was . o “ ed con-  
 

the painter at the other end of the „“”„aLg  

 

snltation in whispers, despatchmync^jheg^ remained,  

 



with a message. For about half-an versing with those  
 

watching the progress of the pottratt „ that  

 

present, when a slight bustle neat -otgeous uniforms  

 

direction, and beheld, to my amaa . . _ -a-.j-jj] bcar-  

 

ofagroupofbcef-catersfromthcTower.«c ^ jhe  

 
ing a small casket, which he which, still hold-  

 

opened hastily, and took therefrom as advancing together to  

 

ing, she showed to the Prince. Vvi"” fomething to  

 

the dais, the Queen cried out. ttepperhurri?^^^  

 

show you!’ Turning hastily •••^“'^P.-.washappening, found  

 

downiothefloor.and.beforeheknewwha^  
 

himself once more with the KoHm-ii j and if he would  

 

Queen was asking him f„5t sight, no one who  

 

havetecognireditagainr-rtuthtotelhaan^^^.^^  

 

had known it before would have don ■ ^ j-j association  

 

size, and theteby, in Oriental 'f"- ,f,™t.ri,yeonrineedt  

 
andsymbolisra.Thatthiswaswhathefeltlamin I  

 

yet, as he walked towards the window to exaim^  

turning it hither and thi ther, to let ‘ j ,1„. .kill of the  

 

descanting upon its pecuhanties md j curiosity, there  

 

diamond.cuttcr, for all his alt of poh oatent to one who  

 

was a passion of repressed emotion in » who watched  

 

knew him well, and evident, I think, to e J ^ ^  
 

him with sympathy not j,tiLly uncomfortable  

 

say, it was to me one of the most seued  

 

quaiters-of-an-hour that I ever pas« * . jo h,, intentions,  

 

me, lest 1 had unwittingly deceived her j ,,one about in his  

 

seeing him stand there turning md . u jj once more  

 
hands, as if unable to part with it again, n  
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in hb possession! At last, as if samniontng up his resolution after  
a profound struggle, and with a deep sigh, he raised hb eyes from  

the jewel, and —just as the tension on my side was near breaking  

point, so that 1 was prepared for almost anything - es'cn to seeing  

him, in a sudden fit of madness, fling the preaous talbman out of  

the open window by which be stood! and the other spectators  

ncrs'cs were equally on edge - he moved deliberately to where Her  

Majesty was standing, and. with a deferential res'crence, placed in  

her hand the famous diamond, sunth the words; ‘It is to me.  

Ma’am, the greatest pleasure thus to have theopporttmity, as a loyal  
subject, of mfitlf tending to my Sovereign rhe Koh-i-noori'’  

 

Dalhousie was not amused when he heard the story.  

‘Login’s talk to you about the Koh-i-noor being a present  

from Duleep to the Queen is arrant humbug,’ he grumbled  

toSirGeorgeCouper.'Hekncwas well as I did it was noth-  

ing of the sort; and if I had been within a thousand miles  

ofhiin he would not have dared to utter such a piece of trick-  

ery. Those “beautiful eyes”, wHth which Duleep has taken  

captiveofthecourt.are^modicr’seyes.- those svith whidi  

she captivated and controlled the old Lion of the Punjab. The  
officer who had charge of her from Lahore to Benares told  

me thb. He said that hers were splendid orbs.’*  

 

There svas no reference by the Maharajah then, or at any  

other time, to the other magnificcDt jewels from Runjit  

Singh’s treasury deviously reuined by the East India Com-  

pany and presented to the queen after the Great Exhibirion  

of 1851 as a reward for her interest in their exhibit: ‘The  

jesvels are truly magnificent,' she had then noted. . . The  

very large pearls, 22\ in number, strung in 4 rows, are quite  

splendid and a very beautiful ornament. The girdle of i 9  
emeralds b wonderful and also of immense value. The  

emeralds, square in shape and very large, are alternatively  

engraved, and unfortunately all arc cut Sat. They arc set  

round with diamonds and fringed with pearls. The rubies are  

even more wonderful, they are cabochons, unset but pierced.  

The one b the largest in the world, therefore even more rc-  

t^rkable than the Koh-i-noor. I am very happy the British  
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Crown will possess these jewels, for 1 shall ‘^■Jtamly mate  

them Crown Jewels.'’ In her graphic account  

jah's confrontation with hb fai^V  

Vve no hint that behind the ‘ ^  

 

might lie a touch of irony. He was later to refer to the queen  

as ‘Mrs Pagin’,*® a receiver of stolen goods.  
 

‘Winterhalter has got the xvhole figure beautifu  

likeness is so grand.’ the queen wrote m her joumah  

indeed a magnificent picture - the  

prince in his blue and gold striped Mouse  



L decked with Jewels, her portnnt m  
 

rowofpearlsaroundhisneck.andmthc a ®  

 

of the cLventional column and curtam, the ’"ber plams ot  

the Punjab stretching to the pearly  

handsome was her prince that the Mdla . ^t  

 

must do a bust of him. which she had by MdUt. just  

 
as Mr Gibson in Rome had done hts Jenm ^ She ord«ed  

an engraving of the pamtmg to P“ “ / ^5 little  

 

to Winterhalter that he do ’ f'L.a^develop-  

 

princess of Coorg. for whose future she was already deve.op-  

 

When the queen moved down to couS  

 

palazzo on the Isle of Wight, the Ma a”J family Hb  

 
be asked to visit, inspect and be msisecmdby^h^ ^  

 

day of amval - 21 August ^ Tnnmine the queen  

moment in the Crimean War and^t a disuatches  

 

had been discussing Lord Raglan s of  

 

from Sebastopol with .-iri,, Jhat afternoon  

 

Newcastle- But she seemed m P . , u side,  

 
as she went out driving with the Maharajah a. her  

 

In her journal she noted: b ck b  

 

We took a drive out toward* f m. who  

 

Cowes & over the Ferry. We took t e (Newcasdc) &  

 

had arrived early in the afternoon, also handsomely  

 

the two Udies ... The Mahar^ah Singh {the older  

 
dressed & with his jewels on. Speakmg . jbe Maharajah  

brother of Gholab. who was murdered), wnom  
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remembered well saying *My unde murdered him'.l obscT\'ed that  
 

he must have seen many terrible things. He answered sorrowfully,  

with a very expressive loot *Oh, Yr. Majesty. I've seen dreadful  

things; when I think of it it mates me shiver. 1 am certain they  

wouldhavc murdered me too. had I remained.’Thb thought rccon'  



ciles me to having had to despoil him ofhis Kingdom, & he is con-  
vinced of the wisdom of this himself. We were struct by his anxiety  

to improve himself, his intelligence 6c at the same time gaiety.  

 

The following day she wrote:  

 

We breakfasted in the Alcove, with the truly amiable Maharajah,  

who is so kind to the children, playing so nicely with them. We  

then walked him to the Barton & showed him all over the ftrm.  

the cattle, the machinery &c, the Utter interesting Km particu-  
larly. The Duke of Newcastle. & Dr. Login joined us- At J to j  

started with the 4 eldest cKldrcss. the Maharajah tc all the Ladies  

and Gentlemen joined us to go on board the ‘Victoria fir Albctt  

where Sir j. Cnham joined ui . . . We steamed out to the Needles,  

inside of wKch we lay 4e watched the gun practice on the 'Arrow',  

a new gun boat, just built for the purpose. Coming home 1 had  

a most interesting convenadon with the Maharajah, about his  

motives for becoming a Christian, encuely at Ks own wish. Ct with  

what determinadon, Ac in the 6ce of the great oppondon, he  

carried it through. I was much touched and impressed by ha  

fervent & strongly religious turn of mtud. His nuer-in-Uw would  
hardly speak to him rince Ks converaon. They used to bss each  

other but now she only kissed his hand '& then bathed afterwards*.  

He stfll tKnks & hopes Ks nephew uHH become a Christian.  

 

The queen was so ’touched and impressed’ by the con-  

versation she had with the Maharajah about religion that she  

committed her thoughts to paper in the form of a long  

memorandum:  

 

1 asked the Maharajah yesterday . . . wket had made Km think  

of becoming a Chnsdan. at «W,’ was his answer, no one  
 

whatever had urged him, qtntc die contrary - but when the Brah-  

min (who has since not had die courage to euti hu £uth and has  

become a shopkeeper at Benares) began reading to Km the dii-  

ferent stories in their rcligicsiaboisCows— & eating in the fingers  

 

SO  
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“ES:S£££?S|§|§  

 

not granted '.thouph Dr. Lopm Y ..^hcn the act of  

 

hiving portion! of the icnpnitc rei  

 

the stoning of St. Stephm wji . 5 |,o„iy jfter he wii  

 

my eye,, &• 1 Slid this tehg.oo mm, Ik ttne „r hi,  

 

determined to tike this ’''P he svis s^ fri'M 'h"  
 

osvn people svis i very bold one. Ho*m rr  

 

he svd. not be illowcd to do it. thi . prevent  

 



mycistesvithoutiskinpforpermissiOT ,hem in mV room  
 

mi. Aeeordingly I proeeeded ;"r"’’,*™;he oAe^A  

 

& sent my pliyfcllow. i said "Mind  

 

oneofmyuirvinueime&stoodmthed A ,  

 

whit you ire trying to do d< w«t till ur. n t, ^  

 
iiid Go. I im yt. mister & you hive ”‘’*‘"5 , h,d done  

 

just whit I like. So I took th' hev wd. not illow him  

thit I grew bolder & bolder. Then at (i T hut allowed  

to embrace Christiinity-asthcy wd. jy Carshorc both  

 

him to have instruction for 1 yt, from Mr Jay A Dr  

clergymen A at the end of thit he was rSh.  

 

Inn but prefers the Presbyterian 1^ tgi ii-ion The Presby-  

 
he belongs a, long a, it is a 'SelS^an'. I  

 

terian Religion the Indians call Tire Eng i jimplc  

 

bim,ha,d.^,e.,,,u,h,A.he,eell,.uKnl.elpom.,w  

 

and that to be a Christian A' to do cire ad y fervent, sincere. A  

 

wh. he entirely believed in A seem, A defects of  

 

religion, in hi, feeling,. He is aware ”f ■’’'ft"" he Brahmins,  
the Catholic Religion, wh. resemble, he . he had  

 

Already at Lahore - when no l .up ^ows - tying  

 

the idea A laughed at their "'mbv tto tails He  

 

a string atound their tads, he m^ to pull ”y '“„ of the  

eaptessed himself thoroughly for the stn ^  

 

Sunday-thinksthatiirighi& wd. not u,, nor yet ult"*  

but to sing hymns A play on the ^ „„,d ] am weU pte-  

 
sacrament, & said ‘1 should not wtsh to fervent &  

 

pared.* Altogether I was much struck by the y  
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Strongly religious turn of mind of the poor young Prince—  

When I told him how many people wd. wish to make a show of  

him as a Convert — & that t warned him against it & said I had  

spoken strongly to Dr. Login & Sit Osarles Wood cm the subject,  

he replied that was the very last thing he wished for — or had ever  



thought ofA: that I might be sure he svd, never allow himself to  
be used in that way; that Ms wish had been to come here quietly  

-that he did rtei know where he shd. ultimately settle & here hh  

voice faltered, & his countenance became ud. & he seemed quite  

overcome as he proceeded & said ‘Wherever I am I shall alwayi  

prayforyr.Majcsty’&thathisfeelingswd. ever be those of gratitude  

& anachmeni". Poor Boy he touched me deeply. I said I always  

would take the gtsts. interest in him -as I always have done.  

 

Heismost anxious that misnonarics shd. go out to India particu-  
larly to the Punjab - far that now was the time; that the idea  

of those Indians who were net converted from conviction was that  

by becoming Christiaru they obtained every earthly advantage,  

and eternal happiness hereafter, that there werebardly any Indians  

(of rank 1 infer) of respoosMlity in Indta (he alluded to the R^ah  

of Coorg) who might behave very well here- but became the/tf«.  

blackguards in India.'^  

 

li is dear from entries in the queen’s journal that tm that  

visit she thoroughly enjoyed the Maharajah’s company and  

did her best to make him feel at home in her family circle:  
 

August 23. Our aimiabte young visitor again at breakfast with  

IB. then the Bo>^ took him to the Swiss Cottage, whilst 1 read m  

the Alcove . . . We rowed out to the ’Arrow’ & exammed the great  

gun & (he immense shells which arc fired &om it. But somehow  

we were not struck by the practicalicy of the whole thing. The  

gun boat draws so much water that the whole advantage to be  

gained by it, would seem to be lost ... At a bttic before 3 we all  

went to see the people marching to their timnet before the Fete,  

& we walked through the tents to the dinner, Arthur taking the  

Maharajah’s hand ... The gentlemen, Capt. du Plat, Mr. Gibbs.  
Mr. Saumaraz & Mr. Talbot (both of the yacht) took part m run-  

ning races, playing leap ftog Ac. There was Blindman's Buff, foot-  

races, football with the legs tied, wfaeribairow races &c & danang.  

At the last it was dipping for oranges, bobbing for gmgerbreil  

&c no one enjoyed it more than our young guest, who laugh*^  
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to «;i.h Wn, he erned h.Ue Uopold, ^«ho >o  

 

fond of hiw, in hit armi.  

 

Auguit J4. After brealfot. we walled wdth ihe Maharajah, tal^  

i„g him round the pleature ground., ahowing h.m ^  

flower, in the garden all of whieh he was plca.ed A  

He planted a ftne dendara A wa. atnuwd at havtng » ^ ‘  

the Lrth with a spade. When we eamc in we tool leas e of the  

Maharajah,.halinEhimwarmlrbytheha„dAw,shmEh™many  

happy returns of hi. apptoaehing birthday, ,'>'1’'"  
 

A would have eotne of age and talen the re.gu, “f  

own hands, had we no. been obliged to tale the Punjab.  

 

Osborne they did sle.ehes of h.m and he Pho>°B»Phf d ‘h  



with the help of Prinee Albert, an early eamera enthustatt,  
in clothes that had been sent f'd!" more  

Prince Albert's photographs of the Ma'a" ^ ,he  

 

. professional and clearly show his every y single-  

 

period - the Silh cashmere tunic  

 

breasted velvet coat richly embroider i B embroidery  

pean-style trousers with a thick stripe o B invari-  
 

down the seams. As well as other  

ably wore several row. of pearls around his neck,  

 

of long emerald and pearl carnngs. r-h-f-milv ‘I was  

 

The Maharajah had almost been “"' “^d in her journal,  

quite sorry to see him go, the <1“'™ j j,e may be  

'1 take quite a maternal interest in him P  

protected, guided A kept as good A innocent  

 
’’Tm^Dalhousie, who received an „  

 

Osborne from Sir George Couper, „„ct with the  

 

the queen's mother, seemed to think that contact  
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great might indeed affect the Maharajah’s ‘innocence’ and  

give him ideas above his, or even the governor general’s  
station:  

 

It is very good for the Maharajah to have seen the Royal Family  

under such an aspect as you describe at Osborne |he wrote in reply).  

But t am a little afraid that (his exceeding distinction will not be  

for his future comfort. If he is to live and die in England, well and  

good, but if he is to return to India, he is not likely to be rendered  

more contented with his position there by being so highly treated  

in England: and. after breakfasting with queens and princesses, I  

doubt his much liking the necessity oflcaving his shoes at the door  

of the Governor Gcnerar$ room, when he is admitted to visit him,  

which he will certainly be again required to do. The ‘nightcappy’  
appearance of his turban is his strongest national feature. Do away  

with that and he has no longer any outward and visible sign of  

a Sikh about him.**  

 

Dalhousie would almost cenainly have been among those  

who disagreed with the queen on the matter of protocol  

regarding their protege, a question which she had been con*  

sidering since his first visit to Buckingham Palace. Where  

exactly should a deposed maharajah, allowed certain honours  

under treaty, stand in the complicated hierarchy of European  

society? Charles Phipps, who had become responsible at the  
palace for matters relating to the Maharajah, projected the  

Queen’s view that it would hardly be right and proper in  

feeling, that he should be treated as any foreign nobleman  

as that would mean his placement after all foreign ministers  

and charges d’affaires. Her prime minister. Lord Aberdeen,  



regarded his position as ’anomalous and exceptional’ and  
recommended that it 'was expedient for the Queen to  

shew him such special marks of regard as would be due to  

a Foreign Prince in whose wel&rc Her Majesty felt an inter-  

est’.'* Other weighty opinions were sought and given and  

in the end it was agreed what the queen had already decided  

-that the Maharajah should take the rank of Prince, equal  

to those European princes beanng the title of Serene High-  
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That an Indian prince should take precedence avsr an  

English primate caused some raising of eyebrows and the  

quL-s indulgence brought disparagmg  

hands at the East India Company, who may  

Aberdeen to follow up his fimletter with the oblique sugge  

tion that she was spoiling him:  

 

Lotd Abetdeen is rejoiced to leam that Your b'Vtut  

 
reason to be pleased with the Maharajah ^  

 

Majesty’s gracious eondesceniion is a g  

 

Majesty, as well as of deep gratitude on th P , . j^yj^bly  

 

Prmcc.Butwhileindulgmgthe^feelings. ^ „lti.  

 

begs to remind Your Majesty that too grea . . ir jych  

matcly prove disadvantageous to the Maharajah h.msdf Any suc^  

 
honour as would forbid the possibility o ^ ^ But Your  

 

your Majesty's subjects might V ‘  

 

Majesty will perfectly be able '<> Request Your  

 

be carried; and Lotd Aberdeen ought p P . . ,7  

 

Majesty's pardon for presuming to advert to the subject.  

 

Inthisinstancethequecnwasnot prepared to tolwat^^ ^  

 
this most delicate corrective and expressed her  

tart memorandum:  

 

With regard to the young Maharajah. The Quern wshw^W  

 

observe to Lord Aberdeen we have nff/ pa» , treated him in  

extraordinary distinctions to him but have Aberdeen’s  

 

strict accordance with ** °P\"‘°", f’VT,,«fr/a$aPre.m whom  

 

message in which he stated that treated him as  
 

the Queen took an intertit & we acco ® ^ „ u-lnn? to Royol  

wc do <ill PrinfM (not speaking here o orPcc. of Nassau  

 

Hr’s-l.kcPce.Ed.ofS-Weimar.thePcc.oWttsc  



 
who mixed very freely with his free intercourse  

 

apprehend this wUl m any way ^ _ ,ntends paying  

 

with Society. He has been on a vtsit « ^ J ^ which  

 

some more in the country generally, he d^ i,Vj„^sinall ones.”  

is perhaps as well for his own sake - tho he liKcs  

 
The visit to Lord Hardingc, referred to Ug^aharajah  

the start of a tour organized by Login to gi desire  

 

some idea of country life and to inspire him with  
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to settle down in England on an estate of his own. Hardinge,  

who had been governor general when the Sikhs were first  
subdued and had succeeded the Duke of Wellington as  

commander-in-chief of the army, lived at South Park in  

Kent. The queen had given the Maharajah a hunter for his  

birthday. wWch had been sent down in advance, and he went  

for pleasant rides through the local byways. Some puzzle-  

ment was caused when he propounded Colonel Slecman’s  

eccentric views about the common ethnic origin of the Sikhs  

and the Kentish Jutes. Highlights of the Maharajah’s progress  

were a visit to Scotland, where he stayed with Lord Dal-  

housie’s daughters near Edinburgh, and with Lord and Lady  

Morton at Dalmahoy; there was a week with Sir Charles  
Wood at Hickleton Hall in Yorkshire; Earl Fitzwilliam  

demonstrated the latest in agricultural machinery at Went-  

worth and Lord Hatherton showed off his new system of  

irrigation in Staffordshire. He made a number of new friends  

and impressed everybody with his candour and simple good  

manners. Sir Charles Wood, who was keeping an eye on him,  

reported to the queen that the Maharajah was ‘one of the  

most charming young men he knew’.*’  

 

Lord Dalhousie. when he had an account of the trip from  

Login, was less than sanguine about the idea of the Maharajah  

becoming an English landlord in his own right. 'I am alto-  
gether incredulous as to the probability of the Maharajah ever  

entertaining such a wish. The habits and idea of his whole  

life, from his cradle until now. have been little calculated to  

inspire him with a desire for incurring the trouble of manag-  

ing a landed estate, and I do not believe that all his visits to  

Lord Hatherton’s irrigation, or to the great cattle show, or  

to the tile drains and deep ploughing of East Lothian, are  

likely to create this taste in his mind. ’2'*  

 

On his return there was a visit to Windsor, duly recorded  

by the queen in the journal:  
 

November 13 1834; Albert went to see the Msharajjh Dulecp  

Singh, who had arrived. Mama Arc. the Maharajah (as well as Dr  

Login) came for a nights. Sir H. & Ly. Seymour. Sir Hugh Ross.  
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Mr, Murray &c dined. The Maharajah sat next to me at dinner,  

dressed in his beautiful clothes fic wonderful pearls e< emeralds. He  

liked his trip to Edinburgh very much &' also visited Sir C. Wood  

 

Ld Hatherton. His studies arc proceeding well ...  
 

November 1 4 : The Maharajah breakfasted with us & afterss-ards  

talked with Albert about his studies. He it very anxious to team,  

which he had not been until he realised how much he was going  

to associate with Europeans. He had learnt nothing from books,  

tillhelcft Lahore, it being unusual for the Sovereigns of the Punjab  

to Irani . . . We took the Maharajah over the State Rooms. Library  

&' Armoury. He seemed particularly pleased with some very valu*  

able Indian illuminated works in the Library, one of which Dr.  

Login had brought over with great difficulty in & even at great  

personal risk from the Khan of Herat. Wc took care to avoid show-  
ing the Sikh cannon sent by Ld Cough.  

 

Dr Login's tutorial role was. however, not to go un-  

appreciated or unrewarded. He was soon to be knighted,  

though he modestly disclaimed that he deserved it. 'It has  

been as much a spontaneous act of Her Majesty’s favour,’ he  

wrote Dalhousie, ‘as it is possible to be, and can only be con-  

sidered in the light of a compliment 10 the Maharajah and  

a token of Her Majesty’s high approval and encourage-  

ment.’^’  

 
The next visit to Windsor was early in the New Year.  

 

Jan 26 1855; Mama A'C. the Maharajah D-S (uaying over Sun-  

day) dined, A the litter sit next to me. He does not seem to mind  

the cold, A has been frying to skate. He ii getting on well with  

hii studies 4 : has got a new tutor, bright, A young enough to be  

a companion for him.  

 

Jan 27: Our young guest was at breakfast, looking extremely  

Well, talking away with our Doyi, anxious to hear about ilteir les-  

sons. He b very fond of carpentering A turning, also of fencing,  

which is not known in India . . . Albert went out shooting A took  
the Maharajah with him, A in the afternoon he walked with me,  

Bessie W. A Eleanor P. He was in his beautiful golden coat, lined  

with fur. We walked through the Slopes, by Adelaide Cottage,  

to the gardens, where wc went into some of the Greenhouses. The  
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Maharajah was very talkative. He said he was learning to dance,  

& meant to do so while he was in England - though not in India.  

He will not be going out into Society diis year, but next year before  

he returns to India, which he will do, visiting France, Germany,  

and Italy on the way ...Dinner as yesterday, the Maharajah leading  



me in, & I sitting between him & the Duke of Argyll. TTie former  
was gay and tallutive, talking about his own country, its peculiars-  

lies & customs. His anxiety to leam Ac improve himscl f is very great  

Jan 28: A sharp frost. After our breakfast we walked out with  

all the children & our aimiabic young Indian friend, who is most  

popular with them. A few Aakesofsnow fell when we went out-  

servicc at 1 1 , Maharajah being in out pew with us, which stemei  

like a dream ... The poor Boy is evidently nervous, and the early  

experiences of cruelty, murder Ac violence have made a deep im-  

pression upon that young, gentle and timid mind.  
 

Jan 29: It had again froien hard in the mgbt Ac was rather dull.  

The Maharajah took leave of us at 10. He ceruinly has a very  

beautiful face, Ac such a charming expression.  

 

The queen was concerned about the Maharajah's reaction  

to the cold weather and cried to insist chat be wear woollen  

underclothes. ‘Indeed, Ma'am I cannot bear the feel of Banne!  

next to my skin!' Lady Login quotes him as replying. ‘It  

makes me long to scratch and you would not like to see me  

scratclung myself in your presence!'^  
 

The Maharajah was next to sec the queen at a levee at St  

James’s Palace, one of many royal occasions he was to attend  

in the future. The queen observed, in her journal for 29  

March iSjj.howhe was ‘sparkling withjewcls’. Atadmner  

that week, when as usual he was seated next to her, she noted  

he looked ‘very well’, adding ‘but he is timid in society A:  

retiring though always dlapfctce'. Count Bemstorff, the Prus-  

sian ambassador, complained about the Maharajah’s place-  

ment, invariably next to the queen, and was sharply rebuked  

for his impertinence. 'She is astonished,' the queen wrote to  
Clarendon, ‘at any Ambassador pretendmg to dictate who is  

to be at the Queen’s ubie . . . She trusts to Lord Clarendon  

kindly Ac civilly but firmly pointing this out to Count Bcm-  
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storff and showing him the inutility of making himself dis-  

agreeable, always finding fault with everything, which the  

Queen knows he docs, for he constantly writes home every  

sort of things which produce ill blood at Berlin.  
 

The Logins, aficrmovingfrom Wimbledon to Rochamp-  

ton, established themselves in Kew at Church House - a  

‘grace and favour’ house acquired through the influence of  

Lord Dalhousie’s friend Sir George Couper. This informa-  

tion caused the ailing governor general to write to Login;  

‘You have done a tidy bit of business in getting a house out  

of the Court, and I advise you to rest content with that, and  

not seek for more “marks of consideration”, or they may  

be anxious for his return to Futteghur.'^-*  

 
Meanwhile, it having been agreed that a public school or  

university ‘would not do at all', the Maharajah’s educational  

programme proceeded under Login’s direction and a report  

of progress was sent to Colonel Phipps at the palace, for  

onward transmission to the queen; 'I am happy to say that  



the Maharajah continues to go on very well. He has fairly  
settled to his studies and takes greater interest in them than  

he did. Besides giving a couple of hours daily to classical and  

mathematical masters on four days a week 1 have arranged  

to give him object lessons very frequently ... I propose to  

make the Crystal Palace his special school of instruction.’**  

Practical demonstrations in botany, lessons on the har-  

monium, and visits to places of educational interest rounded  

off the curriculum.  

 
We strongly dissuaded Dr. Login from engaging any English  

Tutor for the Maharajah {the queen, who had experience of such  

matters In her own family, entered m the journal], but only  

Masters, which Dr. Login being bitnself the Tutor, he said he could  

do. His task had been a very pleasant one, owing to the very aimi-  

ablc disposition of the Doy & his extreme truthfulness - an excep-  

tion to Orientals in general-that his own good sense & the prin-  

Qpfesot'Chn'sciamty hacfhefperftomakefu'm overcome the natura/  

indolence of disposition, inherent in all Easterners. ! observed how  

important it would be that he should not fall into bad hands, which  
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Dr. Login hopes to be able to prevent; but it would depend a great  

deal on who was with him. He was very resolute & determined  

& had shown a great deal of deicimination in coming here, many  

of his people having tried to persuade him not to do so.*‘  

 

Login’s further report to Lord Dathousie indicated that  

Prince Albert, also, was concerning himself in the problem  

of educating an ‘indolent Easterner*:  
 

The Maharajah continues to apply himselfto his studies, and has  

made much more progress than formerly, because he now puts  

some heart in his work. At present he devotes his artennon to the  

German language, which, from its affinity to the Sansknt and  

Hindu, is. he thinks, more likely to be useful to him than French.  

Perhaps his intercoune with the Prince Consort has been a spur  

to his application in this particular branch. He has great facility in  

acquiring languages, however, and this is likely to be very useful  

to him if he travels. Among hb other accomplishments, he is learn-  

ing photography, with much success, "nib has been greatly  

encouraged by the Prince Consort, who has taken great interest  
in his progress.*’  

 

Dulcqi Singh, in fact, became an ardent photographer and  

wasapt to present hb friends with their often unrecognizable  

‘likenesses’.  

 

Since boyhood the Maharajah had shown a keen interest  

in field sports and he was enthusiastic when Login suggested  

renting a sporting estate in Scodand, as was becommg  

fashionable in those days for gendemen of means from the  

South. Casde Menzics, in Perthshire, the property of Sir John  
Menzies, was decided on. As the dusky laird of thb fortress-  

hke retreat, the kilted Maharajah was to become something  

of a local legend, as were his retainers, who mcluded six  

wounded veterans of the Crimean Wat. His valet, Thorn-  

ton. formerly coachman at Futteghur, and Russell, the  



buder, also donned thekilt, the latter sporting the royal dress  
tartan Complete with silver embellbhments. Another servant,  

a handsome young dragoon who had been in the charge of  
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the Light Brigade at Balaclava, was one of the sights of Perth-  

shire as he strode through the village with all his medals jang-  

ling on the Maharajah’s blue and green livery.  

 

Guests at the house were mostly friends of the Logins and  

included senior officials from the India Board who might one  

day come in useful. TTiough the Maharajah svas to meet in  

neighbouring houses older men such as Lord Drcadalbanc,  

who asked him to stay at Taymouth, and such notable figures  

as Archbishop Tait, William Wilbcrforcc, Delanc of Tlie  

Timrs, and the great Quaker John Bright, the only penon  
of his own generation he made a friend of was Ronald LesHe-  

Melville, heir to Lord Leven and Melville.  

 

In Scotland. Login was distressed to find that his ward’s  

interest in falconry showed no signs of lessening and he  

would exercise his birds by flying them at grouse. Login con-  

sidered the sport involved xmneccssiry erueity and tried fo  

keep him concentrating on bis shooting, It was someHmes  

said of the Maharajah that he showed indifference to suffer-  

ing, so the Logins, as well as other peripheral advisers, were  

on the look-out for what they called ‘signs of an Eastern  
nature’; the story of ‘the poor woman’s cat’ became a cele-  

brated contribution to the myth. Lady Login’s version told  

how at dinner at the castle there was a 'good deal of chafT  

abouta cat which 'someone', presumably the Maharajah, had  

shot while returning from the day's sport. Login said that  

he hoped it was not some poor woman’s cat, to which the  

Maharajah had replied that he did not care if it was as it had  

no business there. Afterwards, in the drawing room, some  

of the ladies were saying how cruel the Maharajah was, but  

Lady Hatherton’s intense admiration for him prompted her  

to try to prove everyone wrong. She disguised herself as the  

village woman whose cit had been killed and was ‘dis-  
covered’ in the billiard room bewailing her loss and demand-  

ing compensation. Alec Lawrence, Sir Henry’s son, was  

moved to tears, but the Maharajah stood unmoved, his eyes  

blazing with anger. Finally, shaking a billiard cue at the  

importunate woman, he burst out; ’Yes, cry! Cry undl you  
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are tired. Don’t let your brutes cross my jjath. Not a penny  

shall you get from me!‘ Then he roughly showed her the  

door, at which point Lady Hatherton dropped her disguise.  

The Maharajah’s look of consternation and embarrassment  

was quickly brushed on one side. Waiving his profuse  



apologies for discourtesy. Lady Hatherton declared that she  
had ’only admired his princely air of command’, and felt him  

to be 'every inch a king'.**  
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The Rejection of Princess Gouramma  

 

 

Not long after the Maharajah arrived in England, the queen  

tried to forward one of her special little projects - the making  

of a match between the Maharajah Duleep Singh and her  

thirtccn-ycar-old goddaughter. Victoria Gouramma of  

Coorg. Charles Phipps, who was perforce beginning to take  

a personal interest in the fortunes of the queen’s young pro-  
teges, wrote to Login from Osborne concerning the possi-  

bility of an alliance:  

 

The more I think upon the lubjen. the more it appears to me  

that these two young people ate pointed out for each other. The  

only two Christians ofhigh rank of their own countries, both hav-  

ing the advantage of early European influences, there seem to be  

many points of sympathy between them. They arc both religious,  

both fond of music, both gentle in their natures. 1 know that the  

Queen thinks that this would be the best arrangement for their  

 
wthovt  

 

this no happiness could exist. Of course the Queen takes a great  

interest in the Hide Princess, as Her Majesty considen Herself as  

more than a Godmother to her.*  

 

Gouramma was at the time living in the care of Mrs  

Drummond, the wife of an Indian army major who had in-  

gratiated himself with the Coorgs at Benares. The rajah was  

regardedbyindia House as an ‘old reprobate* and his influence  

over his daughter as ‘dangerously Hindoo’.* He was really  

quite a well-meaning man and liked to see his daughter as  
often as he could. Mrs Drummond, however, kept her away  

from him as much as posuble, even taking a house in  
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Edinburgh. The two young Indian) had already met on  

several occasions, at Kew and at Castle Menzics, and anxious  
accounts had been exchanged between their elders on the  

development of the lelationslup. The queen wrote to Lord  

Dalhousie: ‘The young people have met and were pleased  

with each other, so that the Queen hopes that their union will  

in the course of time come to pass. Her little God-daughter  



has been here lately and though still childish for her age (she  
is nearly fourteen) is pretty, lively, intelligent, and going on  

satisfactorily in her education. Of the young Maharajah . . .  

we can only speak in terms of praise. He promises to be a  

bright example to all Indian Princes - for he is thoroughly  

good and aimiable and most anxious to improve himself. ^  

Probably because he felt he was being pressed into what he  

regarded as an arranged marriage, such as he had been led  

to believe was not the European way. the Maharajah swore  

to Login that he was determined to remain a bachelor. When  
the queen learned of the reluctant suitor, she consulted Lord  

Dalhousie, whose reply from Ceylon, where he was resting  

on his way back to England dying of cancer, earned under-  

tones of disapproval of an interest he regarded as undue:  

 

Lord Dalhousie will be most willing to give you his best advice  

and aid to the young Maharajah Duleep Smgh, in whom your  

Majesty is pleased to take so much interest. The boy has the qualities  

.ah^disposiiions of Eastern blood and if he can be formed and can  

be kept a well-bred and Well-conducted gentleman, it is the utmost  

that the ihosj sanguine could expect to make of such material.  
 

The Maharajah^ frow of celibacy will not prove irrevocable, and  

Lord Dalhousie is to ex^reir respectfully his entire concurrence m  

the view which Your "M^iTOy has always taken of the alliance  

which would be best for him. Very early in life he showed that  

he could be obstinate beyond all beUcf when he pleased; and if he  

does not himself acknowledge the advantage of an alliance with  

the Pnneess, no power on earth will make him form it *  

 

It was not until the end of 1856 that the queen came to  

realize that her little plan was unlikely to succeed. She had  
the matter out at Osborne:  
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ThcMahjrjj»bbr«kf»«cd and lunched wth u».J After Church]  

Albert hid a long convenaiion with the Maharajah, who poured  

out all hit fcclinpt Ac withet to him. which Albert seemed pleased  
with &r thought very sensible. I have not the time to enter into  

all the details, but wilt Just allude to the principal ones, some of  

which ire embodied in a Mmdum. which hat been sent in to the  

East India Company. Hit principal wish « to become of ape, A  

to have more money allowed to insure his life for his eventual child-  

ren. should he marry, A to purchase land in England as well as  

in India, to be able to move about, without hiving to get the  

permiiiton of the E.I. Company. Thi*. civilised n be now ii. he  

feels much the need of. He wants to spend his timein India A Eng-  

land. or rather more Srotland, as be feels be could no longer live  

exclusively in India - his health even not being able to stand it.  
He also spoke ofrequiiing company. Sir J.Lopm being too old for  

him. mentioning a very nice young man, nephew to Ld Leven,  

who is now going to travel with him. Albert pointed out to the  

Maharajah the dangers of falling into bad hands, which he is quite  

alive to, & dreads more than anyone. Albert said that a good wife  



would be the best companion for him. to which he replied that  
be did not wish to be hurried or pressed about that, as he did not  

with ro marry till he ss-as a j or 24. It was such a didiculty. He could  

not marry a Heathen, A an Indian who ss-ould become a Christian  

only to please him, would be very objectionable. Were he to marry  

a European, his children would be half-caste, which would not do.  

Albert then spoke of our idea regarding Gouramma, to which he  

replied that he could not marryher.-that he liked her very much,  

thought her a very nice little girl, whom he would like as a friend  

but nor as his wife. She did not at all come up to his idea of a person  
he could marry. He must have time. & he wished to sec the world.  

Albert told him he must beware of designing mothers, who might  

try tocatchhim, Aifhelmthcarr. it might be 100 late. He replied  

that he was also quire asvare of this. Poor boy, I feel so much for  

him, for he is so good A so well principled. But I am sorry about  

Gouramma, who 1 know would wish to marry him.... The  

Maharajah is so civilised A like other people that one forgets what  

he was.*  

 

Ichad been agreed that the Maharajah should ‘come of age’  

at eighteen, instead of sixteen as was the practice iinong the  
6$  
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Sikhs. He therefore attained his majority on 4 September  

1856. From the beginning the East India Company had  

showTi no great zeal in granting the allowance to which their  

ward was entitled under the terms of the treaty. They had  

not yet submitted an account and had been withholding sums  

of money, made available after the death of family pen-  
sioners, to whichhe thoughthimsclfentitled. Now that he had  

reached his majority, he became mote assertive and began  

to press the men of Lcadenhall Street for an immediate and  

more generous settlement. At the same time, chafmg perhaps  

under the earnest supervision of Sir John Login, he wanted  

freedom to travel without permission and to live where he  

liked instead of having his residence directed or approved.  

 

Sir Charles Wood, to whom he sent his application for a  

review and an accounting of his affairs, was slow to reply,  

and there was a suggestion that he wait until he was twenr>'-  

one, like everyone else in Britain. On the other hand there  
was the question of whether he was a British citizen at all.  

The Maharajah became restive. The queen, who had a copy  

of his petition, was keeping an eye on the situation, and could  

see that her young friend was becoming nervous and  

depressed by the unccruinty over his future. She took mat-  

ters into her osvn hands by putting her heanfelc views in  

a memorandum to the president of the Board of Control:  

 

Osborne. Oct ijth. 1856.  

 

Upon the Maharajah Duleep Singh.  
 

The Queen has seen the Memorandum which the Maharajah  

Oulcep Singh has sent lo the East India Company She thmks all  

he asks very fair and reasonable, and she tnisu that the E.l Com-  

pany will be able to comply with them. As we are m complete  



possession since ’49 of the Maharajah's enormous and splendid  
kingdom, the Queen thinks we ought to do everything (which does  

not interfere with the safety of her Indian dommions) to render  

the position of thu interesting and peculurly good and aimiable  

Prince as agreeable as possible, and not to let him have the feeling  

that he is a prisoner.  

 

His being a Christian and completely European, (or rather more  
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EnplHh) in hti hjbin and fixlmp render tfin much more ncco^arj'  

and at the rime time more caiy.  

 

The Queen hai a ver^' ttronp frrling that «-ery{hinp should be  

donetothewfcipectand Imdncti totvardf thc<e poor fallen Indian  

IVinen. whene kinpdomt we have taken from them, and who are  

naturally \‘ery leniitivc to attoitiort and kindnett.  
 

Amonpit all ihew however the Maharajah itandi to a certain  

degree alone, from hit avihution and iikewite from hii having  

Jmt hi» kingdom when he wai a child, entirely by the fauhi and  

decritj of oihen.*  

 

Lord Stanley replied that any claim by the Maharajah on  

the British government would be contidcred ‘with a disposi-  

tion to deal with it in a spirit of liberality and fairness'. He  

ended: ‘The question now at issue must be reported on by  

the local authorities previous to decision hcrc.’^ Which was  
his way of saying that he wai getting a di/TicuIt matter off  

his handt by pasting it on to the gos'emment of India.  

 

To further the Maharajah’s education, and perhaps to take  

his mind off problems about his future, the Logins decided  

that a long holiday on the Continent svould be to everyone’s  

advantage. His friend Ronald Lcslie-Mclvtlle, now an  

Oxford undergraduate, was persuaded to come along, and  

John Bright and his daughter Helen would join them at  

Genoa. The travellers set out with a few servants in attend-  

ance. including Thornton and Mr Cawood. the Maharajah’s  

secretary. They went by train to Marseilles, which was then  
the end of the line, and on by carriage to Cannes.  

 

The Maharajah was in top form. At Nice he was enter-  

tained by Lady Ely, and met the young Lord Dufferin. who  

as viceroy of India, was to feature in his life thirty years later.  

In Rome he caught a glimpse of Pope Pius ix, who made  

a special benediction as he passed in his carriage, but was  

thought by the Maharajah to have ‘made snooks'* at him.  

Joining the penitents ascending the Santa Scala at St John  

Latctan on tUcit knees, he bet he could race them all to the  

top. At Tivoli he sat in a fountain and told everyone he was  
Neptune. He followed hounds along the Appian Way and  
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at a ball at Princeu Dona's m« chc King of Bavaria and  

Queen Christina of Spain. He flirted with the ladies and twice  

deeJared himself in Jove. The fashionable Mr Gibson, who  

had already sculpted the queen, was prevailed upon to start  

a bust of him.  

 

Venice proved to be a failure. Both the Maharajah and  

Ronald Leslie-Mclville went down w'ith malaria. Ronald  

became so ill that his parents were summoned from London.  
It was mid-May before the Maharajah arrived back from  

Swittctland, where the doctor had sent the two of them to  

recuperate.  

 

Whilst the two young men were resting at Geneva, news  

came of a mutiny by native troops at Meerut, forty mile*  

north-east ofDelhi. On Sunday, lo May 1857, sepoys of the  

Third Cavalry ran amok through the town. Delhi fell within  

twenty-four hours. The rebellion spread along the valley of  

the Ganges to Bareilly. Benares, Allahabad and Cawnpore.  

It was not until the end of September that an assault force  
of Sikhs, Gurkhas and Afghans subdued Delhi, by which time  

three thousand British and Indian soldiers had bero killed. The  

Sikhs had proved to be a vital element in the suppression of  

the mutiny, though their inspiration was said to be more a  

desire to get at the throats of the Mmlims in Delhi than a  

sense of loyalty to the British Raj. A number of people  

known to the Maharajah were involved m the affair - Frank  

Boileau, his boyhood friend, was wounded at the siege of  

Delhi; Sir Henry Lawrence, whom he remembered from  

Lahore days, died of wounds in the Lucknow Residency;  

Tommy Scott, come to Lucknow to take up a comrmssion  
in the Indian army, found that his mother, brother and sister  

had been killed there. At Futteghur, also in the Lucknow  

district, the MaharajaVsold house, which had been left in the  

charge of Sergeant Elbott. formerly Login's assistant at the  

Lahore treasury, was ransacked and badly damaged. Elliott,  

his wife and children, and Walter Guise, the Maharajah’s  

former tutor, had tned to escape, along with two hundred  

others to the imagined safety of Cawnpore. They had piled  
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into boaiJ. but by the time they arrived, the Ruler, Nana  

Sahib, had changed his allegiance and ordered his men to  

massaCTc everyone on the river. Bhajun Lai. the Maharajah’s  

first religious instruaor, remained loyal and did his best to  

save what was left of the property at Futicghur.  

 

With many of his friends among the victims, people  

thought it odd that Dulccp Singh was never heard to express  

any outright condemnation of the rising, and the queen's  
friend, the Earl of Clarendon, went so far as to complain to  

her that the Maharajah had showm ‘little or no regret for the  

atrocities of the Mutiny ... or sympathy for the sufTcrers'.’  

Lord Clarendon may not have appreciated that by this time  

the sufferers were Indians, against whom the British were  



taking savage tcprisits, despite the instructions of the gov-  
ernor general, Lord Canning, who was given by his com-  

parriotj what was meant to be the pejorative cognomen of  

‘Clemency’,  

 

The queen was quick to defend the Maharajah from the  

charge:  

 

Though we might have perhaps wished the Maharajah to express  

his feelings on the subject of the late atrocities in India - it was  
hardly to be expected that he. naturally of a negative, though gentle  

and very aimiable disposition, should pronounce an opinion on so  

pamfulasubject-attaehedasheisrohis country with all his aimi-  

ability and goodness - an Castetn he can also hardly, a  

 

deposed Indian Sovereign, wet very fond of the British rule as repre-  

sented by the East India Company, and above all, impatient of Sir  

John Login's tutorship, be expeaed to fifce to hear his Country  

people called /ends and moittirrs, and to sec them brought in  

hundreds, if not thousands, to be executed. His best course is to  

say nothing - and he must think IsoJ. It is a great mercy be, poor  
boy, is not there.’®  

 

Clarendon, who had probably heard the famous cat story,  

wrote again saying the Maharajah was rumoured to have a  

cruel nature. It looked as if be was trying to influence the  

queen against him. She once more rose to his defence:  

 

The Queen is much surprised at Lord Clarendon's observing that  
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■from wh.. he .he M.h.r.i.h »» riA^r ftom  

 

edmiiion cruel'. He mull hive ch.uBea very .uddenly f ihii ^  

true, for if there wai a thing for which he war remarkable, it  

hi. extreme gentlcne., and k.ndn^ofd,.^..ion We have kno^  

him for three yean (our two boy. mtimately). and hc^way.  

shuddered at hurting anything ... Hi. valet, who i* a  

able Engli.hman. andha. been with him ever tince hi. twelfth y^  

ijyi Ih.t he never knew i kinder or more iimuble dui^itlon. TM  
Queen fejti th.t people who do no. know him well have  

led away by their pre«mt very natural feeling, and di.trust ot a  

Indian, to .lander him.*'  

 

However, even Login wat not above ^  

 

Maharajah’s .eetning lack of concern about the fate ol ho  

friend! in India, and Clarendon had quoted him ■■’.'“PP”"  

of hi! contention. Login, when challenged, explained hit  

 

 
position to Phipps:  

 

I have been a little disappointed that he ha. .hewn lo much ir^  

differeneeon the .ubject of the treacheries and cruelties  

in India by the mutineers - and that he ha. «aree1y admitted me  



propriety of abieaining from mme of the u»ual gaieties at this sea-  
son, in conjcquenee of the ud imclhgenee we received from In u  

of many whom he knew there, and to whom - like hw late turn .  

Mr Guik. and other*-hc had often exprewed goodwill; and I haw  

endeavoured to find excuse, foe this want of sympathy m t c  

natural tendency of young men of hi* age. in hi.  

allow nothing tointerfere with their sports and amuwmcnt. ^  

 

Lord Clarendon therefore asked me what the Maharajah moug t  

of the« oecuiTcnce* in India. ( could only say candidly that he i  
not show very great interest in ihem, and that at thi. season t*  

whole attention was taken up with shootmg and other field sporo-  

but nothing I said to his Lordship could 1 think lead him to consi er  

 

 

the Maharajah to be of a cruel disposition.  

 

He may sometimes, when he see* that any of the senommes  

which he expresses cause surprise ot wonder, exaggerate them  

a little for amusement, but always with a tendency rather to  

deprecate than exalt himself in the estimation of those he converses  
 

 

It is very likely that this impression may have ansen  

Maharajah's own convenation or remarks he may have made to  
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the Ladin whom he met at Taymouth who are at thw time more  

than utually obiervant of any mitt in character which they con-  

sider to be peculiarly oriental. ... Hit habit of talking (about train-  

ing falcom). and a certain exprcsiion about hit mouth, which a lady  

at Taymouth pointed out to me at very indicative of Oriental  

character, have no doubt Jed them to attach an idea of cruelty to  

his disposition, which may, i feat, be injurioui to him ... The  

Maharajah certainly had no sympathy for the Hindoo and Maho-  

medan sepoys in India, nor any other with than that we should  

effectively put them down. He does not contidcr them to be his  

countrymen, nor refrain from expressing abhorrence of their con-  
dua whenever it is mentioned, but although he cs'cn goes so far  

as to suggest modes of punishment for them ~ perhaps at effectual  

at ridiculous (‘High caste Brahmins to be employed as tumspio  

to taau beef for English soldienl") hit feelings are not to strong  

as to overcome hit natural indolmcr . . .**  

 

It was not until 39 December 1857 that the Court of Direc-  

tors of the Ease India Company offiriaJIy agreed that the  

Maharajah might manage btsown affairs. Login’s representa-  

tions in favour ofhh ward had not endeared him to that  

establishment; in addition, he had expressed disapproval of  
many of their actiorjs in India, and given the palace informa-  

tion and advice that contributed to the decision taken to end  

the company’s rule the following year.  

 

Now that be Was free from restraint, the Maharajah imme-  



diately decided he would go off on a trip on his own account.  
He selected Sardinia, which he had heard offered good sport  

for his hawks and the chance of bagging a wild boar. The  

queen, like an anxious mother, watched over this trying of  

his wings; ‘The Queen and Prince would hope to sec the  

Maharajah before he goes abroad,* Phipps wrote to Login.  

'Would Sunday next be too late a day to name for that pur-  

pose? The Queen desires me to say, that she hopes the  

Maharajah will not think of going abroad without somebody  

as a sort of A.D.C. as companion. Her Majesty thinks that  
to go quite alone would hardly be compatible with his rank  

and station .  
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Their meeting took place on 14 Fehruary 1S58 at IJuck-  

ingham Palace. ’After luncheon aaw the po^ M. about hi»  
journey to Sardinia and Corsica, &■ taking a gentleman with  

him. He juffera from our trying winter f< will have to re-  

main abroad unuJ the beginning of the tummer.’ *he enterrd  

in her journal. There war another meeting the following  

week. At mual, the Maharajah tat next to her at dinner; TTie  

M . . . talked very tentibly and nicely abttut India. Ar thought  

the clTcCt of ilt l^ing rrally governed by me. tvould be very  

great; ai thing! were before, it wai nor ondentood. He n  

looking for tomconc to travel with him.’**  

 

The Maharajah agreed to lake a I)r Partont, and on i  
March, with a tmall entourage and a load of crjuipment. he  

tet oPT. Hit fitti Icficf wat to Lady Login; '. . . Dr Partont,  

1 think. It a very nice man; be tcemt to know tomething  

about everything, and entert into all my amutementt 1 fear  

I shall not enjoy thit trip at I had hoped, at they try to pleatc  

me too much, and! fear very much that if I do not take cate  

I shall be spoilt for ever afterwardt. They act towardt me  

at I daresay Sir John rememben. as Dr Drummond uted to  

do to the Duke of AxholL He used to call him "Hit Gtacc"  

at every word, and if the Duke happened to drop anything,  

he used to rush forward to pick it up . . .'**  

 
The shooting in Sardinia, which the Maharajah thought  

looked ’very like India*, was not much good. He came to the  

conclusion that ‘there is no place in the world for sport like  

England’.'* On his return he was happy to find that Login  

had finally negotiated the lease of Mulgravc. a fine estate m  

Yorkshire, with a considerable acreage of grouse moor.  

 

Mulgravc Castle, a handsome battlemcnred building tn  

grounds laid out by Capability Drown, belonged to the Nor-  

manbys. As Lord Normanby was ambassador to Florence,  

and his son in Nova Scotia, he was happy to rent his place  
to the Maharajah while be was serving abroad. He was related  

to Charles Phipps, and it is likely that the imtoduaion came  

through him. An carticr Phipps, Constantine, had received  

another dusky visitor ar Mulgravc in the prenous century.  
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Omai, the ‘noble savage’ brought back from Tahiti in a ship  

of Captain Cook’s fleet. The estate lay above the cliffs, near  

Whitby, and apart from the grouse moor, had some excellent  

mixed shooting.  

 

Early in September, the Maharajah wrote to Lady Login  
from Mulgrave. She had lately been persuaded by the queen  

to take charge of Victoria Gouramma from her previous  

guardians, the Drummonds, under whose jurisdiction she  

had been caught out in a romantic 'scrape’ with a stableboy,  

which had caused a local scandal and come to the cars of the  

queen. ‘I wish you would arrange to pay me a visit soon,  

before you get tied down with the Princess ; for I do not think  

it would do any good to bring her here. Any time will suit  

me, and please invite any of your friends you would like to  

meet you. What do you say to the Cunninghames, Alcx-  

anden. Pollocks and any others you like?'*^  
 

Colonel [now Sir Charles] Phipps was one of the first visi-  

ton, and must have enjoyed himself, for his report enabled  

the queen to write in her journal; 'Nov. J2 1858: Sir  

C.Phjpps has been staying with the M. for a week at MuJ-  

grave which he has taken for some years, & said nothing  

could have been better managed nor anyone do the honours  

with greater tact or (css presumption, than did the M. He  

was extremely high principled 6 c truthful with most gentle-  

manlike 6 c chivalrous feelings, but rather indolent, & not car-  

ing to learn or read, this due probably to his Indian nature.’  
 

Not content with his Yorkshire moor, the Maharajah, now  

that the lease of Castle Menries had expired, was renting a  

lodge from Lord Bteadalbane, Auchlyne, on Loch Tay. It  

was probably while he was up at Auchlyne that summer that  

he met a visitor to nearby Loch Garry House, Loch Tummel :  

the flamboyant sportsman and traveller, Samuel Baker.  

Baker, later to be dubbed 'Baker of the Nile’, was twenty  

years older than Duleep Singh; the two of them, however,  

got on so well that they planned a shooting expedition that  

would take them through Hungary and down the Danube.  

They would go that very winter.  
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of large game in mid-winter in a wJd country’.*^  

time they reached Bucharest, where they  

Florence Finnian, the Maharajah had had enough bofh of the  

climate and of Baker. LcaWng Baker to hit own dev»c«* the  
Maharajah pushed on as quickly as possible to Comtan**^^^'  

where he felt too ill even to accept an invitation tt? dinner  

from the British ambassador. He moved on by the nf**  

to Italy and so to Rome, where he knew the Logi'^s were  

just then due to arrive.  



 
The Logins were surprised to find the Maharajah already  

waiting for them. They had come with two of their children,  

but above all their trip was envisaged as an cdueatP*’*^  

pcricncc for Princess Victoria Gouramma. who hac^ settled  

down well in their care. The Maharajah told them, according  

to Lady Login, that ‘his expedition bad been rather * fi**co,  

his guide - an old fiafciW of orienul cities - had not  

a wise counsellor to a young and inexperienced •  

 
VWiXTSVtTiV V\ Vit uw.vw'tiui rhat  

 

in that corrupt oriental city of Bucharest, Samuel Baher had  

led the innocent Maharajah asrray.  

 

The Logins hoped that he had come in such a hutty  

Rome in order to see Victoria Gouramma. But pefhaps hu  

experiences with Baker had made him more wary of gossip,  

for he told Lady Login that he was afraid of visiting them  

too often ‘in case of false reports being circulated*. Ho  

so far as to say that it was very unfortunate that the pnneess  
was there at all.  

 

I have avoided throwing the Princess m his way [Lady Login  

reported to the queen], and quite agreed with the determination  

he at first expressed, of not getting their names mixed up together  

But by degrees he has come back to us on the same foo^mg. and  

 

consundy spends hisevenings with minfamiliarintercoune. with-  

out any invitation, and the rircumstance of our boy and being  

 

with us brings him more into contact with the Princes^- ^  
been calking to me more than once about his future prospt^^* mat^  

tiage etc. and seems fully alive to the diHicultics tn hi* '''*y  

marrying an Englishwoman of the binh and rank to smf bi$ posi-  

76  

 

 

 

THE .EJECTION Of P.INCtSS COU.AMM*  

 

titm The ctcit intemt Your Mijeny nlo in the Princeit it not  

Sout itf effee. upon him, md cr;e.t the kind  

her end m by the Prinee of W.!e, » remetked upon b) him. et  
proof of Your Mijeiiy'l favour.”  

 

If not exactly a beauty. Victoria Gourantmavva, a lively  

young girl, and tomething of a flirt, ntak.ng e>« at dl he  

youni men. even the ciphteen-year-old  

who wa, then in Rome with h» governor.  

 

The Maharajah teemed to disapprove of her >™‘’"  

 

nest, but, for whatever reason, it was soon  

 
domestie situation had developed in  

 

Lady Login regarded as 'a bewildering and  

 

Zumrrff. in fae. a ■bombshelP. She explained it all in a  



 
long letter to the queen:  

 

Madam. When I had the honour to  

lately. I did not antieip.te the neemnty "f, ta  

 

frareSrhTwKtrS'IlA.UmSes^ousoflosingnottme  

 

ago. at a small party, and I  

 
some time. The next diy he a^Ved fw JL-cn, much improved in  

and, after saying that he ■''»;P';V^;fert ,  

 

manner and appearance, and th .jjrrrd it only riRht and  

 

at hit countrywoman, he taid that ^ j not aik  

 

honourable on hit part to tell . nU.-rvcd of her lately,  

 

her to be hit wife ; that, from m m"ke him  

 
he had made up hit mmd that the i,rr he would in an  

 

happy, at he did not feel the confidence m her he wou.o  

 

tL distressed a. .hi, .for 1 "id  

 

ducting hcnclfso at to make *^’™“Ycould Mver feel more than  

 

rcpcatedIy:Tcou!dncvermariyh . ^  

 

pity for her! She would not be a safe wife tor me  
 

to trust her ! and I dread so “ unhappy about himself.  

 

He then wenton to say that he fell very un ppy  

that he saw the necessity of ah^g as became his profession  

duct, and of endeavouring tolism m  
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of Christiinity, and his position in society : but that hb temputions  
were so great, and he fell htmsclf so weak to withstand them, that  

unlcsshc could have some deHnite object in view, and some reward  

to strive after, he feared for the future; that up to this time bb life  

had been aimless, that he felt he had no des to bind him, no home  

or kindred that he could claim as bis osvn, but that if this could  

be altered - if a hope could be held out to him that he might, at  

some future period, be permitted to try to win the love of one  

he had loved and known since childhood, he would undergo any  

probation it was thought fit to impose on him. and strive, with  

God’s help, to make himself worthy of her (Here he named  

a young relative of my husband, who had her in his care and  
charge.)  

 

On observing the effect this utterly unexpected announce-  

ment bad upon me, he became so confused and nervously excited  

thathe couldnot express his meaning clearly, and therefore begged  



I v.ould give him no reply at present, but allow him to come next  
day and talk it over calmly, and, in the meantime, if we should  

feel inclined to reject his idea (as he (eared might E>e) that we would  

reflect deeply on the effect such a decision would have on him.  

 

1 hope I need not assure Your Majesty that neither my husband,  

nor myself, had the slightest suspicion of the Maharajah's senti-  

ments, and that we were quite unprepared for has request, which  

caused us the greatest anxiety and pain on her account, even more  

than on the Maharajah's; and though we felt ourselves in a very  
peculiar position towards him. as his only Christaan patents, and  

in a great degree bound to give him every aid we could, soil, at  

ihesame dme, this young girl’s bappinessand welfare must be para-  

mount with us.  

 

When he came the next morning, he said much of the great diffi-  

culty he should always find in becoming acquamted with the real  

disposition and chataaer of any young lady he might meet m  

society; that in no other family coidd hebe domesocated as he was  

with us ; that he had known her temper and duposinon thoroughly,  

and watched her closely, and had long felt that she was m every  
respect what he wished for in his wife; her truthfulness and punty  

he could rely on. and her relsgious (eelmgs he reverenced. But if  

we, whom he nvsted and regarded as parents, could not accept  

him into the family; if we. who had taken turn from his ovm  

country and people, and cot him off (though at his own request)  
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from all prospect of mitinp sviih bh own race, should refuse to  

repard him as one of ourselves, to whom could he look?  

 

I earnestly hope that in the reply we have piven we have been  

rightly directed, and that, with God’s blessing, the event may result  

in pood. We have told the Maharajah that in our peculiar situation,  

and as Christians, we cannot altogether refuse his request, though  

we must adopt such measures as shall, as far as possible, render our  

present concession as harmless as possible to the other person in-  

volved, as she must be our first consideration; that in the earnest  

hope that this may lead him to a higher view of the duties of his  
position, and of his Christian profession, if it was found that for  

the next three years his conduct gas-e ik confidence in his sincerity,  

and in the depth of his present feeimps, and in the event of ha  

obtaining Your Majesty’s practous approval, we would allow him  

to plead his own cause sviih the young girl, who would then be  

ofagesufiicicni to make the decision for herself. In the meantime,  

hebound himself, on his honour.not in any way to make her aware  

of his sentiments - we, on our part, being careful that they shall  

ICC as little as possible of each other in the mtenm.  

 

We have told him that we hold out this inducement to him,  
solely in the hope that, before this period expires, he will see his true  

position more clearly, and meet with someone more suitable m  

every respect as w-e in no wise cos'ct such a destiny for our charge.  

We felt that to deprive him of all hope, considering the position  

We have held towards him, svould have been both unchristian and  



injudicious, and might have led ro him becoming utterly careless.  
 

There were many circumstances which 1 cannot detail by letter,  

which have strengthened us in resolving on this reply. My first  

impulse was to return straight to England, instead of going on to  

Naples, in the hope of being permitted to lay everything personally  

before Your Majesty. On second thoughts, knowing that Your  

Majesty desired that the Princess should be as long abroad as poss-  

ible, and that her health would be benefited by a stay at the seaside.  

 
I have decided to adhere to our fint intention. Need I express to  

Your Majesty svith svhat deep anxiety I shall await at Naples the  

expression of Your Majesty’s opinion on the course we have  

thought it our duty to pursue with respect to the Maharyih?  

 

I have the honour to be, Madam, with most dutiful and grateful  

respect. Your Majesty’s most humble and most devoted servant.  

 

Lena Login.^^  
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Lady Login then proceeded to take it out on poor  

Gouramma, giving her a lecture on the 'unfortunate impres-  

sion’ that her freedom of manner^* had conveyed to the  

Maharajah. According to Lady Login, ‘she was so abashed  

to find what a gendeman's impression of her really was, that  
I had every hope the lesson might prove an effectual cure  

... I was extraordinarily jJeased and touched, by the humility  

with which she received my lecture.’^’ As the queen had once  

hinted that a foreign nobleman might make a suitable match  

for Gouramma, Lady Login suggested that she ‘could arrange  

 

to maketheacquuntance’*®ofmcmbersofihe Prussian court.  

 

in attendance on the mad King Frederick William iv. then  

suying in Rome. Efforts in this direction came to nothing.  

 

The awaited reply from the queen, voiced through Sir  
Charles Phipps, reached Lady Login at Sorrento and must  

have reassured her that she had taken the proper course of  

action:  

 

Her Majesty fully comprehends, and sympaihises with the con-  

fiicdni feelings with which you must have received the unexpected  

declaration of the Maharajah, and Her Majesty thinks that, con-  

sidering ail the circumsunces, the decision at which you arrived  

wasnotonlythesoundestandthemostpnident. hut also the kindest  

and the most likely to be beneficial towards the Maharajah. If his  

attachment to tius young lady is deeply tcxiied and really sincere,  
it may afford him a sufficient object to sttengihcn and render per-  

manent his good rwoluQons. and thus esublish a strong monve  

for good, so much wanting in an indolent and self-indulgent,  

though generous, honourable, and upnght nature, such as his.  

The Queen has therefore no doubt that you answered him both  



wisely, and in accordance with that affectionate regard whirii you  
and Sir John have ever shown him. Her Majesty hopes that the  

convenation you have had with the Princess may have a good  

effect, and that a marriage wtth some other eligible person may  

be effected. It would be desirable that any such prospect, wtth a  

person whom you would a^rove should la every way be en-  

couiagcd.lt is mostprobablethat union withasensible and kind hus-  

band, whom she could icspea and look up to. might have the most  

desirable effect upon her character.^*  
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Thr qucBn had aiVcd her cldnt jon. while in  

keep a friendly eye on the Maharajah, The Pnnee of Wain  

 

sent her word that he was showing an "‘rryarlf  
 

the Ikotnan Catholic religion. She replied. I do not myrr!/  

 

I would like him to send me a cast out. Mahara-  

 

Whenthekoginpanydepa^te for.^^^  

 

C„T,'sooemo^rrH”gtohisTon^elyh|e-^  

 

one who cares for me'. 'A. there « buy a  

 
buy a bracelet for, he continued, pc . whose  

 

pair of earrings and bracelet „|.„„d'that'to  

 

name, I fear, I dare not mention. He tto ugg  

make up for hit disappointment she should “""S .  

 

Wdden girl to stay svith him at Mulgrave, promising Udy  

 

 

one’s hair, adding: 'I ask tms thoog i  

 
it'. He did not, and Lady Login was to see that  

 

sent her f “"°Cr she told Phipps, 'lamenting  

 

his proneness to yield to temptation an 1 j inime-  

 

sveakness and folly'. .H',’"'™* ‘°u®^o„«hU tn-y  

diately,' she ended, in the hop , Council, and 1  

settled for his future guidance by t c travel through  

 

believe he means to apply for permission to travel g  
 

India for a short lime.'" ^  

 

The Maharajah returned to Englanam ^ response  

 



1859. On the twentieth he '"‘‘j'’'  
 

from Lord Stanley concerning hit financial affa«.  

 

1 have the sitiifaction y°J' co„''moVGeneral under  

 

eeived a dispatch from His Ex«llei^ rdjuiiment of your  

 

date Jan. J 1859 respecting the petmane ,1,. recommendations  

allowances, and that in aceotdanee wnn  
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therein contained, 1 propose on behalf of H.M.'s Govt, to fuc these  

allowances, at an annual rate of Company's Rupees - (C.R.  

250,000) to commence from the atuinmeni of your majority  

according to the Laws ofEngland. Adverting however to the letter  

addressed to your highness by the Court of Directors on 29th. Dec.  

1857 acceding to your request 10 be allowed to take upon yourself  
themanigcmentofyour own affairs. Her Majesty’s Govt, are will-  

ing. from that date to fix your allowance at Company's Rupees  

(C.R. 150,000) instead of the 120.000 heretofore drawn by your  

Highness. It will be understood that the permanent allowance of  

Company's Rupees (C.R. 150,000) (which will be paid in India)  

is to include the sum formerly paid on account of the Futteghur  

Esublishmcne and is to be in satisfaction of all claims.^*  

 

‘In satisfaction of all claims* was a phrase the Maharajah was  

to subscribe to a number of times in future negotiations with  

his masten. He svas by no means happy to have hb annual  
allowance fixed at a mere £25.000 a year and asked that it  

shouldbe raised to £j5.ooo. Hb request was regarded as ‘un-  

reasonable'. As Sir Charles Wood remarked; ’With £25,000  

he b far above the average of peers and nebkmen in this  

country and indeed I believe that the overall income of the  

House of Lords b under £jo,ooo.’^* So, £25,000 it had to  

be, with £200,000 to be settled on the Maharajah’s heirs, if  

any.  

 

Now that the Maharajah was a man of property, svith  

Auchlyne and Mulgravc to keep him busy with shooting and  

fishing and cnteitaininghis friends, the queen again suggested  
he should appoint an equerry to look after his affairs. The  

sort of man he wanted, Phipps advised, should be ‘a gentle-  

man by birth, educadon and position, agreeable in his man-  

ners and knowing something of English Society’.^’ The  

Maharajah who had had enough of supervision from Login,  

continued to resist the idea, but when his former governor  

proposed that Colonel Oliphant, described by the queen as  

an ‘agreeable, sensible, straightforward man’,^* should come  

and visit him at Auchlyne and dicy could see how they got  

on together, he did not dbagiee. Oliphant. formerly chair-  
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mjn of tht Coun of Dirccion of ihc Ea.i Indii Company,  

had lately met 'heavy looes' and vv^. willing lo  

Maharajah's atfain for a salary of £800 a year '  

glad I have follosved Sir John's advice and ^  

 

Oliphant here,' the Maharajah svtote to '-“‘‘l ™  

 

seeL quite happy fishing, though he m«ls  

 
snort the water being to low. I have been av.a>. at Susie,  

 

In' orde' to get a shot’lt the deer, and 1 have been s.uing up  

at night watching for them, svhen they come ^  

 

Colonel Oliphant does no. give any trouble ^  

 

.hinkinBofdolngasSirJohnadsdsedandathtnshj.oeome  

 

.0 me when 1 require an equerry, but .. r‘‘ " "  

and then, no. .0 live with me always. 1 tbinlc this would meet  
 

'''D^lll^vllrl^a^lti^.qiahhadstillno.had^ns^^  

from the India Board. 'My patience ts ,5  

 

to Login. 'Do. for Mbe. get the Cos  

 

with me and pay my arrears as soon « P-”’;'' * ;o;  

 

they will take meihrr year to settle my '  

 

to stir them up for I dread getting into c •  
 

The same letter, written Eaton Hal . where he w«  

staying with the Grosvenors. indicated nHextwci  

 

aga'in fancy-free. '1 am goingtoaball ttaTv^mg.^and expect  

(tell Lady Login) to meet the lov-ely Lady  

 

The Maharajah spent most of the winter ‘ ^ ^  

 

grave, where Lady Normanby was allowed .0 return when  

ever she liked. She wrote to her son m Canada.  

 
Wetayed a'fotmigh. a. dear old 'to  

 

ircmcly. Nothing could be more courtco jccmed very  

 

the Prince. He left us very much to  

 

anxious that we should comidCT oursc ves what I was  

 

place beautifully. The only thing to comp j think  

 

Lay. complaining of ro you. to ^quantity of  
 

he sees himself he has too many. Th „,_wth of the under-  

 

Hares and Rabbits at he trees did not shoot  

 



wood. I always wondered why the shoots of the trees am  
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up again a» in other pJaeo. and I found our thii year that they get  

eaten dowTi at fast at they appear  
 

ConscquentlytheCovergeobadforPhratantJ-Hchashad won-  

derful tpoti with Partridges, killing 7JO brace in the first six days  

iw'th two guns, and he «>•* he could kill IfO any day be bleed. He  

had a Pic Niconeday at the Grotto and another at the Hermitage.  

He is going to build a grembouse at the South Slope, and already  

made a very good Hot House behind the House. In short I think  

he teems anxtout to Improve and leave a good reputati<»i behind  

him. He was very anxious we should prolong our stay, but 1  

thought ft tvouldnorberighttofixourselresonhimanylonger —  

The Prince has put a very good Billiard Table into the Library.  
Itstandsvery well there, tho* it is not exactly the thing for a Library,  

but 1 suppose it is the only use he could make of it; at any rate  

I do not suppose he is a reading man.^’  

 

In another letter Lady Normanby wrote:  

 

The Maharajah b very well inclined, and a very good Chnsdan  

if they w3l not ride him loo hard. The only thing is he is very  

like you. and says he cannot find anything in the Bible thatoblign  

him to juve enfy cne wifi. He don't like that. 'Suppose.' he uid  

•when I have bem married to her 1 find 1 don’t like her. what must  
I do?' He u half Indian st3l. He used to make the most extraordi-  

nary mixture for his dinner every day, which was cooked by his  

Indian cook ... fint he had a large plate of ncc, which bye the  

bye 1 advise you to try as it is excellent. It was first slightly fiied  

as for curry, and then thrown into a Pan with a little Nutmeg.  

Coriander Seed and Black Pepper, writ pounded and only about a  

pinch ofi t, but well mixed with melted butter, very hot, into which  

the rice must be thrown and stirred untO each gram is separate  

. . . then put the curry upon it, but he used to add curds and a sort  

of mixture that looked like soft spinach, but was sage or some other  

herb. AH this he used to eat with Cbuppity — I chink he called it  

— and a sort of Indian girdle-cake, s’ery heavy and made with fat  
instead of butter ... So you may cry your hand at it and see how  

you like it.**  

 

Nowthat there was Kttlelifelihood of a mamage between  

the Maharajah and Gouranuxu, Lady Logm had asked the  

queen totelievehcrofhet dotiesas a chaperon, smee to bring  
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■hem toBCthcr lud been her leaion for lakinR the job. The  

young pVincot had accordingly been placed m ■''C  

Colonel and Lady Catherine Hateoutt. who  



Park in Su«ex. Lonely and miietable with her ttnet  
cujrdiam. poor Gouramma lud lunied for comfort to the  

fiafl-and ha^d fallen in love with the  

 

man named George Chtiitmat. Gouramma wat caught by  

the H.tcoutti in the middle of the  

 

heritayi,butwithadtettinggownoverherpe..coatnWhm  

 

ehallenged the had pretended ahe wa. planning  
 

and wai about to leave foe tbe .ration. An  

 

toher lover .tatting ‘My own darling and ^  

 

dear .weet angel' had given tbe P"'”"';- rr “f  

 

a volume of Longfellow', poem, and told he maid tha if  

 

they .ent her anywhere elw. and "“-J'  

 
George, the would deattoy henelf Lady C«b« ,  

 

outraged and 'deelined to take any furt e p , j  

 

The eonten.u. of opinion wa.  

 

and a p.yehiattic doetor wa. called m ^  

 

more sensibly, thought she was ovcr*cx i ’ . « 44 -rhe  

 

mended a trip abroad to avoid tbe growing .caudal me  
 

Prince Con.ott took the view that '.he  

 

to European civilized .oeiety may have depteated and ma  

 

’'Gtrr: “future teemed .otaHy compromiwd until  

 

the Maharajah made a dccWvccontnbut.on to It by a mccin  

 

ful pieee of matchmaking. He introdueed 1>”  

 

John Campbell. Lady Login's than  
 

with several children. He was about thi y y  

Gouramma but they were sufficiently ^ ^ j ^n.  

 

to get engaged. The Login, teceived >>■' 'd.  

thu.iaim and complained that they bad n  

Tlie queen, howxver, wa. delighted to hear that  

eult goddaughter wa. at laat wttled and a qu  

ablerthough not brilliant home wa. .ecured for her .  

marriage took place in July i860. August i860.  

 
The Maharajah was up a. Auchlyne for 12 ftug  
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On the thirteenth he killed ninety-three brace to his own  

gun. With two friends they bagged nearly three hundred  

brace in three days. Colonel Oliphant. who was now offici-  

ally appointed to the household, went up to Caithness to look  

over another property the Maharajah had his eye on, belong-  

ing to Sir George Sinclair, with fishing on the Thurso river.  

Sir John and Lady Login came up for a visit, but they  

had left before the arrival of the newly-weds, Victoria  
Gouramma and John Campbell. The Logins brought with  

them the Maharajah's boyhood friend Frank BoUeau who,  

as second-in-command of the 2nd Sikh Cavalry, had been  

severely wounded in the siege of Delhi, three years earlier.  

 

The Maharajah, especially in moments of loneliness, had  

given much thought to what remained of his family in India.  

He had managed to get a small pension allocated to the Shah-  

zadah, and he had sent the Pundit Nehemiah Goreh to Kat-  

mandu to find out what sort of life his mother was now liv-  

ing. The pundit, instead of going himself, sent a letter which  
was intercepted by government agents, and he was forbidden  

to communicate with her, except through the British Resi-  

dent. Report had it that the Rani Jindan was half-blind but  

still belligerent, and surrounded by unsuitable friends.  

Spurred on by a new sense of filial duty and the growing  

realization that his mother’s role in the rape of the Punjab  

had been inspired by patriotism, he decided that the time had  

come to concern himself with her well-being.  
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Mother and Son  

 

 

Tow A»DS .he end of 1859. Duleep S;"ek  

 

wriUCTi to Logm:  
 

The Govemmen. wiU be “ » f„T‘ sS  

Miharanee of Lahore, un!e« they o province*. Jung Daha-  

 

toillowheraperminent iuhmmee in p ,„ion>. and  

 

door long! ro get nd of her. for P ,hiU  

 

deelaro that if .he ever f”"" ''“„f"„rive a .liver from hi.  

never be allowed to re-enter Nep • rupees per annum,  

 
govemmeni. He jj,, her man.ion, .vhich  

 

which he grudge. quarrelling, and .he eon-  

 

re,trun=u^7o.rUpVhi.vanirp..  



 
The Maharajah-, P'-  

 

Neither the queen nor Colonel P jj Maharajah  

someeifor., were “fXfore l^in^hn m -h'  

 

was not to be .nBuenccd. ju j ^ f q her WndnCiS  

 

queen saying he mm. go. He. hanked net  

 
and ended with .hi, q^^ lrl eful and happy  

 

fu.u.e destiny I shall ever re.a.n he  

 

tecolledon of every j it shall be my most  
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Apart from organizing his mother, he wanted to find out  

how he felt about India, its people and customs, from all of  

which he had been cut ofl* for almost seven years. He was  

now thoroughly English, and he found on arrival that at first  

he could hardly understand a word of his native tongue.  

There was also sport to be looked forward to: he brought  

three gamckcepen with him and his baggage included a rub-  

ber boat with a swivel duck-gun as well as the latest in rifles  

for tiger shooting.  

 
He was accorded the regulation salute of twenty-one guns,  

and an ADC to Canning, now designated snecroy. went  

on board ship to welcome him and take him to Spence’s  

Hotel. The authorities evidendy wanted to keep him happy  

and retain his goodwill: there were dinners at Government  

House and rcecpiiom organized by the Anglo-Saxon estab-  

lishment of the great commercial city. 'He has an escort.’  

Lord Canning wrote to Sir Charles Wood, who had asked  

him to do his best for the Maharajah. ’In short, I believe he  

is altogether satisfied as far as the dignities are concerned.'^  

Although the poltrieal implications of the Maharajah’s  

return were played down as much as possible, there was some  
apprehension that he might, perhaps with the encourage-  

ment of his mother, attempt to return to the Punjab and make  

trouble with the Sikhs. To someone on the boat, who had  

asked him ifhe intended to visit bis birthplace, he bad replied :  

’The English Government does not trust me.’ At their first  

meeting, Canning, who had already met the Maharajah in  

England, asked what he meant by the remark. The Mahara-  

jah.embarrassed at finding that his words had been reported,  

replied hotly: ’If you do trust me. why do you not let me  

go where I like?’ Canning explained with sweet reason that  

it was not that they distrusted him, but that the nsk of his  
presence in the Punjab was too great as it would certainly  

stir up old memories in the volatile Sikh community possibly  

causing unwelcome demorutrations; and he did not wish to  

have forced on him ‘the necessity of restraining and perhaps  

punishing persons for showing a feeling which, in itself, u  
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natural and creditable ,*'’5” ' ^”jcc\ '^That the  

 
according to Canning. wi foundation waa in-  

 

viceroy s apprehension had Calcutta on its svay  

 

dicated when a Sihh "S™” formed part of an allied force  

back from China where it had Canning  

 

against Peking. 'The tnen numbers of them  

 

wrote, 'and on isvo or thr« “I® , sight of him.  

 
went to the hotel and sat *1 , . - <,i jjnt$ and went  

 

Upon his showing himself they ma  

 

away. On one "“ toermined to see their  

 

orderly and not m uniform, but very  

 

ex -Chief. * -.ui.;. mother was soon to take  

 

ThcMaharajah'smeettngwuhhisrnoihc  
 

place. It was ten years since their  

 

likely that the extracted the . fo^ Maharajah was  

 

front the reunion. .ouchingly;  

 

paying great respect she-ievil nevertheless, and  

 

but, Canning mamtamed. Shelias jp cun-  

 

will make her impt«siOT the was soon filling  
 

tinue together in India. As fo , machine him to chew  

 

his head with ideas of his destiny waf there to meet  

 

betel nut and paam The ^  

 

him and hear of life m ^*'6^ ' his uncle on  

 

to visit the country: perhaps request for a  

 
his disillusion with the "B-" “tagLed’key to an  

Christian biblc was no more than b  

 

invitation to leave India. ..nbaoDV in Calcutta, and  

 



The Maharajah was except at snipe  
 

notfcclingatallwcll.Hchadha another m  

 

outside the city. He nbantaed one^Un^alter ^  

quick succession; he would a . .. would install  

 

"expedition and aftersv-ard, » spurting head-  

 

her in Eastern Bengal and make it p,„,i,ct's move-  
 

quartets. but the B”'''"’"]™, Calcutta and go  

 

ments. Or again, he hand he planned to  

 

off to Mussoone to shoot. „Uase the eovemment.  

 

visit Delhi, too close to the Punjab to please g  
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and make his way acioH India to Bombay. On the other hand  

he felt he disliked India so much that he was half-inclined  

to leave immediately, in time to reach England for Derby  

Day. He also spoke of becoming a member of White $ Club.  

 

He was encouraged by a letter from Sir John Login, who  

was handling his claims in hit absence, which implied that  

the India Office might be won over.  

 

Sir Charles Phipps told me that now was the time to push the  
Government (Login wrote], as I should come in for all their blame  

in having the matter agitated, and that you could suffer no damage  

by my proceedings ; and as he knew that 1 did not much care for  

their annoyance, so long as ! had a good cause, he thought it b>  

far the best opportunity for you to get the question advanced. ^  

you see how coolly I am recommended to fight your battles well,  

be It so: it will be a great happinc« to me if I can get our people  

to do what is liberal and right, to enable me to hold op my head  

before you, and to say that I am not ashamed of them. My de*f  

Maharajah, it requites some knowledge of our national character  

to understand us; Decause the Council of India do not benefit a  

single pie them«lves, and they stand up for the interests of *oo  
million of subjecn, they 11 fight until they have not a leg to stand  

on, while all the time they have the most perfect goodv.ill to yo^  

and would like to sec you happy. However, it sstII all come right  

yet; I have O’ery confidence.*  

 

Asthe most templing luTC he could think ofto encourage a  

return to England. Login included in his letter a description  

of a sporting estate with a good record for stalking then  

up for sale - Applecross. in the north-west Highlands. The  

Maharajah rcpli^;  

 
Oh! It « too cruel of you to write to me, so soon after conung  

out here, about an estaie in Scotland; for now I cannot make up  

my mind to stay a day longer than u necessary to see my mother  

Your letter hasalmost driven me wild; so you may expect me back  

sooner than I thought when I left. 1 have got the Shahaadah here  



on a visit . . . He is a very quick, mtelligcnt lad, but a thorough  
nauve in his manners, I regret to say. He wishes to marry another  

wife already He tells me he has no bchef m his own religion.  
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and would like to go to England, ifhe could, without his mother  

knowing! Now, I must tell you that India is a beastly place: I  

heartily rcpcnthavingcomeout. for I cannot get a moment's peace  

with people following me, and all my old servants bother the life  

out ofmc with questions. Theheatis something dreadful, and what  

w-ill it be in another month ? } hate the natives, they arc such Jian,  

flatterers, and extremely deceitful. 1 would give anything to be  

back in dear England, among my friends: I cannot think or write  

about anythingelse but this property. Oh! buy it for me, if possible  
. . . They gave me a salute of twenty-one guns, and you sviH be  

amused to hear, an tscort ej two iowattl^  

 

Even the attraction of Applecross, an almost inaccessible  

deer forest in Ross-shirc, had not entirely made up the  

Maharajah’s mind. A few days later he wrote to Login: T  

am trying to get a house outside Calcutta for my mother.  

 

I have not yet settled whether I remain over the hot weather  

here, going up to the hill, and then returning to England. I  

am tohavcelcphantsfromtheCovemmenr for tiger shooting.  
It is alread y very hot. Shaheadah 1$ very anxious to come with  

me to England, but does not expect to manage it.' In a post-  

script he added: ‘Since I wrote this, my mother has declared  

she will not separate from me, and as she is refused permission  

to go to the hills, I must give up that intention ; and I suppose,  

wc shall return to England as soon as 1 can get a passage.’*  

 

The Indian government readily gave permission to the rani  

to accompany her son ro England. So pleased were they to  

be rid of her that, fearing she might change her mind, they  

offered to return her jewels and awarded her a pension of  

a year conditional on her departure.  
 

Mother and son arrived in England in early summer r86r.  

Sir John Login, with indefatigable energy, had found a suit-  

able house for her two doors down from his own in Lancaster  

Gate. He used his influence to clear her jewels through cus-  

toms without the payment of duty, and helped in every way  

Vit tcru^d. She to^d him, to his amusement, that had she  

known what he was really like, and how extremely kind and  

useful he would prove to be, she would never have arranged  
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to have him poisoned, as she had at one time contemplated.  

 

The rani’s household proved a source of wonder to the  

local urchins, who would peer through the railings douit  

into the basement area, watching the Indian cooks at work  

over their pots, and sniffing the pungent smells of curry. Lady  

Login was soon to pay a visit. She found herself ushered into  

a large, heavily curtained room, in semi-darkness, to be con-  

fronted by an ancient half^blind woman huddled up on a  
heap of cushions on the floor. It did not seem possible to her  

that thb could be the famous ‘Messalina of the Punjab’ she  

had heard so much about from her husband. Yet sometimes  

in conversation, when interest was aroused, there would be  

signs of a once shrewd and lively mind.  

 

Within a few days the rani tciumed the call and Lady  

Login, in her habitually lively style, described the occasion  

in her Reccllediotts ;  

 

My drawing-room ... was on the first Boot, and I shall never  
forget the sight, as 1 viewed it from the landing, of the Maharanee  

being hoisted by main force up the long flight of stain by several  

servants! In her case this piece of Oriental etiquette was perhaps  

not unnecessary, not only on account of her mfirmides. but  

because, in addition to being a heavy woman, she had wished to  

pay me a special compliment by appearing in European dress, and  

as she could not entirely abandon her native garments for English  

under-clothing, she had donned an cnOTtnoui bonnet with feather,  

mantle and wide skirt over immense crinoline, on the top of all  

her Indian costume! No wonder she was utterly unable to move  

hand or foot, and found it impossible to take a seat, encumbered  
with the crinoline, idl rwo of her servants lifted her bodily up ou  

to the settee, where she could sit comfortably cross-legged, her  

cnnolinc spreading all round her like a Cheese!*  

 

The final touches to her toikltf were added by the timely  

arrival of the rani’s jewels from the Customs House, which  

delighted her so much that she had lavishly decorated herself  

and her attendants with an assortment of necklaces and car-  

rings. strings of pearls and emeralds, which she had arranged  

as a sort of fringe inude the bnm of her bonnet.  

 

Naturally the queen wanted to know all about the Maha-  
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ry^h's trip to Indi» and on Jjuly invited him to dinner at  

Duckingham Palace.  

 

TV,. M ns Col. Oliphant. D«iic Wellington  

dined. iShe wrote in the joumaL] Sat EngUnd  

 
wa. very- ill at Calen.ta, ee » “ '^t Ji m\ he fel^^  

 

.Eain.ThcS.kh.eamet„„„in^a.o^h,m^^  

 

have compromitcd him. revolted. '—nrAved - asking  



 
i„pri.one5. He had found hi, ar;^^ r in h^  

 

for a bible - wnhing to learn. & not Micvms  

own religion. He has brought his rn being seen. &: fre-  

 

free from ptejudiec, not ,o Chutchl The  

 

qucntly wear, European drc,,. ^ thought were much  

 
Sikh, generally dr many of the Hindoos. ” ,e  

 

len ,.rL than they ured ro be. .hour rhe.r observance,.  

 

That autumn .he Maharajah, now  

 

mother, took her up to stay at Mulgrave, ,r6i* T have  

 

to tent. He wrote to Lady login f’„y  

 

been having capital ,pott thtw ^ Uke-  
 

braec daily ... 1 want your adwe f » "6  

nns of my mother (in *^5,^. Mnn^anby saw very  

 

begtosendtheirkind regards. a y  

 

little of the tani - 'She keep he«e f very  

 

house with her attendants, shew .tockings, some-  

 

dressed in a dirty sheet and * ® ^ , rovercd with jewels  
 

time, decked out in Cloth of ^ an^  

 

... It rather seem, to me svhen 1 q  

flitting about that "The Heathen are come  

 

inheritance." . Maharajah  

 

Login did not think tt app P . .vcn when  

 

should spend so much time vvit into neigh-  

 
shc was al Mulgravc advsscd him  

 

bouring Lylhc Hall which she " “ l.hefs in-  

thc Maharajah is getting thoroug y , pp  

 

fluence,' Login wrote to Phtpp. urapart from  

 

saving him from dtsercdil. K' com-  

 

het, as had been arranged, and to tine  

panion, of his own age to lesidc with him.  
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II wai clearly the rani’s influence that caused her son to  

introduce an explosive new element into the dialogue w  

the India Office. . I very much wish to have a conversaoOT  

with you about my private property in the Punjab and the  

Koh-i-noor diamond,* he wrote to Login the day before  

leaving Mulgrave for Auchlync.** This was the first  

tion of ‘private property' and an indication that the rani, who  

would have been fully informed on the matter of Runjit  
Singh's ancestral acres in the Punjab, was suggesting he lay  

claim to them as of right. Nor was that her only suggestion  

— she pul into his mind that one day, according to an o  

Sikh prophecy, he would return in glory to rule the Punja .  

 

The rani’s ‘undue influence* over her son also encompassed  

the vexed subject of marriage. Lady Login, who may have  

feltthatslie was the one who should have been consulted first,  

commented waspishly on alettct from the Maharajah to her  

husband, which read: ‘You will be glad to hear that my  

mother has given me leave to marry an English lady, and  
1 think 1 have found one who will make me a good wife*  

‘Mark how the man of twenty-two has resumed the native  

custom of asking his mother’s leeveV was Lady Login s  

sponse. Unfortunately the Maharajah failed to propose to the  

lady prompdy, and lost her to another, but he consoled him-  

self with an inviution to shoot over her husband’s moon.  

 

Having invested him with her new order, the Star oflndi^  

the queen ‘talked to the Maharajah about his not going back  

to India, and the advisability of his buying a property in Eng-  

land and getting a good wife, whom we thought we might  
be able to find for him . . . After diimer,’ she continued m  

the journal, ‘a long talk with Col. Oliphant about the  

Maharajah, whom he praised highly, but was most anxious  

he should not return to India . . . Col. Oliphant spoke of hu  

affection for his mother, but its being important she should  

not live in the same house with him. He hoped he might  

marry.’**  

 

Only the deepest feelings of grief after the death of Pnnee  

Albert prevented Queen Victoria from offering some  
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comment on the Mihinjeh'j dittutbing new tendenciB. Sir  

Chitlei Phipps answered Login’s report on her behalt.  

 

I am very sotry to heat what you say about the Maharajah -  

nothing c^Wbeso destructive to him at that he should  
mtrmothet’s, or any other native Muenee. He « Bool “  

he lost; and. ifl were in your place. I should B  

 

a moment, forsake any position which gave me ""V ° "  

 



him.otcouldposiibly tend to ptevcnthim doing anything fooh^^^  
 

I do not think, if it were pointed out to him. he ^ ®  

 

wrong. 1 should have answeted you some days 1,^  

 

conceive what this house is a. ptment! For /ery ’t « bm, he  

 

h an atmosphere of sorrow, and that is a bad medium in whicn  

to trinjact biumeii.*’  
 

Everybody was relieved when in June .862 Duleep Singh  

 

wrote to Sir John Login: ‘1 charin Wood on  

 

mother’s return to India, and will sim Sir C  

the subject at once, to have a place <>f f",/°,,„d  

1 must see you soon, and will go up before I have to atiend  

^marriage of Princess Alice at Osborne, to which I am in-  

 

It howe'ver.some difficulty in ihc bife  
 

oZ to approve her return: Sir John Uwreneebro* of  

Henry, and now a member of the Indian Co“neiL wrote to  

Login: ’There can be no doubt whatever "t” *' ^"“he  

is better out of India than living in that cou , n  

 

is sure to do mischief; here. I admtt. she will be equally me  

evil genius of the Maharajah. It is for the .i.  

 

for India to decide luliirh inrrrert to Phipps  

 
Login, on receiving this ‘e'?P®'“'"8 PI ?^.’i„ui,c agree with  

 

for support. Phipps tephedfrom Win  

 

you that it is most important for the w rttuminc to  

 

that his mother should not be ptevente under this  

 

India. I fed very much that, as long as e r charac-  

 

inBuence.hewillbereuogrademh.smortiandso  

 
ter, instead of advancing to become an t g B  

as I thought he svas doing.’*® . ^-.jdine  

 

On 10 March .S63, the Maharajah went to the weddi g  
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of the Prince of Wales to Princess Alexandra of Dentnark  

at St George’s Chapel. Windsor. On the stroke of noon, the  

great West door was flung open, and Dulecp Singh entered  

at the bead of a procession of foreign princes. His view of  

the ceremony was almost as good as the widowed queen s,  



watching in seclusion from her specially built ‘box’. The  
Maharajah’s tuibaned figure can be clearly seen in William  

Frith’s ten-foot painting of the event, but Frith, who liked  

to sketch each figure from life, had to pursue him for over  

a year before even the first sitting could take place. While  

he was attending Frith’s studio, the Maharajah insisted that  

his jewels be deposited each night at Coutts Bank.  

 

The Maharajah, Frith thought, ‘had a face of a handsome  

type, but somewhat expressionless*. He found it strange, he  
wrote in his autobiography, to be painting ‘one who was a  

bom ruler of a bigger country than England, who bad been  

dragged aaoss the sea. jewels and all. to assist at the wcddtng  

ofa barbarian on a little Western island, and - what he may  

have considered an additional punishment — he was made to  

sit for his likeness, and compelled to lend his treasured jewels  

to be copied by an infidel whose neck it might have been  

his delight to wring if it had been in his power.’ There was  

no cause, it seemed, for Frith to worry: '“He is a thoroughly  

good young man", the Maharajah's servant told him, “b^  

reads no book but the Bible, which he knows from cover  
to covet.”  

 

Pending a decision from India House, the contentious  

rani was installed in her own establishment at Abingdon  

House, Kensington, with an English lady companion. The  

Maharajah, who it was agreed would be more easily kept  

happy as the proud owner of an English estate, was  

encouraged to buy Hatherop Casdc, a Tudoresque manor  

in Gloucestershire, at a cost of X^rSj.ooo advanced by the  

India Office. It was not long, however, before he discovered  

that the fenced-in grassland of the Cotswolds, though  
excellent for chasing foxes, did not lend itself so wcU to the  

conservation of game. Mote appropriate, he thought, would  
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be El%'cdcn Hall, newly on the market, where the open  

jtubble of Eajt Anglia could be relied upon to harbour a  
multitude of partridges.  

 

On t August 1863 the Ranijindan died, the Indian govem-  

menfj decision still unfortbconimg. The Maharajah hurried  

dossTs from Loch Kennard Lodge, in Perthshire, and Sirjohn  

Login was urgently summoned from hi* place of retlrem«it  

in Felixstowe to advise on what to do. It waihc who arranged  

that her temaim should be temporarily held in an unconse-  

crated vault at Kensal Green Cemeterj' until such time at her  

son might take them to India for the prescribed funeral rites.  

As well as the weeping servants of the rani, a number of  
Indian notabilities then in London attended the funeral; a  

Methodist minister read the funeral service before the cortege  

left Abingdon House, and the Maharajah overcame his  

natural nervousness to make a moving speech comparing the  

Christian religion to the Hindu, and giving reasons for his  



own beliefs.  
 

Two months later, on Sunday, 18 October, Sirjohn Login  

went upstain after family prayers quietly humming  

lover of my soul’. Minuiw later he was dead. Acconling  

to Lady Login: ‘Dulcep Singh's grief at my husband's death  

was indeed most sincere and unaffected, and many at the  

graveside spoke afterwards of the touching eloquence of his  

sudden outbunt there, when he gave vent to the words, "Oh.  

I have lost my father* for he was indeed that - and more -  
to me!" And t remember the sort of tense expression on his  

face when, on his arrival, having come immediately when  

he got the sad news, he asserted solemnly: "If that man is  

not in heaven, then there’s not a word of truth in the  

Bible!" ’22  

 

The Maharajah, who had just bought Elvcdcn, and had  

not even had a chance to show it to Login, suggested he  

should be buried in a fine family mausoleum he planned to  

build there. But Lady Login wanted her husband at Felix-  

stowe, and the Maharajah offered to pay for the erection in  
the churchyard thereof a grani^ and marble monument, the  
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designs of which %vere sent to the queen, at her suggestion,  

for approval. The Maharajah vJsit^ Lady Login at Felix-  

stowe before leaving for India, combining bis trip with some  
duck shooting on the Dcben, for which he brought his own  

puntandduck-gun.Hearranged that Login’s pension should  

be continued in her name.  

 

It had been a sad year for the Maharajah. He had lost his  

mother and his ’father’; his laithful valet Thornton had died  

as well as his secretary Cawood. In addition, Gouramma,  

who had lately given birth to a daughter, his goddaughter,  

was dying of consumption. His love alTairs with English  

ladies had all gone wrong, and in bis present sanctimonious  

mood, he had come to the conclusion that even if he found  

a lady of society to marry he would only be led into a life  
of idleness. He told Lady Login that what he wanted was  

a very young Eastern girl, ‘a good Christian wife’, he could  

train up to be what he called ‘an help-mcei’.  

 

In a sudden spirit of enthusiasm he made a bet with Lady  

Login, committing its bitartc terms to paper: ’1 promise to  

pay Lady Login jCso (fifty pounds) if 1 am not married by  

1st June 1864, provided my health keeps good. N.B. That  

is, if I am not confined three months to my house, or ordered  

by my doctor (of course showing a “Doc” certificate) to go  

abroad.’’* It may have been to increase his chances of win-  
ning that he went so far as to write to the principal of the  

American Presbyterian Mnsion School in Cairo, where on  

a visit during his first journey from India he had observed  

some charming pupils, to ask if they had any suitable gub  

to recommend. According to the records of the mission the  



Maharajah put it to them.  
 

that from his {wculUr position be was liable to many temptanons  

as a young unmarried man, and he had determined, therefore, to  

marry, and had been making « for some lime pait a matter of  

Jpeaal prayer that the Lord would raise him up a suitable wife,  

for he hid determined to marry m the Lord. Her Majesty Queen  

Victoria had advised him to trurry an Indian pnneess, who had  

been educated in England, but he wiihed one who war leii  
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acquainted with the giictict and frivolities of fashionable aristo-  

cratic life. His preference was decided!)' for an Oriental, and as he  

kncs^' of no lady of rank In India W’ho had been cons'crtcd to the  

truth he had concluded to inquire in Egypt if haply there might  
be one found here whom the Lord had been preparing for him  

in special anjweetohii prayer. Rank and position inhfe were noth-  

ing to him; what he desired was a young girt who loved the Lord  

in sincerity and iruth.^*  
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Tlic Mission School Bride  

 

 

The Mihatajah left England on l6 ftbruary 1864 with hu  

mother’s corpse, and several other servants. While his ship  

was delayed at Suez, he hurried to Cairo and went straight  

to the mission school. He observed a small fiftccn-ycar-oId  

student teacher giving alcsson to a large, but disciplined, class  

and decided she was just the girl for him. Her name was  

Bamba Muller, and she was the daughter of an Abyssinian  

^ lady -a Copt and therefore Christian - and Ludwig MiiJler,  
^well-knpwn and respected figure in the cosmopolitan  

socicsi'/^ Alexandria, and partner in the German firm of  

merchant Wj^ts-Todd Muller and Co. The missionaries,  

having recctv^huA'tCivf application, had also seen Bamba  

as the ideal choice. espc^fSly as she was the only fully practis-  

ing Christian in their care at that time. The Maharajah  

saw her again when he presented the school prizes ; spcaldng  

to her through an interpreter, for she spoke only Arabic, he  

persuaded her to accept his proposal and to await his return  

from India. Even if the missionaries felt, as they phrased it.  

‘very heavily the responsibility of being in any way in-  
strumental in transplanting a young, render flower from its  

native soil, in which it was growing in vigour and beaury  

every day, to a region and climate where it might pine away  

and die from withering blasts.’* they were prepared to give  

their blessing to the match.  



 
Until he came back from India, « was agreed that the mis-  

sionaries should train Bamba to be a suitable bride to  

a wealthy and well-meaiung maharajah. T think it is desirable  

that she should leam English and music, and to give her own  
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orders,' the Maharajah wrote from Suez. ‘Do you not think  

it would be rather a good thing that she could go out driving  

a little, so that she may be accustomed to going unveiled?  

But her own feelings should be consulted as to this. I am hav-  

ing a pair of earrings made for Bamba, which I hope she will  

be able to wcar.’^ In addition to the carritigs, there was  

anoilicr token, finished just before the Maharajah sailed: he  

sent it to the head of the mission with a covering letter that  
appropriately balanced the sacred with the secular:  

 

I send you with this note a ring for Bamba, svhich kindly make  

over to her for me, and tell her « will give me very much pleamre  

if she will always wear boih the presents 1 have sent her, whether  

we should be married together or not. Kindly tell her that she must  

pray to God for guidance and entirely commit herself to Him.  

believing that ‘all things work together for good to them that love  

God,' and He who loved her. and gave Himself a ransom for her,  

will guide her in the right path. She does not know how much  

more anxious I am to possess her now since I heard yesterday of  
her determination to be entirely led by Him. and to live for His  

glory only, I pray God that it be His will her father may give his  

consent. 1 think (should everything go on all right) that Damba  

should have one or two maid servants, in order that she may learn  

to give her own orders about diflercni things about herself, for  

should she become my wife, she will not very well know how to  

get on at first, as I keep a large number of servants, and she must  

behave herself like a proper mistress before ehem.a  

 

Tltc missionaries saw to it that Bamba underwent an in-  

tensive course of domestic training. ‘She, of course, had a  

great deal to learn,' one of them observed; 'how to sit, how  
to cat, how to handle her knife and fork etc. and many an  

awkward thing happened before she got accustomed to  

Frank (European] ways.’"*  

 

Then, having secured a firm option on a wife who  

seemed to be in every way what he had been looking for, the  

Maharajah continued on his journey to India. At Bombay  

his mother was cremated and her ashes scattered on the sacred  

waters of the river Godavari. On almost the same day  
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Vicioria Goutamma Campbell di«l in London at the age of  

twenty-three, leaving behind her a baby daughter. The text  



on her tomb, selected by Queen Victoria, read, ‘Other sheep  
I have which are not ofthis fold.’ Her husband too was soon  

to meet an unhappy end. He was seen leaving his lodgings  

in Jermyn Street carrying a small bag supposedly containing  

her jewels and was never seen again. Murder was suspected.*  

■iTie Maharajah kept hisstayin Bombay as short as possible,  

finding time, however, to hand over his mother’s favounte  

slave, Soortoo, to the care of the Bombay mission; she had  

been a childhood playmate and was about his osvn age. He  

returned toEgyptby the next availahleboat to claim his bride  
and hopefully to meet the deadline of his bet with Lady  

Login.  

 

Bamba had developed jaundice and had gone to stay with  

her father in Alexandria. The Maharajah called on arrival.  

‘It b marvellous how everything connected with the affair  

has gone on,' he wrote to the head of the mission in Cairo,  

‘and how Bamba’s father has been led to fulfil his duties to-  

wards his child. May the Lord give him grace to take the  

Lord Jesus as his daughter does.**  

 
On 28 April the Maharajah called on the British consul.  

Robert Colquhoun. to inform him of his intention to many,  

and request 1 dm topublishthebanns.lt was from Colquhoun ’$  

notification to Lord Palmerston at the Foreign Office that  

the first news of the remarkable suit reached London;  

 

The Maharajah Dulccp Singh has this day returned from Bom-  

bay — he waited on me this evening and informs me he u about  

to marry a young girl the daughter of a merchant here, she has  

been educated by the American Protestant Mission here - she is  

an illegitimate child, now recognised by her iaiher, her mother an  
Abyssinian. TheEannswiU shortly be published at the Alexandnan  

Consulate.  

 

His Highness tells me it » his intention to inform Colonel Phipps  

of the circumstance requestmg him to mform Her Majesty to  

whom he is bound by the strongest ties of gratitude and respect,  

he seems to have well reflected on what he is about to do and 1  
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fw! myself hardly at liberty to use any remonstrance where evi-  

dently his feelings are so deeply interested - your Lordship will  

pardon my troubling you on the subject - but perhaps you may  

think it right to inform the Queen of what I have written.’^  

 

It was not the queen who was the first friend to hear of  

the impending marriage, but Ronaid Lesiie-Melvyie, to  

whom the Maharajah had immediately written the great  
news. Melville told Colonel Oliphant, who had already had  

a report on the preliminary courtship in Cairo, and Oliphant  

passed the gossip on to the palace.  

 

I know not if you have heard from the Maharajah, or if any  



report has reached you from any other quarter that he is engaged  
to be married. He has not written to me; but to Ronald Melville,  

authorising him to tell me of it, so although he may not have  

announced it in due form, there seems no doubt that it is a fact.  

 

I hope the M.R. may have written to you on the subject, for con-  

sideration CO the Queen: if not I must leave it in your hands to  

do what you think best. A month ago Mrs Oliphant had a letter  

from an excellent clergyman of Hi^. Mr Deck, who had heard  

from a dear friend of his at Cairo that the Maharajah had been  
accepted by a young lady whom he thus describes : ‘The Beautiful  

Girl who is soon likely to be the wife of the Prince is a very sweet  

girl with a face full of intelligence, a Decided Christian, between  

IJ and i6 years of age.’ He added that unless we heard it from  

others we were to consider it stnctly confidential which we have  

accordingly done. Mr Deck does not give her name, and no doubt  

she is a Copt. The Maharajah tells Melville she is the daughter of  

a Banker at Cairo, and that he would leave Bombay on the 14 April  

for Cairo, where I understood he was to be married. Both Mn  

Oliphant and I have impJicir trust in the account we have received  

of the Bride Elect, and there is good hope that his union with her  
vrill be all that his best friends can desire.  

 

On the 13th of this month we flit from this to Hatherop, but  

whether to remain long or not, will depend on His Highness s  

choice betv.-ecn the 2 places, Hatherop or Elvcden. Ar present his  

heart is in the latter, owing to its being such a place for sporting.  

 

/ trust the quiet of Osborne is restoring peace and health to our  

Dear Queen.®  
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That was all the queen knew about the matter. Why had  

the Maharajah not written to her, she wondered. She was  

so worried that she sent Phipps &om Windsor to London,  

preceded by a liveried rider out of deference to the widowed  

Lady Login, to see if she bad any more information. But for  

once Lady Login had to admit that she knew no more than  

anyone else. A fortnight was to pass before the queen had  

news direct: it came in the form ofa letter from the Mahara-  

jah to Phipps.  

 
f have hitherto hesitated not biowing whether I ought to write  

butfearinglestl should be eonsidefcd negligent by the Queen who  

has been so gracious and kind to me that 1 take this opportunity  

of writing privately to you and of explaining what has prevented  

me from acquainting Her Majesty of my approaching marriage.  

The young lady is an iiiegttimate daughter (though adopted by  

her Ctther) . • . and it is her birth that has prevented me from telling  

you of this sooner knowing that there is such an objection to it  

in England. Therefore should the Queen hear of my marriage and  

be offended with me for not having told her of it be so good as  

to explain why I did not do so . . . Finding out that she was a good  
girl and a true Christian and who only wished to serve God alone  

1 asked her Father for her being convinced that a woman native  

to the East like myself would make me a better wife chan a Euro-  

pean.*  

 



Though the fact of the fianew's illegitimacy in no way dis-  
turbed the queen, there was outright disapproval in many  

quarters when the news got around of the Maharajah’s pro-  

posed marriage. Lady Login, who had the information at  

second hand from her son that the wedding was set for  

7 June, wrote to Phipps that there was just rime to write  

‘to stop him and make him consider before he makes it  

impossible to go back’.’® Colonel Oliphant had to have his  

say and wrote a letter to Phipps that can only be described  

as priggish:  
 

There is indeed much cause for anxiety respecting the Mahara-  

jah's future, yet 1 am not without hope that things may turn out  

better than might reasonably be expected from the undesirable  
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connection he his made and the haste with which he has entered  

into it. He seems to have acted wirfi his usual impulsiveness prob-  

ably without giving a thought about her Parents, who or what  

they were, but attraaed by the personal appearance of the young  

lady and by the good account he heard of her. 1 take this to be  

the history of the engagement for I suppose they know little of  

each other's language and therefore could have interchanged but  

few ideas. Her youth is perhaps a good thing. She will more readily  

acquire good English manners and habits and ideas, and perhaps  
some things in H.H. that an English wile might not have liked,  

will in all probability be unobjectionable to the young German-  

Abyssinian (if she be so) whose tastes and habits are still unformed.  

What we all desired for him was that he might find a nice English  

wifi: yet this was no easy matter. Often and often have he and I  

talked on the subject and it was, I may say, continually in his  

thoughts, but poor fellow, I have reason to think that he had come  

to the conclusion that (as he termed it) a 'foreigner like himscir  

was distasteful to our Country svomen, and it is not impossible  

that some such feeling urged him on so hastily to the step he has  

taken. “  

 
The Maharajah was to lose hss bet by a week r owing to the  

necessity of posting the banns, the ceremony did not take  

placeumilpjunc 1 864. The first report appeared in The Times  

oj India:  

 

The Afarn'e^e cf Dukep S/rtfh — The marriage of the Maharajah  

Duleep Singh took place at the Drirish Consulate, Alexandria, on  

the 7th June, in the presence of very few witnesses. The young lady  

who has now become the Maharanee is the daughter of an Euro-  

pean merchant here. Her mother is an Abyssinian. She is between  

fifteen and sixteen years of age. of a slight but graceful figure, inter-  
esting rather than handsome, not tall, and in complexion lighter  

than her husband. She » a Christian, and was educated in the  

American Presbyrerian Mission School at Cairo; and it was during  

a chance visit there, while on his way out to India, that the Prince  

first saw his future bride, who was engaged as insmictrcss at the  



school. Duleep Singh wore at the wedding European costume,  
excepting a red tarboosh. The bride's dress was also European, of  

white moire antique, a fichu point d'Alen^on — short lace sleeves,  

orange blossoms in her dark hair, with, of course, the usual gauze  
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veil. She wore but fcwjeweh; a necklace of fine pearls, and a brace-  

let set with diamonds, were her only ornaments. The formula of  

the civil marriage at Her Dntannic Majesty's consulates in the  

Levant is very brief. Both parties delcare that they know po lawful  

impediment to their union; then they declare that they mutually  

accept each other as husband and wife, and the civil cercniony is  

over. This formula was pronounced by the Prince in English; the  

bride, in a low but musical vtMce, read it in Arabic {that being the  

only language with which she is acquainted.) and thus ‘Bamba  
Muller’ became the 'Maharanee*. She showed much self-possession  

throughout it all. A religious ceremony was performed by one of  

the American ministers at the house of the bnde's father; and rhe  

newly married pair retired to the Prince’s house at Ramleh. a few  

miles from Alexandria.**  

 

Perhaps because his new wKc had caught jaundice arid he did  

not want to show her off to his friends at a dbadvantage, the  

Maharajah spent a month in Egypt among the mbsioriaries  

having what cannot have been a stimuiating honeymoon.  

 
The queen was among the fim to hear of the Maharajah »  

arrival in England and have a positive description of his bride  

from someone whose opinion she knew would not be exag-  

gerated. It came from Colonel Oliphan t, the elderly equerry,  

and was written from Claridges where the couple had just  

been installed:  

 

• On Friday night 1 received a telegram from Pans from the  

Maharajah saying he would be in London the next day. so Mrs  

Oliphanc and I surted the next moming and found that he and  

his bnde had travelled all night, and had reached here two houn  

before us. I did not write to you sotmer, because I thought you  
would like to know what we thought of her after a few days’ ac-  

quainunce rather than the mere first day’s impression. ) am truly  

happy to say that I can send youa very faveurabJe report In person  

she is small and delicately made.hasasweet smile, wrinnifig expres-  

sion, a soft black eye, and her complexion is like the late Princess  

Gouiamma. She b unable to speak Engjish as yet beyond a very  

Lttle which of course prevents her from appearing to such advan-  

tage as she would otherwise do, but she » quite self-possessed and  

has anatural dignity of manner which has struck all who have been  
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inlioduCTd lo he. Lsdy Leven h.. jiiH com. in. and ' ^ W  

 



and if 1 can add M-ha. Udy Leven ,hmIo I  
a iwM gentle gill. Lady L. ha.jmt lalcn her oul m her earn g  

Lady Login had not been able to visit the couple before  

anyone else! as no doubt she would have  

was unwell and in deep moutning 'h" f  

 

iiremarkablynicf-lookinp.withvefy » V • »nd a  

 

non. In that r«pcc< the ii bettef.h>okmg  

 
size larger. She looked simple and qui . mjrriace? and  

 

I asked the M.K. if her head was turned by  

 

he said that the fancy she is entirely  

 

her jewels when he showed them to h . • • ^ .j.  

 

oecipied with him. She is “<””“5'™ lY' "h wdsh  

would like to do anything, amv.cn. ... ij very  

 
They arc going immediately to * ' | j , hould visit them  

anxious that Lord L. rm of our party  

 

there, and 1 have penuaded k«td . f . . ,{jy at the Inn  

would go cither to N. Berwick for sca-baihing. or stay  

 

at Aberfeldy. r u* vi H«*»avshername is'Damba ,  

 

Ishouldliketosecmotcofthisgi • v ^11 six weeks ago. when  

 

which means -pink-, and that she was pmk till »« weeks ag  
 

'''SSi.hcisnot.HOng^^^g^;:^^'':;^^;  

 

hehioughthctherc begged she img „monstrrte .bout  

 

because of some dose he had gsvm n  

 

this, or he will certainly kUI her. and seems a »inipl«>  

 

She look, as if she had a pwfeet "tld^obmJon.  

 

minded gi.l, above marrying f?' „ ^apTy togeihee.  
if it do« not last too long, will make them ppy  
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The M H. u'iU interfere with everything concerning his wife's  

attire, and has the most absurd norionf about the matter. I tried  
to convince him that the crinoline was not at all suitable for her  

and it would be better for her to dress in a modification of the  

Egyptian costume, which is infinitely more becoming.  

 

You can fancy how it is now. with two dressmakers in the house,  



and he finding fault if she docs not look like other people, and yet  
insisting on her dresses being cut short, and no trimmings of any  

kind, and choosing colours irrespective of the becoming! It is all  

from intense anxiety that she should look well, but 1 mean to try  

and persuade him to give up dress and medicine to professionals,  

and devote himself to her mind instead!  

 

Mmc. Goldschmidt* saw her here, and thought her very nice-  

 

looking, and all our girls were charmed with her And 1 hope  
 

she will make as good an impression on others as she did on us.  

I scarcely know why. but I feel as if I cared almost as much about  

his wife as ! should about R's.'*  

 

Lady Login came up from Felixstowe as soon as she could  

to hear all about it direct from the Maharajah. He came to  

call on her fn her lodgings in Hanover Square, nor. however,  

to present his wife. He was aiutious to claim the bet, which  

on the evidence, he seemed to have lost by a week. In her  

Rfcollerfioni she paints a vivid picture of the meeting:  
 

It was in the dusk of the late afternoon of a foggy day, and the  

remembrance often comes back to me of him, sitting there by the  

fire with the daylight slowly fading, while he told the tale of his  

wooing and mairiage of this shy young child - for she was little  

more - who had no desire for the position he could offer her. and  

in her heart wished to be left to devote herself to the life of a mis-  

sionary. for which she was being educated. He thoroughly enjoyed  

telling his story, and was in the highest of spinrs, and mumphant  

over having just managed to ‘win his bet’ with me by speeding  

upthelega! formalities and hu own movements, to and from India,  
within the specified date!  

 

To all my remonstrances as to the indecent haste with which  

he cut short his mother's 'cremation', so as to permit of his return  

quickly to Egypt, and to his having allowed pressure to be pot on  

* The stogei, Jenny Laid  
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hcnothingofhcn?‘Oh.that «^ Whit do you mean? You  
to interpret! Interpret. Mihirijih. j Whit  

 

never h.didrsROmsn .here »hRn yoa were olt E ^  

 

eouW he oy! 'Oh, qune «y. qmlc "'V- ' »"" J „j e,  

,„ ,.y M-e, ••! love you! he ■“  

 

Sel^»"e"tlV'doSLw ^  

 

in cam«t; but the bare ^ V.V -o’.hjne but laugh with  

 
ir. .0 irresimbly comic ih.. I could do "^"S ^U.»B  

him, end h.d to .b.udor, .he .rrempr  

outraged the ieuie of propneiy of t c p  

 

ladylike''* Miss Hart, on knowledge.  



 
Cairo, would leant some habitable, and  

 

Elveden took longer than expeae „tum to Egypt for  

 

meanwhile the young couple and by  

 

some early sunshine. They too mission  

 

the middle ofjanuarywcresathng on Ac ^  
 

anyone who eared to listen.  
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The Squire of Elveden  

 

 

Elveden Hall lies about four miles from Thetford on the  

borders of Suffolk and Norfolk. It was originally owned by  

Admiral Keppel, the first Earl of Albemarle, but for the last  

fifty years had been the home of a sporting squire, William  

Newton. The cost to the Maharajah was jC^osfiOO, raised  

by a loan from the India Office at 4 per cent. By the time  

the adjoining estate ofEriswell. split with the rich Mr Anger-  

stein, had been added, the property comprised some seven-  
teen thousand acres.  

 

It could not be said that the house was prepossessing; soon  

after he took possession, the Maharajah decided that it would  

virtually have to be rebuilt. The architect, John Norton, was  

commissioned to design a mansion in the Italian Renaissance  

style, and Cubitt & Co. were employed as contraaors. The  

finishedhouse was of red brick with Ancaster stone dressmgs;  

with its pillared portico, projecting wings and double bay  

windows, it had a solid look, though the ornamental urns  

at roof level and the four great chimney stacks gave it a cer-  

tain air of fantasy. But the interior was even more fanciful:  
Norton's brief was to make the main rooms tcmmisccnt of  

an Indian palace, and to give him some idea of what he had  

in mind, the Maharajah showed him a set of watercolours  

brought from Lahore and photographs obtained from the In-  

dia Museum. The Shish Mahal, the Glass Palace, was the  

inspiration for the drawing room, with convex slivers of  

mercurized glass that sparkled in the light embedded in the  

plasterwork. The main rooms were embellished with ela-  

borate pilasters and arches in the Mughal style; the grand  
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marble staircase, buift at a cost *5* pw tread, was set  

 



\Wih splendid cast-iron banisters painted in sealing-wax  
red.*  

 

The neighbours must have gazed in wonder when they  

turned up at the first reception and observed the extraordi-  

nary interior; with the ‘Black Prince’, as he was known loc-  

ally, in full Indian outfit, his tiny wife by his side, holding  

court in the twinkling drawing room, its walls hung with  

cashmere shawls, and strange pieces of oriental furniture dis-  

posed among the familiar silk-covered ottomans, chester-  
fields and whatnots.  

 

The Maharajah’s predecessor, Newton, had been a keen  

shooting man and had improved the estate for that purpose  

during his tenure. His tradition was ‘walking op*, but the  

Maharajah, who had plenty of beaters at his disposal, pro-  

posed to lay out the property for the specific purpose of big  

drives, a system that had been developed in East Anglia in  

the previous decade but which he was conscientiously to ad-  

vance by carefully planned plantations. Farming could be left  

to the tenant farmers: ifagriculiurally underdeveloped Elvc-  
den was soon to become one of the finest sporting places in  

the country, rivalling nearby Sandringham, purchased at  

about the same time by the Prince of Wales.  

 

The Maharajah had chosen to live in an area that had the  

greatest concentration of sporting estates in the world. As  

well as Sandringham, there was Lord Walsingham’s Merton,  

Lord Henniker's Thomham. Lord Albermale’s Quidenbam,  

the Duke of Grafton’s Euston, and grandest of all. Lord  

Leicester’s Holkham ; not to mention numerous other lesser,  

but well-stocked, establishments. All the great shots came to  
Elveden, including the Prince of Wales, and the Maharajah’s  

shooting guests included half the grandees in the land, among  

them Leicester, Kimberley, Dacrc, Rendlesham, Abingcr,  

Skclmcrsdalc, Ripon, Bristol, Hcnnikcr. WaUingham,  

Westbury, Xovat, jjalfour ofBurleigh, Manchester, Londes-  

borough, Atholl and Grafton. If the Maharajah was not quite  

so good a shot as Walsingham, Ripon or Hariington, he was  
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rated the founh best in Britain, even if his style of shoot-  
ing pheasants was hardly elegant -he would someumes sit  

on the ground and swivel himself around ‘like a whir mg  

dervish’. He held two records - 440 grouse to his own gun  

in a day at Grandtully, the estate he rented in Perthshire,  

and 780 partridge for a thousand cartridges at Elveden. or  

the Grandtully feat he had three pairs of dogs working an  

rode from point to point on a pony. In an average season  

at Elveden the bag might be ten thousand pheasants,  

partridges, three thousand hares and seventy thousan  

rabbits. For bagging the latter he took a nincty-nine-^*f  

lease on a sandy area known as Warren Lodge, where mey  
could be shot from platforms erected in the trees. From ^ho^o  

platforms the Maharajah liked to shoot them driven at him  

down wind and many hundreds were killed on sue  

occasions, the skins ending up at the local factory where thc>  

were turned into fur hats. ,  



 
An impression of the Maharajah out shooting is provided  

by T.W.Tumcr, who was to become head keeper at  

Elveden: ’I well remember seeing the Maharajah out par-  

tridge shooting ... It was in 1875 and 1 was a small boy of  

seven. These were the days of muuJe-loaders. and the  

Maharajah had three double-barrelled guns, and two loaders,  

who with their blue and green coats and waistcoats, powder  

flasks and leather shoibags. made a great impression on my  

mind. They were walking in seed clover, which was ideal  
for partridges to settle in. and to ensure this the gamekeeper  

was walking along the road flying a kite over the field, the  

kite being shaped like 2 peregrine hawk ... to make them  

lie close. I was so much impressed by it all that I thought,  

“When I get to be a man I will be a gamekeeper if I can.  

 

Following the lead of Lord Rendlesham, the Maharajah  

tried to introduce the ted grouse to the hcathland. but like  

other neighbours who attempted it he found it did not work.  

He was more successful with the golden pheasant, and the  

sight of these elegant exotics strutting on the lawns beneath  
the cedars must have added to the magic of the scene. The  
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Maharajah trained several Icelandic gerfalcons to take the big  

browTi ham on the open heath, but the quarry proved diffi-  
cult to capture, being quick to take cover in hit plantations.  

Wallabies and jungle fowl proved less able to compete with  

the chill Eatt Anglian winters.  

 

At Elvcden the Maharajah had come into his own.  

 

They had been at Elveden for over a year when an invita-  

tion arrived from the queen to ‘dine and sleep’ at Windsor;  

she was keen to sec Hamba for the first time. The Maharajah  

hoped his wife had by now learned enough to do him credit.  

Lady Les’en. who introduced Damba, described the dress she  

wore for the occasion, and in which she w-as photographed:  
*lt had a full skirt, and Turkish jacket with W'ide sleeves; on  

her head was a jaunty cap, like a fra. made of large pearls,  

worn on one side with a long tassel of pearls hanging down  

10 her shoulder. Her hair ss-as plahed into several Jong, light  

plaits, hanging straight down all round. This odd tfiffure was  

apparently only for state occasions, normally it was coiled  

on top of her head in one immense plait.’ Lady Leven de-  

scribed hosv the I’rincas Royal and Princess Helena, who  

ss'cre staying at the time, 'u'oufjttsyin the Maharanee’s room  

to see her hair plaited'.^ Tbc queen kissed her. ai an acknow-  

ledgement of her rank, and flattered the Maharajah with  
compliments about her. The two princesses made her sit  

between them all cs’ening.cross-questioning her about Egypt  

and her life there. In her journal for 30 November 1865. the  

queen svrote; ’The good Maharajah (in his Indian dress) &  

his lovely little svife, beautifully dressed in Indian stuffs,  



covered with splendid jewels tc pearls, like a Princess in a  
fairy tale, dined. Heii so amiable Aagrceable, but gets too fat.’  

 

Indeed it could no longer be said that the Maharajah was  

the same slim youth that the queen bad admired and Winter-  

halter had delineated. An anonymous writer, who called  

himself ‘one of the Old Brigade’ as author of London in the  

Sixties, described him as follows: *lt was only when His  

Highness assumed evening dress that visions of Mooltan,  

ChillianvvalJah, and Goojerat faded from one’s brain, and a  
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podgy little Hindoo seemed to sund before one, divested of  

th2t physique and martial bearing one associates with other  

wattiois or Sikhs, and only lequiting, as it were, a chutnee-  

pot peeping out of his pocket to complete the illusion.  

 

Bamba’s first child, a son, was born in June 1866. A sm^  

christening ceremony was held at Elveden, but eight montlu  

later the queen commanded them to Windsor for a sccot  
christening, at which she would be the godmother. Her  

journal entry for the occasion reads:  

 

Directly after breakfast the Maharajah's baby was brought in by  

the nunc for me to see. I never beheld a lovelier child, a  

little darling with the most splendid dark eyes, but not very dar  

skin.  

 

At 1, the Christening of the dear little ‘Shahradah* took pb*  

in the chapel. He is already months old and sits up. As he had  

already b«n baptised, the service was a different one. and the nu^  
held him all the time. I named him Victor Albert, the name*  

Maharajah wished to have. He and a Mr Jay, a Clergyman, who  

had christened the Maharajah Umself. many years ago, were th®  

sponsors with me. Lord and Lady Leven and Lady Sophy Melvilw.  

great fnends of the Maharajah's, alt my Ladies and Gentlemen, and  

Louise, Leopold and Baby were present. The dear little Maharanee  

sat with the Utter, and the Dean of Windsor performed the service.  

Took leave of the dear young couple and my little godchild, to  

whom I gave some gifts . ..*•  

 

Poor Bamba did not take too easily to social life, and the  

heavy, mascuUnc shooting patties must have both awed and  
bored her. But she was kept busy enough with her children,  

and in the first twelve years of her marriage produced three  

boys and three girls - Victor Albert Jay (bom 1866); Fre-  

derick Victor (bom i868);Bamba Sofia Jmdan (bom 1869);  

Catherine Hilda (bom 1 S71) ; Sophia Alexandra (bom 1 876) ;  

and Edward Albert Alexander (bom 1879).  

 

As his family responsibilities grew, the Maharajah began  

to worry again about his financial affairs. Elveden was  

mortgaged to the India Office and he would be unable to  

leave it to his son. Besides, there was some adjoining land he  
wanted to buy. In March 1868 he sought an interview with  

lU  
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the queen, who hid told him to cill on her if he hid iny  

prohlemi. ‘After luneheon law the good Mihirajih. the  

queen noted in the jcnmil, ‘who came ,n plim morning  

clothei. not neatly lo becoming ai hit native  

wanted toipeah to me about hit ow-n affairt A '>«  

on hit childtcn't account to get hit  

 

Tlie queen acted without delay. ‘Saw S'' S'  
about the Maharajah-, affairt.- the entered  

 

toldhimthatlwatveryanxiout. fpottjble.tha tomefurthe  

 

allowance be made for the children, though J ^  

knew he had no claim whatever.- Thi, wa. the  

in a long campaign to help, that the queen ^  

 

wa, no claim. If the in fact thought he had no legal claim,  

the wa, never in doubt about hi, moral one.  

 
Sir Stafford Notthcote, then teeretary of ttate  

ateertalned that there wa, £. 3 . 5 »S not "^'n np unJ'r h  

mortgage agreement, and tin. wa,  

reduKd interett rate. The next teeretary of tate the  

of Argyll, at the behett of the queen, J  

 

that, e,™ if he had accepted prevtou, arrangement, a, finaK  

 

/It 5 000 a year would be availabletohi, family after hit de  

in addition to hi, own aceumulation, „„.ia„,,io„  

 
A, well a, a qualified ‘thank you for hi, "onllder^io ,  

Argyll wattoon to receive a puarling "q"'”- J'  

 

s'k^e;;“va“rSw^^^^  

 

y.-rGra'^ethatdiou.dc^^^^^^^^^  

 

non to P'oevni ‘O Ind" ho y^ .  

 

100,000 acre, of watte ™ ,  

 

North-Wettem P'ov'ne« « " „p  
 

further P'ovB'on fo' f g„,eful to the  

 

Go*:^:rntOT,e°bov.r,tatedextentof,and^  
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over to me in a ring fence and I be permitted to pay off the  

purchase money only on that portion of it which is brought  

under tillage annually, instead of being required to pay dovsu  

the whole amount at one time.’*  
 

There must have been some questioning looks at the Indu  

Office when the Duke of Argyll brought up the unexpectro  

request with his council. In this instance his reply conceded  

nothing at all: *... whilst Her Majesty’s Government have  



every disposition, as your Highness is aware, to comply with  
such reasonable requests as you may make for the advance-  

ment of the true interests of yourself and family, they cannot,  

 

1 regret to say, recommend his Excellency the Viceroy to  

assent to the proposal which you have now submitted to  

me.**®  

 

If the India Office rejected the Maharajah's continuing  

requests for cash, it was to some extent because he was sew  
to be living beyond hii means, and a section of the public-  

especially that which voted Liberal, did not approve of con-  

spicuous consumption by deposed, and presumably un-  

worthy, maharajahs at the expense of India’s innumerable  

poor. He was becoming knosvn as something of a ‘punter  

and was often to be found in the clubs playing whist for up  

to /Jio a rubber. His moral stance, abo, was open to criticism  

-he was a popular patron of the Alhambra, and would turn  

up in the green room to display some minor piece of jewel-  

lery and inquire of the assembled houris ‘What nice little girl  

is going to have this?’ He soon concentrated his attennons  
on a member of the chorus called Polly Ash, whom he set up  

in a flat in CovenC Garden complete with an annuity.* * Like  

the Prince of Wales, he enjoyed his visits to Pans. He was  

often seen at the tables there, and is said to have introduced  

to London ehemin defer, which he preferred to baccarat. One  

of the attractions in Paris was the courtesan Leonide le Blanc,  

whom he shared for a time spnth an unlikely pair, the Due  

d’Aumale and the young Clcmcn^au. The lady, it was said,  

had two sorts of writing paper appropriately designed for  

an ‘amanl de ccrur’ or an 'amant ^ poche’. It is not known  
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for which category the Maharajah qualified. Another London  

lady who took his fancy was known as ‘Manni , fair and  

aristocratic in appearance, who in fict had been a maid m  

a Knightsbridge hotel. If her manners svere patrician, her  

voicewas unmistakably East End. and she liked a brandy and  

soda for breakfast. The Maharajah's attentions were atdent  

- he had her send him a telegram twice a day, just to let  

me knosv you are alright’.'^ . i.  
 

There may have been some conflict m the Maharajah s  

mind between the Christian code of conduct  

by Login and the mote liberated of some of hs fnend .  

Though rejected by White's, he had joined  

the Marlborough clubs and the followeis of the  

Wales who were members of the latter, set an eicample that  

may have been nearer to his basic nature.  

 

wanted to make a more serious Lj”  

 
it was to indulge him in this direaion that  

Melville suggested he have a go at pohtics. Asa stari,  

had the duke of Richmond puthim up for the Carhon  

and, supported by Lord Walsingham and Load f “MUe. he  

was elected on 17 March tSyj. h may Bava caeurmd m ™  



stalwart Conservatives who composrf ■>'' ^ub that V °  
testing Whitby, in an area in which he had been P P ^  

dnrini his long association with Mulgrave,  

might have a faint chance of twinning a 1 eta ’  

 

if he did not. might embarrass the  

 

happened to be Gladstone's son Herbert, and thereby aggra  

vate the ‘Grand Old Man' himself. ,...us of a  

 
When the Maharajah received the v. , jgnot  

 

European prince, it was taciUy understood •>>« ha *ovild  

involve himself in politics, though Indian po 11  

ably what was meant. But the id« was faa” E  

in the changing political and social clima e >  

 

the educated natives of that country wanted  

to have a say in their affair, an Indian in Parl.amen|m.Bh^  

Stand for a symbol of thdr emanapauon.  

 
Mia commuted: ‘It should be worth a good deal for tn  

 

 

117  

 

 

 

QUEEN victoria's MAHARAJAH  

Indian people to obtain a representative so eminently quali-  

fied to give a valuable and sound opinion on questions affect-  

ing their religion, laws, feelings and prejudices, more especi-  
ally a fine gentleman like the Maharajah - and according to  

all we hear,’ the editorial continued, ‘no English gentleman  

or nobleman plays that role with greater success, whether be  

be regarded as a landlord, a patron or a host."^  

 

The queen did not think it at all a good idea that the  

Maharajah should dabble in English politics, and she had been  

advised that it would raise certain constitutional problems  

connected with his legal right to British nationality. But why  

should he not have a scat in the House of Lords and perhaps  

some social gratification In being made a peer of the realm-  

She put the question to the prime minister, who was visiting  
her at Balmoral: ‘Saw Mr Gladstone ... after luncheon 5-'  

talked to him about the idea of making the Maharajah a P^t  

which he thought was a very good one, whereas his standing  

for Hse. of C.. which he had hinted at. was quite inadmis-  

sible.'*^  

 

Gladstone was in an embarrassing position. He pointed out  

to the queen ‘the difficulty which would arise if it could be  

said that lhad advised the grant of a Peerage to the Maharajah  

in order to get rid oftheoppiositionat Whitby*. Nevertheless,  

the great rsonconformwi conscience finally accepted what  
was in faa that very ^tiid pro tjuo. At Gladstone’s suggestion,  

the proposition was put to Colonel Oliphant, acting as the  

Maharajah's adviser, by Sir Thomas Biddulph, Keeper of the  

Privy Purse. ‘If. . . the Maharajah has entirely abandoned all  

thoughts of Whitby ... I think that Mr Gladstone could  



probably recommend the Queen to confer one.’**  
 

In any ease, when the Maharajah learned that the queen  

was not in favour of his parliamentary plan, he withdrcsv  

gracefully. So strong was her influence on him that he was  

prepared to ditch his Carlton friends by undertaking not to  

make political capital out of the affair by discussing it ‘in the  

clubs or elsewhere’. In any event Herbert Gladstone retained  

his scat, but with his majority only 120 out of an electorate  
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of 2.050. It was prrhaps to keep in with mm of influence  

 

who might sometimes be abletointervene m h.s mterest, th t  

 

he continued to use the Carlton more V  

 

other club and many of his more rmporrant  
 

written on its paper. That he was qmte at ^  

 

dicated by a paragraph in Kmi.y F«,.^ 1 "ws  

 

journal eagerly read by every  

 

Highness Dhuleep Singh was mueh aggnes^ u ° j „rote  

at the absence of ftsh-knives at the Carlton Club. >"<1 '  

 

a letter to the Committee petitioning them to ^  
introduce half-a-doaen for his own „ „„  

 

made before knives! A fact wsth which High High  

 

’'rGS“:ot.in.heend.haveroke^his,i^  

of the bargain: his party was beaten a. the 8'"= ' '>  

 

of 1875 and the Conservatives eatne into posver with D  

 

asprimcministerandtheDukeofArgyllbac “8  

 

ury of state for India. Disraeli was under no obhg non to  
fulfil Gladstone's pledge, but. at the quevn | '“86« •  

 

sent Argyll to discuss the posstion. which sv« alt y  

veloping into a typical Maharajah mix-vp 0 g  

denly deciding that he did not really want a t Ue her  

Not. it appeared, would his pnde allow him to P  

honour for his children. lav  

 

Thestoryof the rejected peerage svastoldbyOsbome>j,^  

 

son of the minister at Futteghur who ha  
 

Before I svas ordained in t88o. I was acting for a ni^  

 

Secrclary so Lord Granville a. she Forei “• -f^^ew  

 



by the Maharajah to attend him at Elveden a. an mtervie  
the Duke of Argyll, the Secretary for India^  

 

Queen Viaoria had alsvays iniendc rpccial  

 

Englbh in all save name. She sen. die Duke, therefore, on spe  

 

. U D^ese-snq. a Marquisitc for  

U was this, to offer Peerages for both Pn .  

 
Victor, and an Earldom (or at least a ^Kcoun ^  

 

HisGracc-s letter outlining this proposal had been sen  

forehand by the Prince.  
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When, however, the foim^ intciview took place in the gfcit  

library at Elveden. a noble apartment decorated with gold Indian  

shawU upon the walls, the Duke conveyed the Queen's offer and  

the Maharajah immediately declined ic  

‘I thank Her Majesty’, he said. ‘most heartily and humbly convey  

to her my esteem, affection and admiration. Beyond that 1 cannot  

go. I claim myself to be royal; ( am not English, and neither I nor  

my children will ever become so. Such titles - though kindly  

offered— we do not need and cannot assume. We love the English  

and especially their Monarch, but we must remain Sikhs.'  
 

He walked across to a table and opened a drawer. ‘This’, he said  

drawingouisomepaper.'isthc design for my coat-of arms, drawn  

up by the Prince Consort and initialled by the Queen. I use them  

out of courtesy to Her Majesty, but 1 will nor register them at the  

College of Arms; 1 am not English.'  

 

The Duke said to me afterwards he had never seen truer dignity  

or more real independence of spirit. 1 have reason for believing  

that the Queen, when told of all this, shared his opinion.*’  

 

The motto selected for the Maharajah’s coat-of-arms by  
the prince consort - ‘ProJesse quam conspuii' (*to do good  

rather than to be conspicuous*) - was unlikely to have in-  

fluenced him in what might have been seen as a conspicuous  

honour both to himself and his family. He may to some  

extent have felt that the offer of a peerage was no more than  

a polite way of denying him his freedom of operation within  

the British system. But if he now wore European dress on  

all but the grandest occasions and scrupulously observed the  

social conventions of his English contemporaries, the  

Maharajah was beginning to assess his position objectively,  

and was showing signs of a fundamental split in his nature,  
the Sikh in him struggling with the Anglo-Saxon overlay.  

Inflamed by the unaccommodating attitude at the India  

Office, he had begun to study the historical perspectives of  

his position, and a reading of Prinsep’s classic and impartial  

History of the Sikhs and the relative government Blue Books  



in the British Museum, had made him aware of bis people's  
past and of British perfidy in their suppression. And so.  

thanks to the limitatioru m cash the conquerors now  
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imposed, his position even among his friends and retainers  

was being undermined. Fifteen thousand a year, all that  

remained after deduction of interest payable to the govern-  

ment, did not seem to go very far, nor did an advance of  

forty thousand pounds from Coutts, secured on his life in-  

surance. do more than pay off pressing obligations.  

 

On days of disquietude, the Maharajah would find relief  

in music and its composition. He was ss'orJcing on an opera  

and was seen alternating between twogrand pianos in deepest  
concentration. The subject of the opera is not knowm; per-  

haps, like Massener who in 1877 svrote 77 tc Kins'  

he hymned his precursors in the heyday of their power.  

 

On 1 May 1877 Queen Victoria was declared Empress of  

India. It may have been with the Maharajah in mind that she  

asked for a troop of Sikh cavalry to be sent over. This idea  

was firmly rejcCTcd by the India Oflice.  
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CHAPTER 8  

 

 

The Sackvillc-West Report  

 

 

New Yeab 1878 brought the Maharajah pleasure in the  

form of a letter from the tjueen-empress bestowing on  

Bamba her newly instituted female order, ‘the Crown of  
India’,* and chagrin in the copperplate handwnting of Messn  

Courts, bankers, who. while rciiuining ‘his obedient ser-  

vants*. 'begged to remind him that he had underuken to  

have by now considerably reduced bis ^40.000 Joan and,  

though desiring to consult his convenience in every way,  

hoped that he would make arrangements to deal with the  

matter at an early date.’*  

 

The Maharajah was probably not too intimidated by this  

unctuous reminder, but it brought into immediate focus  

Ids ever-increasing hnandal weakness: with five growing  
children to educate and bad hars’ots that raised the cost of  

living at the same time reducing his rents, he saw the necessir>’  

of once again approaching the India Office for help. Early m  

January he sent off to the secrcury of sure. Lord Salisbury,  

the dunning letter &om Couns and a new and more con-  



tentious projection of his case; ostensibly askmg for no more  
than good adWre, even if it raised the question of the reten-  

tion of money fired by the death of family pensioners.  

 

My Lord, 1 suhaut the foQownig tutement to Your Lordship  

for your advice and assistance.  

 

After the first Sikh War the Indian Government constituted  

themselves my Guardian and solemnly promised to maintain me  

on the Throne of the Punjab dD I utained the age of 16 years but  
so managed my affairs in tbe meantime that when the Gos’cmor  

of Mooltan rebelled against tbe Sikb Durbar they allowed a portion  
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of my subjects to rise a{ta>nst my Government. As the late Sir  

Frederick Currie once informed me, had Lord Cough when first  

asked to send down the European troops from Simla complied  

with his request, the rebellion would have been nipped in the bud.  

but this delay on the part of the Commander-in-Chief, not only  

cost me my Throne for which I care very little, but also my private  

property both in houses and landed property and this when I had  

not even lifted my little finger against the British Government and  

when I and my property were alike under their Guardianship. I  

was sent at a prisoner to F-utteghar. excluded from any communica-  

tion with my family ~ I was allowed to take with me about jC^i.ooo  
worth of plate, jewels etc. the only temains of my great wealth.  

I and this remnant of my property were guarded by the late Sir  

John Login and tbe Native Troops but even this small property was  

lost to me in the Indian Mutiny - 1 was offered by the Indian  

Government £},ooo to compensate me for this loss, a sum which  

I declined to accept.  

 

My debts are mostly incurred in building and furnishing my  

house and concentrating on my property.  

 

Upwards of >C3o<ooo have b«n spent in the almost entire  

rebuilding of Elveden House and an partly refurnishing it, a sum  
Your Lordship knows is not large considering that many Country  

Mansions in England cost ten times as much and more. Had I been  

allowed to retain only one of the houses belonging to either my  

Brothers or Uncles the proceeds of she sale of it would have been  

more than ample ro build me a better dwelling than 1 now possess  

and have left me a little more to amuse myself with. Out of the  

Four Lakhs and not exceeding Five Lakhs set apart for the main-  

tenance of myself and relatives and the servants of my state, I have  

reason to believe that the whole of the sum allotted for that purpose  

has never been entirely spent annually and the amount now paid  

for those purposes is, I believe, greatly under the lower of these  
two sums. Though repeatedly promised by the Government, I  

have never yet received a fair statement of accounts as head of the  

family.  

 

Your Lordship is aware that it takes the expenditure of the  



income of several generations to make a place and I have had to  
do this in a few years besides maintaining the position granted to  

me by my generous and gracious Queen in this Country and to  

idd to my difficulties owing to the late dry summers and bad  
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han'«n wc have had in Suffolk, a prtat many of the farms on my  

rsrate have hern thrown on my hands and I have had to provide  

money to stock them in order to carry on the cultivation and  

Your Lordihip as a landed proprietor need nor be told what an  

expense and Joii that it. Moreover all my property is settled on my  

descendants and I have no security to offer if I wiihcd to raise  

money as at the present time I require some to go on with the  

Agriculture and Messn. Coutn 8:Co. very naturally ask as you will  

see by their letter that my debr to them chiefly secured by Life  

Policies should be materially reduced •* therefore my Lord I aik  
what am 1 to do?*  

 

As was his custom in times of stress the Maharajah saw to  

it that the queen was made aware of his predicament and  

petition. On receipt of a copy, she wrote to Lord Salisbury  

suggesting that in v"tew of her protege's excellent behasiour  

and special circumstances he might be treated with gene-  

rosity. Her scCTctary of state replied in a somewhat ambiva-  

lent style, accommodating enough, but leasing a line of  

retreat from possible royal displeasure via the veto nghts of  

his council, at the same time sounding a warning of things to  
come:  

 

Lord Salisbury wish his humble duty to Your Alajesty respect-  

fully submin that the application of H.H. the Maharajah Dhuleep  

Smgh is now under consideration at this office A that in dealing  

with it he will bear in mind the widies expressed in Your Majesty’*  

graaous icttei. The maner. however, b not entirely in his hands,  

as the Council possess a veto on any grants of money: but they  

appear to be liberally duposed in the present initance Lord Salis-  

bury entirely concurs in Your Majesty's opinion that polmcally  

the Maharajah behaved sTty well. Ha pnvate life would be more  

easy to criticberand b likely to lead him into lai^e expenses, w hich  
will probably result in a renewed application to Your Majesty's  

Indian Treasury. All things, however, considered the present  

application is not unreasonable: Be he trusts may. in some form or  

other be entertained.'*  

 

As was hb duty Lord Salisbury passed the Maharajah’s  

application on to hb advisers and it was considered by the  
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political committee, who were not alt of the same opinion:  

though one of the memben thought that something might,  

and ought to he done for him, another Jtrongly oppoted;  

a third, after invoking the ipirit of Lord Dalhoutie, made  



the point that the Maharajah wat prctenctng himself both as  
a petitioner and as a claimant and should be ftrmly put in hit  

place before the matter was proceeded with; he was of the  

opinion, however, that 'the scandal of leaving the Maharajah  

at the mcfc>‘ of his credttors would be a vcr>* serious one*-*  

 

The final version of their deliberations was embodied in a  

letter which began by accusing the Maharajah of making  

more unfounded claims after he had conceded a ‘final settle-  

ment of the question' and ended w'ith the suggestion that  
financial help might be forthcoming as an art of grace if he  

submitted to an inquiry into his managemem of his a/Tairs.*  

 

The Maharajah's reaction to further delay in resolving his  

pressing problems and the humiliating suggestion that his  

private affairs should be looked into by a public official must  

have been one of impotent anger, liut he was learning the  

rules of the game and was diplomatic enough to disclaim his  

intention of asserting any actual rights and to submtt with  

as good grace as he could muster to an inspection of his  

accounts. On K April he replied;  
 

( would take leave so point out that I do not assume that I am  

personally entitled to thcdiflctence between the sum not exceeding  

five lacs of rupees, named in the Terms of the aarb of March 1849,  

and the sum which may have been actually expended to the present  

time; but I pointed to the faa that the whole sum has not been  

expended as affording a fund oor of which a further sum might  

faitly be allotted to me petsonaily.  

 

1 admit that the arrangements made for me have been stated to  

be final, but I have nevertheless thought that 1 might, without  
imptoptiety, state my real poution. and ask for further considera-  

tion ae the hands ofihe Indian Government. I may remark that in  

all ihc different arrangements I have been miirely in the hands of  

the Indian Government, having no power to dispute any decision  

at which the Government may arrive. 1 believe there is no other  
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[ndiin prince, in my position, who docf not receive from the Indian  

Government an allowance largely in excess of the provision made  

for me.  

 

I should not have the least objection to my accounts being sub-  

mitted to the inspection of any gentleman of position nominat^  

by the Indian Government. 1 should not wish to place myself in  

the position of having my accounts examined by a professional  

accountant.’  

 

The ‘gentleman of position’ nominated by Lord Cran-  
brook, Lord Salisbury’s successor after his transference to  

the Foreign Office, was Lieutenant Colonel the Hon.  

William Sackvillc-West. fifth son of Earl de La Warr and  

Lady Elizabeth Sackville. direct descendant of the dukes of  

Dorset. His instructions were received in a letter dated 24  



May defining the objects of his investigation as being to  
ascertain; ‘(i) what was the real condition of the Maharajah's  

landed estates; (2) whether the income received by the  

Maharajah from Government, and from his estates, was or  

was not sufficient fot his maintenance in England in a style  

befitting his position ; and <3) whether His Highness’s diffieuJ-  

ties arose from causes practically beyond his own control, or  

whether and to what extent they were the result either of  

mismanagement of his estates, or of reasons imder his o%vn  

control.’*  
 

Before learning of the appointment of his inquisitor, the  

Maharajah had applied for *a small advance of even £i.ooo'’  

to meet necessary expenditure on farms he had been com-  

pelled to take in hand during the bad times. He was fiintily  

informed that, ‘pending receipt and consideration of Col-  

West’s report the Secretary of State was unable to take any  

such step in regard to his affairs as compliance with his request  

would involve*.^® If such official parsimony and such un-  

sympathetic responses were beginning to cat mto the  

Maharajah’s soul, he greeted Sackville-West with a good  
spirit. T^cy surveyed the estate together, studied bank state-  

ments and bills, and, though there appeared to be a certain  

lack of continuity in the Maharajah’s system of accounting.  
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hh investigator was able to acquit him of personal extrava-  

gance. except for a gambling loss of though it was  

clear that he was spending at least jCa.soo a year above his  

income. Among the minor lubilicics revealed among his  

papen was his personal guarantee for a £, 1 ^ raised for  

his boyhood friend Tommy Scott.** Much of the trouble, it  

seemed, lay in the large capital expenditure on purchasing  

the estate and building and furnishing the house, on which  

interest had to be paid to the govcmmeni. The various farms  

brought in insufficient rent owing to the fact that the  

preservation of game was the main consideration, though it  

was agreed that the Maharajah's splendid shoot, after the sale  
ofgameand as many as ijo.ooo pheasant eggs a season, cost  

him no more than £300 a year. Sackvi)le-West concluded  

with a brief homily: ‘1 venture to suggest, for consideration,  

that should any rearrangement of His Highness’s affairs be  

made, it is extremely desirable that it should be made a  

condition that his accounts should be kept and audited in such  

a manner as is done in most well-managed estates and house-  

holds. ..’*2  

 

Sackville-Wcst's painstaking, and on the whole vindica-  

tory, report on the Maharajah’s sutc of affairs was submitted  
on sa August 187S. At the beginning of the month, in  

anticipation of its favourable reception, the Maharajah had  

written with studied politeness to Lord Cranbrook setting  

out what he hoped would be allowed him:  

 



As Colonel West whom you very kindly appointed to investi-  
gate my affairs wj!! shortly Jay before you his report; I desire to  

submit to Yout Lordship a statement of my hopes and wishes for  

a more liberal consideration than has hitherto been given me.  

 

Without raising any claims bur throwing myseJf entirely on the  

generosity of my Gracious Sovereign I beg to bring before you  

my following requests:  

 

Thai 1 may be relieved from the pressure of all my present debts,  
that the premiums on the Policies on my life be paid out of the  

Income of (about) £40,000 to £$0,000 allotted for the support of  

myself, my relatives and the servants of the state; that an income  
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be .llo>.=d to me tehieh will p.opetly .utt.io " *5  

Etmled to me by my Sovetetp, at tott equal to ^  

 
LbletofthU eoontty. That any lotpltti of the ^  

 

afiet deftayiitg any pentiont chateed theiem and the pt  

my policiet. be aecumulated dotme my lifetime f°' “J  

and that a capital turn at leait tepieicntmE the value of ody P  

of my very large private property be given to me - my  

 

property being wholly in icukment. mw^lf3nd  

 

Should my periiion be hitened to ihut. MyJ-ord.  

mine will be provided for in a handiomc and liberal ipint Y  
[oQ the gcncrotity of this great nation.**  

 

The Maharajah wai in a frustrated mood and  

inclined to play the bureaucratic game according to the rui«  

for ever. He had been sensibly advised not to tend  

attached to yet another historical resume, an p .  

 

to some £480,000 worth of family jewels sold by the  

India Company and supposedly distributed as pnre money  

to the conquering army, and £1.097.000 for ancestral  

as yet undefined ; for good measure he had added compotm  

v 7 interest. But he was not to be deterred from tending a copy  
‘of hi^claim to the queen, with the following covering letter.  

 

My Mo^'^k^us Sovereign, Through Your Majesty s hind  

interest my pecumiry^^irs wiU be brought before the  

ment of India in and consequently I had prepare  

 

sutement (copy of wluch svith that also of the letter I sent to  

Cranbfook 1 humbly beg to enclose) of their neatment of me r  

send to the Secretary of State for India but I am advised by one  

two Indian officials not to do so. l 1 •  

 
I have no friend except Your Majesty who is able to help m  

therefore unless your great interest fa cxeroscd on my bchal ey  

will again treat me in as mtscrly a spint as the Government o  

India have hitherto done. Can I therefore my Patron rely  

more on Your Majesty 'sclemency and generosity and favour in t  



final settlement of my affims?  
 

The only plea that 1 put forward for thus presuming to address  

You IS Your own never ceasing Graciousncss both to me and mine  

My Gracious Sovereign.  
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THC SACKV.lLr-»E5T KrPO.T  

 

. ,11 1 hive liVed for but whatever tt done  

I do not expect to gel all 1 h Maieity’*  

 

for me I ihM cu‘t U tnurtly ,y., n,„t loyal tubjcct.  

 

1 have the honour to remain Y J puleep Singh.'  

 

The queen replied; , . j ^  

 
Dear Maharajah. 1 have to « inierc« in you.  

 

you. it will I am lure. do taken in you. and  

 

You know how deep an interei which you were & arc  

 

how much 1 M for .hr ^ °oo h.d no control - Ho. »>  

 

pUced by dtcum...ncci over “hich » ton.idcrcd  

 

L old friend, cxcow me J; " oJf.voor.bly on .he  
 

, Imle inrhnr J .o „ ™ri.lly. 1 h.»e fo' .onre nme  

 

«,demen.ofYr. .ffi.c. JlpuH. m "he  

 

vri.hed .0 mention to you. a. . » „h.ch  

 

tvh.. 1 myKlf. partieu *rly I i. much did.ked for  

 

you proerre pime - It i> «■«'» v,d. ,cdocc thii. &  

miny tcatoni in the Co“""V- ’ „ouph for amoiement. 1 am  

 
k«p up a moderate amount, qm.e eno y  

,ur; it would have the bet. d„, children. & mutt a*  

 

1 take the liveliet. ■"'«" ’’"v^'for me of Victor! 1 hope he  

you to let me have a Porttai. taken  

 

itill hat hit beautiful hate. Maharanee, ever yr. aflee  

 

With kinder, remembraneea to me  

 

friend... “ . ^ tccomroendation to  
 

The queen alto "'“'J charge of extravagance, which  

 

Cranbrook reverting to ‘'i' fact, rubt.antta.ed- If a  

.heSackvillc-We,.reponh.dno',^a,c,c can be alleg^  



certain amount of “""““I’;;;., g„,. allowance thould be  
 

acainst him, the Queen . *,1 jTtagnificcncc.  

 

m!dc for hi* notion* charge, of extrav-  

 

ralSdy^rr^^edtoHton.  

 

 

 
QUEEN VJCTOSIa'S MAHARAJAH  

Lord Hertford, a shooting friend, who claimed to have  

‘some influence over him*, had heard other criticisms of the  

Maharajah current in society and had asked Ronald Leslic-  

Melvillc to warn him to look to his reputation. The Maha-  

rajah seemed grateful for his friend’s advice and wtocc to  

Hertford:  

 

Thank you very much for the friendly hints conveyed through  

Ronald Melville. Without nonsense I am exceedingly grateful to  

you . . . The accompanying statement svilj show you the state of my  
affairs arc in and explain my apparent neglect of my wife and  

family.  

 

The fact is that I cannot afford to bring them up to Town but  

if thru’ the kindness of the Queen the Government of India treat  

me in a libera) spirit none of my friends svill ever be able to bnng  

against me such a charge.  

 

It is false that I am a disbeliever in Chrisnanity. Indeed lam quire  

the contrary but as I cannot act up to my convicnons I disdain to  

lend myselfto hypocrisy and do not go to church as often as some  
people.  

 

With the exception of playing whist at the United Whist Club  

in Waterloo Place (some membm of which ate not of desirable  

charaaer) 1 keep no low company - only with Lord Westbury  

and Captain Goldingham I am at all familiar, with the rest of the  

members 1 scarcely ever speak. All my friends arc among those  

from the highest society in the country. 1 am quite willing to take  

my name o/Fthe list of members of the aforementioned dubtf my  

friends desire it or reform in any other way they may wish. Again  

thanking you for the kind interest you have taken in me . . •*'  

 
Hertford was persuaded to indicate to the palace that the  

Maharajah’s little wcaknessm had been moderated: 'He  

assures me he is leading a steady life,’ he wrote to Sir  

Henry Ponsonby, the queen’s private secretary, who had  

taken over the Maharajah’s file, following the death of  

Phipps, has only lost £300 altogether at whist, but still  

thought it best to give up playing & has taken his name out  

of all the Whist Clubs except the Marlboro’. From all I hear  

I believe him to be good au fond but requires to be watched  

6c taken care of ... & that he is grateful for any interest.'**  
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T..t  

 



U„.„c,c..oLo,dC,.nWo^—  
 

to be done Jt once to tocue the ^ authorized an  

 

and even a public teandaU on J f jj consideration  

 

advance of uf their •coniidera-  

 

of the Saclevffle-West report. T1 e mo t  

tion was a decision that the „tates and  
 

svas to press the Maharajah to sackvillc-  

 

invest the proceeds after paying ^ seemed a  

 

West had valued the ,alc into account  

 

good accountant s solution. pUee. The nesv  

 

the landlord's PB"'""'" e Colonel Osven Bume,  

 
political secretary at the India Ome . by the  

 

recently back from '"‘‘"“^"“ular Private Secretary  

viceroy. Lord Lytton. as the .^0 the delicate task  

 

thatlndiahasknosvninourtime . Maharajah.  

 

of communicating 'h' ‘‘'J’"' fi rcoutse svas not even to  

svholeft him in no doubt that meh gentleman,  

 

be considered. Bume. a ''j’™ r*;v j n.,jvc princes in India,  
known to have got  

convinced the councti that it  

 

find some other soluoon to the p j„,i„i^g on  

 

Bume produced b"”'*’”,’’ V,,),j„lih'5 death, did imply  

the sale of the estate after the M J  

 

thatthelndiangovemmentsvoJdh^set^^^^^  

 

Briefly the main points of the sc proceeth  

 
(1) Thcciutoto l,c,<,ldt.ntheM.b.r.jjh'jd“'^ "vemmen. and  

 

' to be allocated to payng »<[ "T  

 

to providing pensions for . .-ccd £40.000 to pay o  

 

(ii) Thn if he agreed he m pay --"b  

 

hi. overdraft at Coom »d no^ong^ pre-  

 

amounting to over £5.o®o  
 

viomly advanced.’ » ^avc been impic-  

 

Such a makeshift sou'™’'"' "’’/j’b "s,y .879, over a y ar  

 



mented from London. j application, p ,  
 

after the Mahara^H's .0 refer it .0 ■"*'/»,  

 

 

after the Maharajan $ .prided to refer u to u.-  

mittee handling *1 "r’'*" report, was marled off  

 

their views, and the file, m  

 
 

 

QUEEN victoria’s MAHARAJAH  

 

the heart of the matter with some warmth.  

 

Her Majeiiy’s Government have ... to decide now ^  

 

shall Uavt the Maharajah’s affairs to “ ‘’’""X'^venon of  

svhrrhrr. a. ,hc cos. of ao ^,1 "have His  

 
India which can scarcely be lOC^sidOTbl^ they  

 

Hi6hncs,fron,hi.l.abih.,ca.aodfo,...shh.nt»..hthc^ ^  

 

sa^ to enable him to live on hts estate, and to retain  

 

^°WMe fully aliJe to the paramountncccssity for  

presem dmc, and ro .he espedienc, on general  

ing within the narrowest possible limits • ^ri Her  

 

fiuble a kind as that on politieal tti^d.ants md ^  
 

Majesty’s Govetnment feel it ptaetie^y ^ J,. ,he  

 

ftrst of the alternative, above suggesred, and  

Maharajah tink. into the post.ion of». into Wen. landed P™P  

’They believe rhar. having regard to .he hjs.ory of ■>’'  

between the British Government and the j  

 

infaney .0 the present rime, and to *' j ,ri*oul  

due. of His Highness, such a testdl eotdd not be pt""''"  

discredit alike to the British Crovm and nation, and to the GO  

 
On a review of all ihcdicumsonccs ofthe case, *  

 

Government are of opinion that they cannot remain md^ermt  

the embarrassments ofthe Maharajah, and they would ^ g  

avoid, if possible, insisting as a condition of their ai .  

immediate sale of the esute which His Highness, now am  

middle age, has converted into a home for himself.  

 

. . . Possibly your Excellency's Government may be able to sug-  

gest some method. likely to be accepuble to His j  

 
which the desired object may be attained at a smaller present  

than that above stated. I need scarcely observe that it is  

that I should be placed in possession of your views in the ma  

at a very early date.’*  

 



Despite the request for urgency, the government of  
did not find dme to reply until 7 July, necessitating a  

advance of £3.000 to keep the Maharajah going. Their  

 

 

 

Tiir sActviut-wr” »rroi.i  

 

imwCT nn to twenty-nine pitjpriphi. ’  

thehUtoriol baclptountl mi tevewei the Soekv.Ue-  
lepoit, they finilly eime to the point:  

 

 

... We teptet th.t we Ate un.He to Apptoee the ttfopement  

 

v.hkh hii b«n iwppotcd. n .„,,rU KUawi lhat the  

 

The namiive contained tn t!i« Dtipatch  

Mthttij.h hn been tteitei thtouph a loop tenn l >  

eettemi lihetahty. hut he ht. been 'T, ^will  

 
coueenion, which h.ve been maJe to him to  

ilwiye find in the Indian Tteaioty telief ftom tf„ Hiph-  

 

menn. We tan hatdly. unde, the M V  

 

new fot tueh a belief, for it to. undoubtedly ^ ^  

 

experience; and we feel that tha. fact entitle.  

wme extent at lean, to a eonuJetatjotwnd cympa >  

would oihctwiw h.ve little elaim The motive.  

which otdmanly en.ute, on the part of litmoutable '"J ‘"""'g;;;,  
 

menl.leHi.llishneii.ateamnableeeonomy.have.nhnea .  

 

in a great meaiurc removed by the action of the Co '  

 

teceived ftom the public treaiury the mean, of putehliinR a  

on which, with the income previomly aitipncd to i , ,  

Government, he could not live, and we ate now  

to give from the public ueatuty an incrcatc to t a  

to enable him to live on that etute. We lympat «c '  

 

Highnoi, and the more to. becautc wc „..nVen  
 

charaact and hit honourable feclmpt. but we fee t a ,l_  

liberality in the patt it no tuffiaent reaiort for ilt , r  

 

it can only be exercitcd at ihe cott of injutiice to the pe p  

 

Wc'do not think it tipht that .och a itate of thmp. a. An  

ihould be perpetuated at the cott of the  

 

^u«tion it not whcih« Hit Highnctt the Maharajah tha ^  

 
tained at their expense in a manner befitting hit P°1  

 

tionandhit proper dignity, but whether he thill be ena  

 

On enjoying the luxury of preterving hit game, and ren cting  



great ettate totally unprofitable. We should ttot hw ou .  
 

underinycitcumtiancct.howsuch a question should be *  

 

ind at the present time it leemt to us hardly necessary to i  

it, when it ii certain that nothing but the ruthless toduc i ^  

most useful expenditure can avert the necessity of fcs 'j-  

 

 

 
QUEEN victoria’s MAHARAJAH  

 

onerous taxation, and when it is in the highest degree doubtful  

whether out efforts to avert sodi taxation will succeed . . .  

 

So long as the Maharajah retains his present esute in iH present  

condition, and on his present income, it svill be impossible for  

him to avoid incurring fresh liabilides; and we concur in the  

opinion that the 'obviouily liesirablc’ course to adopt is the sale  

of the estate. We do not believe that any other remedy is pos-  

sible. Es’en if the measures proposed in your Lordship's Dispatch  
were taken, and the Maharajah were to continue to live on the  

estate, it seems to us highly probable that he would again be  

involved in expenses which be could not meet, and that we should  

see again hereafter a renewal of those demands on the Indian  

Treasury which have been so repeatedly and so successfully urged  

in the past  

 

. . . Wc can now only advise that the conclusions suted in this  

Dispatch, be communicated to His Highness, and that he be  

informed that under no cttcumstances will any further assisunce  

be given to him from the revenues of India, The Maharajah will  
naturally be unwilling to accept this decision, but wc should hope  

that he may be persuaded to take a wiser view of the ttcuadon,  

when he understands that he cannot hope to obtain freedom irom  

his embarrassmeno in any other way. We may add that in view of  

the fact that His Highness has stated his desire that his eldest son  

should succeed to the whole of his landed property, it seems  

probable that the sale of the estate after his death, which is one  

of the conditions of the proposal made in your Lordship’s Dispatch,  

would be scarcely less distasteful to lbs Highness than its sale  

during his life. However this may be, wc cannot agree to any  

plan which would involve the injustice of throwing fresh  

burdens on the people of India, for the purpose of relieving Hs  
Highness from embamstmenct, from wluch he can relieve hinuelf  

in a simple and hmiourable way, and with posiave gam to his own  

real iniemts.^*  

 

Lord Cranbrook svasted no rime in letting the Maharajah  

know that the news from Indu was bad, but he did not go  

so far as to sure the matter had been finalued:  

 

I regret to have to inform your Highness that, having referred  

for the opinion of the Government of India ihe various applica-  

tions on the subject of your afrain. which you addressed to me m  
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Till SACKV.llE-WtST KEFOST  

 

,hc coun. cfl^o V«t. 1 "°*;^'i^hvlnWc'’ to yoot High-  

 

Government expronnp view» wry  

 

nett** wiihet. „jny tnember* of my  

 

Owing to the abtence * , to fully consider the  
 

CcuonU. will no. be i.'onnl .to the  

 

matter, or arrive at a final dec» |j. ^hat you ihould at  

 

tecrsi. but 1 think It ^ communiaiion which  

 

once be acquainted with the ^_„.n,ntcnt. to whose views,  

h.. been received from the , J.f„ettcc it due  

 

you. Highrtett mutt f , h„„, mutt be to go^  
 

1 am comttimed to add that b ^ j, not be pottiblc  

.,touuder.t.ndth.tinth«mcum .emporary  

 

for me to eotettam any futtto apr  

 

mditappointcdM.har«ah>«retumcdtohon^^^^^  

 

I have no alternative ‘'“■;°.IjJ'°'^U„,mid,.te want,, thm  

ratei of inteteit. a loan toflieient to ^ , s„gh,  

 
etippllng ttill furthet my tetourem^ ^  

the friend and ally of Biglanf ,i,ion. a pu^to  

 

wa, twom. it reduced >? '*■’> ^""’;“Uf the boujab ugnrf hy  

againtt which thetermt “f ""J , pnlfect protecnon.  

 

island in tSau, wemed to afford htm P  

 

On the tame day he '"J'’" jf/noulTfind to add wat;  

 

^le"; will -  

 
fVif government  

 

 

r Majesty will sec mat » Ji,;2w  

 

assistance from the ROY'"V”'«f,dcncc in the generosity of  

.The Maharajah-t lade of “"f ^/om returning to the  

the India Office did not F'''™' J* ,g February tSSO he  

 

attack early in the following y  

wrote to Lord Cranbrook:  
 

 

rote to Lord Cranorouih. but I have not  

 

1 am extremely totty to ene'lotcd large bilh-  



 
the mean, of paying the f„d .eu.n.t will explam the  

 

The enclosed letters from my age  
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QUEfN Victoria’s maharajah  

 

vine ofiffain, and in order to catty on the cuhivjtion of the farmt  

Hill In hand till tenant! ate found for them I ihaJJ requite tome  

^),ooo at I regret to inform your Lordthip that I have again met  

with heavy Iwsei owing to the metemem seaton.  

 

My Lord - If your Lordthip it unable to help to extricate me  

from my pecuniary difTiculttct. owing to the unfavourable view  

taVrn of my petition by the Government of India, I moH camettly  

pray that my private landed ettatet illegally held in pottettion by  
that Government fat by the teem* of the annexation only the State  

property wat confneated) may be rcitorcd to me in lieu of the  

ttipend now paid.  

 

1 am certain that neither your Lordthip nor the Council com-  

posed of honourable and jou Englishmen, nor the House of  

Commons, nor the British Nation, which glories in doing justice  

to the weak, desire to deprive me of my private income of some-  

thing over 4100.000 per annum, not raking into aeeounf the gem  

Kohinoor which 1 feci honoured it in the possession of my most  

gracious sovereign and was not sold with my other jcssrls.^*  
Cranbrook’j reply did no more than notice that the  

Koh-l-noor should have been introduced into the argument,  

(hough there must have been some questioning looks among  

his entourage.  

 

Your Highness's affairs arc at present under my consideration m  

Council, and pending a decision in regard ro them it ts impossible  

for me to sanction the grant to your Highness of further temporary  

advances.  

 

Adverting to the concluding pan of your letter, it is my duty at  

once to inform your Highness that, whatever course maybe finally  
adopted in regard to your affairs generally, no claim on the part  

of your Highness based upon any alleged right to private estates  

in the Punjab or to jewels, can for one moment be entertained by  

the Government of India.*’ ,  

 

The Maharajah may have been aware that he had over-  

played his hand for he was quick to assure Cranbrook that  

he had only brought the matter up for tactical reasons and  

had not meant to be taken literally : 'J was quire aware when  

I wrote my last letter that the Government of India might  

not allow my claims to my srery Urge pnvate property, but  
X36  

 

 

 

Tl.r. SACKVItlt-WIST BErORT  



 
,wa,anxiou»houiamyaranUWghtW^^^  

 

ID Stop the mouths of those Lotd-  

 

India who might possibly geu p showing that  

 

ship in Council might be mdmed to f « ^™’„|,hs,„t  

1 might be placed in a posst.on of peat  

adding to taxation already cxisnng. „„,cnd with.  
 

In June there wa, a nesv f;" , °^ arHveden.  

 

Lord Harrington, svho had shot ’ . objection  

 

Harrington wassaid to have a ten ^ . 20 but he svas  

 

in a proposal before g'“S^>' \ <,ucstion svith an open  

prepared to go into the Ma J ^ placed before  

 

L„d.Heealledforthenume.oujape|Xtob  
 

him and had a long dehbemtio ,„iirimr they came  

 

further discussions with the Maharajah s sohcitor. )  

up with a nesv proposition: ^  

 

(0 To advance your your debt to Messis.  

 

internt. to at to .'"‘‘’"i r (a) TO advance you  

Count & Co. and to '"‘"™ " ? ,0 defiiy certain debts  

 
afoither sum of ““^'inTowiiveanycliimtointetetton  

 

which youdeetn ptessingiand OlTowaive  

 

the /;i3.ocxs recently advanced to > • ynjyssiood by your  

 

This offer of aisiitancc. biect to two contingencies:  

 

Highness to be made absolutely nracsicablc (with reference to  

(a) Tliat it is eventually found to W n fj, j,  

existing settlements, dee.) to ” ' 1 . . n,) That your Highness  

 
embodied in the enclosed the eundinons  

 

consent, to. and will aid heartily, m cstrytng  

of the Jchemc. to ,hc couric herein  

 

Should your Highnnt be ,o make the above-  

 

ptopored. 1 than be prepared debts, without  

 

mentioned advance of . _j pirliamentary action  

 
waiting for the result of the legal o y  

 

'X^har,ahaeeep.ca.-.e^«;l>:^^^^S  

 

could hardly be expected to at of his estate after his  



 
government’s absolute right to *'P . down in the  

 

death, which was one of I should be at the  

 

memorandum. He proposed that such a sale  
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QUEEN VICTOBIA’S MAHABAJAH  

dhcrcdon of the then secretaty of sutc rather than abiolutc.  

*1 cannot tell.’ he argued, ‘what the petition of my eldest  

son may be at the time of my death but he may. by marriage  

or otherwise, have acquired the means ofliving at Els'cden.'^ ‘  

Another small request he had was that he should be given an  

immediate advance of ^5.000 rather than the j^j.coo  

specified, on condition it was apphed to pa^dng debts rather  

than to farm improvements. The secretary of state was pre*  
pared to assent to the latter proposal but would not relent on  

the former.  

 

That was a subject upon which the Maharajah had very  

strong feelings - Elveden was his. and he wanted to know  

that he could pass it on to his son. It was a matter which the  

queen might understand and sympathize with, even if  

Harrington svould not. On the day he had his negative reply  

he wrote:  

 

My most Gracious Soverrign. I have this day received the final  
eommunicaaon from the India Office frandng me a loan of  

jQiTiOOO without interest during my life but on the absolute con-  

dition that my landed esates must be sold after my decease.  

 

As the Bankers are pressing for the repaj-ment of the advance  

made by them I have no alternative bur to accept the accommoda-  

tion thus offered - as that or nothing. Nevertheless, it breaks my  

bean to think my eldest son wiD have to rum out of bis house and  

home and leave the place with winds his earbest assoaauons in  

life are connected for strangers to live in.  

 

limplorcdtbe Government to strike out the word 'absolute* and  
let it remain entirely in tbe discretion of the Secretary of State  

for the rime being at my death to decide whether the property  

should be sold or not as Victor nught acquire the means by  

mamage or otherwise and live here as a country gentleman.  

 

No one knows but mysclC my Sovereign, the agony that 1  

suffered when I was turned out of my home and eioled fiom the  

land of my birth and 1 shi^der to th'mt of the sufferings that my  

poor boy may undergo.  

 

It is one thing to sell out on one’s own accord which my son  
would always have had m has power and another to be com-  

pelled to do so without thyme or reason  
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THE SACKVIllt-WtST REPORT  

, „CVCP hpvc ^ nor  

Your Mjjniy > ‘'"""'7 Tit Uut  

 

mmt Hid rtitictiUtly the ih^ mtotJtiot, of lomin  

 

ptoent Pnminntcr liicl ''ho JJ j„„ my private ettatei  

 
Manditothe I *an one hundred thootand  

 

ptoducing an ineome of nearer ^ depri'O me of the  

 

pound' pet annum ai by the doeom y State' i> con-  

 

mveteignty of the Punjab only ^ “^"Tcave for life,  

f.teated and grant me the pittance t ^  

 

My Gtadom Sovereign - * y„, Indian Empire  

 
Utn very much miiwl out of You ^ . t Howevet ai thai  

and Juitice done to me '’Ttheraouttea placed m my handi  

 

cannot be hetpeJ I mu« turn to mvjclf at fat ** ^  

 

through YoutMaje'ty'tldndintemtaodh lp^  

 

Therefore it it my taol're m f""'' ^ at preient  

 

life and lay by at mueli at I can « o pmloog my bfe  

 
of tome £10.000 per “ T”;;°d b„y baek Victor', home  

 

tuchatummaybeaccumoUtcdat  

 

for him thould lie feel ditpoted to • . . . jj, ynuch with  

lmplorinBfo.Bivene',for..o»blmR You;M.J\];„ „„ one ebe  

my private affaire but My Grecio ^ proved more than  

 

in the tvotld to look to and You. Majet.y n» P  

a friend in name to me. ...wribe mvtelf with the  

 

I have the dittinguithed honour to ^„d grateful  
 

deepe,. gratitude. You, M.jea.y. ■"»«  

subject . .  

 

The queen replied: i>„a.rofthe ijth  

 

Dear Maharajah, 1 have to aeknoreledge your !«.„  

which has pained me so much. of you, and how truly  

 

You know hoav fond 1 have alvrayt been o^^_ __ ,be  

 
Ifelcforyou.kno'vingboweompletrey „i,n  

 

unfortunate citcumitances 'vhich leo y  

 

ThT; a. onee avrirren ro lord Harb"g'- “  



done to entore your oavn eomfort and a proper p  
children.  
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QUEEN VICTORIA’S MAHARAJAH  

 
As I once or twice mentioned to you before, I thmJe you were  

thought extravagant and that that may have led to a want of con-  

fidence as tcgatds the future.  

 

That 1 shall do ivlmt I can for you and my godson you may be  

sure of.  

 

Trusting that you and the Maharanee and your dear children  

are well...  

 

As promised the queen brought up the matter with Lord  
Harrington. After expressing her views on affairs in  

Afghanistan and the desirability of retaining Kandahar, she  

continued:  

 

Though the Queen has asked Sir Henry Ponsonby to write to  

Lord Harrington mare fully on the subject she cannot refrain from  

adding a few words and sending him this copy of a letter from the  

Maharajah Duleep Singh in whom die has always taken a great  

interest from his sad fate and natural fine qualities. He may indeed  

have been very extravagant, but that was almost natural for an  

Orienul; but he is very truthful and straightforward and loyally  
disposed, rare qualities in his tact and the Queen thinks it wrong  

(besides being very contrary to the views of the liberals) to place  

a deposed Sovereign who was utterly innocent himself in a position  

so humiliaangandpainful to himself and his children. The Queen  

trusts that some better ultimate arrangement may be made, tf'c  

have got his splendid kingdom and we cu^hl not to let hu family  

and even himself become poorer than an En^Ioli country gentle-  

man.®'  

 

The Maharajah returned again to rebut the charge of  

extravagance when he sent die queen a draft copy of the  

hook he had picpaied for publication of his case- reading  
in the papers that Hatnngton was staying at Balmoral, he  

asked that he also mi^t study it so that he would not only  

sec the government’s view of the matter. He appended a  

statement showing her how he had spent the money bor-  

rowed from Coutts. It seemed to indicate that there was no  

more than ;0S82 that could be attributed to personal expendi-  

ture; atthesamerimebeclaimed to be spending some £2.000  

a year in restoring the church, rebuilding cottages for the  

 

 

T.IE SACKVlllE-WEST REFOBT  
 

poor.mam.RmmB.hevmRg=schc.o,a„dplan«ng<rcesfor.h=  

 

benefit of his children.” whole problem of the  

 



Tha qu«n. in fa«. lilc he wa, at  
 

Maharajah at some length ® seems to have  

 

Balmoialandhetm.n.stersinon.tor.J^  

 

modined her more ,,5 Maharajah’sfmancial  

 

becomingtooclosclyinvo v ,,jve  

 
problems and advised her ^ Xhus her next letter  

 

sold her the government point of .  

 

somehow lacked the warm-heartednes  

demonstrated:  

 

lhavelfearbcenvety^ngin amw'"j;5 y^"2‘d to Lord  

 

, a. once referred the ^"7„t“eet and expressed the  

 
i:::\':"vrd “rruearh^old out any hopes of your  

further claim being with you on what ate  

 

sj-iss: - ss--' '■  

 

unfortunate diffieultics. ,j g, ,o acquiesce tn  

 

If I might advise you as a „ I am assured they  

 

the arrangements which vc V jclicve you from yom  

 
have been dictated by a smeem done „ far as  

 

present difficulties and make P' effect these obje^  

 

L Govt, of India consldeon in th^^^^ gaieden Hal ^  

 

I cannot help th.nkmg tto f y ^ pairchase some sm^t  

 

you once told me you " would then provide a house  

 

Lateandlivemoreeeonom.^^.y ^0^100, to do ...  

 
for your son which you were na  

 

But despite the J""" n. saying that he had  

 

radX-'-^“““'raXt^  

 

 

 

QUEEN VICTORIA*} MAHARAJAH  

was less than filial: ‘Your Majesty will I trust pardon my  

not appearing at Court for some years to come as I svill now  
try to lay by every farthing that I can till I have saved suf-  

ficiently to provide my son with some income.'^^  
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CHAPTER y  

 

 

Letters to The Times  

 

 

THE f... >ho, « *0 'f L-P'f-  
 

February, when the Maharaja w . ^ to 'shut up  

 

inCTcasing financial cmbarrasimen ,  

 

Elevcden and establish himself m London .  

 

U is cscsremely disagrccbl.  

 

your Lordship about my pocunurysfnHS. ,dvanccd  

 
After paying off my debr, for i„, and  

 

,0 me by your Lordship in Counal oA « b^lH n ^  

 

i shall have some heavy P’r”'" ' ’ -„„rty in Suffolk, which 1  

rofarm building and '"jSLr'Snse £a.ooo in dobt  

 

greatly feat ftoughly speaking wJll» of , hangs cannot  

 

Hill. Therefore, ir is gone obvrw ^use and reduee rny  

 
eontinuc. and 1 must shut up y insuffieient to main  

 

establishment, as my P'"^' STtto occupied, until my farms ate  

tain me in the position I hav  

 

let and produce a fait tent, were it not that  

 

I would let the right of ipftn'^ pme ptodoca mote  

 

I find the tale of pheasano W ^ g. and, besides, at does not  

 

moneythaneouldothetwasebeobtun  
 

annoy the few tenants ^gggad to cultivate four fattns  

 

Isusuinaheavylmsby^ aUowed them to 60 °"' °  

 

thrown on my of my death, very matetially affen  

 

cultivation, would, m •>>' "^,°y .Id my children would suffer  

the saleable value of my ptopetty.  

 

in consequence. inquiries to be made of ^  
 

Your Lordship can I wdl with pleasure furnish,  

 

tenants, whose names and jdd»® „„ ‘‘*.“8'  

 



that during then tenancy „g game almost enntely into  
 

game, as I had gsven oP R  

 

 

queen victojua’s maharajah  

 

,hri, comrol (.pc.tag from memo.,) fo. .he Uo cigh. o, nine  

 

^"mv inmnoon i, immedi..e>, »  
 

your Lordship will commend. jiff;r,iUv therefore I  

 

^ But how to furnish this r«idencc .* y;,';! ! assist  

 

e.me.,l,.e3oe..,o„,Lo,d^f,ooem^^  

 

me, to kindly cause the £4. /'ll #100 due to them.  

 

Coutts&rCo.tobepaidtothemootoaheX:44. d ^  

 
so that my silver plate and <>*« I may dispose  

 

security for the former sum. may be set fr«, purchase  

 

of them, by sale or otherwise, to raise sufficient money to p  

the necessary furniture.* »i,i„raiah  

 

Si. Owen Bume wi> depuied to find out ^ ^  

 

was really serious about moving to London, and on ree 5  

 
:,:;::;cLh.thew...tecomme.,ded.h.t/:4.ooo>^^^^^^^^^^^^  

made available on account for the  

Meanwhile the promised £40.000 had not ^  

and the whole scheme was the j .Uji  

 

Chancery Court, where the master of the rolls ju g  

a special act of Parliament was indispensable to P*!^ ' _  

 

legal effect. Impatience at the protracted proewses of  

ctacy, and the realization that even when they  

ground to a conclusion, his case would be bound for  

the legal fetters of an act of Parliament, made the Maharaja  
decide to take the first evasive steps to release himsc  

total commitment. Hchadnot even drawn the >C4.ooo wn  

he wrote to Harrington that he was returning  

because his game farm had done well and the • j  

 

his London house cost only £1.700; he had no wish, e s .  

‘to receive and retain any money that it might be consi c  

was held under false pretences’. He ended his letter by as  

‘whether the Government of India had any objecnons to  

laying down my rank and title of Maharajah? Jue  

 
he gave for this controversial suggestion was that as the v  
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of his estate Cvi^'btCT"b'°“B’’‘ “P “  

 

cultural depression, his EhiWren. g o^erty as the pro-  

 

princes', might have to descend Lordship in  

 
vision made for their matntenw ^ ^ resort to  

 

Council will lead to'.= I. f “ ’^tlte tfthe palace,  

 

hlackmail. Hartington forsvarded ‘ j |,ow to deal  

 

observing to Ponsonhy: ‘We are rat P answered  

 

with the Maharajah’s ‘ „ hardly believe his  

 

it demi-officially to the effect t a seriously;  
 

proposal to lay aside his rank an ^  

 

but that if on reflection be pew correspondence to  

 

Govt, of India.” Ponsonby a„ “Jpated. 'This  

 

the queen, as doubtless the Ma jn niuch harm in  

 

would never do,' she minuted, m svithout consulting  

 
India. He ought never to have done this  

 

his friend the Queen.'* Mahataiah’s proposal to  

 

Harrington's cool response to the Maharajan^^P^  

 

lay aside his title included a rqcc i , ^ any further.  

 

/siOMandarefusaltodiscusshisfinanaalaffa^.^  

 

Nothing mote was heard on cither S J ^^^ of state a  

 
when the Maharajah fonvarded jnsount plus com-  

 

cheque for £3,453 . as^ng*^  

 

 

cheque for /;;3,453 ‘ °^,^niion of payi^B  

 

pound interest, and declared his i jemindcd the  

 

from time to time as he was a c. govern-  

 
 

from time to time as he was a c. Indian govem-  

 

secrctary of state to obtain the v threatened to do  

 



mentahoutlaying aside "Resent to Parlia-  
 

in the event of a petition he was aoo  

 

ment having no result." indication that the  

 

The petition referred to was * discretion:  

 

Maharajah’s desperation was outstnpp b ^ he  

 
having done furLr homework p„„3A,  

 

rephrased his version of ajprived of a kingdom  

 

describing himself as having P of private  

 

producing a surplus revenue nf yiao.ooo a year, and  

 

landed estates producing an inro hitherto been  

 

of the Koh-i-noor. He '’'A offered himt and  
 

obliged to accept whatever terms ha  
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concluded by praying that if his Idngdom could not be re-  

turned to him, as the Transvaal had recently been to the  
Boers, he might be handed back some of his private estates  

or at least their cash equivalent.*  

 

In his reply Hartington returned the cheque as being un-  

acceptable under the rules of the Court of Chancery and  

added a rebuke which indicated that the Maharajah’s haras-  

sing tactics were having some eflcct on his temper: ‘I must,  

at the same time, express my extreme regret that, notwilh-  

sunding the unqualihed assurance, given in your letter of the  

13th December 1880. that it was your intention to co-operate  

loyally in the measures for the settlement of your affairs,  

which had been agreed upon after much consideration, and  
with an anxious desire on the part of the Home Government  

of India to promote your interests and those of your family,  

your Highness should adopt a line of procedure which 1  

cannot but regard as inconsistent with that assurance.'^  

 

The Maharajah protested, in reply, that his motives had  

been misunderstood and that far from wishing to set aside the  

pending arrangements, he was preparing to put his estates on  

the market as soon as he was legally entitled to do so and  

there was a turn for the better in agricultural economy. After  

dwelling on the meagre nature of the relief he was in any case  
likely to obtain, he concluded: ‘I have again to ask of your  

Lordship to ascertain {if possible by telegram) whether the  

Indian Government have any objection to my laying aside  

my rank, as an opportunity has presented itself for me to go  

into business as a jeweller and diamond merchant, for 1 desire  



by industry and [dlegible], as well as by strict economy, to  
add to the provision made for my children as much as 1 can.**  

 

Hartington did not rise to the bait. But in view of the  

Maharajah’s gadfly persistence he coolly tel^raphed the  

viceroy indicating that he personally could sec no objection  

to his renouncing his rank.  

 

On 26June the Maharajah returned to the attack, request-  

ing that an officer of the Indian government be appointed  
to take charge of the Elveden estate and ‘deal with it as might  
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be deemed bcsc’.’ Harrington, of course, replied that this was  

impossible, and the Maharajah’s answer, partly pathetic and  

partly challenging, did little to make him change his mind;  
he probably thought the man was going mad;  

 

My Lord, I beg to thank you most sincerely for so kindly  

promising to contmunicxtc to me the views of the Government of  

India regarding the laying aside of my rank as soon as your Lordship  

is in a position to do so, which I pray God will not be very long  

as the uncertainty and the consequent svorry arising from it is very  

injurious to my health and Sir W. Gull has informed me that if I  

hope to live some years longer 1 must have no anxiety on my  

mind.  

 
With reference to your Lordship's refusal to appoint someone  

to take charge of my estates in Suffolk, I have only to express my  

sorrow and to humbly beg of you to reconsider your dcasion.  

 

When I came to this country after having been deprived of my  

Kingdom and all private property and after some years residence  

Jn England and acquaintance with its people it appeared to me best  

that I should under the altered circumstances of my life occupy the  

humble though honourable position of a Country Gentleman and  

with this view I atked for and was granted a sum to found a home  

and this my English home svas the one thing on earth that I idolised.  

 
When the agricultural depression set in jnd my income began to  

decrease I was compelled to ask the Home Government for  

assistance.  

 

Col. Sir Owen Bumc svas sent to me with the Government's  

Suggestion that I should sell my property in order to extricate me  

from my pecuniary difficulties and I cannot describe to your Lord-  

ship the pain this cruel proposition gave me coming from the  

Representatives of the Nation who had declared themselves my  

Guardians and took a paternal interest in my welfare.  

 
When however yout Lordship's ultimatum (that part of which  

referring to the absolute sale of roy Estates at my death I at first  

resented) came, I began to see that there was no hope that my only  

wish in the world would be realised, and that my English home  

would be broken up and my descendants must look to some other  



place as their home.  
 

Ever since then my Lord I have been tearing myself from it  

and have at last succeeded in bting^g myself to hate the sight of  
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it . . . TheTcfore. my Lord, I humbly beg you cither to give the  

mcam to occupy the posidtui 1 have hitherto fulhlled and enable  

my descendants to do the same after my death, or to take these  

estates off my hands so that I maybe able to make a better pro-  

vision for my ehiJdren myself, and not bring them up with sudi  

tastes as they wDl not be able to indulge in hereafter.  

 

As 1 do not desire to trouble your Lordship v.-ith more letters  

than lean help I beg ofyou kindly to inform me on the following  
subjects:  

 

1 st. I presume as I am now a Naturalised Englishman there is  

ISO legal difficulty to my returning to the Punjab either to get  

information regarding my private landed estates &c. or to reside  

there altogether.  

 

and. To whom is the Order oflhcSiaf ofindia tobe returned?  

To your Lordship or Her Majesty?  

 

ytd. On what grounds my claim to private property and landed  
Esatesin the Punjab are not recognised by the Indun Government-  

Surely, my Lord, as English justice acknowledges no dif-  

ference berween man and man ought 1 not to be treated on the  

same footing of equality with my servans who are allowed to  

keep their Esutes?  

 

StHl muting to your Lordship's and the Home Government's  

high sense of English justice and Brirnh liberality  

 

The Maharajah added a postscript: ‘My address after the 3 rd  

of August wni be Elvedcn Hall as I must go there to reside  

for a few weeks during the time the harvest operations are  
carried on/*®  

 

The crigcnccs of Harvest time, however, did not  

prevent him from continuing the battle to extract himself  

from the impending finality of riie act of Parliament which  

the India Office seemed to assume was the coup de grace. His  

first step was to get counsel's opinion as to his nght to family  

estates inIndja.MrV3ughanHawfcinsofLincoln’s Imi opined,  

on JO August, that ‘no private estates or property w’erc  

liable to be confiscated under the Treaty of Lahore, the  

terms of which apply to State property only’.** The  
Maharajah was quick to put the queen right on any ideas  

she might have had from her advisers on that subject by  
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sending her the opinion. He also made it dear that he svas  

going to fight:  

 

The odds will be very much against me, My Sovereign I know,  

as I single-handed combat the most powerful Government in the  

world to obtain svhat I believe to be my fights for the sake of my  
children but trusting in the help of God I am determined to go  

forward whether or not 1 succeed or fail for no human aid is of  

any avail except that of Your Majesty's and that I dare not ask for  

as Your Majesty has most graciously already done more for me  

than ! could ever have hoped.  

 

How true is the saying My Sovereign that History repeats itself.  

 

The Khedive's ease at this moment in Egypt is exactly what was  

mine in the Punjab. His Arabt Pascha is what Moolraj was to me  

some thirty years ago and the British Government sent an army  
to put down the rebellion against me as it is being done at the  

present time at Alexandria but the late Marquis of Oaihousie mis-  

represented the whole affair and I the inoeent (sic) was made to  

suffer with the guilty in ditea conttoversien of the Ptoclamation  

issued by his Lordship’s orders at the entrance of the British force  

into the aforementioned Province.  

 

It is very hard indeed My Sovereign that I should have been  

classed with Your Majesty’s enemies and treated as such when I  

never even lifted up my little finger against Your Maj«ty’s  

Government.  
 

Had 1 been aware my Sovereign of the true state of things  

the knowledge of which was carefully kept from me by the late Sir  

John Login -a creature of Lord Dalhouiic- and all the officials were  

unfortunately the only friends I have had all my life except until  

very lately to advise me) and as well acquainted with the English  

law and customs as 1 am at present a very different provision both  

for the maintenance of myself and my children would have been  

made but even now I do not despair as having by accident dis-  

covered providentially preserved the official dispatches See. con-  

nected with the Punjab in their entirety at the British Museum  

and feeling certain that Your Majesty at the head of this great  
nation will cause justice to be done to me some day or other.  

 

Imploring Your Majesty to forgive me for presuming to address  

Your Majesty once again, I remain, my most gracious Sovereign,  

Your Majesty’s most loyal humble subjea . .  
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While writing thus to the queen the Maharajah must all the  

lime have been brewing his ease for presentation in the form  

of a letter to The Times, ■which made some telling points,  

ably, if insidiously, rebutted in an editorial which seemed  

to indicate that the writer had got his fans from Sir Owen  



Bume, the political secretary at the India Office. The corre-  
spondence started off many a^uments in the country as to  

the rights and wrongs of the affair.  

 

To the Editor of TTie Timer.  

 

Sir, As the era of doing jusrice and resrorarion appears to have  

dawned, judging from the recent truly liberal and noble act of the  

present Liberal Government, headed now by the great Gladstone  

thejust, 1 am encouraged to lay before the British Nation, through  
the medium of T^ie Timer, the injustice which I have suffered, in  

the hope that, although generosity may not be lavished upon me  

to the same extent as h« been bestowed upon King Cctewayo,*  

yet that some magnanimity might be shown towards me by this  

great Christian Empire.  

 

When r succeeded to the throne of the Punjab, f war only an  

_ infant and the ATha/re soldiery, becoming more and more mutinous  

. ,an3 overbearing during both my uncle’s and my mother’s  

T<,^encjes, at last, unprovoked, crossed the Sutl^ and attacked the  

friendly^ritish Power, and was completely defeated and entirely  
routed by tht^nglish Army.  

 

Had. at this tSme.^/my dominions been annexed to the Bntuh  

territories, I would Ka^e liow not a word to say, for I was at that  

time an independent chiefafthc head ofan independent people, and  

any penalty which mightTijve been then inflicted would have  

been perfecdyjust: but that kind, true Englishman, the late Lord  

Hardingc, in consideration of the friendship whach had exuted  

between the British Empire and the ‘Lion of the Punjab', replaced  

me on my throne, and the diamond Koh-i-noor on my arm. at  

one of the Durbars. The Council of Regency, which was then  
created to govern the country during my mmonty, finding that  

it was not in their power to rule the Punjab unaided, applied for  

assistance to the representative of the Bnosh Government, who  

after stipulating for absolute power to ce«trol every Govemmeni  

*Tbe conquered Zulu ling, exilnln London, whose l»ndi hid been tcmnied  
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department, entered intothe Bhyrotva] Treaty with me, by which  

it was guaranteed that I sbouJd be protected on my throne urjtiJ I  

attained the age of sixteen year*, t}^ British also furnishing troops  

both for the above object and preservation of peace in the country,  

in consideration of a certain sum to be paid to them annually by  

my Durbar, for the maintenance of that force.  
 

Thus the British nation, with open eyes, assumed my guardian-  

ship, the nature of which is dearly defined in a prodamation sub-  

sequently issued by Lord Hardinge’s orders on the 20th of August,  

1 847, which declares that the tender age of the Maharajah Duleep  

Singh causes him to feel the interest of a father in the education  

and guardianship of the young prince. ( Vide Panjab Papers at the  

British Museum).  

 

T wo English Officers carrying lettets bearing my signature were  

despatched by the British Residcnt.inconjunction with my Durbar,  
to take possession of the forttess of MooUan and the surrounding  

district in my name, but my servant Mooltaj, refusing to acknow-  

ledge my authority, caused them to be put to death, whereupon  

both the late Sir F. Currie and the brave Sir Herbert Edwardes,  

most urgently requested the Commander-In-Chief of the British  



forces at SinJa, as there were not sufficient English soldier* at  
Lahore at the time, to send some European troops without delay  

in order to crush the rebellion in the bud, as they affirmed that  

the consequences could not be calculated which might follow if  

it were allowed to spread; but the late Lord Gough, with the  

concurrence of the late Marquis of Dalhousie, refused to comply  

with their wishes, alleging the unhealthiness of the season as his  

reason for doing so.  

 

My case at that time was exaedy similar to what the Khedive’s  
is at this moment: Arabi being, in his present position, to his master  

what Moolraj was to me — vir., a rebel.  

 

At last, very tardily, the British Government sent troops (as has  

been done in Egypt) to quell the rebellion, which had by that  

time vastly increased in the Punjab, and who entered my territories,  

headed by a proclamation, issued by Lord Dalhousie’s orders, to  

the following effect:  

 

‘Enclosure No. 8 in No. 42 - To the subjects, servants and  

dependants of the Lahore State, and residents of all classes and  
castes, whether Sikhs, Mussulmans, or others within the territories  

of Maharajah Duleep Singh ... Whereas certain evil-disposed  

 

 

 

QUrtN victosia's maharajah  

 

pcnon< and traiton have excited febeHion and mtarreetjon. and  

have seduced portions of rhe population of the Punjab from their  

allegiance, and have raised an armed opposition to the British  

authority; and whereas the condign punishment of the insurgents  
is necessary ... therefore the Ontish Army, under the command  

of the Right Hon. the Commander-in-ebief. has entered the  

Punjab districts. The army will not return to its cantonments untJ  

the full punishment of all insurgents has been effected, all oppose  

tJon to the constituted authority put down, and obcdtencc and  

order have been re-cstablsshed.‘  

 

Thus it is clear from the above that the British Commandcr-  

in-Cbief did not enter my dominions as a conqueror, nor the army  

to stay there, and. therefore, it is not conect to assert, as some do.  

that the Punjab was a military conquest.  

 
‘And whereas it is not the desire of the British Government  

that those who ate innocent of the above offences, who have  

taken no part secretly or openly, in the disturbances, and who  

have remained faithful in their obedience to the Government of  

Maharajah Duleep Singh . . . should suffer with the guilty.'  

 

But after order was restored, and iinding only a helpless child  

to deal with, and (he tempradon being so strong, Lord Dalhousic  

annexed rhe Punjab, instead ofearrytng our the solemn compact  

entered into by the Brituh Government at BhyroH'al : sold almost  

all my personal, as well as all my private property, consuting of  
jewels, gold and silver plate, even some of my wearing apparel  

and household furniture and distributed the proceeds, amounting  

(I was told) to X<250,ooo. as priae money among those very troops  

who had come to put down rebellion against my authonty.  

 



Thus I, the innocent, who never lifted up even my little finger  
against the Bndsh Government, was made to suffer in the ume  

manner with my own subjects who would not acknowledge my  

authority, in spite of the declaration of the above quoted proclama-  

tion that it is not the desire of the British Government that the  

innocent should suffer with the guilry.  

 

Lord Dalhousie, in writing to the Secret Committee of the late  

Court of Directors, in ordet to justify his unjust act. among other  

arguments employs the following. He says: -  
 

Tt has been objected that the present dynasty m the Punjab  

cannotwithjusticcbesubvertedLunce the Maharajah Duleep Singh,  

being yet a minor, can hardly be held responsible for the acts of  
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ihe nation. With deference to those by whom these views have  

been entertained. I must dissent entirely from the soundness of the  
doan'ne. It it, I venture to think, altogether untenable as a principle;  

it has been dnregarded in the case of Maharajah Duleep Singh.  

When in fS^J the Khalta army invaded our territofies, the  

Maharajah was not held to be free from rcsponiihiljty, nor was he  

exempted from the consequences of the acts of the people. On the  

contrary, the Government of India confiscated to itself the richest  

provinces of the Maharajah's kingdom, and was applauded for the  

moderation which had exacted no more. If the Maharajah was  

not exempted from responsibility on the plea of his tender yean  

at (he age of eight, he cannot on that pica be entitled to exemption  

from a hke responiibility now that he it three yean older.’  
 

Diit in Ulus arguing. His Lordship became blind to the fact that  

in when the Khalsa army invaded the British territories. I  

was an independent chief, but after the ratification of the Dhyrowal  

treaty I was made the ward of the British nation; and how could  

I. under these dteumstanccs, be held responsible for the neglect of  

my Guardians in not crushing Moolraj’s rebellion at once, the  

necesiity of doing which svas clearly and repeatedly pointed out  

by the British Kesident at Lahore?  

 

Again. His Lordship says: *The British Government has rigidly  

observed the obligation which the treaty imposed on them and  
fully acted up to the spirit and letter of its contract.’ No doubt  

alt this was or may have been true, except so far that neither  

peace was preserved in (he country nor I protected on my throne  

till I attained the age of sixteen yean; two very important sttpula*  

tions of that treaty.  

 

He fuTihcf alleges: ‘In return for the aid of the British troops  

tliey (my Durbar) bound themselves to pay to us a subsidy of 22  

lakhs (;C220.ooo) per annum ... from the day when that treaty  

was signed to the present hour, not one rupee has ever been  

paid.'  
 

Now. the above statement is not correct, because of the follow-  

ing despatch which exists: Enclosure No. 5 in No. aj, the Acting  

Resident at Lahore affirms. 'The Durbar has paid into this Treasury  

gold to (he value ofRs. I,356.637-o-6(jCt3S,837-t4-!, taking the  



value of a rupee at 2s.).'  
 

1. Thus I have been most unjustly deprived of my kingdom,  

yielding, as shown by Lord Ddhousie’s own computation in (1  
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think) iSjo, 2 {urplui revenue of iotne /^joo.ooo, and no doubt  

now vastly exceeds that sum.  

 

2. 1 have also been prevented, unjustly, from receiving the  

tenuis of my private estate (vide Prinscp’i History cf the Sikhs, com-  

piled for the Government of India) in the Punjab, amounting to  

some jo.ooo per annum, since 1849, although my private pro-  

perty is not confiscated by the terms of the annexation which I  

was compelled to sign by my guardians when I was a minor, and,  

therefore, I presume it is an illegal document, for I am still  
lawful Sovereign of the Punjab; but this is of no moment, 1 am  

quite content to be the subject of my Most Gracious Sovereign,  

no matter how it was brought about, for her graciousness towards  

me has been boundless.  

 

3. All my personal property has also been taken from me.  

excepting ^20.000 worth, which I was informed by the late Sir  

John Login was permitted to be uten with me to Futteghur when  

1 was exUed; and the rest, amounting to some ^^330.000, disposed  

of as stated before. What is still more unjust in my case it, that  

most of my servants who remained faithful to me were permi«ed  
to retain all their penonal and private property, and to enjoy the  

rentals of their landed estates (orjagheets) given to them by nse  

and my piedecesson; whereas I their master, who did not even  

lift up my little fmger against the Britishnanon. was not considered  

worthy to be treated on the same footing of equality with them,  

because, I suppose, my sin being that 1 happened to be the ward of  

a Christian power.  

 

The enormous British liberality permits a life stipend of £25.000  

per annum, which is reduced by charges (knovm to the proper  

authorities) to some £13,000. to be paid to me from the revenues  

of India.  
 

Lately, an Act of Parliament has been passed by which, some  

months hence, the munificent sum of some £2,000 will be added  

to my above stated available income but on the absolute condi-  

tion that my estates must be told at my death, thus causing my  

dearly loved English home to be broken up, and compelling my  

descendants to seek some other asylum.  

 

A very meagre provmon, considcnng of what and how I have  

been deprived, has also been made for my successors.  

 
If one righteous man was found in the two most wicked ciues  

of the world. I pray God chat ac least one honourable, just and  
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nobJc Englishman maybe forthcomingout of this Christian land of  

liberty and justice to advocate my cause in Parliament, otherwise  

what chance have 1 of obtaining justice, considering that my  

despoilcr, guardian, judge, advocate, and my jury is the British  

nation itself?  
 

Generous and Christian Englishmen, accord me ajust and liberal  

treatment for the sake of the fair name of your nation, of which  

I have now the honour to be a naturalised member, for it is more  

blessed to give than to take.  

 

1 have the honour to remain. Sir, your most obliged servant,  

Dulecp Singh.*^  

 

Tkf Times' editorial on ji August tSSa;  

 
We print elsewhere a somewhat singular letter from the  

Maharajah Dulecp Singh. Encouraged, as it would seem, by the  

restoration of Cetewayo, he puts forward an impassioned plea for  

this consideration of his own claims. On a fust glance, his letter  

reads as if he demanded nothing less than to be replaced on the  

throne of the Punjab. He professes to establish his right to that  

position and to waive it, magnanimously avowing that hr is quite  

content to be the subject of his most gracious Sovereign, whose  

graciousness towards him has been boundless. His real object, how-  

ever, is far less ambitious. It is to prefer a claim for a more  

generous treatment of his private affairs at the hands of the Indian  
Government. In I/eu of the sovereignty of the Punjab, with its un-  

bounded power and unlimited resources, ’the enormous British  

liberality' hecomplains, permits him only a life stipend of j^25 ,000  

pet annum, which is reduced by ceruin charges to some £13,000.  

All that he has hitherto succeeded in obuining from the Indian  

Government is an arrangement, lately sanctioned by Act of Parlia-  

ment, whereby he will receive an addition of £2,000 to his annual  

income on condition that his estates are sold at his death in order  

to liquidate his liabSities, and provide for his widow and children.  

 

It is really against tUs arrangement that the Maharajah appeals.  

His argument concerning his dejurt sovereignty of the Punjab is  
manifetly only intended to support his pecuniary claims. If these  

were settled to his sadsfacrion.be would doubtless be content, and  

more than content, to die, as he had lived, an Englbh country  

gentleman, with estates swarming with game, and with an income  

sufficient for his needs. This is a son of appeal to its justice and  
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generosity with which the English public is not unfamiliJr. Dulccp  

Singh is not the fi«t dispossessed Eastern Prince who has felt him-  

self aggrieved by the dispositions of the Indian Government, nor  



is this the first occasion on which his own claims have been heard  
of. For a long time he preferred a claim for the Koh-i-noor, of  

which he alleged that he haci been wrongfully despoiled. Now it  

is his private estates in India which he declares have been con-  

fiscated without adequate compensation. No one, of course, would  

wish that a prince in the Maharajah's position should be un-  

generously treated. He is, as it were, the ward of the English  

nation, and even his extravagances might be leniently regarded.  

But, as the claim, now publicly preferred by the Maharajah, has  

been disallowed after full consideration by successive Governments  
both in India and this country, ic may not be amiss to show that  

his case is by no means so strong as he still affects to consider it.  

 

The events of the two Sikh wars, and their sequel, have probably  

faded out of the memory of most of our readers, “^cy are.  

however, accurately stated, so far as the main facts ate eoneemed.  

in the Maharajah’s letter. It h not so much with these facts them-  

selves that we are now concerned as with the Maharajah’s mferenees  

from them, and with cctuin other facts which he has not found it  

convenient to state. It is perfectly true that after the overthrow of  

the Khalsa power in the sanguinary battle of Sobtaon, Lord  
Hardmge declined to annex the Punjab and placed the  

Maharajah on the throne under the Regency of his mother, the  

Ranee, assisted by a Council of Sirdan. This settlement, however,  

proved a failure, and was replaced by the arrangement under the  

Bhyrowal Treaty, whereby the entire control and guidance of  

affairs was vested in the British Resident, and the presence of  

Bntish troops was guaranteed until the Maharajah should attain  

his majority.  

 

The Second Sikh War, which began wiih the revolt ofMoolraj  

in 11(48, soon proved the liitility of this arrangement also, and  
after the surrender of Mooltan and the battle of Gujerat, which  

finally broke the reviving power of the Khalsa, Lord Dalhousie,  

who had succeeded Lord Hardingc as Governor-General, deaded  

that the time bad come for the incorporation of the Punjab with  

the British Dominions in India. Duleep Singh was at this time  

only eleven years of age; but he had been recognized for mote  

than three years as the Sovereign of the Punjab, and by the advice  
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of his Durbar at Lahore, he signed the terms of settlement pro-  

posed by the British Commissioner, whereby he renounced 'for  

himself, his heirs, and his sutxcssors. all right, ride and claim to the  

sovereignty of the Punjab, or to any sovereign power whatever’.  

By subsequent clauses of the same instrument ‘all the property of  

the Sute. of whatever description and wheresoever fbund,' was  

confiscated to the East India Company; the Koh-i-noor was sur-  

rendered to the Queen of England: a pension of not less than four  

and not exceeding five lafcbs of rupees was secured to the  
Maharajah, 'for the suppon of himself, his relatives, and the  

servants of the State'; and the Company undertook to treat the  

Maharajah with respect and honour and to allow him to retain die  

tide of ‘Maharajah Duteep Singh. Bahadoor*.  

 



Of this instrument, the Maharajah now says that he was com-  
pelled to sign it hy his guardians when he was a minor, and he  

argues that the political necessity which dictated it was due to the  

lapses of the Indian Government, which had failed to fulfil the  

pledges of the DhyrowaJ Treaty, and had allowed the revolt of  

Moolraj to develop into a Sikh rebellion. In answer to these  

allegations, it is sufficient to quote the report of the British Com-  

missioner. who presented the terms for signature. ‘The paper,’ he  

lays, ‘was then funded to the Maharajah, who immediately affixed  

his signature. The alacrity with which he took the papen when  
offered, was a matter of remark to all. and suggested the idea that  

possibly he had been instructed by his advisers that any show of  

hesiution might lead to the substitution of terms less favourable  

than those which he had been ofleted.’ Moreover, the plea that the  

Maharajah was a minor, and. therefore, not a Ixec agent, is fatal to  

his own Case; he was two years younger when the Bhyrowal  

Treaty was signed, and younger still when the setdement of Lord  

Hardingc replaced him on the thrown, and restored him to the  

sovereignty, which he even now acknowledges might at that time  

have been rightly forfeited. We need not dwell on this point,  

however. The Maharajah himself would hardly press it. His claim  
of sovereignty is merely intended to cover his claim for money.  

He never was much more than nominal Sovereign of the Punjab,  

and he probably desires nothing so litde at thb moment as the  

rejtitution of his soverngn tights. The poUtiai question has Jong  

been closed; it only remains to consider whether the personal and  

financial quesekm still remains open. TheMaharajah complains that  
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he was deprived of his personal and private property - with in*  

significant exceptions - and of the rentals of his landed estates.  

There is, however, no mention of private property in the terms of  

settlement accepted by the Maharajah; and a minute of Lord  

Dalhousie, recorded in 1855, states explicitly that at the time the  

Punjab was annexed, the youth had no territories, no lands, no  

property, to which he could succeed. The pension accorded by  

the East India Company was plainly intended to support the  

Maharajah in becoming state, and to provide for his personal  
dependants, and the British Government expressly reserved to itself  

the right of allotting only such portion as it thought fit of the  

‘Four Lakh Fund', as the pension was called, to the Maharajah s  

penonal use. Solong ago as 185 J, Lord Dalhousie wrote a dispatch,  

intended to remove from the Maharajah's mind all idea that the  

Four Lakh Fund would ultimately tevert to himself, and character-  

izing such an idea as ‘entirely erroneous*.  

 

The Indian Government, however, has certainly net dealt un-  

generously with the Maharajah. It is true that it has not recognized  

his claim to certain private esutes no record of which exists, still  
less has It listened to any of his attempts to assail the validity of  

the instrument whereby his sovereignty was extinguished. For  

some years after the annexation his personal allowance out of the  

Four Lakh Fund was fixed at jCi2.$oo - a sum which was con-  

sideredentirely satisfactory by the leading Ministers of the Durbar,  



who assented and advised the Maharajah to assent to the terms of  
1 849. But in 1839 this allowance was doubled, and the Maharajah  

himself more than once acknowledged in subsequent years the  

liberality of the arrangements made. The allowance of ^23,000  

a year has been reduced to the £*3*000 menuoned by the  

Maharajah in his letwr, nor byanyact of the Indian Government,  

but by what could well be called extravagance, though, as he is an  

Eastern prince, it is more generous, perhaps, to describe it as mag-  

nificence. He first bought a property in Gloucestershire, but this  

was sold some years ago, and his present estate at Elveden. m  
Suffolk, was purchased for £138.000, the money being advanced  

by the Government, and micrest for the loan to the amount of  

£3,664 pet annum being paid by the Maharajah. Some two or  

three years ago the Home Government of India proposed to  

release the Maharajah from payment of this annual sum provided  

that he would consent to the sale of the esutc, cither at once or at  
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h« d»th, for the repayment of the principal of the loans advanced.  

This proposal, however, was rejected by the Indian Government,  

which maintained, in very stronj; and plain language, that the  

Maharajah had already been treated with exceptional liberality, and  

that if he wanted more money he should sell his estate. The Indian  

Government remained inexorable, but the liberality of the Home  

Government was not yet exhausted; the Maharajah had built a  

house at Elveden, at a cost of jQfyoficxi and had borrowed £ao,ooo  

from a London banking firm for the purpose. For this Joan /^a,ooo  
interest had to be paid, and the India Odtee has lately sanctioned  

the repayment of the capital sum without making any further  

charge on the Maharajah. It h to this arrangement, and to the  

Act of Parliament which sanctions it. that the Maharajah refers with  

some bitterness at the close of his letter. In order to settle his a/fairs,  

and to provide for his wife and family, the Act of Parliament  

requires that his estate at Elveden should be sold after his death.  

Hine IKae Lanymae. An argument which starts from the sovereign  

claims of the son of the ‘Lion of the Punjab', ends, somewhat  

ridiculously, though not without a touch of pathos, with the  

sorrows of the Squire of Elveden. Dulcep Singh began life as a  

Maharajah of the Punjab, with absolute power and boundless  
wealth if he had only been old enough to enjoy them, and if the  

Khalsa would have allowed him to do so; he is not even allowed  

to end it as an English country gentleman, leaving an encumbered  

estate and an embarrassed heir. There is really a certain tragedy  

about the whole matter. Fate and the British power have deprived  

the Maharajah of the sovereignty fo which he was bom. He has  

done his best to become an English squire, and if he has lived  

beyond hisincomebc may plead abundanceofexamples in the class  

to which he has attached himself; yet he is for ever to bear the con-  

sequences himself, and not to inflict them on his children and  

descendants, as an English squire would be able to do. The whole  
case is one which it is very diflicult to judge upon any abstract  

principles. It is, no doubt, the duty of every man to live within  

his income, and yet if the Maharajah has failed to acquire a virtue  

rare indeed among Eastern princes and not too common in the  

class to which he belongs by adoption, there is no Englishman but  



would feel ashamed if he or his descendants were theteby to come  
to want. At the same lime it is impossible for the Indian Govern-  

ment, which has claims on its slesider rwources far more urgent  
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han those of the magnificent squire of Bveden, to guarantee him  
ndefinitcly against the consequences of h« own improvidence- At  

my rate, it is safe to warn him against encumbering his personal  

claims by political pleas which are wholly inadmissible. He is very  

little likely to excite sympathy for his pecuniary troubles by hh  

bold, but scarcely successful, attempt to show that if he could only  

come by his own, he is still the lawful Sovereign of the Punjab.  

 

Duleep Singh’s reply was published in Tlir Times, 6  

September 18S2.  

 

Sir. As your leading article of Thursday, the j 1st ulf.. comment-  
ing on my letter of the 28th, vrhich you were $0 good as to  

publish, contains many inaccuracies as to matters of fact, which  

no one, perhaps, can correct so precisely as myself, I trust you s*-iU  

allow me to do so, and to make a few observations.  

 

(i) You say: ‘All that he has hitherto succeeded in obtaining  

from the Indian Government is an arrangement, lately sanedoned  

by Act ofPatbament whereby he will receive an addition ot)C^.coo  

to his annual income, on condition that his estates are sold at hn  

death, in order toliquidate his liaUlities. and provide for his widow  

and children. It is realty against this arrangement that the  
Maharajah appeals.'  

 

I do not ‘really appeal* against the above arrangement, but what  

1 do certainly think unjust in it is that 1 am not pemucted to repay,  

during my life, the loan which is to be made under it — £16,000  

having already been advanced to me - and that I am thus for-  

bidden to preserve, by a personal Mcrifice, their English home to  

mydescendants.In April last (sent a cheque for iC3,542 14$., repro-  

senting capital and compound interest at the rate of five per cent  

to the India Office but it was returned to me.  

 

My widow and children, should 1 leave any, were already pro-  
vided for, under arrangements which existed before this Act was  

passed.  

 

(2) With reference to your quotation from the British Com-  

missioner as to my 'alacrity’ in signing the terms, 1 have simply  

to say that, being then a child, I did not understand what I was  

signing.  

 

(j) ‘Moreover’, you say, ‘the plea that the Maharajah was a  

minor, and, therefore not a free agent, a fatal to his muse, be  

was two years younger when the Bhyrowal Treaty was signed,  
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and youngtr Jtill when the tcltlcmcnt of Lord Hardinge replaced  

him on the throne, and rettored to him the Jovercignty which he  

c^'cn now acknowledgci, might at that time have bom rightly for-  

feited. We do not dwell or> thii point, howo’cr, the Maharajah  

hitntclf would hardly preit it.*  

 

Dut. whether it it fatal to my cate or not, 1 do press it, and  

maintain that after the ratification oftheDhyrowalTrcaty, 1 was a  

ward of the Oritish nation, and that it was unjust on the part of  
the guardian to deprive me of my kingdom in contcqoencc of a  

failure in guardianship.  

 

Here at Lord Hardmge’s own words: *Dut, in addition to these  

considerations of a political nature, the CovemoT-General is bound  

to be guided by the obligations which the Dritish Government  

has contracted when it consented to be the guardian of the young  

Prince during his minority.* 49. "Punjab Papers* 1647-4%)  

 

(4) 'The Maharajah complains*, you would say, 'that he was  

deprived of hVs personal and private property - with insignificant  
exceptions - and of the rentals of his landed estates. There is, how-  

ever. no mention of private property in the terms of the settlement  

accepted by the Maharajah; and a minute of lord Dalhousie,  

recorded in 16}$, explicitly states that at the time the Punjab was  

annexed, the youth had no territories, no lands, no property to  

which he could have succeeded.’ My reply is, that at the time of  

the annexation ( had succeeded to territories, lands, and personal  

property, and was in po«eiiion.3nd these possessions were held in  

trust, and managed for me, under treaty, by the Dritish Govern-  

ment.  

 
That I had succeeded and was possessed of private estates in  

land, is an historical fact, and a matter of public records. Moreover,  

these estates had belonged to my /amily, one of them having been  

acquired by maniage, before my father attained to sovereignty.  

The statement in Lord Dathousic’s minute only amounts to a  

denial of the existence of the sun by a blind man; and there are  

none so blind as those who will not sec.  

 

And now with regard to my alleged extravagance, these are the  

facts. The life stipend of /|25.ooo allotted to me. has to bear the  

following deductions: - (i) interest, payable to the  

 
Government ofindia ; (2) about ^3,000 as premium on pofia'cs of  

insurance of my life, executed in order to add to the meagre pro-  

vision made for my descendants by the British Government, and  
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as security for the loan from my banlcen; (J) C^,ooo per annum  
for two pensions of £5°° annum each to the widows of the  

superintendent appointed by Lord Dalhousie to take charge of me  

aficr the annexation, and of my kind friend, the late controller of  

my establishment, besides which there is some annum  

 



payable in pensions to old servanu in India.  
 

In order to be able to receive his Royal Highness the Prince of  

Wales, and to return the hospiutity of men of my own position m  

life, and because I was advised and considered — not. I think un-  

reasonably — that the rank granted to me by Her Majesty required  

it to be done. 1 expended some ^aa.ooo (not ^fio.ooo as you were  

informed) in the alrerarions and repairs to the old bouse on this  

estate; suiuble furniture cost /^8.ooo more.  

 
At a cost of some ^l.ooo, I have purchased life annuioes to be  

paid to the before mentioned widow ladies in case they should  

survive me.  

 

About jC^.ooo more had to be borrowed from my bankers on  

mortgage, to complete the purchase of this estate, as the money  

lent to me by the Govcmincni of India was insufficient by that  

amount. Thus, my debts amount to something like of  

 

which covered by pobdes of insurance. jCS.ooo by  

 
mortgage, and the remainder amply secured by personal assets.  

Therefore, instead of my esutes being heavily encumbered, my  

heirs, were ! to die at this moment, would succeed to a house and  

furniture wWch are worth much more than £,30,vx>, without any  

liability, besides some £70.000 secured by insurance on my life.  

 

I think you are bound to acquit the Squire of Elveden of  

extravagance.  

 

When the agricultural depression set in, I requested the Home  

Government to make an allowance that would enable me to main-  
tain my position, and they kindly, after causmg all the accounts  

to be examiaed, helped me with £10,000, but Ad not accuse ate  

of extravagance. Subsequently, pending the consideration of my  

affairs, some £6.000 or £,7jooo more was advanced to pay olf  

pressing bills, as during that time 1 had not completed the arrange-  

ments fot reducing my cstablsshment. Out of the above loan  

£io,oco was invested ui live and dead stock on farms Bi hand, and  

would be forthcoming, tf demanded, at a very short notice.  

 

Thus the extravagance during my residence at Elveden u reduced  

to the fabulous sum of some £•*>«» »nd I possess enough  
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pcnonilly. beyond eny queition. to dochirge debts to that amount,  

and some /6.000 more, should they extst after my death.  

 

In common justice, thetefote, Mr, Editor, I ask Y-  

me to contradict, in as prominent a manner « the) " ‘'““S  

 
forsvard in your most influential journal, the tumours as to my  

 

Tlhlflm paragraph of your lead.ng arfele of^unday tite  

Jtst ult., you say, that 'the elaim nos» publicly pteferted by *  

Maharajah has been disallowed after full ^  



 
sive Govts,, both in India and this country. Yes, it is very easy  

disallow a claim without hearing the teal . c.  

 

The English law grants the accused the chanee of P^vuig him  

self not guilty; but I am condemned unheard; it this just.  

 

I remain. Sir, your most obliged. „  

 

Net long after the oxch.nge of lettets m We Ttes a  
 

small book appeated, entitled ^e '4»"«Xd{v Tmbner  

 

and the Mabarajal. D.ileep Sin^li. It was pubhshed by Tmbner  

 

& Co. of Ludgate Hill and the author was M  

 

Evans Bell was a writer of power and . p ,,,5^.  

 

ably argued his causes from the native n 1 p  

 
He had been assistant commissioner at Nagpo “  

 

his appointment for insubordination m «dYO«tmg Ae daj®  

 

of the dispossessed ruling family. Hts  

 

civil serviL had made him highly unpopular  

 

lishment, who could hardly apprectate aemued of^dtd^  

 

mediocrity', of having an ‘unconaliato^ e a  
 

the recommendation that 'no time would be >■>“ ” P“™ ^  

 

total stop to the tide of “highly educated young gentlcm  

 

''°Su'r"stt’ it point.' he wrote. ^ ,’’Tr““^na‘’g’'e ha!  

 

dclugeofyoungEnglishmen.whomt e m o p  

 

sen, forth in a of  

 

quarter of a century. This has ica rivU and  
 

the “damned nigger” system in every cp care for  

 

miUtary. Boys just emancipated from „ of their  

 

nothing but beer and billiards, 'whose very gn  
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lingtiagc and ciutoms makes them didike and despise thcjr  

native subordinates, arc piiced in charge of companies of  

sepoys.’’^  

 

The Maharajah sent a copy of Evans IJeU’i book to the  



queen, who cannot have been altogether gratified by its con-  
troversial and critical interpretation of the activities of her  

govemment in India, even if it did provide confirmation of  

the Maharajah*! argument. According to Evans Dell, the  

Mooltan revolt could have been put dossm immediately but  

had been allowed to spread, thus justifying more far-reaching  

intervention leading to annexation.  

 

Lord DaIhou«e(hesufnm«t upj might have gained the hearo of  

the Princes and people by a plain statement of what had been  
done, and what was intended to do m the Punjab. Initead of doing  

so, he violated treaties, abused a sacred trust, threw away the  

grandest opportunity ever offered to the Hritish Government of  

planting solid and vital reform op to the Northern limits ofindu,  

and by an acquisition as unjust as it was imprudent, weakened  

our frontier, scattered our military sirengih. and entailed a heavy  

fjnandal burden upon the Empire. ‘Ihat, J believe, s^'ill be the  

''verdict of posterity and history  

 

Ponsetnby told the queen that, according to Sit Owen  

Dumc, ‘Major^pvans Bell is a professional agitator. He is a  
clever but enrircJj>^- unscrupulous svntcr, & he has used his  

pen against us as a’pa*a-agcni in every single annexation or  

settlement wc have ev« made/'* There was an upsetting  

suggestion in the Maharajah’s letter accompanying the  

book: he again proposed entering Parliament. He gave two  

reasons:  

 

1st. 1 am aware that there b great discontent prevailing in India  

and I know on ihc very best authonty that were Russia to appetr  

on the borders of Your Majesty’s Eastern Empire there is not an  

Indian Prince who would not rebefl {sicj and I hope by representing  
their grievances in Parliament to bring about such a change m the  

existing state of affairs as will entirety destroy the possibility of  

such an occurrence, and thus serve Your Majesty m a humble way.  
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2 nd. Should the Indiin Govnmmtnt not give hred to my appejl  

I hope to be able to advoeate my own cate in Parliament,  

 
The queen did not sec why the Maharajah had to be in  

Parliament to get a public hearing and “'"■i ^  

 

look into the matter. He put the question “ S''  

 

Bume, who, referring to the queen s interest in the cas ,  

replied:  

 

The ease will no doubt come on in Patliamen. “  

heavy artillery you meniion. but I cannot think that the M‘ha'>Jah  

 
XlTlTbV h. At to bit priyate states we have  

 

of them till lately, and we are atkmg the G of 1,  

 

enquiries. In the meantime they private  



 
defied afler the anneaaii^, .M.  

 

“eTe'rrwwlh w“eep Singh had f ',^Xtd°on  

 

were perhaps — after the reflection of 33 Y hroke out  

 

him ^nonllly. But he  

 

in open rebellion, & " ,o acknowledged by  
 

terms were fair enough & h^c ai ys swallow lately  

 

the M.P.. until quite lately. haJdVr^an I advei  

 

in the new arrangements made wthh  

 

cated or would have liked but the Indian Gon^  

 

& arc very angry indeed at our making any concessions all  

 
For Sir Owen Bume. who liked to rt Sm oAhe  

 

very perfect gentleman, such hiding un . . could his  

viceroy was to say the least hypocritical. ^  

 

postscript be described as gentlemanly .  

that Dulcep Singh’s mother was a very a ^ Bhistee,  

 

he is not Runjit Singh’s son at aU. but the so  

or water carrier, a favourite at her our . Balmoral,  

 
It was not until Noveinbet that the queen,  

put her mind once again to the wgiah without  

 

^The Queen it anxious to answer the "'‘“she  

 

delay, having been so long without j " ..he  

 

feelsyerysor^forhim-dtwishessomertangcd betae, she  

 

wro.eS'amTmorandum.oPonsonbyJou-^^^^^  

 

passed on Bume s story of the J  
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dcicent, for the queen added tartly, ifillogically: ’The ttoty-  

of Hi not being Runjcct Singh*» real ion - it nontente as he  

%vai acknow’ledged ai tuch ii placed on the throne hy U.  

HarJinge. The Queen tcadi the books alio.'‘” It might be  
thought that her adi-iters were trying to ditcredit bw protege  

in her eyes, as they were to do ten years later in the caw of  

another Indian friend, the munslu.  

 

The queen*! letter, drafted by Ponionby, avoided all the  



controversial suggestions put forward by the Maharajah in  
former correspondence and referred him back to Lord  

Harrington, who the was sure ‘would not be party to any  

injustice'. She reproved him for hit letters to The Times.  

‘If I might advise you -it would be better not to write in  

the papers. It is beneath you todoto. It thrrenooneon whose  

wise ii impartial opinion you could rely & whose advice in  

these difficult questions would be of use to you?’^®  
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Arguments with the India Office  

 

 

After the passing of the Maharajah Dideep Singh Estates  
Act in 1 88z, the Maharajah began to feel that his fortunes and  

his future had taken an unacceptable rum for the worse. Not  

only was he unable to leave Elvcden to his eldest son, but  

his position in society was rapidly becoming untenable  

through lack of funds.  

 

He had never been one to accept the meaning of ‘fmal  

settlement’, especially when settled under duress, and was not  

long deterred by the apparently awesome act. Accordingly,  

on I March 1883, he wrote to I^td Kimberley, Harrington's  

successor, giving 53 Holland Park as his address as an indica-  
tion that he could no longer afford to live at Elveden:  

 

I have the honour to lay before your Lordship a statement of  

my wishes in the confident hope that my Case wiU be reconsidered  

and such a provision made as vif01 enable me to maintain the high  

tank confirmed to me by my Gracious Sovereign during my life  

and by jny Children after my death, worthy of the magnanimity  

of this great just and civilhed Nadon.  

 

1st. I would venture humbly to request that if no greater  

generosity can be bestowed upon me at least my present life  

stipend of ^25,000 per annum be continued to my male heirs at  
my death.  

 

andly. That the X^ijS.ooo in which I am indebted to the Indian  

Government together with given to me for the purchase  

 

of an Estate in this Country may be considered as a full compensa-  

tion for the loss of gold and silver plate and Palace jewels, thus  

relieving my stipend of the heavy charge oftnterzst deducted fzoia  
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3 tdly. Th« thf 1‘rcfiiiumi on ihf Pol»f>fi of tiff IfOUTjnce  

crtcctfd for the benefit of my ycKBijtee ehiJJtm anJ m iiiow rJ*d  

by me out of my life »ijpfT>«J of pf t annum be dnehitped  



 
from the turylui athmp out of the uiies{^cicJ balance of the »utn  

allotted for the maintenance ofmytelf my relative* and wrevant* of  

itate at the Annexation.  

 

My Lord. } feel very deeply the hardihip to uhieh my ehildren  

wU be tubjeeted, via., bniip btmipht up m the poution which I  

occupy m ihi* Country ihrouph the praonume** of my Sovernpn  

on beinp compelled to telinqonh it at my death for a lower  

iphert of life ...*  
 

These movinp ptoposaU. mainly on behalf of hi* childfcn.  

did not seem inordinately dcmandtnp, yet Lord Kimberley *  

reply, received three wccki later, wai enjelty ncpativc. even  

 

ifhejipncdhimielf'Your Highness** Sincere friend and u-etl-  

 

whhef’ ; ‘I regret to be under the occesiity of informjng V  

Highnws that I am entirely unable to entertain the request  

which you now put forward, and that, so far a* the Indian  

Government ii concerned the arrangement* embodied in the  
Actof Patliament which received the Royal Assent on loth  

August last must be eomidered absolutely final.  

 

When the queen saw a copy of the letter she was suf-  

ficiently agitated to scrawl an immediate memo to her pnvatc  

secretary Henry Ponsonby which indicated her strong feel-  

ings in the matter; ‘The Queen will wntc later abt. the  

Maharajah, but thinks Ld. Kimberley mcjt heartless and un-  

kind. She feels something must and shJ be done and as she  

and the Pee, always rook a red pefsosial mternt in him she  

wishes that a personal appeal should be made to him- Could  
Sit Henry go to him! He has been very hardly used - and U n  

potentially bad for us if he goes back impovenshed and full  

of grievances. Sir O. Bumc (his enemy) was a chtld when  

the Maharajah came over here and was treated as an exiled  

deposed Sovereign. The Queen feel* very strongly on this  

subject.**  

 

Strength of feeling was one matter, but being able posi-  

tively to override the decisions of the India Office was quite  
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another snd ,ha, .he queen. « R rrsi'.?;  

 

should not, and in this case would not, do: .he Mah>”J‘'' |  

money was hardly a mailer on which she could bnng about  

the resignation of her minister. Owm  

 

A. the queen’s request Ponsonby  
Dutne to see if anything could ^ ^ well  

 

a hardening of official attitudes whic i P  

for the fuwrc. ’We are very delenmnrd a.  

and so ate they in India. We find that the  



no compromise, and that if we comm P , . Qy^en's  
 

Patliamcntimmediatelyafterthcyhaser ^ Hunseadded  

 

sanction wc shall get into a slough of despond_ Du^^  

 

a drop of acid for the royal ear: tome  

 

dined to have less sympathy 1... settled /a ooo  

 
apparently well founded rumoun. hat he has etd  

 

a year on a Mitt Ash whom he has  

keeping.’*  

 

 

rohVvethc'coumr^andgoandlivcin^  

 

■"LL^lZdCquiehtoregiste^abom^  

 

seemed to be the Maharajah s first pos> threat 'Having  
ing a course that had hitherto I am much  

 

taL an interest in the case S Jewels  

 

concerned to sec that he IS actual y se^ Hertford wrote to  

 

for the purpose of going to Indt . himself but  

 

Ponsonby. 'Surely this is not only  

 

may be productive of "V^fX^MaharaJah’s intemperate  
When the queen learned of Uic J , . ^ Ld.  

 

action she scribbled a note to cd.  

 

Hertford sec the Ouecn finds herself in  

 

do so out of friendliness. ^-i,,r,:ah to come to  

 

difficulty is that she repeatedly told the Maharajah to  
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her or write to her if he was in difficulties. As his best friend  

she fdnnof let him think she deserts him.’®  

 

Hertford could do nothing. The sale was to start on 23  

July 1883 at the rooms of Messrs Phillips, Son & Neale, of  

New Bond Street, and to bring the point home, Ponsonby  

and Hertford were invited to attend the private view. An  

article in The Times on 20 July was sympathetic, and  
encouraged the idea that authority might be persuaded to  

bow to popular opinion.  

 

The news of His Highness being compelled to sell his jewels  

and other valuables will excite a deep feeling of sympathy among  



all who arc acquainted with the Wstory of the ‘Lion of the Punjab  
... There is very good reason for the complaint on his part  

that he has practically been deprived unfairly of a large share ot  

the income which was guaranteed to him . . .  

 

Although the Govern ment,ffoma purely business point ef view'  

might be justified in believing that the Maharajah has ‘pstdy  

brought h« pecuniary difiieulnes upon himseir, it could be  

in extenuation that the ways of Oriental potentates ate not as those  

of modem English Princes, where the nation was not under the  
same obligations as it is under towards His Highness the  

Maharajah ... A golden bridge might, with generosity and dignity,  

be built for tettcac from a poution wliich is embarrassing for both  

parties.  

 

According to T7ie Times, the most striking item in the sale  

was ihesilver and gilt plate, of which there were twcnty-fou^  

breakfast services - 'teapot, sugar basin, cream ewer, toast  

and egg frame, etc.' - alone. But the piece de resistance must  

surely have been Lot 150; ‘A magnificent centre piece, 39  

inches high, composed of a large and finely modelled figure  
of an elephant carrying the Maharajah of the Punjab, sur-  

rounded by several equestrian groups etc . . There were  

also cashmere shawls and 'rare Indian carpets’ up for aucuon,  

whilst the third day’s sale was given over to ‘elegant and  

fashionable Indian jewellery'. Items included enamelled  

bracelets and necklaces set Mnth diamonds and pearls, pen-  

dants and bracelets set with eabochon emeralds, pearls and  
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A CATALOGUE  

 

25,000 Oz. of Chased Plate,  

 

VAlL'Mtit  

 

C/JSKK’l' OK JKWKLS,  
RARE INDIAN CARPETS,  

 

nMnllOIDEKICS. Ac,  

 

HIS HHlHNr.SS Tilt MAHAHAJAH or LAHORE  

 

DULEEP SINGH. C.C.S.I.,  

 

/WAIAI/.,,, « /-/- W'lf /»r  

 

nidiiii toiii n •'ll ‘f  
 

PHILLIPS, SON & NEALE,  

 

W/ iLiVj H-  

 



On Moodily, njid J«ly. -SSJ' T'™ ““"”2  
 

At em tfrtoc* ?•«■«« •«" "**'  
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diamonds, as well as some of the Maharajah's celebrated pearl  

necklaces and earrings, one of which had fifty-two large  

graduatcdpcarls.ThcMaharajah’ibest pieces, it wassaid, were  

 

not included in the sale. Of the pearls. 77ie Times said:  

‘There is a certain modest native beauty of tint, rich yet  

subdued in the natural pearl ... singularly beautiful in their  

natural hue, like the veiled beauties of Lahore and Cashmere.’  

 

The interest generated by the sale caused a question to be  
asked in the House of Commons by Mr Mitchell Henry,  

Home Rule member for Galway and therefore not a spokes-  

man for cither of the parties responsible for the state of  

affairs, who asked the secretary of state for India. Mr Cross,  

‘whether the Maharajah Dulecp Singh and his family had  

ever received the a year guaranteed by the Treaty  

 

of Lahore, or whether, on the contrary, the Maharajah’s  

income had been so diminished by the Government that for  

many years he had not had mote than about 4 * 3 *00® *  

to live on’. He ended by requesting the government to  
present for inspection fay the House a full account of their  

financiildcaltngs with the Maharajah and his family since the  

annexation of the Punjab.  

 

In his reply Cross quoted the terms of the Lahore treaty  

and concluded that Her Majesty’s government did not think  

it necessary to produce the information in question. Mitchell  

Henry got to his feet again and gave notice that he would  

also move that the whole dealings of the Maharajah svith the  

government should be referred to a select committee. There  

were shouts of ‘order’ as Mitchell Henry asked whether ‘the  

Government had not induced the Maharajah to settle as an  
English gentleman in this country and to purchase with the  

money guaranteed by the Treaty an estate which only paid  

three percent interest, while the Government charged the  

Maharajah between four and five percent for the money they  

had lent him’. There were further cries of ‘Order’ before  

Henry continued with a supplementary question. Was the  

government aware that 'the Maharajah was returning to  

India a disappointed man in consequence of the treatment  
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of the Government in order to live in a private station in  
Hfe*?  

 

Cross did not attempt to amss'er these telling questions,  

and dismissed them with offhand brevity; 'If the Honourable  

Member had read all the papers he would have come to a  

different conclusion.*’  

 

Despite Cross’s arrogant dismissal of his claims the  

Maharajah ss’as determined to establish the equity of his  
position. He had his case carefully drafted in copperplate and  

a copy went off to the queen, ’as a last resort before quitting  

this country’.* The last two paragraphs read:  

 

Your bomWe Petinoner’i Prime Minister after the annexation  

was permitted to enjoy in income of Pft annum during  

 

his life and yet hit Soveretpo. the Son of the Lion of the Punjab  

to whom was sworn cvetUsting friendship by the British Nation,  

and the Ward of that Nation has X^.ooo a year less than his fotmet  

Minister and is compelled to sell hve game and pheasant eggs in  
order to add to his income as he receives hardly any rents from  

his landed estates ow-ing to the present agticultutal distress.  

 

Therefore your Humhie Petitioner after throH-ing himself  

entirely upon the Christian charity and generosity of the British  

Nation implores that some mote equitable and jutt arrangement  

be entered into svith him. He had been hitherto obliged to accept  

whatsoever terms have been oflered as that or nothing and if the  

Transvaal has been restored to Boers because it was considered  

barejustice and the Island ofCotfu to the Crcelts may be not hope  

that if his kingdom cannot be restored his landed estate or a portion  
thereof may be handed back to him or a fair and reasonable sum  

be paid to him in respeci of bis tsiaies and loss of private property  

and thus justice will be done to one of Her Majesty 'a most Loyal  

and grateful lubjects.*  

 

The reply came;  

 

It has given the Queen much pain to read the Memorandum  

which Your Highness has forwarded, for Her Majesty fcan that  

whether well or 511 founded Your Highness is suffering under a  

sense of injustice. This deeply distresses the Queen whose earnest  

hope was that your difficulties bad been met and that her Secretary  
of State was always ready to listen to any appeal made by Your  
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Hiphnen . . . The Queen cinnot hdp cxprruing » doubt ■» betber  

ir would be d«:rjble o Your own jntrmn to Indu at  

present, but Her Majesty has no desire to restrict the freedom of  

Your movements ifyou think a voyage ro the East would be cod'  

dudvc to j-our amusement, health and comfort*®  
 

It is likely that the Maharajah *asv through the queen*  

homely placebo that she did not want to restrict his move-  

ments. He knew only too well that the govemmeni did, and  

for good reason, and he must have seen that she was doing  



no more dian offering a salve to their rrlentJesj scourging.  
There is no doubt that the India Office was worried that he  

might go, especially in his present mood. Memories of the  

mutiny hung heasnly on the minds of many, and though the  

Indian nationalist movement was still in embryo, there  

was mounting feeling among Indian intellectuals that they  

should haN'e more say in the running of the administnrion-  

Lord Ripon, the rieeroy, may not haNt been too worried,  

but Ronald Melville, who bad rece n tly been in India, found  

that the Sikhs had shown 'the greatest possible in t ere st and  
enthusiasm in the Maharajah, although they knes^' he had  

turned Christian’,” Kim^Iey was not sure w hat to think  

and sought the rictroy’s views on what to do if the  

Maharajah actually did go to India. Ripon replied that be  

would simply restrict his travel by forbidding him to go  

north of Allahabad, or STsit any scam rtiled by an independ^t  

ptinee,*' of which there were at that rime Ss'C hundred and  

fifty. Kimberley decided not to aggravate the Maharajah  

with Ripon’sdecisjonthe wasofthe opinion that the whole  

idea of going to India was in any case nothing but a bluff.  

 
Ronald Melville did not beheve that Umiring the Maha-  

rajah's movements would affect his declared jntenoon. but  

he maintained that his &ieDd had no more sinuret a  

raori\-e in returning to his homeland than a desire to marry  

offhis daughters to stiiuble Indians, and to be able to live  

within his means. Has*ing known him for thirty years be  

was certain the Maharajah would have menrioned anything  

questionable. Melville thought, as he had been tn the habit  
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of talking quite 'freely* with him. His good friend, Lord  

Hertford, was not so sure, but they were both agreed that  

it would he better in every way if the Maharajah remained  

in England. One possible solution that occurred to them was  

that he might be given some reiponiible job that ss’ould  

enhance his self-esteem; the only oflicc he had held to date  

was as a local justice of the peace. Some more responsible  

job, say with the Indian Council, would scrs'c to make him  

an ally instead of an enemy of the Indian government.  

Ronald MeK'illc saw it all clearly - ‘With his knosviedge of  
Native character, his devotion to the Queen, his love of  

England, and his natural abilities, coupled with the feeling  

of his countrymen towards him, he ought to be a source of  

strength rather than a trouble to our Indian rule.* * ’ Hertford  

added: *Of course, if he were so placed, the Maharajah's  

dccisioni would be subject to a veto from experienced  

Englishmen.  

 

iiscrc was still the matter of the Maharajah's private  

estates, svhich had been forsolongouuranding. 'The Queen  

cannot undentand the difficulty about settling the question  
of fact as to whether the private estates in the Punjab exist  

or not,*** she wrote to Kimberley. If they did, they might  

form the basis of a claim. She also asked Gladstone for his  

opinion and intervention. The prime minister’s opinion was  

that he did not consider the Maharajah had a case ‘as of strict  



right’, but, as he verbosely phrased it. ‘Mr Gladstone shares  
what he undentands to be Your Majesty’s feeling, that a  

great dilapidation of the fortune of a fallen Indian Prince  

may be a cause of pain and scandal, irrespectively of the  

wisdom or unwisdom of his conduct, and that some effort  

should be made to get rid of that pain and scandal may be  

proper.’ His intervention consisted of a talk with Kimberley  

who, Gladstone informed the queen, had told him that the  

problem would have to be settled by the Indian government.  

‘The matter has thus been put in train for consideration,’ he  
concluded lamely, ‘but of course the result cannot at present  

be forecast.'*®  
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From painstaking searches in village records by the  
Maharajah’s agents, it seems that Runjit Singh had indeed  

privately possessed a conudcrable amount of land, as well  

as ses’cral revenue-produdng salt mines, which was con-  

firmed by a London lawyer commissioned to investigate.  

The Maharajah, encouraged by the India Office, had been  

to a great deal of trouble and expense to establish their  

existence, but the India Office had long ago dedded that even  

if acceptable evidence were produced, it could in no way be  

admitted so long after the event. Two yean were to pass,  

hosvever, before they officially dismissed his daim.  

 
Nevertheless, by the end of October there was a break in  

the ranks of the Indian establishment. Kimberley svas in  

touch with Ripon again in an effort to come to some arrange-  

ment for the Maharajah’s financial betterment. No doubt  

motivated by a desire to please the queen, Kimberley seemed  

to be doing his best: thinking he had found a way round he  

let it be known through Ponsonby that the Maharajah should  

send in a ‘respecuble’ letter asking for an inaeased pension  

specifically on account of the agricultural depression, and net  

based on a re-interpretation of the Lahore treaty. Kimberley  

made the position clear: *... if he repeats any of his un-  

founded claims and pretensions he will get nothing.’ Neither  
should he mention, he discreetly advised, anything about a  

proposed visit to India, which might be construed as a  

threat.*^  

 

But the Maharajah would have none of these face-saving  

devices, and he positively rqected any grant made under  

such conditions. All he wanted, he had now dedded. was  

an independent inquiry into the justice of his claim, not  

a tentative handout under false pretences. He made his new  

approach clear in a letter to Kimberley, fimJy stating that  

he refused to be regarded as a suppliant. ‘dcpeDdent on its  
mcidful bounty or compassion’.** To the palace he sent a  

heartfelt plea: *Oh? that it were possible to obtain an im-  

partial hearing into what I ought to have had under the  

Treaty and wh«her I have ever realised what chat treaty was  
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Tl,l. i, all I ail for!' Hit pride had brat  

lo secure to me. Thu « The accravated  

 

injured, his sente of just.ee mocked. Ihc apg  

Maharajah explained hit atlitude to the queen.  
 

Thelnd, a Omee clearly W.h.rifin.d,me^^^^^^  

 

haibecneommilied.anditit^ua y however the tafe and  

,o acknowledge the error. The laitct it no  

 

" M::;‘“d?“;Se„cv . — .'wL"  

 

ir^,:ct7r^r.ilXErve.heC«vc,nn,en....ne,ccnefo^  

 

withboldme ju.tiee . . . I ,j ^-op, lo bring  
 

I have never det.red ''""^^ 0 ,?.^. . if I did no. feel that  

„y peeuniary d.lT.enlriet before .he officb.  

 

1 wa. merely demanding j„ ,hc hand, of .he  

 

J;°mm‘" u. a’wdll ’  

 

fir,., merely .0 do wha. '"’' “’f „ gradually .i"k i"  

 

demands and leave my «k‘ ....JnolonccrberepanJcdaiebjects  
 

,he«odJ.beIiev,np.hat^cyn^{jJ,^  

 

of apprehension or of service i.i,i,,Ta5»h was in a state  

 

From the beginning of .8*4 f,om the  

 

of great detpondeney. ' Neverlhe^eit. he wai mil  

queen had calmed him ' out that he wat  

 

taking a belligerent ^h'l^^oo', fu.ure, i. i, clear  

 
makinghi, claim on beha ofh..eh,ld^  

 

that hit pettonal pride tv at at ^oodetta.  

 

an argument tvat ji,„ government where they  

 

Hit ttrategy wat .0 ™ annexation, hit unjutr  

 

were most sensitive- the q accept arbitration, and  

 

deposition, their unwiUmgncs financial clauses of the  
their illiberal interpretation of ih ^ King of  

 

ttoaty. After all. rha. 7;™ a rreary. had boon  

 

Oudh, who had acrually refuted t Maharajah't  



 
allowed an income of £ 1 ,„„„g,y againt.  

bet. card wat the “("""f “f. The ^ning bid in hit play  

successive secrctanes o» stare.  
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that yeat was his warning that in addition to his private  

estates and salt mines, he would also be claiming the value  

of his jewels, questionably confiscated to pay the costs of  
war. He included the Koh-i-noor for good measure, bur did  

not seem to realize that those additional jewels from his  

father’s treasury were even then in the Tower of London.  

He also gave notice that he would be asking for the ‘just,  

honourable and only possible interpretation to be put upon  

the Treaty of 1846’.^* He svas prepared to put his case to  

arbitration. And in the background was the threat of going  

to India and stirring up the pot.  

 

In July, the Maharajah sent Queen Victoria, and a number  

of other influential people, a copy of his 'little book’, which  
had been compiled at his request by a barrister of Lincoln’s  

Inn. This volume, nicely printed and bound in leather, was  

abo intended to inform the Maharajah’s personal friends of  

the leading features of his case, even if they did not already  

know it by heart. Some copies were circulated in India.  

 

By the next post, the Maharajah sent an extraordinary  

letter to Ponsonby;  

 

May 1 beg of you kindly to lay at the feet of my Sovereign the  

accompanying paper knife the handle of which I ordered spediUy  
to be manufactured for Her Majesty when 1 was on a visit to Naples  

svith my two sons last Spring. On the reverse is the emblem of  

my (ealty. My father was an ally ofEngland all his lift. I also as  

such have had the honour conjointly-with my Sovereign of having  

a salute fired before the fortress of Mooltan and as I have been a  

most loyal subjea of the Crown for the last 35 years I shall not  

therefore now turn aaitor although J may re-embrace the faith of  

my ancestors and eventually take up my residence in India, but I  

will not take die latter step without laying before Her Majesty my  

reasons for doing so.  

 

There is a terrible storm gathering m India and 1 hope to render  
such service as to compel the principal ministers of the Crown to  

recognise myjusc claims which perhaps under the present circum-  

stances they may be distncluied to admit. I know that the advent  

of Russia is hailed with intense joy both by the people and  

Princes ofindia in their secret hearts whatever they may outwardly  
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U}*2n<i they *reaH prepared to rehd *i soon at that Power advances  

a little nearer.”  

 

It might have been deduced from that letter that the paper  

knife w'ai more jymboltc of a stab in the back: a change in  



his rehgion might diiappoint the conicjencc of the queen  
and would certainly affco hopes ofChristianiiing the sub-  

continent, but the reference to Russia, though it could not  

exactly be construed as a threat, indicated a certain dangerous  

drift in hit thinking. Ponsonby sent the letter to hit opposite  

number ss*ith the Prince ofWales. Sir Francis Knollys, who  

replied from Sandrirtgham in svhat sounded like the gruff  

voice of his master: ’1 am afraid the Maharajah has retained  

all the bad qualities of the Eastern without gaining any of  

the good qualities of the European. He is a bad lot, I fear.  
My own impression is that not i in 500 (not i in t,ooo I  

may say) converts to Cbrisiianity are improved by their  

convenion.*^^  

 

However startled the queen may have been by the tenor  

of the Maharajah’s letter, the reference to it in her response  

was mote in sorrow than »n anger, as if she was not prepared  

to notice the menace in its composition, and in her blandest  

manner was trying to calm the storm that she felt raging in  

hii breast.  

 
Dear Maharajah. You were so much attached to my dear Leopold*  

from hit earlieit childhood, that I thought you svould like to  

possess a recollection of him. and therefore send you an enamelled  

photograph of him. 1 likewise send you my last book.  

 

hi your last letter (to Sir Henry Psmsonby I ihink it w’ar) you  

made use ofsomeexpresssom which pained me and which 1 would  

wish to refer to. You mentioned the possibility of returning to your  

eu'rt old/ailh. Now, considering what a fine and fervent Christian  

you were for between 30 and 40 years. 1 cannot believe you would  

forsake the blessingi of that pure Religion - for one which offers  
none of its comforts and blcssitrgi. I say this without doubring the  

least that there arc many good and excellent Hindoos, but the faith  

is one the principle} of whieb eannor be admired. Forgive me  

•Pniicr Leopold. duVe of Albany. d«ed in the spring of iSSa.  
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saying this - but 1 have known you, taken too warm an interest  

in you for so long, not to speak out plainly. ! am sure the Maharani  

(to whom 1 wish to be kindly remembered) and your children  

would fed the same.  

 

Believe me always, your affccuonate and faithful friend,  

Viaoria  

 

 

The tempest was not stilled. The Maharajah’s reply to the  

queen's gentle request for his views about religion led to an  
ouibrust that must have made her tcalitc that she was now  

dealing with a deranged and possibly a dangerous mind:  

 

 

My Sovereign, Yout Majesty’s most gracious letter and the gifts  



which accompany it have duly reached me and I humbly beg of  
your Majesty to accept my bean's sincere grarirude for this further  

mark of your continued graciousness and remembrance.  

 

Like a dog participates in the joys as well as sorrows of his nutter  

so do I humbly share whatever affects your Majesty.  

 

What all the Bticish caonon. though they can blow me to pieces,  

could not make me say now that I know my true position, viz., I  

yield, your Majesty’s boundless gradousness towards me has  
entirely accomplished -■ and I hope always to remain as I am at  

this moment your Majesty’s mo« loyal subject unless the persecu-  

tion of the Government will compel me to seek asylum beyond  

the bounds of your Majesty’s Dominions on my return to India.  

 

As your Majesty is the only true and disinterested iriend I possess  

in the world 1 did not like that you my Sovereign should hear  

from any other source in the first instance but myself of the possi-  

biLtyofmyro-ctnbradiigihe&idiofmyancestors, though I men-  

tioned it to Sir Henry Ponsonby.  

 
I have since sent for a Bhaee or Brother to come with a copy  

of the Holy Book of the Sikhs to teadi me to read it  

My Sovereips the Faith of Nanok and the Hindoo religion of  

the present day arc very difierent &om each other. The former is  

a pure Deism containing many ten ets apparently of Chnsnanity  

whereas the latter is mere idol vfotship which can not commend  

itself to any reasoning mind.  

 

My Sovereign when lots were cast before the Holy Book of the  

Sikhs for the purpose of selecnng a name for me Dleep came up.  
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„Mch wai iftcOFird, cariup.cdby my Engli* md Pmun lu.oD  

 

‘"swlrrEcF . FiFcndFd Ihc ihionc iL” -m  

 

wiiiicn in . boob "/  

 

of my name would be bom j Jong period  
 

poiwsscd of all he inhented an ^ gooroo or  

 

^ ^ iu ;:o.p?riry ,hm  

 

I”td"rifc"^ of bb — . He .nuid dm eioblnh ,  

 

new faith. . names and what has  

 

I luppoic from the . j, believed in by millions  

 
*1:y”fr^«mid;n”v&^  

 

,0 much did 1 believe .. .he ‘ ,7bid pm7o"e!y e eipe  

 

the ebove prophecy svii ‘PPh“ ,„ay in it >  



 
comtructed ind placed eve^ mg ^ beyond all  

 

favourite pair of pigioni |iicl s*hic P ,e,idcnce  

 

the comenn of my Tteaiury. for I »« JO ' ' „„  

 

luddenly and hosvever strange i. may appear. 1 my  

less than a week's notice. . lo leave  

 
1 did not remember unti late >' nonsense, not think of  

 

England against my will all this pp before her death  

 

the almost prophciic words utter bile discuiting the above  

 

by my mo, her when on one oeeanon wlule „„  

 

prophecy with her I jccringly remar , j| j she replied,  

L eome ro pat. if I do no, ",'„ ,o see rhV day  

 
‘Mark my words my child. PO'haps I m y ^ ,bapc  

 

hutwhcncvcrtherightmoinentarTt England against  

 

dremsclves rha. rhou wil. be “„Y=„ nLly .his was  

 

ahl?r;.Sof .h'’e India Counei. and may ye. he  

 

^dtaiithesetatherenriomeiteumsDne.^^^  

 

care that justice will ever be done *o me.  
 

destiny whatever that may be wil religion is of  

 

My Sovereign in my humble opmjon Y  
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God which influences the acdons of its professors. I embraced  

Chrisdaniry because those by whom I was surrounded at the rime  

happened to be so conjisienl in their conduct.  
 

WeSikhs though savages by nature implicitly act up to the (such  

as it is) morality of our faith. We do not profess one thing and do  

the other.  

 

Your Majesty is now fuUy acquainted with the tTeatmcnt I have  

received from the Christians who spend vast sums of money annu-  

ally to teach the heathen todojustice.Iovc mercy and walk humbly  

with God as well as de&aud no man and to do to others as you  

would unsh them to do to you.  

 
I know two members of the India Council to be eminently pious  

yet they pcnisi in doing me injustice although they fully hope to  

sit among the God's elect hereafter. Also, Lord Dalhousie wrote  

in aBible he presentjedl me with the following inscription . . This  

Holy Book in which he has been led by God’s grace to find an  



inheiitance richer by far than all earthly kingdoms is present^  
vrith sincere respect and regard by his faithful friend’ (?)... or in  

other words hiving deprived me of my inheritance svhich was in  

his power to let alone, he hoped as my fcend (111) that I may  

acquire another which was not in his power to bestow.  

 

My Sovereign, such vile hypocrisy of the Christians as the above  

has made me wish to revert to the faith of my forefathers which  

b simple crust and belief in the great architect of the Universe  

whom to praise and glorify should be the all-absorbing duQ’ of  
His worshippers. Thus believing and worshipping God. like my  

ancestors. I now desre to pass the rest of my life and die.  

 

My wife who begs me to present her humble duties and gratitude  

to your Majesty for graciously rcmcmbctuig her, does rot, like  

yourMajesrj’.belirvrin my tuminga Sikh again - bar she will be  

undeceived should I be compelled to go to India.  

 

Imploring your Majesty’s fo^veness for troubling  

Majesty wth such a long letter . . . and pleading your own  

graciousness as my excuse for doing so ... I have the honour to  
remain My Sovereign's humble and most loyal Subject . .  

 

The queen, who described the letter as ’extraordinary and  

half cracky‘,2* must by now have realired that she was  

getting into deep waters, and was unusually stem in her reply,  

but even if she hid behindher ministers sometimes, she could  
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truly claim that she was doing her best for the Maharajah  

and though she could not go much further than she had  

already done in pressing his claim dircaly, she had by no  

means given up hope of seeing him satisfied.  

 

Balmfral, Sfpt. i^ih.  

 

My dear Maharajah. Though your fetter was an answer to mine  

I cannot leave yours unanswered at there are observations in it  

which I must much regret.  

 

In the first pla^you know that t cannot interfere in your claims;  
they must be decided by my responiible advisers. But secondly as  

your friend, and perhaps the truest you have, I would most strongly  

warn you against those who would lead you to do what would  

inevitably bring you into trooWe without doing you any good. Do  

not use threati or abusive language, for it will roc be the means of  

obtaining that impartial hearing of your claims which you desire.  

Above alt I most earnestly warn you against going to India where  

you will find yourself far less independent and far less at your case  

than here.  

 

Ever your affectionate friend. V.R.f.*’  
 

The Maharajah replied by return of post with a plea that,  

though contentious, must have impressed upon the queen  

the profound distress he was suffering:  

 



My Sovereign . . . how shall I express the gratitude which I feel  
at Your Majesty's condescension in giving me such advice which  

shall be acted upon by me to the last Iciier.  

 

All that I desire, my Sovereign, is an impartial enquiry into and  

a hearing of my claims, and { fed very, very happy to leave myself  

in Your Majesty's hands whatever may be mine ultimate fate.  

 

With reference to my going out to India to reside I humbly beg  

to inform Your Majesty that 1 had determined on, should it ever  
be my destiny to do so, seeking this property and settling the  

proceeds (which I have the power to do) on my wife and children  

and after resigning the stipend paid to me by the Indian Govern-  

ment and thus terminating the treaty of 1849 to proceed to my  

native land as a Sikh Fakecr leaving my family in England.  

 

Your Majesty may not be aware perhaps that Ubeny to a recluse  

is of no use as he can devote himself to the contemplation of the  

Deity anywhere and the more persecution he suffers the more  
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sanctity he acquires in the sight of the Indians. Besides, My  

Sovereign, the 45.000 Punjabee soldiers in Your Majesty's Indian  

Army who assisted in re-establishing Your Majesty’s Eastern  

Empire during the Mutiny of 1857 might petition for the release  

from prison of their chief as d»e reward of their services rendered  

on that occasion which the Indian Government might find difficult  

to refuse. But I do not for a moment fear any such treatment at  
the hands of the India officials because my unwavering loyalty to  

the British Crown for upwards of J5 years is known both to them  

and my country . . . My Sovereign 1 humbly beg to be pardoned  

for causing Your Majesty pain by anything 1 said in tny last letter  

hut my history, My Sovereign, is such a painful one that whatever  

1 quote from it must cause pain to a just and generous mind like  

Your Majesty’s, besides I feel bitterly the unjust acts of the India  

Government. 1 often ask myself am i in my right senses or am 1  

mad  

 

By the spring of iS85. the Maharajah was considering  

putting Elvedcn up for auction. There had been no reaction  
•.'.from India nor in fogland. The politicians were being totaDy  

inflexible. Money was nmning out and he could see no end  

to the'affair. In desperation he sank his pride and begged for  

cash, say ;iC 3 ,ooo. to keep him afloat until the answer came  

&om India. If fie wctc forced to go ahead and sell his estate,  

he told Ponsonby, no offer would compensate for its loss —  

‘for if once my Engl jsh'bome passes into other hands though  

the India Office may then offer to pay me 2 million a year I  

shall not be able ro reside in this countrj’’.^’  

 

At the end of March there was talk of trouble with the  
Russians on the Afghan border. Here wts a chance, the  

Maharajah thought, to affirm his devotion and loyalty to the  

queen and perhaps win favour with an establishment which  

was beginning to question his soundness. He wrote to Pon-  

sonby offering his services in {ndu:  



 
Should serious nesvj respecting the breaking out of bostilines on  

the Afghan frondet . . . tEohappily prove to be true I beg of you  

kindly to implore my Sosremgn graciously to cause me to be  

appointed an Aide-dc^amp to HRH the Duke of Connaught's  
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sciffin IndU. Two of my fomier lubjcco, viz., the Maharajah of  

Cashmere and Sirdar Kot Singh as well as many Indian Princes  

has’e the honour afposscMing rank in the British Army and there-  

fore may I humbly implore that the same distinction may be con-  

ferred on me also? I do not possess an army and thcrclorc cannot  

ofFcr to lead it against the enemies of my Sovereign but I do possess  

myli/cwhichlim willingMsaeriffeem Her service. Ifntyhyilcy  

is in doubt my family may be held as hostages in England for my  

good behaviour. It is possible that I might raise a regimctit of  
volunteers in India in that case my Sovereign svill hear that I was  

not unworthy of the confidence she was graciously pleased to place  

in me and prove how grateful I am for her boundless graeiousneis  

tosvards me.*®  

 

The reply came via Ponsonby from Aix-les-Dains; *... I  

can assure your Highness that the Queen was very much  

gratified by the loyal feelings evinced by your Highness in  

offering your services at this important crisis. H.M. hopes  

and believes that there will be no rupture of our amicable  

relations with Russia, still at the same time the Queen com-  
mands me to thank you for your devotion and to add that  

she has enquired of Lord Kimberley whether you could be  

in any way employed should the necessity unfortunately  

arise.*** In a scribbled memo. Ponsonby noted: 'The Queen  

thought if he went it wd. pacify him. 1 ednt. explain how  

he cd. volunteer. The offer surprised her.’**  

 

From India, in response to Kimberley’s request to keep  

the Maharajah ‘in go^ humour’,** came a reply that could  

only have been drafted by the new viceroy. Lord Dufferin:  

‘Government of India is very sensible of the loyalty of the  

Maharajah in offering services on present occasion, but it has  
been our object to conduct our preparations for a home  

emergency in such a manner as to prevent excitement in  

minds of public, or lead the people of India to consider that  

out normal resources arc not sufficient to deal with the  

present crisis. The arrival in India of His Highness for object  

he proposes would, I fear, lead to our imperfeedy informed  

subjects to imagine that the condition of affairs was far more  
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unsatisfactory than it is. Under the circumstances Govern-  

ment of India does not consider h necessary'- for HI* HighncH  

to make the sacrifice he contemplates.*’^  

 



To the son of Runjit Singh, who was apparently offering  
himself body and soul, to fight for the queen, his rejection  

was discouraging. But probably his suggestion had in any  

casebeen no more than a gesture, and his next move indicated  

that his underlying intention had been to embarrass the  

Indian government. Ifhe could not be a staff* officer he would  

join the Bridsh army as a volunteer! ‘Should war unfor-  

tunately break out between England and Russia.’ he wrote  

to Kimberley, ‘I plan to proceed from Bombay via Karachi  

and through Bclochistan to Afghanistan, thus entirely avoid-  
ing passing through the Punjab.* The provocation came in  

the next paragraph - *I am determined not to be deterred  

from this resolve (unless physical force is employed by the  

Indian Government).’’*  

 

When Kimberley communicated the Maharajah’slaiest in-  

tcntiontovoluntect to thes'iceroy. Lord Dufferin telegraphed  

 

back: *Wc think it undesirable he should visit India, and we  

could not let him join the Army.’’* On her copy of the  

message the queen pencilled in purple a note of surprise:  
’Why? He really is loyal to the Empress, only very much  

vexed and disappointed.*”  

 

The wayward Mahatajah. meanwhile, decided to play host  

again at Elveden. A grand shooting party took place, just as  

though nothing had changed: seve^ thousand head of game  

were killed, and all was reported in the press, much to  

Kimberley’s annoyance, who remarked that it did not help  

matters for the public to read diat this ’distressed Prince*  

could entertain as of old.  
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‘The Eleventh Future Guru'  

 

 

A DARKER element in the many->$idc(i story of the Mahara-  
jah was now to appear, ready to catalyse the dangerom  

thoughts that had been forming in the bach of his mind. The  

recent death of his comptroller and friend, Colonel Oliphant,  

who had for so long been the anchor of his household and  

CQunselior and censor in hts dealings with the India Office,  

had broken another of the personal links he had forged with  

Englishmen. Neither was Bamba of much help to him at that  

time; she seemed to have turned in on herself and to be in-  

capable of coping even with the simplest of problems. In May  

tBSj a cousin called Thakur Singh arrived from India,  

together with another cousin and a small band of followers,  
who were to undermine even further his sense of identifica-  

tion with his country of adoption.  

 

Thakur Singh was described by the police, who had been  

keeping an eye on him in India, as ‘of an intriguing disposi-  



tion and not without a certain sort ofcapacity’.* The Mahara-  
jah hadbeen in communication with his impoverished cousin  

for some time, and had used him to obtain information about  

his considerable family property in India, which Thakur  

Singh had described as ‘enormous’.* Suffolk locals reported  

unusual comings and goings from the station ofturbaned In-  

dians and there were deep discussions in the library at Elveden  

as the visitors tried to penuade the Maharajah to come to  

India. Now that they knew he was returning to their religion,  

alt the Sikhs, they assured him, were devoted to him and,  
in accordance with prophecy, were urgently looking for-  

ward to a revolution and his restoration on the throne of the  
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Punjab. The other cousin, described by the police as ‘of a  

profligate and indifTcrcnl character', would read him the  

Granth, the sacred book of the Sikhs, which contained the  
writings of Nanuk, the Hindu founder of their faith. Nanuk  

had been succeeded by nine Gurus, or teachers, the last of  

whom, Govind, died in 1703. Covind had proclaimed the  

KhaUa, the sacred commonwealth of Sikhs, and decreed that  

devotees should receive the pahul, or initiatory rite, wear  

their unshorn locks beneath a special turban, and assume the  

surname of ‘Singh*, meaning lion. Govind ended the succes-  

sion proclaimed by Nanuk; bat, according to the story, he  

had made a prophecy, that when retailed in full to the  

Maharajah amplified certain unsettling propositions which  

he had already heard, in essence, from his mother.  
 

Being asked upon an occasion byhts disciples whether he would  

ever again viijt the world, Gooroo Govind Singh replied in the  

affirmative adding that he would be born again in the household  

of a Sikh who would marry a Mohammedan wife, and that his  

name would be Deep Singh. After being dispossessed of all he had  

inherited this Deep Singh would reside for a long time alone in  

a foreign land and would return to correct the errors in which the  

Sikhs bad fallen in their worship of God and the neglect of the  

Gooroo’s tenets. Before the latter would come to pass Deep Singh  

would suffer much persecution and be reduced to absolute poverty.  

The Gooroo further predico that Deep Singh will marry a Chns-  
dan wife, and his children by her the Gooroo, in the prophecy,  

calls Engluhmen . . . The Gooroo foretells that there will be a war  

between the two dogs, the bear and the bulldog, Boochoo and Dul-  

too, in which Deep Singh will take part, but that be will be defeated  

and will take refuge at a certain village and when there self-know-  

ledge will be revealed to him ... About that dme The Engluh  

after selling the country wiU quit the land. Then will thunder my  

snakes (young followers) ...’It is further predicted that Deep Singh  

and his descendano will reign for three generations over ^e land  

lying between Calcutta and the Indus.*  

 
It was not difficult to persuade the Maharajah to accept  

what he already half-believed, that he, Duleep, was indeed  

Deep Singh. Had not his father, the great Runjit Singh, been  
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one of the few Sikh! who had been through the marriage  

ceremony with a Mudim woman? And were not  

England, the bear and the bulldog, already at each other  

thrLts? The rot of the prophecy spoke for itself- the retn-  

camation of Govind stood before them.  
 

The Maharajah, perhaps loshowhisimportancc ro his cou-  

sins, wanted thim presented at “nd  

 

asking him toarrange things so that they would has e a chance  

 

ofmeeting the queen:-... My coussns ^  

 

sented at Court tomorrow are very anxious that they may  

 

not miss seeing their Empress of whose  
 

have heard so much from '’’f L “a d  

 

cause instructions to be given for them to  

 

beforeHer Majesty retires Theyareextreme^pomfor them  

 

Station in life and hence their appearing  

proem costumes. 1. is most painful “."Vf  

blood relatives of the Lion of the Punjab >:««. “"d my “  

ren will, come down to. but who «n restst h' force of  
tiny?’* Thus, the following day. the quOT '"P ^ „  

 

MaharajahT secret agents at her reception at Duckingtta  

 

’’“!?iakur Singh and his pany soon  

 

instructions to prepare the people or uimsclf as the  

 

return. He himself, it was agreed, could regard h.mself as  

 

future prime minister of the Punjab. --rtain ‘evil-  

 
It was soon to come to the ,u^ s ears that ocrt>m ovu  

disposed persons-,’ meaning Thakor S.ngh >"d te^o^ ”•  

had influenced the Maharajah for the worsen and ' ‘"‘“"S  

him to India to act against British rnterots. It ts hkely thu  

the queen-s intervention on d-b occas.on was ^ 'o  

to save the Maharajah as to safeguard 'b'  

empire. On 15 August '885 Pon’o-by wrote to Lord Ran^  

dolph Churchill, yet another ".f f°Q  

 

upon to investigate the M^arajah ^  

 
mands me to inform you that sne^ --nfiprinE him  

 

cultics of the Maharajah Dulcep Sing a intrigues  

 

desperate, that he is consequenUy susceptible to the mttig  
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of evil counsellors in India, who ace calling upon him to come  

to the Punjab, and that she fears if not relieved from his press-  

ing necessities he may take some step which may lead to  

serious consequences.’^  
 

Having spent the best part of a day looking through the  

voluminous file. Lord Randolph was quick to reply:  

 

1 have arrived at the conclusion that 1 cannot recommend to the  

Govt, of India to undertake any further burdens on account of H-H.  

the Maharajah, and moreover that even if the Govt, of India was  

wflltng to be liable for further expenditure on H.H.’t account and  

were to make proposals to me in such a sense. I should be unable  

to agree to such proposals, on the grounds that such a course of  

action on my part would besurcly attacked in the Home of Com-  
mons in a manner and by arguments to which f would be unable  

urisfactorily to make an answer ...  

 

The Maharajah'tclaitn to the owTienhipofprivatr estates in the  

Punjab cannot really be seriously comiderei They were never  

advanced until iS8o. and Lord Cranbtook most emphadcally  

refused to enterutn them. Perhaps you are not aware that the  

Maharajah claims compensation for ^e loss of the Koh-i-noor.  

 

Every single one of the other sutements of the Maharajah con-  

tained in the book which he has circulated an d which seems to have  
made so much impresjion upon the Duke of Grafton, Lord Hen-  

niker and othen, is utterly mbieading. inaccurate and at variance  

with history and will not bear one moment's real investigarion.  

 

1 shall be prepared to lay all the ofBcial records in the possession  

of the India Office before Parliament if neemsity should arise;  

though they are not to the credit of the department as far as careful  

business management is concerned, they show beyond refutation  

that the treatment ofH.H. the Maharajah by successive Secreanes  

of State has been indulgent and generous to a fault.  

 

H-H. the Maharajah is at liberty to visit India whenever he  
pleases, but when he lands in that country he will have to conform  

to the orders of the Governor General, and reside wherever the  

G.G. shall desire, and to travel in India only with the Governor  

General’s permbuon.’  

 

After making several other negative points. Lord Ran-  

dolph Churchill concluded by stating that ‘after careful  
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consecration oflhcfamof the <3K-hc could not Murac any  



 
responsibility to increase the •ample, liberal  

 

allowance 'in any degree. He made no reference at all to  

 

■"whln plrnrySTHasnilcer the uncompromising  

 

repTy HeltnikcrthLghtitpainfully-blunt-andt a,^  

 

not be shosvn to the Maharajah unless he svas there to soften  
 

" Rejiaion hatdly needed rubbing in. ye. A.W.Moore.  

LoMSol^h-s secretary a. the India Odiee toob ■. up^  

himself to svrite to Ponsonby and put salt  

lund. In .879. when acting in the same “  

 

Cranbrook. Moore had taken a more indulgent  

 

painful 11 it may be for Her . »^ceived and must  

 

Lrdty of the Royal favour svhich h' "“"thTetrup  
 

be left to take hb own course. Even tf he svere bo s.„ P  

for a year or two more^.he end would be the same,  

scandal only postponed.’’ . »4jWa_  

 

Whatever Moore may have *%ive him  

 

jah's way of life. hi. fnends fi„„, flcrrford  

 

up, even if each one of them rectitude. But it was  

 
and Leicester- were men of the highest reOit  

 

difficulttogethim ‘“^''W.‘Gc™.on complained. ‘End.ed  

 

rcmainsmonemindaahours. or „ t,- the man who is  

 

to a degree, one day «™l.«e ®tHch w“ probably  

 

alluded toinsomewonderfulptophc^,^^^  

 

concocted last year but which he . broken hearted  

before he was bom) & the nert sitnng ^  
 

and saying he could not leave El«dm.^  

 

sin, whose dupe he is, B concerned about  

 

wonders.’*® If the Maharajah’s fnends were concern  
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his deterioration, they were also concerned about his estates.  
'Everything*, according to St George Walker, rector of  

Elvcden, ‘is at a standstill, if not in a state of collapse.’ The  

rector put the situation directly to the under-secretary of  

state;  

 



Hji Highncj) the Maharajah DuJeep Singh has lately declared  
to us his intention of at once giving up to the Government his  

Estates here in England and forthwith proceeding to India. Notices  

to this effect have been sent to servants and the tenantry generally  

and directions given for all labour to cease and an immediate safe  

of stock etc. to take place. The consequence is that numbers have  

already been thrown out of employment and others arc preparing  

toquit their cottages. As a matter of course the able-bodied portion  

in the parish will be compelled to seek for employment elsewhere  

- but what will become of the aflhered. the aged and the extreme  
poor I know not - for the schools, clubs, and charities, hitherto  

entirely supported by His Highness, will be supported by him no  

longer. We in (his neighbourhood are indeed sorry and in >  

measure surprised at the very serious rum which affairs have caken.  

it being generally supposed that His Highness, having proved the  

justice of his claims, the Government would at once tedresi hts grie-  

vances and so prevent the deplorable troubles & privations which  

now threaten this and the surrounding parishes.**  

 

The rector's letter gave the fim official notice that positive  

steps were being taken toleave England. The Maharajah con-  
firmed this intention in a letter to the queen a few days later.  

‘My Sovereign . . . that no justice should be rendered to me  

1 entirely attribute to destiny, but what I greatly gneve at  

is that I should be prevented by action of the Government  

from paying my last homage to Your Majesty before my  

departure for India on the nth of December next and be thus  

banished, dishonoured, and disgraced from Your presence  

the only Friend I thought God had raised up for me in the  

world. He ended: ‘I have riie honour to remain, my  

Sovereign, Until death (provided the Government do not  

make my life intolerable in India), before God Your  
Majesty’s most loyal and humble Subject.***  
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Lord Randolph Churchillh dlimwal of the problem had  

an almort unehallengeable aothonty about it but it id no  

stop tbe Maharajah-t friendt from petitiomng the q"''"'  

the Maharajah from tending her ’“‘j! ™  
 

threatt; 'This it hardly the treatmem 7"' m  

 

when became I had nothing elie to offer 1 volunteered to tpi  

my latt drop of blood in Your Majetty t “  

 

Mijetty-t Government are making a molt  

blundeir in thut trying to cruth a loyal hcarb a"1 tf 7“ “  

not. Your Majetty will be. bye and bye, of the °P‘™°"  

 

when time hat diieloted the reitilt. but God 1 will be do .  
 

The loyal-hearted Maharajah wai even then eng g  

 

“ir  

 



he wooWli Confined m the tmall hill  
 

India at Ootaeamund. which, though an P”'’  

 

a, far from the Punjab at pottible. the  

 

wrote a highly provocative letter to Lord Randolph Chur  

 

chill:  

 
1 cannot tell your Lord, hip how ple.wd I am ^  

 

Govt, have definitely determnjed »” me on  

 

which 1 have all along dented thoold ^ foltoweot^ ^  

 

my arrival in India in order to help foiw y  

 

therefore the OfTidalper^cution which aw ^  

 

har been foretold by the bit Sikh Go when  
 

died about , 715 ) I 'hall  

I thall have been reduced to abtolute p Y  

 

is to commence. Powerful British Govem-  

 

It also flatten my vanity that the AU r j-:.- ,0 make a  

 

ment should think me worthy of its notice a co-religion-  

 

martyr of me in the eye, of my countrymen  
 

ists instead of treating me as I expected ^7“ of disloyalty  

 

metomyowndcvicesuntillhadcommmedsomeactotdmoy  

 

'T^^t:l;p?o77ndeed„fU.e.ke.thatthehu.rmg^.,fawm^;g^  

 

necessary as it were to ‘set out to ,«k a flea .  

 

 

 

QUEEN victoria’s MAHARAJAH  
To indicate that his intention of leaving for India was in  

earnest, the Maharajah informed Lord Randolph that he  

would be sailing with his family on i6 December. As the  

time for departure drew near, the Maharajah became more  

aggressive. He had been told yet again that on reaching India  

he would be debarred, if necessary by force, from entering  

the Punjab, but he insisted that he would make his way from  

Bombay to Delhi. If they wanted to arrest him they could!  

On being told repeatedly that he would be required to  

live at Ootacamund or at some other place in the Madras  

Presidency, the Maharajah flatly refuted Dufferin's wcll-  
Lord DufTerin - order, and reassened his intention of going  

to Delhi, southern gateway to the Punjab, and a suitable base  

for political manceuvrings. ‘His Excellency the Viceroy has  

only to put me under arrest and sent to any part of India that  

he may think proper ro do so. For I am quite prepared to  



suffer any persecution from the most immoral and unjust  
British Government which, because it is incapable of doing  

justice, prefers to bully the weak, rather than disgorge what  

it had acquired in a most unscrupulous manner.**^  

 

When the queen saw the letter she scribbled on it, ‘The  

Maharajah is outrageous.’** ‘Outrageous’ he might be but  

he was still a threat both to her peace of mind and the security  

of the empire; as time drew near for departure, frantic  

messages were sent from the palace to the India Office, the  
prime minister and the Maharajah’s friends. TTie Maharajah  

meanwhile waited at the Carlton Club - on hand should  

something move the government to come to satisfactory  

terms. Hennikcr and Grafton were working hard behind the  

scenes.  

 

. . . Hennikcr and myself have drawn up a Petition to the Queen,  

asking Her Majesty to use Her influence m obuining a fair and  

equitable adjustment of the affairs of the Maharajah Duleep Singh-  

Wc have not touched upon claims, but merely on what we feel  

ate the rights of every Englishman and every right feeling person.  
 

IfHerMajesty will read jt privately and at all encercams our view  

and feels that it should be further enquired rnto. our object is that  
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it should be calmly considered by Lord SaUihury, that he should  

obtain the highest legal opinion and if the result should be favour-  

able that an equitable arrange ment should be brought about which  

should be satisfactory to the Maharajah and the Country. We think  

the following ate arrangements that should be made clcanng Hu  

Highness from present debts; leaving the Hveden Btates entaded  

on his sons, and the payment of the >11 pennVrt oft  

by the Treaty, minus the pensions still being paid to Family and  

adherents, until they fall in (as by Treaty undoubtedly settled) by  

death or otherwise, and an investigation as to whether atrean  

should not be paid also. All this should be accompanied by a  

friendly acknowledgement of a long mistaken cause, (which lar  
more to his heart than all the money) ...”  

 

A friendly acknowledgement of past mistakes was one  

thing the government was not prepared to offer and to some  

extent it was the Maharajah’s intransigence m !  

 

that was behind their present attitude. His letter to Randolph  

ChurehUl, described by Sir Owen Bume at the  

as 'breathing of the malice and vexation of impotent rage,  

had alienated officialdom to such an extent that Lord Sa is-  

bury, now prime minister, datly refused to Eonstder t^  
Grafton-Hcnniker petition, though it had come forw  

from the queen henelf. , •  

 

Grafton and Henniker needed more time. So did ^  

 



Maharajah. They hadnodiffieulty in persuading him todeter  
 

his sailing, while they engaged in yet another roun  

India oLe. The new approach, it was agreed, woJd be  

based on the Maharajah’s request for arbitration. .  

 

fair-minded Englishmen such as they  

way to setdc the matter once and for all.  
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The India Office Adamant  

 

 

At thff beginning of i8Sd (he argument with the India OfTnw  

had entered its most critical phase. On the one hand the  

Maharajah was crudely threatening to renounce Christianity  

and immediately set offfbr India; on the other he was putting  
forward financial claims which he Itnew were unacceptable,  

or demanding arbitration which he had been told was politic-  

ally impossible. His infbmmatory letter to Lord Randolph  

Churchill indicated that he was in the grip of passions he  

could not control - pride, menul excitation and a supenti-  

tious belief in dubious prophecies.  

 

The Maharajah had bem taught by his mentors, from  

Login onwards, that in corrcspmidence with officials, especi-  

ally ihchigh-'minded mandarins at the India Office svho had  

such corrosive posver over him. losing one’s temper never  
paid and even the most unpalatable sracement must be  

couched In terms of extreme urbanity; a show of anger,  

however righteous, could weaken whatever goodwill there  

might be and prosridc cover for a bureaucratic withdrawal.  

No one was more aware of this than the patient Ponsonby.  

who dealt with even the roost trying correspondence with  

restrained counesy. In a memorandum to the queen, he  

reported that he proposed asking Lord Henniker, who was  

coming to sec him to discuss the Maharajah’s vexatious  

affairs, to encourage his fnend and neighbour to 'use more  

conciliatory language to the Indian Secretary and Council'-  

In the same note Ponsonby. appreciating that the queen was  
the last hope of mffuencing her wilful subject to resolve a  

dangerous situation, asked if he might ‘hold out a hope that  
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Your Majesty would receive the Maharajah after returning  

to Windsor'.* To which request the queen tersely minuted  

'Certainly'.  
 

That meeting, however, was not to take place. Tire  

Maharajah told Grafton that he thought it would be very  

'uncomfortable', and implored him to dissuade her from  

ordering it.^ But even without the queen's mollifying influ-  



ence, he was persuaded by Grafton and Henniker to adopt  
a less aggressive, if strategically more deceptive, approach to-  

wards the new secretary of state. Lord Kimberley, who was  

back in office following the fall of the Conscrvatis'c govern-  

ment. After bringing him up to date with bis case, the  

Maharajah ended with an apology for, and an offer to with-  

draw, ‘any expression of disrespect ever employed in-  

tentionally or otherwise by me towards Her Majest>’'s Indian  

Government*.^  

 
Tl« Maharajah must have had a good idea why the  

govemmcnc was adamant in its refusal to allow an inquiry  

into his affairs, which would expose them to precedent and  

possible humiliation, and bring up any number ofembarrass-  

ing questions that had long been shelved in the India Office  

archives, but at least he was prepared to let Grafton and Hen-  

niker continue their efforts in that direction in the knowledge  

that an official refusal would gain him a point. If the case was  

put to arbitration, Henniker assured Ponsonbyina vain effort  

to influence affairs, the Maharajah would then 'put aside pro-  

phecies and letters svritten in a heated tone' and accept the  
outcome in 'a fine manly way’.^ The Duke of Grafton  

added hii wdght, complaining to Ponsonby, in a manner  

less than urbane, that ‘to refuse a simple request ... is not a  

very high or dignified line; but to refuse him everything,  

even an inquiry, is surely a great injustice. Tlie truth is, they  

have spent the money and have no funds to fall back on  

and so fear an investigation/’  

 

Grafton’s sincerity was apparent when he guaranteed his  

friend’s good behaviour : ‘I can only say this about him that  

since I first enquired into his affairs & saw so much more of  
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him his whole conduct has altered that he is not like the same  

man, he is never excited now, is amenable in every way to  

advice given and sees now that however foolish may have  

been some of his assertions & acts, he would be far happier  
if taken by the hand, prevtnted from going to India & a  

friendly arrangement made. He is like a child now longing  

to be led and only too grateful for a word of kindness.’^ Graf-  

ton had sufficient influence over the Maharajah to persuade  

him to postpone the date of his departure in the hope that  

the India Office might yield to any last-minute pressure that  

could be applied.  

 

‘There are very grave objections to such an arbitration as  

he demands,’’ Lord Kimberley wrote to Ponsonby, though  

he did not go so far as to spcU them out. The queen, who  
must have regretted that the Duke of Wellington was no  

longer there to solve the problem, instructed Ponsonby to  

refer the matter once again to Mr Gladstone. The prime  

minister’s reply, dated 25 February 1686, did little more than  

Lord Salisbury’s to gratify:  



 
I think five years have elapsed since I went into the case of the  

Maharajah, with a strong compassionate presumption in regard to  

his unfortunate condition. At that time. Hartington went fully into  

the matter with me, and I am sorry to say convinced me (if I re-  

member right) that the Indian Dept. & Govt, had done very much  

on his behif, and that his difficulties were due to his unfortunate  

errors of judgement on hii own part. I have conversed with Lord  

Kimberley on your note. I think with him there is a good deal  

of difficulty, on the point of principle, in the introducuon of arbi-  
tration. On the other hand one will fed that in the case of a man  

like the Maharajah, ‘fallen from his high estate’, the scales ought  

not to be too nicely poised in his prejudice. So I am glad that the  

Viceroy has been asked whether further concession can be made  

and to what extent.*  

 

Despite his Liberal affiliarions, Mr Gladstone refrained from  

stating that one point of principle’ ots which arbitration was $0  

‘difficult’ was the fact thatii wouldbring into a public forum,  

bruited about also in India, the whole dubious question  
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of the ariglnjl annexation of the Punjab, and other territories  

on the subcontinent besides. ,  

 

The palace was not then privy to the  
passed earlier in the year between the viceroy and the thm  

feereury of state. Lord Randolph Churchill, on ‘he subject  

of 'further concessions'. On Ihjanoaty a telegram from IndD  

had indicated that they were seriomly “  

 

effects of the Maharajah's atnval and were prepared y  

him off:  

 

Haveyou any further information about Dulr^^^  

 

tain that he really intends coming to Indi . • . auregard  

 
be informed that persiiteneeonhis part nattemp^^g^  

 

our express wishes will, under Article J , . regarding his  

him in'istH. absolve us from any ^  

 

pension. At the same time wv thtnle Meep^ngn s  

so tindeiirlHe that, if he abandons hi ahould be  

 

fotmai undertaking not to teavc . ^ jmcliorat-  

 

prepircd to examine present state of affam w.th view lo  
ing his position.^  

 

Thelaitsentencehadotiginallyread urgent  

 

men,' but Dufferin. the viceroy. P"‘°"’ ^fthe  



 
instructions to all departments to amend ihe.r copies  

 

''col the Maharajah be bonghi offT And if^  

 

much’SirOwen Bume was given the job oftes^J^^ ^  

 

ket. At their first meeting on ^5 _f pojitencsses,  

 

a hurry ro ealch a rrain. so. after an exrhjnge  
 

the Maharajah left a memorandum r.!,. subsequent  

 

and returned .he following day. A form  

 

interview was presented by Dume to his master  

of a dialogue: ..  

 

Sir O. BHrne: Well, Maharajah, I have read dealt  

 

Salisbury. There b nothing in it which h» becn^lre  
with in past correspondence, so that w mind, will. 1  

 

your case with you. This, in your prwen of your  

 

sec.bclabour thrown away. Iwfll mere y, friend to  

 

claims as they strike me personally, as one who is  
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you. They arc prcposterouj. I cannoc comprehend how a person  

in your position can court rcbuffby demands which no Gosmi-  

meet in its senses can even confer, much less satisfy*.  

 

Afj&rrctfaft; I like ^•Quf frankness, and appreciate il Bucican assure  

you that nothing short of iheir rccognidon by Gos'cmmenc, and  

adequate compensation. ss-iH satisiy me. I want, at any rate, a fuU  

inquiry on them. If the case is gis'cn against me f shall be satisfied.  

Why cannot the Priv^* Coundl. ot the House of Lords, adjudicate  

on my case?  

 
Sir O. Bitrne: That is impossible. It is a question which has ofen  

been raised and settled in the oegads'e. and you will ncs-et get any  

Govemmem to agree to so direct an interference with the powen  

of the Government of India, in its dealings with Native Pnnees  

and thnr pensions. Moreover, you refer to transactions of nearly  

half X century ago. which, if reopened as you desire, would reopen  

every act of State of the British Govcmmeni in India from the rise  

of the East India Company dQ now.  

 

Makerajah: True. 1 see it. and other people have told me the same  

thing. I give it up. But will not the Government of tndu give me  
this full inquiry? They have treated me like an animal; they are  

now trying to goad me to desperation; they forget I am a king;  

they have offended a man once loyal to them, and only too anxious  

now to show his loyalty, if he be given, what high legal authorities  

and others tell him arc his just dues.  



 
Sir O. Burnt: AD this, Mahaiajah. is beside the mark. You have  

gotwind in the head,and have lost your ordinary good seme. Now  

let us view this matter in a busine«-bke way. You. on your part,  

signed away your kingdom with alacrity; you could say nothing  

at the time against thejiBticc then dealt out to you; you have since  

then thankfully accepted from year to year, until lately, all that  

the Government of India have done for you. finally, you agreed  

to an Act of Parhament which you now want to upset, by claims  

which it is impossible for any Government to admit.  
 

AfaJMrjfaA- 1 acknowledge aH dm. I nosv see. however, that I have  

been a fool. It b only brcly that 1 have learnt to realize zny posiotm  

as a king.  
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Sir O. Burnt: Bui luppost now | ww a moit bcno’olcnt Secretary  

of State, filled with pity for you. and u-ith every deiire to meet  

your vic\«. what would tatitfy you? Suppose I were to say, for  

instance, that you shall have j^iSJOCo a year, clear of all charges,  

would that do to?  

 

Afjftjra/ijft; Certainly not. I want an inquiry into my claims, and  

reasonable compensation for money unjustly withheld from me.  

 

Sir O. Burnt: Suppose, then. I were to offer you an increased allow-  
ance for your eldest son on your death, and buy a moderate estate  

for him as a gift, would that satisfy you?  

 

AMjrjJjff; Certainly not, t am a Icing. My ion ought to have what  

I have and an estate ^fitting a prince. This you will not give. No.  

The Government of India want to get rid of me and my family,  

that we may sink into oblivion.  

 

Sir O. Burnt: Well, Maharajah. I see that benevolence won’t do.  

Picture me, therefore, an austere Sectrtary of State, Suppose I were  

to uy to you. ‘You ate disobeying our distinct wiihei by going  

to India. You will therefore be setred when you get there, you will  
be deprived of your stipends, and be made to reside in some spot  

selected by the Government of India.' What then?  

 

Afafiarajak: I should laugh at you. This is just what I want. You  

must at any rate clothe and feed me and my family, and my income  

svill be then more than made op by sobscriptioni from every ryot  

in the Punjab, and from every part of India. Moreover, I know  

that no Government svould dare resort to such a step in view of  

English public opinion, and the consequences of it in India.  

 

Sir O. Burnt: Well then, Maharajah, I see that, from your point  
of view, neither benevolence nor austerity will meet your case.  

What on earth arc you going to India for?I cannot quite understand  

why a nobleman like you, who has embraced Christianity, svho,  

whatever you maysay to the contrary, has had a comfortable home  

in thii country, and has been treats svith consideration, should  



want to go to India, where you will certainly not be comfortable,  
and may risk the loss of all you haw got.  

 

Afalmriy'ijli; I have already taken the first step to abjure Christianity,  

because I no longer believe in 'so-called’ Christian Gos'cmmcnts.  
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I am resolved to go to India, in order to settle at Delhi, where I  

can resume my native habits, bring up my children to a livelihood  

there, get my hasvking and shoodng i<c. The Government of India  

should let me do this. If they touch me, it will shake the Punjab,  

if not now, at any rate later on. I am determined to go. 1 have  

fixed the 1 7th February, but 1 may delay a iveek. My friends advise  

me to stay on, to see if 1 can get an inquiry, and, moreover, there  

isnow a change of Government, and I think Lord Kimberley will  
befriend me.  

 

After a few more words the Maharajah left. Throughout our con-  

versation we were both perfectly good tempered, my sole object  

all the time being to endeavour to ascertain what tvould sathfy hi*  

so-called claims. On leaving he repeated his wish for an inquiry,  

he thanked me for receiving and listening to him. and left an im-  

pression on my mind that he really intends to go to India as a last  

venture, and that his so-called claims necessiute some very large  

concession if they are listened to. It is only fair to add, however,  

that the Maharajah emphatically repeated. 'If I am granted an in-  
quiry. and adjudged to receive nothing, after a fair examination  

of my claims, I shall be satisfied.*'®  

 

. What exactly did the Maharajah hope for? Did he really  

‘expect a very Urge cash handout to meet all his clairm? Did  

he really expect an inquiry when he had been told so many  

times that it was itnpossiblie? Did he really want to leave his  

sport and his friends arid go to India and become a Sikh guru?  

He was like a man in 3 maze, uncertain how 10 emerge.  

 

Following his receipt of Bume’s memorandum, Kimber-  

ley, who had placed the problem firmly in the lap of the  
viceroy, telegraphed Dufferinon z February: ‘Recent inter-  

view with Bume confirms opiruon that no reasonable con-  

cession would be accepted. Still, it might be useful to know  

the maximum limit of pecuniary concession you would  

recommend.*'*  

 

This significant question was not to be answered for several  

weeks, meanwhile the Maharajah asked for an interview with  

Lord Kimberley. Kimberley, though reluctant to involve  

himself personally m the matter, agreed to an appointment  

as ‘otherwise he would have represented me as unwilling  
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even to hear what he had to say'.** All the Maharajah had  

to say was a polite reiteration ofhis position and an assurance  

of h« loyalty. But he wanted an inquiry - 'Pray understand’,  

Kimberley reported him saying, ‘that nothing like an offer  

/Cs<ooo or /^io,ooo a ycir to my income would satisfy  

me. [ want an inquiry into my claims.' Kimberley thought his  

demands'prcposterous’andgavcliitlchope that they svould  

even be considered. On feavuig. the disappointed Maharajah,  

who had at least cstpected a more sympailsctic attitude from a  
Liberal minister, could say no more than: 'I sec it is all of  

no use. but I shall wait a few days to sec svhethcr I get any  

Satisfaction, and if not, I shall go broken hearted to India.***  

 

So the Maharajah, it appeared, was staking alt his cards on  

arbitration. It is possible, however, that he was still playing  

a cunning game of blu^in the knowledge that this svas a  

course which the India Office had rcjecicd on a matter of  

principle, and ‘principle’ was for them, once invoked, likely  

to be asimmovable as a mountain. But pressure on that weak  

point might lead to their yielding to his financial demands,  
luffidently at least to enable him to restore his position  

andassuagehispride. At thcsameiimcthetc was the beckoning  

finger of fate that led to India and the glorious destiny  

of the eleventh guru.  

 

Meanwhile, despite the Maharajah’s statement to Kim-  

berley that his sole object in going to India was domestic,  

and his undertaking to stay at Ooiacamund svith 'loyalty  

and obedience', the authorities there were all the time un-  

covering native plottings in his name and by no means  

desired his presence even under the most stringent super-  
vision, ‘Has Dulccp Singh started for India?’ Duffetin cabled  

on |8 March, ‘if not, what are his present intentions?’**  

'Dulccp Singh intends leaving on the 3 1 $t in (■'rrona’ was the  

reply.”  

 

Kimberley was now down to his last card - a cash offer.  

'Can you now reply to mine of the 2nd of February?’ he  

cabled urgently. But the viceroy seemed in no hurry and did  

not answer until 20 March:  
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Dulcep Singh qu«rion WM considered by Council during my  

absence, and 1 have now seen Uieit opinion. We arc willing to  

afford the Maharajah such relief as can be obtained by maximum  

grant of £$0,000. This sum, or a small sum which you think suf-  

ficient, could be applied, first, to payment of any debts due to per-  

sons ocher than Government, second, to decreasing of debt due to  

Government, so as to make reasonable addition ro Maharajah’s in-  

come. Money would be given on understanding that Maharajah  
abandoned all claim to mines or other private estate, that he gives  

acquittance in full, and effectual undertaking never to return to In-  

dia, and that no further payment will be made hereafter on any  

ground. Grant would preclude all future claim regarding five lacs  

fund and provision for family.**  



 
So ^30,000 was the price they put on the Maharajah’s total  

surrender. Little more than enough to pay off lus overdraft  

at Coutts!  

 

It fell to Sir Owen Bume to impart Kimberley’s ultima tom  

based on the viceroy’s offer. It was to be part stick invoking  

the stringent Regulation m ofiSiS, which gave the Indian  

government power to detain without trial, and part very  

small carrot ofa cash settlement. On 24 March the Maharajah  
and Sir Owen faced each other once again. After preliminary  

politenesses Bume read out the minister’s statement:  

 

The Secretary of State has received satufaccion the repeated  

 

assurance which the Maharajah has given of his unshaken loyalty  

and devotedness to Her Majesty, and it need scarcely be said that  

it would give Her Majesty’s Govenunent the greatest pain if any-  

thingshould occur to disappoint the expectaaons, which they trust  

they may confidently entertaiR. ai to His Highness’ conduct in  

India.  
 

In view, however, of the commuiucadons received from the  

Maharajah, specially those letters which relate to a certain Sikh pro-  

phecy and to His Highness’ announced mlention on arriving in  

India to be re-baptised into the Sskh faith, the Secretary of Sure  

thinks that, before the Maharajah proceeds to India, it is due to Hi*  

Highness that be should be reminded that, indqsmdenriy of the  

right under thcTermsof Lahore of 1849 to withdraw his penaon if  

he docs not remain obedient to the British Government and reside  
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in juch placci as the Governor General oflndia may select, he will,  

whilst in India, come under the provision of Regulation jij. of  

i8j8, by svhich the Governor CCTcral in Council k empowered,  

for reasons of State, to place under personal restraint individuals  

against whom it may not be deemed proper to take judicial pro-  
ceedings; those reatons being the doc maintenance of the alliances  

of the Ufitiih Gos'emment with Ibrcign Poss-en, the preservation  

oftranquillity in the terriioriea of Native Princes entitled to its pro-  

tection, and the security oftbe British dominions from foreign hos-  

tility and internal commotion.  

 

The Secretary of State further desires to make known to the  

Maharajah that the Viceroy, having had His Highness' various  

applications under his consideration, has recently informed the  

Secretary of State that the Government oflndia would be Hilling  

to gram His Highness a sum not exceeding ^50.000, to be applied,  
first, to payment of any debts due by him to penons other than  

the Government ; and. secondly, to decreasing the debt due by him  

to Government, on condition that H« Highnest enters into a  

formal engagement to desist from all claims whatsoever on the  

Government and never to return to India . . .  



 
Sir Owen went on to describe the Maharajah’s strange re-  

action:  

 

The Maharajah listened attentively to the first portion of the  

Note, and, on my asking him if he clearly understood it, replied  

in the affirmative, saying that he had considered the whole matter,  

and was quite aware that the Government of India had the powers  

of which I had reminded him. I then proceeded to read the second  

portion of the Note, upon which he observed, with vehemence,  
that nothing would induce him to accept the ‘paltry sum* offered:  

that his claims to private estates alone reached ^4,00,000 a year;  

that he was not in debt, and warned no money; that he was resolved  

to go to India, and that on no account whatever would he sign  

any paper either in renunciation of his claims or binding him never  

to return to his own country.  

 

I deemed it my duty to assure the Maharajah that the communi-  

cation 1 had now made to him had been inspired solely by feelings  

of Consideration tovvards himself, and to save him, if possible, from  

blindly pursuing a course of conduct which exchanged a life of  
certainty for one of uncertainty, and which could only end in  
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misery to himself and his family. His Highness replied that he was  

not unmindful of this, and not ungrateful for the kind intentions  
of Government towards him. He then entered into a somewhat  

rambling statement, assuring me, in dse first place, of his loyalty,  

and warning Government, in the second place, of the risk they  

would run ifthey imprisoned him in India. That step would exactly  

fulfil one part of the Sikh prophecy; then to find Wmselfin some,  

as yet unknown, Sikh village, to be supematurally elected as Pro-  

phet and to lead the Sikh nation; there was then to be a great war  

between England and Russia, in which he was to have a part,  

although it was not yet known which side be was to take; that  

he wasnow tobe afaldr, andthathccarednolonget for his position  

or property in England. After warning the Maharajah that all this  

was merely dreaming, as to which he might some day have a sad  
awakening, I took my leave. His Highness reassuring me that noth-  

ing would induce him to accept the grant of money oifeTed to him,  

and that he had made all arrangemeno to leave for India on the  

jistiiutant. He was firm and quiet in his manner during the inter-  

view, and thanked me very warmly at the end of it for what he  

called my courtesy towards him.*’  

 

Immediately on his return to Holland Park the Maharajah  

put his uncompromising position in writing:  

 

With reference to the communication you were directed to  
make to me by the Secretary of State for India thb afternoon, I  

think it only right to state, for Iris information, in this letter that  

not even for five hundred thousand pounds were it  

 

offered to me, would 1 wiher give quicunce for my just claims on  



the British Government, or bind myself never again to go to India.  
 

The offer of fifty thousand pounds (£sd.ooo) made to me by  

you for the above purpose thb afternoon would have been treated  

by me with the greatest contempt, were it not that it came from  

a Minuter of Her Majesty’s Government for whom I have sincere  

respect.  

 

My position on re-embracing the faith of my ancestors will  

become, in fulfilment of the prophecy, that of a Sikh Gooroo, and  
should the Indian Government be so ill advbed as to imptbon me,  

1 dare not predi« the serious consequences that will follow sooner  

or later. Fork will be believed by the Sikhs, ofwhoma considerable  

number arc in the British Army, that 1 suffered degradation not  
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embraced Srtbrrm. anvthins "'i>h reference  

 

Ir r. extremely drrra, refill e. n^c to ray any mr g  

 

who am the son of the old ally o g interview  

 

I most confess that, thmlmg *5’’ a, rheVtopheey tegatd-  

 

this afternoon. I have become conv  

 
ing myself will be 'Jided policy of the  

 

eJotoo of the Sikhs after rly rmsr now  

 

Viceroy. Dot I do not care wha.  

 

Nanuk test irpon you."  

 

> elcjr. the contents ot  

 

To make hts mtenuons lousands of cata-  

 
Elveden were sent to the ,,,l,ed to interested buyen.  

 

logucs at a shilling each were dtspt ^j..^ .j,  

 

There was a vast arnount of „,e  

 

amboyna wood, and , May by which time  

 

was scheduled to run from 27 f . , ,Jhe out of the  

 

?o'rmrr;''ot«Matctrre.easedtoth^  
 

:’X\L"nr,rprtrcrution of .he Sikh prophet:  

 

Lertiori, IJfh ManS >“'•  

 



My beloved Coomtymen, It wasnot my intentron e  
 

.0 India, but Surgooroo, who f”"™ "d Skrms.ances ro  

powerful than I. hn emng crea . ^ compelled to quit  

 

be JO brought about, that, agf Jy sphere in India. I jubmit  

England, in order to occupy ^ b f- •>>' I-  

 

to hit will, being periuadcd that wnat  

happen. *  
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and 1 sincerely hope for your prayers to the Sutgooroo on that  

solemn occasion. But in returning to the faith of my ancestors, you  
must clearly understand, Khalsajee, that! baveno intention of con-  

forming to the errors introduced into Sikhism by those who were  

not true Sikhs - such, for instance, as wretched caste observances  

or abstinence from meats and drinks, which Sutgooroo has  

ordained should be received with thankfulness by all mankind —  

hut CO worship the pure and beautiful tenets of Baba Nanuk and  

obey the commands of Gooroo Govind Singh.  

 

1 am compelled to write this to you because I am not permitted  

to vuit you in the Punjab, as I had much hoped to do. Truly a  

noble reward for my unwavering (oyafty to the Empress offndia.  
But Sutgooroo’s will be done.  

 

Wth WahGootoojeedcFotieh.'Iremain. my beloevcd Coun-  

trymen. Your own flesh and blood,  

 

Duleep Singh.*’  

 

The effect of such a pt oclamaoon on the security of India  

can hardly have been shattering. As an editorial in 77je  

Piettter, the widely read newspaper published in India, com-  

mented; ‘In brief it means that his Highness has no intention  

of giving up either beefsteak or brandy pawnee. What effect  
the manifesto will produce remains to be seen. If Duleep  

Singh makes himself troublesome he will have to face the  

consequences. He may have reason to conclude before long  

that the position of a well-to-do English country gentleman  

is more comfortable than an OriCTiraJ pretender.’*® But the  

peculiar proclamation was shocldng enough to Kimberley  

who read it in TJie Standaii and deputed Sit Owen Bume  

to asceruin its authenticity. Sir Owen sent round a messenger  

who returned with the Maharajah’s answer: ‘The letter is  

perfectly genuine, and therefore I do not desire to repudiate  

it. We leave here at about ten this evening, and sleep at the  
Great Eastern Hotel in Liverpool Street, so as to be ready  

to quit England tomorrow rooming.’**  

 

That day the queen saw her foreign secretary Lord Rosebery  

at Windsor and, accordmg to the journal, after talk ‘of the  



*B!cned be tbe nimeofour glonous furu'  
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^rM"ho“b=co;in,veFy^^^^^^  
 

Lfiincc, & his going to Ind» ■» «“' ten svell  

 

going to India. “ The foUowmg  

 

But there was nothing to be , • of himself, the  

 

morning the a Sikh attendant, a narive  

 

reluctant maharani. his six chd ^ ^ embarked on the  

 
servant, a European nurse an J! ^ letter,  

 

P & O l^eroM bound for Bombay. His  

written on bo.rd befotc sailing, was to the queen.  

 

My Sovereign. Before qoitnng YoTMajesty the in-  

 

addtMS Yout Majesty in order to con V g„ciousnes5 both  

 

exprMSible  

 
to me and mine during my s y  

 

over some 30 y«>”- , . ,, for-et all Vour Majesty  

 

So long as I hve 1 ’“'je”* Your Majesty’s ministers  

 

endeavoured to do on my b would cause me if  

 

I could not face the p.tn person and there-  

 

I ventured to rate my l«ve . fi,pveness for not paying  

 
fore 1 humbly implore Your Majesty * ‘org.  

my last homage before you a long hfe and  

 

ThatGod may btes Your  

 

every happmest bo* “ Maiesty’s Heartbroken subject,  

but fervent prayer of Your M J ty Dulecp Singh.  

 

His last telegrams, however. '^nfamed the  

 

three other messages were intercepted hy  
 

single word ‘Started . Jh ... j^iy put under close  

the authorities in India and the reapients du y P  

 

observation.  
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Arrested at Aden!  

 

 
In Indja lumoun of the rcnim of the former Maharajah of  

the Punjab were drculatingin ihebaiaan. The time was ripe :  

it was a period of developing nationalism; the wounds of the  

Mutiny had notentitely healed; the vernacular press was in-  

fluencing the newly educated classes to regard the British as  

oppressive. Colonel Hennessy, commanding the 15th Sikhs,  

asked by Government House for his opinion, asserted that:  

... the gravest discontent prevails, and hat long prevailed . . . and  

on that point 1 am positively certain ... It is ^e law courts chat  

are driving these simple minded people to distraction. They are  

very good for lawyers of every degree, hut ate dtaining the life  
drops of the unfortunate population. It embraces the entire system  

of the internal Government of the country. This bring the case it  

bextremely probable that the people would not object to a change  

of mien, although 1 firmly believe they would prefer to be rtiled  

by Englishmen if only the laws were temodelled to suit their own  

views and ideas. In regard to Dalip Singh’s influence over the Sikhs  

he would indeed be a bold man who could say he had no fear of  

it in his own regiment. I most devoutly trust the subjea will not  

be put to the test in my day. The sprit of the Sikhs is not dead,  

and they are full of national fire, (should tremble in my shoes were  

that gentleman to amve at our borders with the Russians! The  
British Government should hold him fast and secure in England  

in my opinion.’  

 

The ‘Abstraa of Political Intelligence, Punjab Police No.  

ii’ of 20 March 1886 and 'No. 16’ of 4 April summanacd  

the current situation:  

 

The Maharajah Dulecp Singh b expected to amve in India in  

April. People in Delhi am speculating as to where be srill reside  
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arrested at Aden!  

 

A^iou, enquiries  

 

pur and wild tumours are current wgafdmg P  

 

be conferred on him. rc^mbrsced the  
 

sent letters announcing 'hat the M j l,„,b his daughters to  

Sikh religion in England, and h“ hc";^^ f„ed and  

 

rheBuriya Sirdars in .he Ambala dutner. “V p.,.  



 
declare that they wUl pay 'XHindin on *c o*;. hmd.  

mined to do so hj „„ „t 4 t come into power  

 

pray that Duleep Singh and the S Kidcas* may  

 

agrin, but are of die opinion that .he Ni P ^  

 

be foolish enough tojoin in ’"V ^ oension^and Sirdar Thikut  

 
The Maharajah, they “T' he is of an intriguing  

 

Singh will get mto trouble before long,  

 

and erasping disposition. _  

 

The question ofwhethe. Sikhs will be “’’^be  

 

Singh after hi. arrival in India .he Sikh reli-  

 

Sikhs ate in favour of hts h'"E ^ Gutdaput on  
 

gion ifhe desires to do so. Jaimat Ra . Bombay,  

 

die .4d. April with the mtention P'° 5 " M,f„„iah Dhulip  

whither, belaid, he had been s>"e'’'’  

 

Singh by telegraph. He S'” e,^ Sudars (evidendy careless  

 

at Delhi, he would mtetview all the SiW M t jj ,1,5  

 

remarks). The Russian Government, he ^ rxptessed  
 

Maharajah and haveasectetondetltanding  

 

hope dit before long Dhulip Smgh wdl be placed p  

position as a rulcr.^  

 

The viceroy j" °d 3l'M>r°h.”The rncssage  

 

in a telegram from Kimberley 3 more cause for  

 

continued with information Maharajah’s earlier  

 
anxiety than had been suggested by the Maharajah^  

 

blandcommunicationsabouthisacce^ vienroy’s orders:  

 

dence and his intention to abide by die vice, y  

 

In recent communications with “J'mSl troubles in  

 

iangoage of menacing 'ba'”'"^'' „bcad of Sikh nation.  

 

India, war with Russia, and part he y ^ jo India.  
 

An address from him so Sikhs, -rased 'O hav^ edged by  

 

jus. poblishcd in newspapen hem and since  

 



* Nih.np docinniirc Sikh »«c.  
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Maharajah to be genuine, li announcer hii intention to be rebap-  

tized into Sikh faith, with view to oke hit place as Gooroo of  

nation. Maharajah lays stress on text of alleged prophecy announc-  

ing successive steps fay which he is «j be lestored to power. He  
no doubt intends to circulate this in India. Aflfairs, if neglected,  

might possibly give serious trouble, but I have no doubt you will  

take whatever measures you may deem necessary to prevent any  

dangerous feeling being excited amongst the Sikhs. Duleep Singh’s  

communications should be carefully watched. He is now in a state  

of mind which seems to border on monomania.*  

 

Themonitory wording of tbetelegram, with i» misleading  

summary of the Maharajah’s proclamation, caused some  

show ofnervousness at Simla, the hot season seat of govern-  

ment, and the legislative department set themselves to in-  
vestigate the legality of cutting his progress short before he  

reached India. The only legal expert not then on leave was  

bold enough to maintain that as Aden came under thejuris-  

diction of the Indian govensment he should be arrested there,  

and a warrant was accordingly made out on the grounds that  

it was necessary ‘for the security of the British dominions  

from internal commotion*.^ Thus the order for arrest was  

issued under the all-embracing Regulation in of l8i8,  

which was hardly designed to apply to British ciiirens such  

as the Maharajah could reasonably claim to be, and it was  

suggested that it might be as well to consult the highest legal  
authority in India, the advocate general, as to its validity'.  

Sir Courteney llbert, the council member who W'as person-  

ally handling the affair, rode over the proposal with an eva-  

sive minute; ‘1 do not think it worthwhile to do this. It is  

necessary for reasons ofState, that Dhulip Singh and his party  

should be detained, and we must run the nsk of the legality  

of our proceedings being questioned. So far as 1 can sec, we  

have done our best to conform to the law.’*  

 

On 15 April the order went out from Simla to Aden:  

 

Maharajah Duleep Singh vrith Maharanee, six children, and  
servants is passenger by Penimular and Oncnial Vrfona &om Lon-  

don. Please require whole party to land and deum them under sur-  
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vcilUncc at Aden until further orden. You can inform Maharajah  
that the address which has been Hsued by HJs Highness renders hjs  

return to India undesirable. Should His Highness on this announce-  

ment express a desire to po back to England, he may be allowed  

to do so in an English ship, on giving you a solemn pledge in writ-  

ing that, in comideration of his release from hts present detention,  



he will not renew hh attempt to return to India and wdl abstain  
from all treasonable practices.  

 

Keep me informed by telegraph of the result of your procccd-  

ings.‘  

 

On the same day the viceroy reported his questionable  

action to London:  

 

In consideration of faa noted in your telegram of jist March.  
thatDuleepSinghhastssuedanaddrcssto Sikhs, which he acknow-  

ledges to be genuine, and in which he announces intention of  

assuming authority over Sikh nation, and which, at the same time,  

indicates steps by which he is to be tesiored to power, and in view  

of communication made by him to Political Secretary at India  

Office of a menacing character in reference to eventual trouble in  

India and war svith Ruiiia, we have thought it desirable to issue  

svarrant for detention of Maharajah and party at Aden. Orders to  

this effect have been sent by telegraph to Aden authorities.’  

 

On the day followittg, the gentlemen in Simla were  
embarrassed to read a transcript of the Maharajah’s proclama-  

tion in The Ptonrer," the text of which was confirmed by  

‘communications’ just arrived in the mail from England.  

Where was there mention of ‘assuming authority’? Where  

was there reference to prophecy? iJbcrt admitted that ‘the  

case against the Maharajah is less strong than the telegram  

led me to suppose', but held ’that the Council orders of April  

15th were justified by that telegram’.’  

 

There was some argument about whether the family  

should be named on the warrant. ‘What are the ages of the  
children V it was asked. 'We must not court ridicule by serv-  

ing warrants on babies.’ It was finally decided to name only  

the Maharajah and, if possible, to avoid producing the war-  

rant at all.  
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The viceroy’s follow-up message to London dated the six-  

teenth. did not mention the discrepancies, presumably  

because newspapers and dispatches had not yet been perused,  
and referred to the proclamation as Mtsloyal’.  

 

We have instructed Resident at Aden to inform Maharajah that  

the issue of hb disloyal Proclamation appears to render his return  

to India undesirable, but that he will be at liberty to go back to  

England in an Englbh vessel, should he so desire. We arc now dis-  

patching ro Aden trustworthy Political Officer who will be in-  

struaed to enter into communication with Dulcep Singh, in case  

he refuses to embatk for England, with the view of ascertaining  

whether it b possible to obtain from him such security for future  

good conduct as may be necessary. It b needless for ui to point  
out great inconveniences which would arise were Hts Highness  

allowed to take up his abode in India with the avowed object  

of exciting revolt in the Punjab, without Government of India  

taking every precaution to render abortive so mischievous a  

design.*^  



 
For the information of Queen Victoria, Kimberley sent  

Ponsonby the telegrams ordering the Maharajah’s detention,  

personally disassociating himself from the action and placing  

responsibility firmly on the shoulders of the Indian govem-  

mem. In his covering letter, he wrote: "This is a matter which  

a eminently the province of the Viceroy to deal with, as it  

is impossible for any one not on the spor to appreciate what  

danger may arbe from such proceedings as those of the  

Maharajah. We may hear at any moment of his arrest as the  
ship should arrive at Aden today.’**  

 

The queen was ‘rather startled’ when she heard the news,  

but did not exactly disapprove. *This i$ rather sharp practice,’  

she scribbled on the message, ‘but better than if he went to  

India. He has brought it on himself.’  

 

The I'erona, delayed by headwinds, reached Aden on 2t  

April. The Maharajah, who had donned his Sikh costume  

at Suez, had been the cause of much dbcussion among the  

passengers, most of whom had had to Ibtcn to his tale of woe  
—one of them described him as ‘very loquacious’. Victor and  
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Freddy were particuUrly popular on board, the former  

openly^ayinB thathe objected to his father s proceedings and  

referring to him as ‘my idiotic parent .  

 

On arrival, the Resident. Brigadier General HogS. «m  
on board, and under the interested eyes of the  

 

formed the Maharajah that by order of the  

 

India he eould not be allowed to proceed ^  

 

Tliough Hogg had the warrant in h.s pocket  

 

retained it and took care to avoid the  

 

Maharajah, however, refused to leave >''”'’•8  

 
offieially •arrested’, and it teas nectary for br'Bad.er m  

 

tap him symbolically on the shoulder, after "h'^^e  

 

tested vehemently and invited the attention of all P®"”"  

 

the fact that he was not leaving the *^’P ol’  

 

that there would be a •great State trial « ^ “  

 

the action they were witnessing fimilv filed down  
 

a loud and sympathetic cheer as he and h.s family filed down  

 

the gangplank into ‘captivity . Mt is desir-  

 



T^c brigadier general had the viceroy »  
able that His Highness should be treated  

consideration, and that his comfort should be  

at Government expense as far « sX  

 

important that the health of the party s (he  

 

Maharajah should not be permitted to commun.c  

outside world.**^ , . . l .e. his visi-  

 
Back at the Residency. Hogg did his bnn  

 

tors feel they were guests rather than to Eng-  

 

wasmadcclcartothe Maharajah thathe CO  

 

land when he wanted to. he was ^“XXild-  

 

thoughtat first of going to Egypt wit oppor-  

 

ren. but he decided to stand hu ground and take -ne pp  
tunitv of exploiting his arrest to hi, own aJvantagc^Ha^ J  

sent his family back to England, he ion was  

 

twisting on his own account. His , thr viccrovJ  

 

cmbodL in a telegram sent by the Resident to the vi^roy^  

 

Maharajah states his reason for not to return  

 

is thatheeannot face ridicule, but His Highness wdl agree  
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toEnpbnd and sign any protocol, provided Covemmcnt promise  

a full judicial investigation of all his claims by Law Lords of the  

House of Lords, with a view to granting him only a reasonably  

equitable redress within six months, and provided Government  

pay him immcdiaiely, on reaching London, the sum of two  
hundred and fifty thousand pounds sterling as compensation for  

the sacrifice of his liberty, which, as a loyal subject, he is asked to  

make, in binding himself not to visit India without permission of  

Government.**  

 

The Maharajah was insistent upon making it clear that  

even though he had been charged with issuing a ‘disloyal  

address’ he still regarded himself as a ‘loyal subject*. He was  

anxious to give no justification for being considered ‘dis-  

loyal’, a status that would have put him in bad grace with  

the queen and the IlritUh public and justified his arrest by  
the Indian govetnmctit. On learning that his actions had been  

so described on the warrant, based on the wording of a ptc^  

cUmarion that had in fact been passed by his lawyer, he was  

anxious to make that point clear to the viceroy, with whom  

he now had permission to communicate : *I desire yTauf EveeJ-  



lency clearly to understand that whatew instructions you  
gh'tf, provided the word “disloyal” is not employed vnth  

them, or I am requested ne/io return to India, will be loyally  

carried out by me. If it is desired id detain me here for any  

length of time, I request that I may be permitted to corre-  

spond with friends in England, and also that my 17 sers'ants  

awaidng my arrival at Bombay be sent on here, the Govern-  

ment paying all their expenses.’**  

 

Dufferin’s patronizing reply was designed to pour oil on  
troubled waters.Therc was only the most oblique reference to  

the loyalty issue, and it cannot have offered much consolaoon  

to the frustrated Maharajah, cooped up in the stuffy Resi-  

dency, uncertain which way to turn tosirike ai hu intangible  

enemies:  

 

I desire to thank your Highnes for your telegram, and to assure  

you that it is my desire that ytmr Highness should be treated with  

every possible respect and conuderation 1 deeply regret the  
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unhTPy dra.m,untr, «hich h>»c «c«io»cd y<«r Hig hn^i  

 

dcicntL. .. Aden. eepcdJIy « 1 M uto ,omc pm,  

 

for your Highncn'i comroraMe cioblohmcnt in thn coimY . but.  
 

Sf Lr HipL™ »ill fotpivc the exp, union the  

menu which have been put into eieenlanon by your  

imputed upon the Government the necetiity of liking your Higb-  

neii to abindon your idea of coming to >ud'*-  

 

I thii morning telegraphed to the Seernary of  

trance, eonneeted with you, Higbnm,-, J'’™'.'™  

toon a, I than have received HU Lordih.p . reply. 1  

cate at greater length with your Highncii. 1 am very wntible m  

 

reouf,eo„,,„anLrinwhrehyourHighnm,exprm«you,w^^^^  
 

ingnet, to comply with any tuggettion, ^  

 

you from hence, and your Highnet, may rrtt  

 

eaprettion th.ll be uted calculated to wound your Highnet, . feel  

 

ingt."  

 

I, wa, perhap, at well that the Maharajah  

mind about going to Egypt. The viceroy ‘r’  
caution of checking with the •"-PO*''“a «  

 

tioner in Cairo. Sir Evelyn Baring.  

 

■rouble ttirred up in hi. own recently .ettled nefdom end  



 
eneyphered hi, negative retponte: ’It ““V “"f  

 

Dhulccp Singh should come to Egypt- = ' probably  

 

the hands ofVhosc who are hostfle to us  

 

exercite a bad influence on the Khedive and ^a d ’ue  

 

at well a, on the Mukhtartand on i  
 

by dittorted account, of DritUh policy m  

 

regard, native prince,. Nubar Pacha, whom 1 comultcd very  

 

confidentially, i, much oppoted  

 

Having paked hi, family off ro EngHnd the Maharajah ,  

 

next tactical move wa, to fall back o j „dy out  

 
viceroy personally might improwon cas object  

 

forward to London, On a9 April he talagtaphad  

 

1 had in view in going to India wa, P'"<>" £ “ ^  

 

claim, on the Britith nation before V”"'  

 

gatheted hopes from different source, t a tuovemment  

 

mendation, your Excellency made to die Home Govemme  
 

 

 

QUEEN victoria's MAtlARAJAIi  

 

would be acquieiced in, but now that I am prevented from  

proceeding there, what itep* am 1 to take in the matter?*’*  

In reply Dufierin maintained hit friendly tone but was not  

to rite to the lure:  

 

In reply to your Highnctt** telegram of the a9th. I beg to uy  

that your Highnetj't repretentatiom had been very carefully corv-  
tidered by the Government of India, and the cominurtication  

which was made to you beforeleaving England embodied 5 d view  

of the case. Should your Hifdinest on retutnlng to England be in-  

clined to address me privately as a friend, it would always be a  

pleasure to me to give you the best advice in my power.  

 

In conclusion, allow me to express my deep personal regret at  

having been the cause of exposing your Highness and your High-  

ness’s family to inconvenience in the dachatge of my public  

dunes.**  

 
On finding this approach firmly blocked the Maharajah,  

who told Hogg that ‘his expectations were shattered'*’ was  

now determined to make himself as much of a nuisance as  

possible. The telegraphic charade continued with the  

Maharajah's apparently amubic but ultimately embanassing  



reply; 'Return heartfelt thanks. Will gladly address your  
Excellency as a friend should occasion arise. On further re-  

flc«ion. determined on sending family to England at my  

own cost for education. 1 remain here prisoner at your Excel-  

lency’s pleasure. Request that Govcmmeni pay expenses of  

and send 1 7 servano from Bombay. Addrnsed letter last mafl  

to your Excellency.’^*  

 

TTic letter referred to enabled the Maharajah to express at  

greater length than the telegraph would allosv, the ideas that  
had been churning in his mind. He was determined to re-  

establbh himself as a loyal, if nus-used csozen. That point  

having been accepted, he may have hoped that the viceroy,  

widi his plenipotentiary power, might settle affairs to his ad-  

vanuge both as a paternal fhend and a foresiallcr of further  

trouble.  

 

Ai 1 desire to remove the erroneous impression which appears  

to have been caused on your Excellency's mind regarding the  

xtS  
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pubUcition of Ac docomcntj illiidcd to in your Ercclicncy’i kwd  

Ld comidctalc telegram of aa„d April, m reply to mme of tame  

date, I venture to addreii your Excellency on Ac iubje«.  

 

The document I tubmitted to Lord Salhbury tetnng for h my  

 

claims and hit reply have been publithed bo Am EnghA and Mm  
 

journals, wiA the view of laying my ease fully before the pubfe  

and WiA the intention of appealing both to my  

and people of India for pecuniary aid on behalf of my  

ehadVen shortly after teaching India, as ■'>' Government do nm  

appear to care to grant me any adequate tedtos for the Bt”"  

jusdee I consider 1 have suffered at the hands of Ac "‘"“j  

 

who, if Ac Blue Bool speak, she .rush were my E“ '  

are even now my trustees, bo. for no o Aer or JbWal  

 

The address to my co-religioni... has been "  
 

disloyal motives whatever, but simply a. my pubhc  

of Christianity, and to lay before my countrymen ^  

plain, against restrictions put opon my ‘"'i’-,".  

 

Aua elaAng me with Ac duloyal. For, your ‘  

 

compreheniible to me, and appean exuemely hard  

whereas the Maharajah. Sindia and Holkar,  

and others, who all posses, great wealth and  

some anxiety to the Government, ate aU  
 

ment, poor I, who have but only some ‘“'f ‘f" “  

 

and a very limited income, am about to been u f ^ ^  

 



setting fL in my native land, where ' ''■“'’^,'*1 J,”""  
economy (which is not pouible tn Englan ), v„,r., of my  

 

thing by from my stipend during my hfc or behalf  

 

unformJtate children, should Ac aforesatd appeal on Ae.r behal.  

 

" Yom Eteellency, the late Margub of lyalhousie. immcAatri^  

after Ac annexation, when many of fhe o ,hc stability  

 
soldier, were still living, did not think “ ■‘“Eerom m jhe sjabUny  

of Ac English rule to appoint Fatchgath as a pc . . ■ ^period  

 

forme,bu.now,af,eralap.eofsome3Sye»rs.dunnBWh,eh^n  

the British Raj ha. been now firmly I Mve  

 

mere setting foot in India is about to F'° 1 jjined, and am  

 

published some documents for reasons Y accusa-  

 

placed under arrest here under false, and .0 me mess /.«lr/»l,  
 

tion of issuing a disloyal address. >• u where I  

 

Your Excellency, 1 dearly loved my Englnh home, wher  

 

 

 

QUEEN VlCTOaiA's MAHARAJAH  

would fain have ended my I«fe and which it haa broken my heart  

to Icave.^^  

 
The viceroy was still not prepared to enter into arguments  

about theloyalty bsuc, nor did hii reply teem to indicate that  

‘all possible consideration' amounted to more than admoni-  

tion. But in a letter to the queen, of whose special interest  

he was all too aware, informing her of the story of the arrest,  

he ended with a strong indication that he w'as of a mind to  

make a cash offer:  

 

... Lord Dufferin has recciveda very kind and considerate letter  

from the Duke of Grafton who seems to have taken great pairo  

to go into the Maharajah's affairs to have shown him an extra-  

ordinary amount of personal kindness. It seems to be the Duke $  
opinion that there is one point in the case where perhaps Hi* High-  

ness may have a eenain amount of right on bis side. This point  

it is Lord Dufferin's intention to have most carefully exambed and  

if fair grounds can be established for any further concession he will  

be very gUd to uke advanuge of them but it has of course to be  

remembered that any further relief which may be given to the  

Maharajah mustofnecessity come out of the pockets of the Indian  

Tax payers, A' therefore that it would rtot be just or right to indulge  

His Highness, except a fair justification can be made out for doing  

so.  

 
No sooner had Dufferin completed his promising letter than  

he received the message that the Maharajah intended to  

remain at Aden. The viceroy reacted to the aggravating in-  

formation in 3 postscript:  

 



Lord Duffenn is sony to say that «ncc wnong the above he has  
received a most provoking telegram from the Maharajah uymg  

thachehas changed his ound, and that he intends constituting him-  

self a prisoner at Aden, while sending his wife and children to Eng-  

land- Lord Dufferin has cold His Highness m reply that he » very  

much surprised chat he should have changed thus suddenly ha  

mind, that there is no question of his being a prisoner as all Europe  

not to say Africa is open to him but that of course if he chooses  

to remain at Aden he is at liberty to do to. under certain condi-  

tions.**  
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TJie qufcn’s reaction from Oalmorai no doubt earned eye-  

brows to be raised among the hard-headed memben of the  

viceregal entourage.  
 

The Queen Empress thinks the Viceroy for his last kind letter  

of the 5th May about the poor Mahirajih Duleep Singh. He was  

so chirming & good for to many years, that the feels deeply grieved  

at the bad hands he has fallen into and the way in which he has  

been led astray, ft the Queen thinks it svill have a s'Cr)' bad eflea  

in India if he is iINtued ft' rather severely punished ft* eipccially if  

the Maharanee {an excellent pious woman) ft* their six chfldrert  

especially the two boys, quite Englishmen, are in poverty or dis-  

comfort. In the Maharajah's present irate of excitement nothing  

can be done but he if lure to quier down ft: then the Queen it  
ready henelf to speak to him. ^me money should be tettJrd on  

hii wife ft children A' a good man of buiinns be placed about  

him &• enough given him to enable him lo Jive « a nobleman in  

England. The Queen wiibes be or bit ton rould be made a Peer  

ft then they could live at any other nobleman’* family. It it  

most imponant that his Indian advisers ft relatives should be  

kept from him for they are those that have brought him to this  

past  

 

The queen was not aware that one of hit scheming Indian  

rclativet had in fact arrived in Aden: Thakur Singh* had  

hoped to meet him in Dombay but hearing of his arrest had  
taken the first boat west. ‘I desire to lake advantage of my  

Cousin's presence here to be re-initiated into Sikhism,’ the  

Maharajah wired the viceroy. ’Kindly telegraph Resident,  

saying I may go through the ceremony in his presence.’^*  

The viceroy referred the matter to his man on the spot, the  

lieutenant governor of the Punjab, who advised that ‘refusal  

would be misunderstood and might cause irritation as inter-  

ference with freedom of religious convictions; it would also  

magnify his importance. So long as he docs not return to  

 

* nierc w»» lome confmion tn Indu at to whether tho was the Thakur Singh  
ofihe San<lh»nwilii family whohad vinted the Maharajah in EngimA  

war thought to in Delhi at the tame, ot 2notheT couiin of Ih* name  

 

from the Wagah branch of the family. It a}>pratt to have been the latter.  
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India or Punjab, consent will do little if any harm. A few  

persons might make capital out of conversion, but most of the  

intelligent and loyal Sikhs understand situation and are com-  

paratively indifferent. Intended baptism long rumoured. I  
would not advise that Resident be present.’*’’ This advice was  

translated into a telegram from the viceroy to the Resident:  

‘You can allow the ceremony to be performed, but it is not  

desirable that you younelf should be present, or that any of  

our officials should have the look of countenancing the pro-  

ceedmgs. On the other hand, if you can manage it, it would  

be well to prevent any private communication between the  

Maharajah and the Punjab gentlemen. 1 dare say your tact  

and skill will enable you to arrange the business in a desirable  

manner.’**  

 
The ceremony by which the Maharajah returned to the  

religion ofhisanceston took place in the morning ofsj May.  

Five Sikh witnesses were prescribed, and it was necessary to  

borrow two from a ship in the harbour. In accordance with  

his parole, given as 'a Prince and a Gentleman’, he made no  

effort to converse with his initiators who were packed off  

to India by the next boat. The previous night, in honour of  

the queen’s birthday, the Resident had given a large dinner  

party and the Maharajah had attended sporting his diamonds.  

The weather was even hotter than usual and he had com-  

plained of feeling 'very queer in the head’. Doctors Jackson  
and Hay reported 'weak action of the heart'.**  

 

The government of India would be placed in a most em-  

barrassing position should their charge become senously ill  

or even die while under questionably legal detention at Aden.  

Apart from the queen, he had powerful friends in England  

and only the day before his initiation into Sikhism, Mr Han-  

bury, in the House of Commoiu, had raised the question  

ofhis detention, and in view of the under-secretary for India’s  

unsatisfactory reply had given notice ofhis ‘inienuon to take  

an early opportunity of calling the attention of the House  

to the general treatment of the Maharajah'.*® The Indians,  
however, seemed less concerned about the fate of then com-  
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pitriot. though the SIwmihm Akhabar 1 vcruiculjr paper  

publhhtd in Madra), carried a long arocle about him claim-  
ing that he had been hatihly treated and confined to a dnert  

Mand, and that hit detention wai a mad aet on the part of  

 

Lord DufTcrin.** , . ..  

 



Four dayj after the doctort’ diagnoiii the Maharajah s  
health had sufficiently improved for him to return apin  

the atuck. On aS May he telegraphed V:.  

 

demand both as a domiciled Englishman and a ^Msh  

subject to be publicly tried for any duloyal act 1 ^-s  

 

of having committed against ' -iTat  

 

Government, and to be punished, if found  
liberty if otherwise.'” The Indian government 1”^ '’f  

realized that they were in a weak position  

issue and certain changes were made in the tecotd “  

 

ment Home. 'His Excellency has directed me to imke out t  

 

word disloyal in the fmt tel^ram.' the  

 

seaetary wTotc to the pohtieal seoetary, a ,  

 

being forwarded to Sir Owen Dome  
 

Durand, the India government foreign ^ p „„  

 

that some of the enelosures Ssome  

 

their original shape in order to avoi^he p^^^^  

 

pojsibly inconvcniCTil passage • ^ y. .u-Mabaraiah  

 

pIacedtheviceroyinanembatrassinBP^non,theM.haraj^  

 
ptessed the attaek with a demand that he be P  

vestigadon into hii claim* to property m n ^  

 

thatL would not move from Aden until ^  

met. In a minute that laid bare the heart of  

Monimer Durand, the fo”*®" „ot  

 

viceroy what he already knew - that ju much  

 

admisrible; 'I think there » noffiing to be gamed and muen  

 

to be lost by such an would be to  
 

gram, and I would not agree to «. Th  

 

keep the case very much before ‘ jone.  

 

a number of political quesoons which required  

 

I would replf that I had no ^wer to  

 

promise, and that I do not think such an mvesngation  
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be of any advantage.’^* Thb advice was tersely communi-  

cated to the Maharajah as ‘Government of India has no power  

to make any promise of the kind.*^*  

 

Though he must have expeacdsuchan answer, the desper-  

ate Maharajah was strainingfora way out of his predicament.  

The previous day. by way of further embarrassing the  

viceroy, he had asked if he could telegraph the queen appea-  
ling for a public trial on the loyalty issue. An admission by  

the viceroy that the original charge had been removed from  

the record might have enabled the Maharajah to claim sub-  

stantial damages for wrongful atrest. and Duffetin may have  

felt some anxiety that his handling of the case would be un-  

favourably criticized. Buthc could hardly refuse the Mahara-  

jah permission to communicate with the queen and accord-  

ingly. on l June, he telegraphed; ‘Having been arrested on  

charge of publishing an Address alleged duloyal, I have  

demanded a public trial of the Viceroy in order to refute the  

accusation, therefore appealing to the proclamation issued  
when Your Majesty assumed the title of Empress of India  

that justice shall be rendered to all your subjects, ) pray Your  

Majesty to cause my demand to be granted, (signed) Mahara-  

jah.'^*  

 

It was Ponsonby who phrased the royal reply: '1 have  

gladly received your denial of having issued a disloyal pro-  

clamation and I have desired my Secretary of State to enquire  

into the matter. General Ponsonby will sec Lord Kimberley  

tomorrow.'^^  

 
Back in the lap of the India OlRcc? The confused Mahara-  

jah, his stance at Aden shown to be in vain, responded with  

a last desperate manceuvie to obtain a public hearing. Un-  

aware that Dufferin had doctored the telegram that had  

originally charged him, he telegraphed the queen: 'I do not  

deny having issued the alleged dbloyal address, but implore  

that a public trial be granted me either to prove my innocence  

or guilt and punishment.’^* If he was to be hanged for a  

sheep, he wanted to be tried for a sheep. There was no reply  

from the palace. What was there to say when the sccrcury  
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ofiutc. who comidcred the Mihinjth 'quite ofThit held'.’’  

htd to untytoptthetietHy explained to the qu-  

the miin purpotei of the regulxtion under wdiich he htd been  

irtetted had been to keep lueh caret out of court.  

 
At the tame time at the tioubletomc tcle^Btami P’  

ing to and fro, the viceroy decided to ukc Pf ""' ^  

to have the Maharajah removed from Aden. Apt«  

fact that he might die on them, whether he wiihed it or no  

Sie Lident wat becoming bored with hi. houtc gu" and  



wa, anxiom to go off on a trip to the Somal coatt .h r  
wat the added problem of the Maharajah t «q“«' "  

 

houtehold ettablhhmen.  

 

hitneedtnowtha.hewataSikh Accord, nglyontJun'D  

 

ferin initructcd Hogg, ‘If medical °  

 

wriiingthatfurthcriuyonihcpinofthcM J ^  
 

will endanger hit life, you may contidet V proceed  

 

otdert from Government of Indja to P'“^,  

 

on board fm. P. A' O. vettel bound Su"' Jou mutt  

 

remember ihai we have no legal y. • Hogg  

 

underthecircumitanc«Icon«dent'viI J . «  

 
wa, a 1 ,o advi,ed to tell the Maharajah hn «  

po«iblc- that ,houId he come w Ind.a they would be forced  

to take ‘very decided ,tep»’. . . , ,,n The  

 

The Maharajah realized that the Aden game  

next boat out wat the French mail ttcamer travelling  

 

teiIlet.Tha.a.lea,twouIdbele,,humd.a..ngto.raveU^^  

P. A O. to England, ‘I return to ^rope. J ,1,„5  

 

I tetign ttipend paid p°,hipt Government  
 

laying atide that in,qu,.oUjd^mm_P ltJ’^^  

 

may cate to continue payment ol a ^ I tppjcnt and  

annum.oeaehof.hewidow,ofmyla.eSu,K™^  

Comptroller Oliphant rctpectl y. ,-,p;‘[rctum  

 

vicctoy.at ToPontonby he tent the dc ^ j jjipend thut  

 

to Patit being unable to obtain jutuee. R«‘K’Xgt widi  

 

endingAnnexation Treaty and getting  
 

the most tyrannical Government in  

ministration.’^* He did not mentio  

 

 

225  

 

 

 

QUEEN Victoria’s maharajah  

lawyer that he had no objection to hU allowance being paid  
to his wife.  

 

On 3 June, the Maharajah sailed on the s.s. Natal bound  

for Marseilles. The queen, still at Balmoral, learned of his  

departure the following day. Her erring subject was on the  



loose, out of touch with her and away from the control of  
her ministers. She was angry with Lord Kimberley for hb  

apparently hard-hearted treatment and annoyed that her  

expressed wishes should have such little effect. What would  

her Maharajah ger up to next? What was to be done?  

 

‘Some kind and firm penon,’ she ventured in a scrawled  

memorandum, ‘shd. meet him at Paris Sc set him straight -  

pacify him & prevent his ruining his Children. The Queen’s  

godson she must see shd. not be ruined by his poor, she is still  
convinced, good-hearted but utterly deluded father’s follies.  

The Queen is gtly. grieved abt. it as she was to fond of him  

and for many years he went on so When Kimberley  

 

deputed Sir Owen Bume to look after Bamba, the  

queen noted: 'Not a vy. good person to choose as he  

is ill-disposed towards the Maharajah.’^'  

 

On reaching Suez, forlorn yet defiant, the Maharajah  

posted off to The Times of Indio a letter that indicated that  

there might be some truth in Kimberley's assertion that he  
was going ‘quite off his head'.  

 

Sir. W 21 you permit me. through the medium of yout influential  

journal, to narrate a few events in connection with myself, in the  

hope that they may prove uitcrcsdng to the general public.  

Although lam anaturaiised Englishman, yet I was arrested at Aden  

without a warrant, one having been issued since, f re-embraced  

Sikhism while staying at Aden. Before quicnng England the Indian  

Goveroment, in great trepidation. ofFerrf me ^50.000 in full settle-  

mentofall my claims upon It, provided 1 promised never to remm  

to India. But I declined thisofler. as I would not accept ^500,000 *  
and give a receipt in full. My health having broken down through  

residence at Aden, 1 amnowtravcibngon my way back to Europe,  

in order to drink the German waters.  

 

Although the Indian Government succeeded in preventing me  
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from .caching Domb.y li'dy. y« •b'Y >" "<>' 1 atd  
 

.Old, .ha. .hSc arc .o India. For «hm I .r.um '  

a. Goa or Pondicherry, or. if! fancy an overland ron.e, I ™  

enrer .he Punjab .hrough Rmda. In iHa. even. ' ‘“PP^  

of .he Dri.iih army in India would be ren. our,  

aumance of '00. allV "he Amir involed. .0  

•ingle individual, vnr., mywif Wha. » »“"Y“'gLT.ha, i have  

The uapayer of India, no doubi. will be glad in heat .ha. I have  

 

re,]^'er.K'miwrahle r.ipend paid - “te'hy m;";’."!m  

 
treaty ofannexation, which wa. coned  

 

wh J I wa. a minor, .hu< wning a..de .ha. "  

 

tircly. Ai aoon a. rertored to hcaldi. I ho^ •• well as  



 
aid to the oticntal liberality ofboth my .0 ^ I  

 

.he people of India. Should. B'J,‘’''^:",,Lauve  

 

veto upon ihcir pener out tmpultc. * eu,op<.an Power, who.  

 

buttotranlfet my allegiance to tome oth F jiff, cult  

 

I dareaay, will provide for my mamteuanen I fmd .. ve^  
 

.0 eollen my .hough., a. prewu. owrng .0  

 

Dulicp Singh.“  

 

$.s. Suez.  

 

7th June l886.  
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‘A Rebel Now in Enniest’  

 

 

Titr Mahirjjjh did not in fact go to 'dtint the Ccrmin  

witen' at he had indicated veai hn intention; fve ntahtiihed  
himielf in I’arii and immediately t^pan the next round m  

Im iirupple with wliat had by now become virtually the  

entire jvjwer trructtite of the Hritith empire, lie mint have  

felt that evot the queen hadfotpotten him: the did not write:  

hit friendt Grafton and Ilenniker had loppetted to her that  

It wat 'better to leave him alone till be hat calmed down’.  

Tliey attumed that at he VoolJ nor afford to give up hit  

allowance, he would probably come to tfiton when he  

required money again*.*  

 

The Maharajah wai by no meant 'calmmp down*, and  

the raping of hli mind it revealed in a letter he tent to un-  
offending old Sir Robert Montgomery at the India Offcc.  

who wat only tr>'ing to help, begging that no communica-  

tion ihould be addretted to him from there. *1 neither  

rctpcci tuch a t^Tannical and tinjun admtnitlrauon. nor am  

I any longer loyal to the Dmith erown (having offered my  

tervicci to Rottia)' he continued. *I teck nothing from you  

gentlemen at I have been refuted juttice and my loyalty  

intuited. 1 have only one prayer now, that God may. befote  

1 die. enable me to have revenge on the Indian admmwtra-  

tion and humiliate that Government, and to caute the  

expcndiiureofmany more milltont ofpoorjohn null'i money  
than the ^j.ooo.ooo 1 ihould have aiked for the Jd« of my  

private ptopetty, out of which 1 have been lo piously  

iwmdW by the Christian Dnmh nation.* He ugned himself  

 

a rebel now in earnest’.*  
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‘a REBtL NOW IN EARNEST  

ThcMah.r»jihludaIrc2ayb«n in touch withthcR®  

ambanador. That he ava. indeed m can, eat !  

 
allcBiancc wa, conveyed to Grafton m a '«■='  

 

•1 wrote yeaterday to the Ruaatan Am'>“»d”r of ring  

actvicca to the Emperor and requened a p P U  

 

aoon aa I receive I ahall go to St. “'S.f  

 

received by the Emperor I shall go m j.  

 

not 1 shall go to Pondicherry and be a thorn m the  

Lord Dufferin.’’ Grafton,  
 

When the queen saw a copy f •’"1“ " ^jed to the  

 

as was no doubt intended by the send . t  

palace, she must have realiaed for 'f “5 Xe tried  

Maharajah was really beginning to passions  

 

with all her powers of , f„„jkrn the faith  

 

r^K^shf^rt oTeiderand nosv  

 
fot^to :^Vtrd.vtlr;:rm Windsor on djuly  

 

1886:  

 

Ihearextraordiniry repom ! cannot  

 

& of youf intending to transfer yo ^ devotion towards  

 

believe this of you who pro csseds^ioyjdry^ ^ ,  

 

me - who you know has always^ the time when now  

 
may say tools a maternal '"'"1“ j" ^ gj,u,iful S: charming boy.  

31 ycati ago you K thoughts, your home  

 

In earlier years, your life with its i , pattern to all  

 

with your aimiablc wife & five 1’“' , ,nie 5; devoted  

 

lodiai Princes. Dot after the ",LThVv„„„ounded you &  

fiiend Col. Oliphant. bad & false fn^d ^ jj good  

 

put things into your heads heart^L  
 

& noble in you to ’’’"f “ p.d ,o diiastrous coniequences.  

plungeyonintodeeperdrteuliraS^an yo„,  

 

Think of me ai yout hf' „„ees thal the repom  



Tniiting you may be able to give  
are untine. Believe me always, your true menu  

 

Grafron, who *If reShrs'Sfrdlip”  

 

Ponsonby : ‘He must be far go  
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His readiness to give up his religion is a very bad sign for you  

would have been astonished (die Prince of Wales was at  

Euston & heard him) at the wonderful sermon, one may call  

it, be gave us after dinner at Eusion some years back  

(Dorchester having professed to know more of his former  

religion than he did himself) when he explained all the  

Religions he had studied & finally said “that he found no  
comfort in any imtil he undentood Christianity & then be  

found hope in a Future''.'^'  

 

The Maharajah’s reply cannot be said entirely to have  

‘resisted the Queen’s friendship’, and though on one level it  

seemed to be totally intransigent, on another there was the  

implication that he had not yet committed himself to the  

Russians but would return to the fold if he was given satisfac-  

tion:  

 

Gracious Sovereign, I am highly honored by the receipt this  
day of Your Majesty's most gradous letter and return my heartfelt  

thanks for this mark of great condescension.  

 

It gready pains me to inform Your Majesty that it is no lon^  

in my power either to contradict the current reporu or to give  

the assurance which you so gradously demand. For  

Majesty’s Government having branded me disloyal when God  

knows I was most loyal and devoted to Your Majesty 1 had no  

other course left open to me except either to turn traitor or con-  

tinue to subnut to the insults repeatedly offered to me by the  

Administration of India. Unfortunately however my nature prov-  

ing too proud to follow the latter course I offered my services to  
Russia but as yet have received no definite reply and I would  

willrngfly] return to my former allegiance if full justice were  

rendered me.  

 

1 am not responsible most Cnaous Sovereign but it is the  

Council of India and Lord Duffenn together are responsible for  

driving me away from ray aSegiance to Your Majesty.  

 

1 have most Gracious Sovereign not only resigned my stipend  

but have also set aside and annulled diat wicked Treaty of the  

Annexation of the Punjab which was extorted from me and my  
ministers by the late Marquis of Dalhousie when I was of tender  

age and the ward of Your Majesty's Government. For I do not  

 

 

* 3 ®  



 
 

‘a rebel now in earnest  

,vl.y the «aVt it bound to observe the ttipulttion it eonuint  

 

and not the Strong? Knf he much  

 

It deeply print me rnd rlto Your Majetty  

dUpIeated that I am compelled to make ^ ,p 5 ,t  

 
a letter ttt Your Majetty hat honoured me wth but I mutt p  

the truth no matter rvha. the “■“'<1“^'” „y that I  

 

Your Majetty I implote you to “^,1 't^k yet  

 

am a proud Sikh although I may , wever disastrous the  

 

by J help of God. I tvill  

consequences of my own acts might p  

 

on the bed 1 have made for my»«f* . ^ ^ neither a  
 

Most Gracious Sovereign believe me wh« » «y  

friend nor a foe 'has put these notioriiin guardians  

 

is the study of the records of the  

 

as prescr\-ed in the Blue Books of Home  

 

refusal both on the part of the of iusticc added to that  

 

Government to render me some me ,,\den that has cm-  
very recent degradation inflicted on me at Aden  

 

bitteted my feelings. j «fmv death will never for-  

 

I am deeply sensible and to the day y ^,ut  

 

get Your Majesty’s boundless graciousn . ^ d suffered  

Lury reachi, u, rhrr Ir i. r^lnnLl uppremou  

 

wrong, the cruel coercion, and inflation ^  

 

that has driven many men to despe  
 

human. _ covereiRn for thus  

 

Imploring your forgivmor rxpresriom or word  

 

freely giving vent to my fwlmgs an vonr Maiesty « well as  

 

Aar mlghr fppear dir.opee.ful •““"f Jj.^^Seal^ I am  

for this badly written letter but being muen  

not able to write any better. . mvself.  

 
1 I U1.. tmninre tO  

 

 

not able to write any better. __^.„-d *0 subscribe myself.  

 



1 most humbly implore to be ° “ ,nt . . •’  
 

Your Majeuyh mor. devoted humble fauhful servant  

 

In his letter to the have felt that  

 

Maharajah had asked for an the two powers  

 

in view of the imperialistic ; d and given all pos-  

 
in the East he would be warmly vrith  

 

siblc support. It was, in fact, a Jj ■ Afghanistan  

 

teams to establish an acceptable boundary >n « ^  

already in the field; in any case the Russtans  
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priority to their expansion towards the Mediterranean rather  
 

than towards India. ^ ,  

 

From the report of the Russian ambassador. Kotzoue.  

marked ‘secret’ and ‘penonal’, to his master, the  

minister, dc Giers. it is apparent that the Maharajan  

approach was lacking in subdety, nor was the pro ,  

 

the queen’s letter likely to further his cause even it u ai°  

establish his bona fides as a man with good connecnons.  

 
 

Monsieur le Ministre. Maharajah Dateep Singh has come « «  

me to show me and make me read m autograph I®""  

 

hadjusi received from Queen Victoria, 1 should have t  

 

a copy of it but he did not consent.  

 

The Queen has svritten to him in afTecrionate. even  

terms reminding him of the care that she had „  

 

in his childhood, her position as Cod-mother to his cml  
hopes that he would become a ‘pattern’ for all Indian  

requests him to abandon the path he has taken under the m  

ofbad counsellors and she asksWm ifshe diould bebeve the ni  

that has reached her that he has offered his services to ^^**'*'^  

•From where does the Queen know that you came to  

Embassy?’ I asked him. He seems not to know.  

 

While questioning him again about his intentions and the  

that he expects from his contact with Russia. I have come to o  

 

that he hopes to extract a large sum of money from the Eng  
Government. ortnre  

 

Hence, it is to be feared that the offers which the onental^  

makes us arc only a means of blackmail. He thinks he will be a  

to frighten the Engiuh and make them pay by threatetung ^  



with the prestige that he would gain by placing himself under o  
 

 

protection. ,  

 

The Maharajah says that he would accept the money that  

might obtain because he is poor but all the same he wul  

return to England. He says that he insisrs. whatever may happem  

on placing himself under the protecuon of the Impe  

Government. ,  
 

On my obsetvmg that it would not be right pif-h-vis Englan  

and that the English wouldnotbc so simple as to give him money  

\s-iihout making sure of his loyalty, he said that they arc so afrauJ  
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of, hcaim=uUi„hc could  

 
male any «cif.cc only in ,c.um “ A," m'illion  

 

from it. He hopes to extract out of them up to in  

 

^Wwt,m%l».l=fu,u,= cha„cc,o™  

 

i. h appa.cn, ,ha, i, h no, -hrouEh ..nc. honey ,ha,  

“M^t",icu. ic Minincc. .he homage of my mo,,  

respectful and profound devotion. Kotabue.*  

 

While privalely not discouraging m.hiary  
Ccnnal Asia, de Giers seas no. anxsous ,o b'  

making .rouble with *5 also informed him:  

 

purpose. It svas m that spin. lha. D„l„p  

 

‘Not wishing to go to his house in t e ^ ^ ^ verbal  

 

Sin6hiswat?hedVBri.ishage.s.andto^;;B*;‘„,„i^^  

 

communication is more subject to f This is the only  

 

than alctter, I have therefore «",»“XVv in hU hands. nt=  
written material f™"" 'b' '"'X not becnV see me again.’'  

 

Maharajah has not rephed and has . , have said on  

 

There was indeed little the Mahar jah couW ha ^  

receipt of the Russian response, svorded. perhaps,  

by Other eyes:  

 

Highness, The Imperial °°''"Xions°'"desto'h in those of  

 

and maintains it in its own vast pos ^ ’„«mmcnts are jointly  
 

the other powers and feels that * e the peoples the  

 

responsible in their effort of f -titoiions. Far from iL  

 



benefactions of security and stability ® . jjoublcs in India,  
 

hence, the thought of favouring u_„. would not find the  

 

No reason impels it and Your ”.ghn«s ^ of vengeance,  

means necessary tcaliw plans "f^XX^cquence of what  

I am authorised to affirm th« t course of our  

 

you were good enough to say to m ^  

 
mteiview. «c. Kotzbuc.”  

 

g. described to Grafton  

The Maharajah was in a position ne ,,bittat,on  

 

as ’desperate’, still uncertain wbedser to hope  
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and thus be able to return to England and  

some degree ofhonour, or whether to proceed further alo g  

the road to rebellion, which was already “nm  

 

srony. As the India Office seemed to be ignoring him toW y.  

the Maharajah rried out his new sveapon to gam their at  

tion-the pmclamation. For a start, he '“P'” „  

 

announcement he proposed ro make to his cou y ^  

his lawyer, and his instniaions to let Grafton  

indicate that he expected it to be passed on. Grafton  
was quick to send it on to Ponsonby at the palace.  

 

I have received a copy in confidence of a letter  

 

to the Sikhs which the Maharajah intends (if not sent »  

mg to all the Indian papen asking them to insert it.  

a letter and so seditious that one cannot beheve the J  

insert it: but if not certain. I do not know ^•’“t Duffeni^^m»y  

about such a Circulat. but I think he should be  

a letter & perhaps he has power to prevent its  

say is, privately, that if anything the Maharajah can do  

trouble this Circular is meant to do all the mischief he can.  
two copies over vid told Mr Uwrence no one was to s« K e ^  

mysclf-if he thought it wd. not make me too unhappy • »  

propose anything to save him from his folly I would, but 1  

way and unfortunately Lord Salisbury is more against .j  

 

any minister 1 have communicated with last year & this. *  

think the Maharajah's last act was not to be ignored completely.  

 

 

‘{sjo_ I Dated Paris, l/ie I5thjnly>  

 
By the grace of Sri Sat Guru Ji we Maharajah Dalip J-  

the lawful sovereign of the Sikh nation, under the Treaty ^  

Bhyrowa! entered into without coercion between ourselves an  

our Durbar on the one part and Great Britain on the „  

 



fromhereby in consequence of the insults and indignities repeate y  
offered us - of which the recent imprisonment inflicted on us a  

Aden is a proof as well as an account of no fulfilment with us o  

the stipulations of the Treaty of annexation of the Punjab by i  

Indian administration, set a«de and annul that iniquitous an  

illegal document, the so called Terms granted’, which was extorte  

from us in 184!; by our wicked Guardian, the Christian  

nation, when wc were an inlant of only 11 years of age. and y  
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.he above f,.« mentioned covenam. under .he pro.ee.ion of  

England.  

 

W.hGnruJeedeF,.eh. Sd. D.lip Singh.  

 
Mah.n.ja of Sikh. unde. Tree.y of Dhyrowd =  

 

The proclamation wai in nsence no more than a personal  

renunciation of the Treaty of Lahore, but the  

ftcicntly alarmed to ask the viceroy what he ■'’"“Eht m gh  

result fmm its publication in Indta Duffertn  

had consulted his colleagues and the ‘  

 

the Punjab and concluded that it svou d have "» ^P""f  

effect- and that 'it would not be adv, sable ^  

 
reference to Dulecp (and hit claim.) (or P^° . . p  

 

The Maharajah was holding back i!-' P.f''“'‘‘;”  

proclamation; Grafton thought that in ■ J^j  

 

fo be out of this mess-..* Du. ttme w*.  

plotting* were coming to a head. On 7 ? showed  

 

Grafton a confuted statement of hi* • mind-  

 

that he still wanted to be made to change hi* mind.  

 
1 am conmained to address you a among my  

 

passing away & the sympathy I If Jmtjntly before  

 

countrymen will die away unless I keep myK  

them in one way or another. ^ most  

 

A lawyer gave me a hint some .me back hat yo ^  

 

kindly corresponding “i* Sir ,|,„^f the opinion  

 
Court of Arbitration apptd. & Henni induced to follow  

 

m"h^^^tr.t.vrkrp'. of my .wo  

 

^“mbe satisfed with anything “  



 
investigate into & arbitrate on whole quesn yourselves  

 

Icat^estly implore you and He»n.kerno .o«pow^^^^  

 

to a refusal on my behalf. . . the wretched y  

 

P.S. 1 am Endcr a Solemn Compart to my coonUTn«^'°^'^^^  

less than £3 million or the award of the Court of A  

time led by me the Sikhs shaU fight for thetr rights.  
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Grafton sent the letter to Hennikcr» and Henniker sent it  

on to the palace. In his covering letter to Ponsonby Henniker  

wrote; ‘If the Govt, would accede to what the Duke of  

Grafton &: I proposed in our Petition to the Queen al orue,  
I hope it might be accepted, & to end a difficult & disagree-  

able business. Of course, if it goes much further there will be  

no retreat from either side.***  

 

As far as the India Office was concerned there was no  

intention whatever of a retreat. The secretary of state. Lord  

Cross, stated unequivocally that arbitration was ‘impos-  

sible’ and that ‘as far as the Maharajah was concerned  

nothing further could be donc*.*^ It was dear that their policy  

was simply to ignore him.  

 
Neither was there any sign of a retreat from the Maharajah.  

Though he denied having authorized it, two ofhis ‘proclama-  

tions’ appeared in the newspapers and various stories were  

publiihed about hij plans to co-opt the Russians. Grafton  

realized that events were moving rapidly and that the  

Maharajah had lost no time ‘for fear’, as Grafton expressed  

it, in a letter to Ponsonby, ‘of being pressed to relinquish his  

folly*. He continued; ‘At all events he has done for himselC  

but is he to do this and England support his wife & family. I  

do not know with whom I find most fault; the Government  

who behaved ill to him, ignored him, & drove him to folly,  

or the Maharajah for his folly— but I see nothing but a mess,  
I only hope i^norin^g him may not turn out a red truswke &■'  

bring trouble on us. It is easy to judge after events, but it  

now seems Dufferin was wrong; he ought to have let the  

M. go to India & then if he did anything shut him up; now  

he is at large & mischievous - I really believe he is off his  

head.’**  

 

The Maharajah at this time made another approach to the  

Russians, duly r^oned to de Gicts at St Petersburg by his  

Paris ambassador.  

 
Maharajah Daleep Sing has come again to sec me. He tells me  

that proclamations have been published in the Punjab calling upon  

the people to revolt in his naine and with the assurance that it  

 

 



236  
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wouldbc .upponcd by n.m,U. He affirm, .lu. <hi. I-"  

wiffiou. hi. Bivme the order, even nlffiou. h.< ® X  

 

ffiinl. .ha. a rhioB in the Punjab would P"'“X  
in view of the polirieal even., whieh are ^'''"" 5 - H'  

offered hi. mrviee. to .he Imperial Go”™'"”'' " ’f",;”  

 

replywhichhadrejeeredhiafiratoverrure.. •  

 

fm having elearly deelared rha, he cannot  

 

.inue. to have hope., i. i. beeanw he n eonvmeed .ha. a war  

between Ru«ia and England b imminent.  

 

I have .old him rha. he .hould no. have .llmiom. ffia. m  
reply he had received wa. final.  

 

Then .o a. not to expow my poor people, I man mna  

lo my adherents to suspend all action.  

 

•That b what b best for you to do. more and  

 

He wiihed to remain in Pan. for about in  

riien will try to go to Pondiehcrry ^ with  

 

While leaving me. he again repeated ortnmrrefmal..  
 

England ii inevitable and that notwithstanding our p om  

 

we ffiall me him mrving our came ,hi^. for  

 

the power whieh had despoiled him and becaum  

 

’Trgr..ul..e.blm.etf.ha.we.h.ll^  

 

uscfulally.considenngihatithvesatth  

 

Afghanistan and its warlike qualities surpass those  
Indian peoples.*’  

 

It is clear that the Russian, did not '*““‘sed'ro  

 

Mahatajah's approaches: the i/mr in hi.  

 

the Tsar Alexander tlt. who wrete on the above letter  

own hand, ‘maybe sometime it will c use •  

 

On ,0 October the Mahatyah seenaed to have  

his mind. *1 write to say that it is nosv - recede  
 

Henniket. 'I start very shortly for the East. I eould  

even if I wished (which I do not “XcMhin I was before  

tions). There was not a more loyal s J ..^ds to refuse  

my teeent arrest. It wa. foolish on Pf^' 8'°“" There are  



me a Court of Arbitration such “ ■ ,„eh a thing as  
 

45.000 Sikhs in the British Army. T P conqueror  

 

devotion from a conquered people towards their  
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is against human nature. It U true they have been loyal - but  

they have no leader. I am no>w wth them.’^®  

 

Hcnnikcr sent the letter on to Ponsonby, who observed  

that the Maharajah’s ‘language and condua’ had ‘alienated  

the Queen’s friendship for him’, and that now she only felt  

anxious that the maharani ‘should not sulTer for her husband’s  

foUy’.2‘  

 

The Maharajah’s dramadc statement that it was ‘too late’  

and that he was shortly to start for ‘the East’ was still un-  
implemenied by December. The feverish state of his mind  

at that period is revealed in his correspondence with Robert  

Watson, an associate from Mulgtave days, who had been  

helpful in his obtaining support in his plam to contest  

Whitby. It was Watson who had been responsible for getting  

Hanbury to ask his quesoon in the House and was now press-  

ing him to force an inquiry into the whole matter. The  

Maharajah’s reply to Watson’s encouraging letter shows  

something of the tortured processes of his mind daring this  

periods  

 
I thank you very much for your lener which shova me that  

there are'll! some right minded Englishmen in England.  

 

It b most kind of Mr Hanbury to think of bringing my case  

before PatUament.bucI ampenuaded that he wouldbe disappointed  

with the result were he to do so. For he is not likely to succeed  

where the sovereign herself has f^ed. Lord Salubury has already  

refused to grant a Cour of Arbitradon composed of Law Lords  

of the House of Peers, and he b not likely to permit a discussion  

of my daims in the House of Commons. It b very easy always for  

the Govemmeut of the day to cause the House to be counted out  

whenever a member desires to force a discussion of a disagreeable  
topic and my tale would reveal to the Bnnsh public that Russia  

is not the only unjust, unscrupulous, and immoral nabon in the  

world. England appears at this momenttobe much mtercsted about  

the liberticsofBulgaria, because Russnis meddling with thar free-  

dom, yet Great Britam herself hesiuted not to depose me, her  

ward, from the throne she had guaranteed me by the Treaty of  

Bhytowal in 1846 and deprived foe aspinng Sikh nabon - those  

eighty millions ofpeopk-of focir own nationality when it suited  
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own purpose. Yes ! ‘People Usot live in gless ^  

 

throw stones at others,’ Yes! India groans under A' “tutun  



injustiee of England, but out of loyalty to the Empress 1  
willingly blind to the misery of my countrymen unttl 1 *  

 

degraMon of an arrest at Aden las. spnng when "V 'V  

ended. 1, a naturalised Englishman and fefore God I declare) a  

 

mostloyalsubjectofEnglandapprehendcd.svtt ufl® . ' ^  

 

prevented from eaercising my libeny »s such to reside m any pan  

of the British Empire. A public trial not even b''"  
 

granted me to refute the charge of disloyalnt brought agatnst me by  

the administration of India, because I happened to  

mon form of salutation current among the Sik s. viz. ujeh  

 

jee dc Fattch as a victory to the teachers, in a proe sma  

I hsued to my countrymen before quitring Eng in  

matters is a treatment that no man of honour wou or a  

 

tubmit to. fat less 1. the proud son of the Lion o •  

 
No, Watson! I have done with the British Government for e c  

and by the help of the God of my fathers. 1 wJl for '  

overthrow the tyrannical, immoral and unscrupulous a  

lion of India. Morth-  

 

Let Russia give me only lo.ooo men to appear  

•West frontier of India, and the dting is done. For  

45.000 of the Punjabis, my former subjects, in the Bnti Y  

this moment, who would come over to me at  

other British troops would be sent to oppose me then the wno  

of the Punjab would rise in their rear. Also all P”";”  
 

would make common cause with me. for they have  

 

injustice like myself from our present rulers.  

 

Incndeavouiingtobringthb about. 1 do not seek any a  

to myself. 1 shall do it purely out of revenge  

 

suffered at the hands of my guardians, the British '  

 

who pretended to regulate their acu by the tenets o  

 
Vile Hypocrites! . . , .„ he  

 

I enclose copies of two proclamations which w s  

issued. Hitherto no proclamation has been issue ci  

knowledge or sanction in the Punjab.  

 

Good bye Watson! May God bless you.  

 

The Lawful Sovereign of the Sikh Nation under the Treaty of  

Bhyiowol with Great Bntam, i«46.  
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Stripped of its vjinglory. the  



little Lre than a plea to the people of India to provide  
 

funds:  

 

BrotherPrineesandNoblesanddrepeopleofbelovedHW^  

 

By the Btaee of Almighty "wi  

 

Ae Lit meiciftJ and graeiom. and of Sn Govind V  

 
Maharaja Dalip Singh, the lawftd navereign of the Sikh Nano  

have set aride and annulled that treaty of annexation of the Punjab  

S to the dirgraee of Great Drimin, be it j  

 

from o, and our Durbar, when we  

of Christian England under the treaty of Dh^owal ■  

to lay hit wicked hands on out dominatiom) by the late Unsetup  

 

lorn Marquis of Dilhomic. •cexVmn  

 

But the moral (!) British nation is no '"'’'“f "f  
eovenants- and treaties when its own interests are  

the interests of the weaker contraeong panies thereto, as  

you as well as ourselves know by expetimee.  

 

No doubt, your mighty rulers wdl call upon you to refute tfw  

above assertion, but dare they deny that it is not m their hearo  

what the leading journal in England The Timer not very long  

(in spite of the proclamation issued when it  

Great Briiun in the name of the Empress of India mmrf V  

after the suppression of the mutiny of 1RJ7. to the ^‘^*'^* *”* .  

internal administration of your respective dominions would not ^  
interfered with by Her Majesty’s represenutives m Hindustan;  

advocated, viz., the abolition of your armies, the maintenance  

which is dearer to you than life itself. But fortunately for yo  

friends, just about that rime a storm commenced to gather on  

north-west frontier of India, in the presence of which your mig  

rulers did not feel themselves sufiiciendy strong to carry out su  

high-handed measures and you escaped therefore the fate inten  

for you.  

 

However, let us hope now that evil day may never dawn upw  

you. for the poor old British lion is becoming so trcppiu [si  

indeed as to show the ‘white feather’ at the mere buzzing of a ^a ■  
but that, however, is not to be wondered at, because the Si “  

the son of the renowned Lion of die Punjab as well as the law  

sovereign of the Sikh nation, and like his people, who by c*  

valour saved the Bnash empire in Hindustan in i8S7 from utter  
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annihihiion, at lean, fcart no odda that might be oppoted to  

him.  

 

The poet jpokr truly when be said. 'If i» comcience that makes  



cowardf.'  
 

Yes. the Government of India are consciout of the wickedne«  

practiied by them lowardi ui. the ward of the righteous Brimh  

nation, and tremble lest v.x should come and avenge the wrong  

inflicted upon us by our guardian. For in great trepidation, they  

offered us jatisfaciion of our just claims provided  

 

we signed a protocol never to return to Hindustan w’ithout their  

permhiion.  
 

But their Christian immorality knows no bound, for rather than  

render justice, the Government have preferred to commit another  

and still greater wrong so as to try to cover the first by refusing  

us a court composed of Law Lords of the House of Peers to enquire  

into and arbitrate these (admitted by Lord Salisbury to be so) 'con-  

troverted mailers' on the miserable plea that they had not the  

power to appoint such a tribunal. The Government of Great  

Ilritain powerless to grant a court of arbitration!!!! Ah! what  

mockery! What falsehood!!! On our part, however, we should  

have cheerfully accepted the verdict of such a court as final had it  
awarded us but a single pice in damages.  

 

We.ihcrefore. appeal toyoutorienulgenerosity. Brother Princes  

and Nobles and the people of Hindustan, as wr vastly prefer to  

suffer the greatesr degradation, humiliation and shame of Bheck  

Manga or begging our bread from you beloved countrymen, to  

being under any pecuniary obligation to such a most iniquitously  

unjust, tyrannical and foteign Government, who, though profess-  

ingcodeofhigh morality, piouslyswindled us out ofour Kingdom,  

and defrauded us of all our private property, both of which the  

British Nation as our guardian under the Treaty of Bhyrowal 1846  
had taken upon itselftopxotrctduring our minority, and is bound  

in honour either ro restore the whole or give equitable compensa-  

tion for the same, but Jesus Christ, by whose tenets these  

Christians profess to regulate their morals, has not said in vain that  

wc do not gather grapes of thorns nor figs of thistles; therefore,  

not even in England is justice to be had.  

 

In the glorious days of yoie. it used to be the pride of your  

ancestors to defend the weak who sought their protection as we  

seek yours this day against the strong, though they might lose lU  
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they pojsessed in doing so. Therefore, if that spirit of nobJe  

chivalry w not quite dead among you, then aid a brother Prince  

and countryman in advenity.  

 

The Government of India out of spite may indeed put its veto  
upon the generous impulse of your hearts, hut if you all unite, it  

will be powerless to harm ye»u as you cannot all be deposed or sent  

to the Kala Pance for not paying any heed to the arbitrary behest  

of such a timorous administration as it has now become. For see,  

thatnotwiihsranding all its boasted vast resources how it dreads the  



return to India of a Sikh who unlike you does not even possess a  
single soldier.  

 

Therefore, he not cowards but be brave and worthy of your  

great forefathers.  

 

(sd.) Dalip Singh,  

The Lawful Sovereign of the Sikh Nation**  

The most rousing prodamation, presumably for release at  

a later date when the Maharajah appeared with troops on  
Indian soil, read:  

 

Courage! Courage! Courage!  

 

We your own flesh and blood, tell you, lift up your bowed  

down heads and drooping hearts ‘for your redemption draweth  

near' and by the help of the Almighty, Aryavarta shall once more  

be free and the rising ‘Young India* shall enjoy both liberty and  

seK^govemment.  

 

Yes, beloved countrymen, an avenger of our common great  
wrongs is indeed about to appear, and the just God of the Universe  

will shortly cause your wicked mien to crushed under his feet  

But you must have a little more patience yet, so as to allow us to  

work out your salvation most eftctualJy.  

 

The iniquitously unjsrn and unscrupulous administration of  

India have succeeded at last by their arbitrary acts m driving us  

away from our (we declare before God) most loyal allegiance to  

the Empress of Hindustan, but by the aid of Providence they  

rue the day on which they dared to insult us by causing our  

arrest at Aden. For although we were naturalised Englishmen, yet  
we were placed under arrest without a warrant having been pre-  

viously obtained for our apprehension  

 

The British Government dared not have treated a bom English-  

man as thus, but because we were not such, we were neither  
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allowed a public mal not were Y^HfoV'to  

 

revol.ingcharEeordUloyaltypn:fettcd.giin.tmtowardsoutth  
 

Most Gtacious Sovettign.  

 

Government. . i «t;rK England, and  

 

If we, who wete once hean and soul ^ ^  

 

who would cheetfully have apdt the ^°P f„ ,11  

 

setviee of the Emptes, of Hindustan as “  

 
her personal boundless j of arbitration  

 

jusdee and ev^ a hearing etc most loyal,  

 

and branded disloyal when on p of India, for prevent-  



 
Then.whatehaneehayeyoo.bt«h«P^on^  

 

tag the Immotal ’‘•'"'"“"‘.'“"t .Uev have hypocritically  

 

theit putpose - ftom ‘'’'."f’" „^,rwhh England,  

 

guatanteed to you by lencalled » ,j, ^  

 

Thetefote, believe out wotd „ p,eients itself  
 

yout thtones only until a ^tlook at what  

 

to yout so.eallcd just tulcrs fot your P . . jd,rations of the  

ha, lately uken place in Butma. In 'P''' “ X,” appeat to  

 

Queen's ptoelamation of ISJS to e  

 

you that the days of anncaanon avc entirely degenctated  

 

Thetefote, friends, if r,„„ed too mete  
 

into cowatd, and become ^'to"" *en rise up and  

 

puppets in the hands °f P™' . also m the glory of  

 

make common caom g we thus invite you to  

 

libetadng out mother coumiy. , . ® do not fot a moment  

 

take part in this grand both ^ for God ha, othcr-  

 
suppose that we shall seek any a.d from you. m  

wise made us strong who ww once valour saved the  

 

Sri Khalsa ji. you by yout fat dten to act so  

 

British Empire in India m '*5^”^ P ,ovaI to England. Beside,  

for we ourselves at that ume vvctc , -odod, you had no  

 

owing to our absence from n' * ^ nation to instruct  

 

leader appointed by Sri Sat C^ru jio y warfare that  

 
you as to the part that you should have uten m  
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was tfc«i going on. fcut now in the oomhtg stmgcJe sorerciga both  

by the wSl ofSri Sat Guna Ji as wdlas in ^e Tittae of the Treaty of  
Bhyrowal iS^S with GteaiBritaia(tnsd£twlucb Christian England  

assumed oargaardiKijlijp.dioi^b by a most pions act shortly after  

they swindled us ottt of our Kingdom}, we contmiad tot to pro-  

pare for our advance into the Punjab.  

 



^e command also stub as of our loyal subjects as may then be  
serving rn the Biithh army, and wbomay be left bdiisd, to attack  

the Briash forces sent against cs in their rear and those who tnay  

be in the tttx^ opposing us to come oeer to our side- But let oar  

enemies and disloyal sub^eto beware for we intend to aanihilate  

them onerly.  

 

Sri Kkalsa ^ we acbtrrt you to smdy the Sakbee au and learn  

therein y'onr glorious destiny as ptetSete d by Daswan Padshah Sri  

Gum Govind Stagh JL  
 

VahGtmijide Fatdj (uL) Dalip Sm^  

 

(February, i5?7) Sovereign cf tJse Sib Nation.*^  

 

Such wvlike enclosum seem to have had a spiae-chiHsng  

effecr on the YotVshire wonhy. who teplied in agiuied tone  

almost oriental ta tt^-le:  
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life and may ibe Father of ]igho be my guide and may I be the  

humble instrument, in his hands to assist you in your difficulties is  

the prayer of  

 

Your humble Sr Faithful servant,  

Robert D. Watson.^*  

 

Watson was so upset that he took what for him must have  
been entirely uncharacteristic action. Without telling the  

Maharajah he forwarded the letter and proclamations direct  

to the queen with the drastic suggestion, here made for the  

first time, that she should pcrsortally force the government  

to take action:  

 

Imost humbly desire toapproach Your Majesty on behalf of dear  

Old Master, the Maharajah DhoJip Singh, and to implore Your  

Majesty to use every effort to avert a catastrophe which I am  

satisfied will be disastrous and bring ruin to him. and bring no  

credit to our own country.  

 
My first duty as a loyal subject is to Your Majesty, and secondly  

to do my utmost to try and avert the utter ruin of one to whom  

I am deeply attached. With thiioyect I enclose the copy of a letter  

I have just received from the prince, bearing date 7ih, and 1 beg  

most humbly to implore Your Majesty to bring pressure to bear  

on Your Ministry to at once do justice and avert a calamity.  

 

I have only to add that 1 should wish this communication to be  

held strictly private, the intended proclamation I should only be  

willing to place in the hands of Your Majesty’s Private Secretary,  

and not in the hands of any of your ministers and unless Your  
Majesty asserts your authority as the head of this realm I can see  

nothing but danger ahead.  

 

I also enclose a reply I have sent to my Dear Old Master.  

 



I am. Most Gracious Sovereign, Your True and Loyal Subjea,  
Roben D. Watson.  

 

P.S.  

 

Madam, 1 see only tsvo courses open. One to force as head of the  

nation. Your Government to do an act of common justice, or  

secondly to command the Prince to Your Majesty’s court at  

Windsor, and to exerdse that influence over him which I know  

Your Majesty to possess.^*  
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The Maharajah may have thought that Watson’s urgent  

response represented the anxieties of the British public as a  

whole and even of those in authority, for his reply indicated  

that he was still under the impression that he had some  
cards to play and some threats to make that would shake  

the India Office from its complacency. His offer to yield his  

position in exchange for ^3 million and bis restoration to  

the throne of the Punjab, indicated a thinking that was both  

wishful and tumultuous:  

 

 

Believe me, Wa«on, 1 have it in my power either to save or  

destroy theBrifish Empireoflndiaandl will cither have ,^3,000,000  

or my revenge. Let the British Government ask (some) 45, 000  

Punjabi soldiers employed in the Anglo-Indian army whether they  
will or will not hghi against me if sent to oppose my advance  

with forces of Russia and convince themselves of the truth of my  

aiiehrdil that tWr loyalty would replace me on the throne of the  

Punjab andmalc^^bCgiyjmpue position for strengthening their  

empire. *  

 

For I will guarantee that Rusm’^r''any ether power in the  

world would never ttoublc them in India. They would thus have  

some 8,000,000 of the most brave people of India heart and soul  

with them, instead of not possessing the loyalty of a single Indian.  

But they have been dead to their own interest in suspecting me of  

disloyalty and not reposing implicit confidence m me.  
 

 

27th December, i  

 

 

(sd.) Dalip Singh,  

Sovereign of the Sikh nariort  

 

 

If he thought he had gone too fat in expecting to be restored  

to the throne of the Punjab, the Maharajah in a postscript had  
an alternative proposition:  

 

 

1 might just as well tell you as dih letter is not likely to be  

published in the newspapers that since I wrote you, I am assured  



of pecuniary aid up to one million pounds sterling  
and therefore. I am not likely to accept any proposal that the  

British Government arc likely to make. As I only at present require  

£10.000, this sum will be placed m my hands within six weeks by  

which time the political events in Europe will have developed  

themselves mote decidedly. The British Government ifihey do not  
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.o .ry .he  

 

them only restore my estat . ^ Council of  

 

time a parage as ” "„''J^'i;;'calcu..a and publish abroad  

 

India in London and the C ^ j-ma^dthcoettyerievances  
 

that lam appointed to enquire into an like thousands of  

 

of the natives of India at any  

 

little fires ready to be blo^ into content  

 

moment by the merest accidcn • establish Her Empire on  

 

to serve England loyally and un which it will never sund.  

 
the sure foundation irj knows so well as I do both  

 

No one {though 1 say it circumsunces of my  

 

the English and the Indians by the peculiar cucu  

 

'■"Vlor Watson did not get  

 

respondence with the scats o po should force her  

 

his presumptuous suggesnon t 9 forward the cor-  

 
govemmettfs hand he asked Pomonby to forwara  

 

Lpondenee to Cross, now Ylf^j'ra^Watson wrote  

Lord Cress did not reply and *' a  

 

threatening to withdraw his wo useful purpose  

 

The secretlry of state coldly rephed "°Xce on the  

 

would be seryed in entering tnto conesponden  

 
subject'.^’ . u. 1 . ™.hetic communicarion wnth  

 

The Maharajahs last P**/***;^^^^^ on 28 January  

authority was to Sir Robert on g • nnade to  

 



1887. He was stiU in Paris, but aU his plans  
 

Kind and good Sir Ro^it. "”|J^*J’^Parrer &'co.. for the  

receipt to be sent to my . ,, ’ „ request to' the Indu  

 

•Star of India’ which _ anxious to possess before  

 

Office some time ago, and whic „i,re any day) from Parh.  

 

my departure (which may J tJat I have received  
 

Doubtless you will be _ on certain conditions,  

 

promise of pe^iapr rid “P f J* j ’ of the entire Punjab and  

and, from India, of assurance o 7 . British army- Lord  

 

allegunce of some 4S.000 arresting me at Aden.  

 

Dufferin has gained nothing. T°“,^’n,/happen (via- that my  

After all, what he did not wish should tiapp  
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countrymen be not in a position to show me sympathy) has  

happened. The trodden-down worm at last has bem enabled  

through the mercy of God to hft up his bowed down heart and  

head in order to avenge the injusdee and the insults (as the only  

reward for his loyalty) showered down upon him for the last 36  

years.  

 
lenclosealso three prodamatitHis, twoof which will be published  

here in a few days, the 3rd a little later ors. None are genuirte that  

do not bear my signaturei.  

 

May the Almighty bless both you and your kind hearted good  

lady. Once more farcwelL  

 

Your most grateful, (sd.) Dalip Singh,  

 

Both Sovereign and Guru of the Sikh nation.-’*’  

 

Knowing his vacfllating nature and still claiming to have  
some influence over him, Henniker and Grafton continued  

working for the Maharajah’s rehabilitation. They were scfll  

intent on setting up an inquiry, apparently his minimum  

condition for giving up hb dangerous plans, svhich Russian  

rejection did not seem to have dampened. The India Office,  

however, seemed determined to refrain from conciliation or  

even communication, though they were prepared to make  

some sort of a financial arrangement for the now deserted  

family. This concession was mainly due to the influence of the  

queen who had seen Lord Cross when she was at Ho]>TOod  

and spoken to him, according to the journal, ‘about the  
unfortunate M. D-S’s wife and sons, who will have to be  

provided for if he throws up everything & goes quite wrong  

in his passionate excitement & irritation, having been mbied  

by vsTong-headed Indians and relations’.”  

 



It was dedded that out of the Maharajah’s rejected  
stipend, J^6,3oo a year should be allowed the maharani and  

;C2,ooo a year to the eldest sons. The two eldest boys were  

morcabletolookafterthcinsrlvcs.-'Theyoungmer in their  

tastes are thorough Englubnsen,’ Lord Dufferin wrote. He  

was less than altrubtic when he went on to say, ‘TTie more  

completely they can be induced to regard England as their  

home the better, as the appearance of even a grandson of  
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Runjit Singh in the Punjab might have inconvenient con-  

sequcnccs.*^^ Victor was at Sandhunt and fteddy would  

soon be leaving Eton to go to Cambridge. Henniker was  

wondering svhat would be the best regiment for Victor to  

join. 'Surely he would be bcitcr in a good regiment like the  

Scots Greys,’ he wrote to Ponsonby, ‘than in the Grenadier  

Guards, where he would pncttC3}}y be bis oivn master . , ,  

The Blues or any other Household regiment will bully  
him ... We want him to be under a good Colonel, in a  

good regiment, which does not go to India.’®^ With the  

queen's approval they settled on the Royal Dragoon Guards,  

the Royals.  

 

The main problem was the younger children - Bamba  

had for some years been vinually an invalid and totally  

neglected their education; OHphant had attributed what  

he called her ‘strange habits’ to the fact that some eight years  

ago she had fallen on the tee; Kimberley had the story that  

‘whether from despair or being neglected she had taken to  
drinkjngalcoholtQaninjuriousextent*.®‘*DutaccordlngtoDr  

Lawson, of the American mission in Cairo, who had come  

over to comfort his former charge, ’there was nothing wrong  

with her at all.'^* Because of Bamba’s inability to cope  

with the situation Hcnnifcer undertook to become the  

children's legal guardian, and Arthur Oliphant, son of the  

Maharajah’s late comptroller, took over the task of actually  

bringing them up. 'It is all a sad sad story,’ Arthur Oliphan:  

wrote, ‘and I feci most thankful that my dear old Father was  

not spared to know him |thc Maharajah] as he He  

mov(^ them all to his house at Folkestone where he and his  

wife effectively became foster-parents to four confiised young  
Indians. Oliphant recalled their old nanny. Miss Dale, who  

had left when Bamba became difficult, and gone to Russia  

to look after Princess Gortschakoff’s children. She would, it  

seemed, have a hard job ahead, for Oliphant reported that  

the girls, ‘did not know how to walk like young ladies’ and  

‘the poor Mahami was also going to give them lessons in  

callisthenics, and always going to take them to church, but  
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these mteniions. as indeed all oAers, were never carried  

 



Despite the efforts of well-wishers in England, the  
Maharajah was proceeding with his seditious plans. He  

described some of them in letters to Thakur Singh in India :  

*I am glad you have come down to Pondicherry. Stay there  

and continue intriguing with the Sikhs and the Native  

Princes , . . Please be careful tn your goings, for if you act  

openly the English, who areat present on friendly terms with  

the French, will get you turned our of Pondicherry . . . Send  

me some money as soon as you can. Without it 1 cannot  

proceed any furAcr. The Russian Minister at Paris has asked  
me for j^i.ooo.ooo without which he will not allow me to  

do anything with his government ... 1 have offered 3 J million  

as tribute to Russia. You should now try and ascertain from  

Nizam, Baroda, Holkar and C JCashmertJ whether they will  

join me in paying thb sum and thus driving away the Engibh  

from India. But. as far as ! am aware, they are puppets in the  

hands of the English and t cannot exp>ect much from them.  

Tell them Russia cares very little for India and the Indians.  

She cares only for money ... 1 want to have a monarchical  

government. I will rxile India something like Germany by  

which the Native Chiefs will be independent kings. I will  
never allow any other nation with the exception of Indians  

to take part in the administration of the country ... I have  

appointed you my Prime Minister and you are at liberty to  

negotiate with the Native States in my name.’**  

 

The Maharajah was consorting with any anti-Bntish  

element in Paris who cared to contact him, particularly the  

Irish Fenians, committed with American aid to the freeing of  

Ireland from English rule. The Fenians had been stagmg acts  

of terrorism for the past twenty years, culminating m the  

Phoenix Park murders in 18S2. In the following year they  
had tried to blow up the public buildings m Whitehall which  

very nearly wrecked Sir Owen Bume’s room at the India  

Office. For their various acts of terromm, five of the  

‘Invinciblcs’ had been hanged; a number were on the run in  
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■SUfsS  
 

into communication with the B K-.i-ofr, family con-  

 

Katkoff, editor ofthc Matmu- „.Hcd him to  

 

nection wjih memben of thc , ^ijcv if England  

 

„pr«t opinion* in Snonaril h.  

 

wa, giving aid and oSlnd. partictdarly if  

 
would do the same for . ,-jT;.ofial expansion,  

 

they could further the . l j case even if  

 

Katloirwa, intetoted » '*■' to  



his government appeared not , .<• t,:. n-wspaper.  
Moicow and ptomiicd *' ,hc Maharajah had  

During those heady da^ « ;,l ,_-iphtccn«ycar-old  

 

developed a romantic rclattoni father was said to be a  

 

EnBlhh girl called Ada Wcthcnll. Her f.dtcr  

mafor glrcral and her Logan  

 

herself an aarcss and was by ^. upf^jharajah decided  
 

would have described as a lady. to follow him  

 

to go to Russia she was sufliaently attach^ to  

and his fortune wherever the read might lead.  
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‘England’s Proud Implacable Foe’  

 

 

Tut Maharajah, a usual, had difficulty in making up his  

mind which course to adopt. Should he go straight to  

^ ..Russia? - the Russian foreign office had officially rejected  

’■fiis^pprjsac^.evcn ifKatkoffand the Irish had led him on.  

Perhaps lie sh5Utl>s<?dc becoming ‘a thorn in the side  
of Lord Duffer'm'' ani^erj^tclf up under Prcnch protec-  

tion in Pondicherry, buttRen the president. M, Grevy, had  

not had the courtesy to reply to Ws request. Another plan  

was to establish himself as near as possible to the Indian  

frontier, where he could enter imocommunicaiion with such  

potentially friendly princes as the maharajah of Kashmir, the  

nizam of Hyderabad, the Maharajah Holkar. the deposed  

King of Oodh, and the minister of Gwalior. Then again, he  

might get together with AyubKhan, prerenderto the Afghan  

throne, trcunccr of General Burrows at Maiwand; Ayub  

Khan, beaten in his turn by General Roberts, svas then Jick-  

inghis wounds on the Afghan frontier. In addition there were  
other recalcitrants under Runian protection who the  

Maharajah thought might be cevopted to his cause — French-  

Canadians, assorted Irish Nationalists, pro-Boers like Alfred  

Aylward, agents from Turkey, Egypt and the Sudan.  

 

Hefinally decided he would go to Russia, where, with the  

help of Katkoff, he might influence official opinion in his  

favour. He planned to leave Paris on lyMarch iSSyandtake  

a ship from Marseilles via Constantinople to Odessa, but  

changed his mind when persuaded that this route laid him  

open to ‘possible assassination dirough British intrigues*.^  
The Bndih uvre in fact keeping an eye on him; *We keep  
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through the Foreign Office the striaest watch on hh move-  

ments in Pari!,’ Cross wrote to Dnlfenn m “ "l for  

 

informed, he is to leave in oompwy with a y°“"B  

Constantinople this morning.’^ They ™ „  

 

instead the Maharajah suddenly put Katkol to  
 

the winter shooting on the Casptan, and asked JOftoR o  

obtain a letter of authority for h|S g^s end  

be passed through Russia. Even the Caspian story ,i„„e  

to be a bluff - his latest intention was m fact to continue  

through Persia to Mere, Mcupied by and  

 

andthcirfurthestoutpost,inthcdircction Herat,  

 

India, or better still, to Sarakh, Meshrf ^d Herat,  

 
Rt'ian1mm:itS:;;i"H pi^ia, J .he end^h^."  

Lttd'^fp:spL^:-&^^^  

 

"ttMSj'ah'ierPa* on a. March. aeeompani^__by  

 

his mUtress, now honorary roaharam, . equipped  

 

Singh, promoted to honorary Jj" 1“/" ’o, Kve  

 

with the passport of ^ Insh „jlv,jy station  

 
looked the part even if the 5*'"“ , , changing trains.  

 

wcrcenaacdin the appropnate spin . ^ k- ^^ luch, in  

 

the Maharajah was parted from  

 

addition to his travel documents, police were  

 

4,8 -verdgn, and by the  

 

summoned, and British ^ jjy was ulti-  

 
Maharajah as the culpnts, though the guU^ p ^  

matcly established as a profess.onsd Pi^kpocket. ^  

 

less. pLsportless Maharajah,  

 

messages to Katkoff, who used h military faction  

 

Bogdanovitch. a leading member . . f ntjer police to  

 

favouringterritorialcxpansion toorderth^^^^^ ^P  

let him in. It was arranged for him to y  
 

Dussaux in Moscow. M,l,,raiah had of the long  

 

The fint real intimation ^ from August  
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Wcbct, the vice-consul in Moscow, who had been instructed  

by the British embassy at St Petersburg to look out for him.  

The Maharajah, who was under the erroneous impression  

that be was being approached ‘to propose to him to open  
negotiations*, curtly refused to see him. If that mission had  

failed, Weber was soon pleased to repoa that he had seen  

the Maharajah setting off from his hotel to KatkofTs house  

at about nine o’clock at night ‘in full Indian dress wth the  

"Star of India" on his breast and adorned svith precious  

stones', accompanied by Atoor Singh turbaned and in a 'black  

dress’. Aroor Singh, described as ‘loquacious’, boasted to  

Weber that dteir further stay in Moscow ‘would entirely  

depend on the movement of the Russians in Central Asia and  

more especially so - on their movements towards Herat'.  

Weber suggested to his superior that this information might  
‘justify any precautions that may in consequence be taken  

to countcrbajance that sort of game’.*  

 

‘Proper quarters’ were quick to react to the diplomancally  

embarrassing presence of a declared British rebel actively  

engaged in political intrigue in the Russian arena at a time  

ofde/eB/f. What was the Maharajah doing in Moscow when  

their foreign minister had asserted that he was unw-clcome?  

The British foreign secreury. Lord Salbbury, sent a sharp  

note to his ambassador in St Petetsburg, Sir Robert Morier,  

instructing him to look into the matter. Moncr. formerly  
ambassador in Berlin, regarded himself as a diplomat of  

somesubdecythe had personal talks with the Russian forrign  

minister, who was probably better informed about the whole  

affair than he pretended. Morier reponed to Salisbury the  

gist of his interviews with dc Giers in a ‘very secret* dispatch  

dated 4 May 1887:  

 

1 saw H.E & found him mote than ever annoyed and per-  

 

plexed at the anomalous poodcra in wiuch this extraordinary. I  

might almost say grotesque, incident has placed him. He had  

entirely failed to asceruin by whose assistance Dhtdeep Singh had  
crossed the frontier. 1 said t had heard that die culpm was GenL  

Bogdanovjtch; and 1 asked whcihex he wd. have the siiSicient  
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authority to enable a friend ‘’V  

 

without a passport - He said he “  

 
sueeeeded. strange ro say, rn  

 

Ministry of the Interior, « some sort <>» ^ on the  

 

himselfonthcspot.hcwould bcknowmto thep^^ tha under any  



 
frontier and elsewhere. But the ^ j certainly not been  

 

regulations Sr Its results. , „„  

 

been no difficulty in obtaining the je Gien  

 

am convinced, though he did not exp ^ jo igjve  

 

himself wished to do. namely to '"I*** police  
 

Russia. Hh Majesty appears to been ^ and^bserved that  

not having been aware of what , tetter police  

 

it was odd that the British Amb^dor have a  

 

than himself in his own “P'*** T —i-ti easily come in by  

improved by remarking that a Nilu i g believe M. de Giers  

 

simUarmeam-whereUmsuonglymdmedt^^^^^^^  

 
met with opposirion was from the  

 

I for one moment believe that Cl. Y because he is an  

 

M. Katkoffin his intrigues with great grievance  

 

obstinate sort of man who harbouring of Nihilist  

 

he considers Russia has against Eng an , conversation  

 

refugees such as Hartman - It was clear ^ jXeciprocity  
with M. dc Glen he had *’?^"*^* of dangerous individuals.  

 

betwecnthetwocountn«inihcexcfe g with H.E.  

 

Bur be rhis as it may, the upshot Y „ , j, ^d. create  

 

war .hat he deelared the rurpulr.on of .he M.Maj  

great .caudal: but rha. he cd, ,o reuder him  

 

and that the necessary measures i„-n^ous that I should not  

harmlesr. . . . H. however ””  

 
represent him as having entered ^ j A f„ he said ‘wuh  

 

to guarantee the innocuomuessofDh^cph' S’  

 

the experience we have had. who can tell what m g  
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happen.’ I said that 1 fully realised the difficulty of his position, that  

1 had reed, no instructions from HMG to ask for Dhulecp's  

expulsion, but had only been told to point out the impression  

which wd. certainly be produced by his travelling in the direction  



of Central Asia through Russian territory. 1 felt sure that H.E. wd.  
do all in his power to secure the innocuousness of the Maharajah:  

no one could do mote...*  

 

Certainly KatkofT, who referred to England as ‘the con-  

cealer from time immemorial of all Russian political  

criminals',® was not the only man in Russia who objected to  

the harbouring in Englandof Russian terrorists such as Hart-  

man. In i88i the nihilist group ‘People’s Wing’ had assas-  

sinated Tsar Alexander ii, and Dimitri Tolstoy had been  
appointed minister of the interior with a mandate for stem  

repression. Sir Robert Morier, by now more sure of his  

grourtd. sen t an account to London on a further meeting with  

de Gictson the 'harbouring' of the Maharajah and was now  

proud to report chat he bad been responsible for compromis-  

ing General Bogdanovltch. The Tsar's first exclamation, de  

Giets had told him, on teaming how his foreign minister had  

heard of the Maharajah’s illicit entry had been ; ‘It « passing  

strange that the British Ambassador should have at his dis-  

posal at St. Petersburg a better police than 1 have.' Moricr’s  

dispatch continued;  
 

In a word General Dogdanovitch. whose position is already  

undermined, had been caught in Jlagrante dtUcto doing a piece of  

Executive business behind the back of the Emperor, of m.m.’s  

Ministers and of k.m.’s Police officials. M. de Giers dropped the  

expression: 'C'etait un ocu 4e rrafcfson'' I caught up the phrase as  

very strong for the occasion, and M. de Giers was proceeding to  

make some observation when he stopped himself Ar changed the  

conversation. From what he did say, however, I gathered clearly  

that the Maharajah’s unlawful crossing of the frontier was only a  

link in the intrigue which there is no doubt M, KatkofT was carry-  
ing on through last winter in Paris and that bss invitation to the  

Maharajah to come to Moscow was somehow or other connected  

with that intrigue.’  
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It was soon clear to the Maharajah, fetmg in his seedy  

hotel, that, even with the support of Katkoff and t  
mUitatists led by Bogdanovitch. h.s "^the  

 

likely to progress without the interest of the l»8hcst of Ae  

high’. He therefore applied for an .ntervtew J”'  

 

and when he was told that under Ae ““ “  

 

meeting could not be considered ‘des, table . “  

 

letter fct effectively invited the Tsar to rnvade Ind.a on Ae  

Maharajah’s behalf.  
 

Before I take the liberty of placing before His ‘p  

 

men. Ae request of .be Princes and ^ople »f ®  

deliverance fron. their opprenon. I "Je ^'^"f Ae  



 
personal advantage for m^lf. d ls\lso  

 

250,000,000 of my people from Ae B h ^y^ ^  

 

benefit the person who will free them. O g  

have, when the people of IndU become free » ^ hve m my  

 

own country in Ae Punjab from *' ®"“XTt of” f  

But I do not make this a condition. 1 desire to earnestly  
 

life to Ae interests of Ae Emperor whose loyal subject I eames y  

 

wish to become. . . , known both in  

 

Through my cousin Sirdar Thakm Sing ( , j ^jost  

 

the Punjab and mostly all over India) 'j, and pray the  

 

of the powerful princes of India to com These princes  

 
Imperial Government to take «d are  

 

possess altogether some 300,000 mment think proper  

 

prepared to revolt should the Imperial ^ repre-  

 

to Lkc an advance upon the British as to  

 

Kntative, be permitted to accompany the . entertained  

 

assure them of the generous and graaous in  
towards .hem by rhe Emperor, for I""'. Vxnemely  

 

care to f.ll Ae minds of Ae people of W.. (»h° >  

ignorant) with false reports as to the pp . ir ujj broken  

Sssianknle, Aough Ae BriAh ;rr;,?w“.o do so,  

 

solemn engagements whenever it suit  

 

having broken two treaties with myse * Imperial  

 

Among the many advantages that would acruc to F-  

 
Government by invasion aif^ ^!”j 7 fdfowed to manage their  

 

The Princes of India when free, and li allo wro ^  

 

affairs in their own way. would ‘join together and p y  
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tributejnnuillymtothcRu«unTrcasury.Ahhoughljmauthoriicd  

to name only ;0},ooo.ooo per annum ytt in my opinion after the  

tetting down of the country they could catily pay between  



jC8.ooo.ooo and jCio.ooo.ooo. The Btimh raite an annual rrvenue  
from the country of »omc jC50.ooo.ooo and jC<'0.ooo.ooo Sterling,  

out of which an army of 100.000 Europcani and Officer! and  

English civilians (who receive very high salaries) are paid at least  

jC2S.OC»,OCX3.  

 

TTie rest is employed in the administration of the country and in  

the payment of interest upon capiul advanced by England for the  

construnion of rail, roads and upon the public debt of India and  

pensions to retired officials in England. Also, the import and export  
trade between England and India amounting to some jCso.oco.ooo  

per annum each way would be secured by Russia. India is indeed  

a gold mine to England and most of her w ealth has been and is  

derived from that source, f have been much struck already during  

my very short stay in Rinsia with the low value of things in  

the country” from want (in my opinion) of siutihle markets  

for their disposal. Dut could the same commodioes be taken to  

India 1 feel persuaded that from too to jee per cent over the  

prices they fetch here would be raised for them out there. The  

markets of Central Asia are not to be compared svith that of  

India.  
 

1 guarantee an easy conquest of India. For besides the promised  

assisunce of the Princes oflndia with their armies, it is in my power  

to raise the entire Punjab in revolt and cause the inhabitants to  

atueV in their rear the British forces sent to oppose the Impenal  

Army.  

 

My loyal subjects would also destroy all railway, telegraphic  

and other communications and blow up bridges and cut off all  

supplies while the Princes in revolt would harass the Bnmh troops  

left behind as a reserve. England is ordy strong at sea but she has  
no army. She has only some 100.000 Europeans and about the  

same number ofnative soldiers m her service in India. All these are  

loyal to me and wdl come over at once to the side of Russia (pro-  

vided that 1 be permitted to accompany the Impenal Army of  

invasion) should they be sent 10 emfront the Russian troops, or  

they will attack the opposing Bntuh forces in their rear, should  

these Sikhs be left behind.  

 

Under these circumstances no Bnosh army could hold id own.  
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however powerful it might be (which it it not), being a.ucked  

 

both in front and behind. tn state  

 

It may not. pethapt. be out of place  

here why 1 have some power over *"y jn the way  

such invaluable scrvic« to acknowledged head  
 

described above. In the first place 1 ,Kn,,t r ooo ooo are  

 

and sovereign of some ao, 000,000 (o w ^ L:,.j’bv the most  

 



Sikhs)peop5^oftheentire^njab acotm^  
 

warlike races of India and all loya regarding  

 

teacher of the Sikhs prophesied somewhere f ^He hf  

 

myself and has mentioned me by name m h ^^p^  

besides other matters predicted also a ^  

 

Sm r 'th'lt S.; -uW thm be tu«-ch„g under  
 

"^a great ^alcm|.^-^Sr^S![  

 

«tremely i^nran. aa  

 

"M^tiroteut.d.ewho,eof|ndiai,wi,—  

 

People of Hindoottm deliverance. With all  

 

joy will know no bounds at t Imocrial Government  

 
humility.Iwouldendeavoortodusoadethe^pc  

 

from rJEarding ,o oppote the malita™^  

 

present, became many powers at atteotion upon  

 

of its wbbes in that quarter bu Unuland For by wrench-  

 

the eouqnest of India »"'*/>»" ^,t 7 ah"?;,^rial Government  

ing India nut of the bandt Steady doubt that  

 
will acquire a source of peat svea.u  

 

so much will be gamed by u ""K j j .a.ould vcnnirc to state  

Furthermore, if I may entertained in *e Imperial  

 

that, should the mvaston of uia W  

 

•"tt::mirm'S%"-vU..p.y.ba..n.aynn.  
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be considered disrespectful towards the Imperial Government but  

as a loyal subject of the Emperor (which 1 already consider myself  

to be, though 1 have not yet received the right of naturahsation), I  

fee! it my duty to say what f have to say without reserve.  

 

The Imperia! Government, whether it thinks it proper to invade  

India or not or to employ me or not. can please itself in the matter  

for it is no concern of mine. 1 have been deputed simply to make  
an appeal on behalf of 250,000,000 of my countrymen for deliver-  

ance from the cruel yoke of the British Rule and having done so  

my duty is ended and, if graciously permitted by the Emperor to  

enjoy both liberty and safety in Hii Majesty's dominions. I shall  

occupy myself in sport leaving the Almighty to bring about the  



deliverance of my unfortunate people in His own good time.  
 

Should the Imperial Government, however, think proper to mm  

its attention towards the conquest of India and desire my services  

for that purpose, I would suggest then that 2 or 3 gentlemen  

speaking English well should be appointed both to further discuss  

the matter with me and to enquire into the truth of the assertions  

1 have made with regard to India.*  

 

That the Tsar took the dubious daims of the deceitful letter  
seriously is indicated from the notes he made on its margin:  

to the suggestion that the Maharajah was anxious to become  

hisloyal subjecthc noted: ‘Ubdesirable'-.tcgarding the claim  

that the princes of India were all behind him, the Tsar, giving  

his first sign of pcnpicacity, wrote, Tt would be desirable to  

verify this fact’, and to the suggestion that English-speaking  

gentlemen be appointed to ‘discuss the matter’, the Tsar  

noted, ‘It can be done.’  

 

The Tsar made no written observation on another letter  

that fell into the hands, perhaps intentionally, of his security  
police. It came from Paris and was addressed to the  

Maharajah;  

 

Mon Prince, the hour has not yet sounded, but it is not distant.  

 

[ know that in England the Government is convinced of the  

inevitability of an Anglo-Rmsian war and fears that France may  

take sides with the Muscovites. The cwo military patnn of the  

Irish nationalists have drawn up a proposal for the establishment  

sf an Irish military colony near die Indian fronner — 6 qo to 6.000  
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min engaging to itttact to it it.ooo to n.^ Iri*  

thi British atmy, Thi colony probably to b' ™!  

of out most devoted friends, who svill act as ■>>' ""P'™'  

mint of Russia may dieute. and it is  

 
and expedient, it will be teady to march m the sent.ee any  

deposed monarch and place him on the throne.  

 

The letter svas signed -C’. No doubt it was J’"*  

Casey. The 'devoted friend-, who was P'bbably to com  

tnand the Irish legion, was a gentleman referred to tn pohee  

reporK as 'a former major m the British Army .  

 

The Maharajah seemed to be too absorbed in Us intriguB  

 

to give much thought to the welfare of u , pattern  
 

Victor, about to leave Sandhurst, svas "".b>“b'ng >  

 

thatwastobecomealltoofamiliar.bygettmg pfim-  

 



father's letter to an emant son promised htde hope of tm  
mediate accommodation:  

 

I am delighted to see your that I  

 

my son, to write such a letwr. For I h ^-rffore how dare  

have repudiated the treaty of the annexation. ^ j at  

 

you tcU me wtite and ask for the money said to belong  

the India Office. independent  
 

Whether the ‘Tschar* help me or not. ^ to over-  

 

of everybody, and perfectly ^ j j,ave dedicated the  

 

throw the British rule in India to y ^ do not believe  

 

rest of my life. But take my iny against me.  

 

anything the newspapers write either in y  

 
You will soon be of age and will /ilwels if .hey  

 

your debts. Let the Trustees sell v matters connected  

 

please, for 1 cannot be bothered aft«h wi awakened  

 

with England. All that is over as a and I  

 

to a new life and the destruction of the ntis ^ujjdie do not  

But if you wish to retain my affection or y • . myself to  

 
mention again to me such matter, not as nw ^ ^ swerve  

 

mybitterestenemy.LookuponmcasQca . „r , he Lion of the  

 

from my purpose ’ would not be the son of the l  

 

 

Look upon mcMdcad.Buti ^  

 

irom my purpose or I would not be the  

Punjab whose name I dare not disgrace. Enelish brag and  

 
You wUl sec. my chUdic. by and by. Let the eng  
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boast; they wDl cease their high talk. They are utterly undone,  

believe me, my son.  

 

P.S. I could see you starve and even would take your  
an end to your misery, but will never return to England- J am  

entirely changed since you last saw me. 1 will freely shed my blood  

for the Emperor of Russia.*'*  

 

A second letter, written a day or two later, more  



relaxed in tone. If it sent love to Frederick, it gave no hint  
of concern for his wife, thought by Queen VictCri^  

dying of a broken heart.  

 

I cannot tell you how happy I am to be in Russia- There is  

plenty of grouse shooting and fine salmon fishing in th® north of  

Russia, and if not better employed I mean to indulge myself in  

some first rate sport. The woodcock shooting on the c(*ast of the  

Black Sea is very good and so is snipe and wild fowl shooting  

in the Crimea. ,  
 

So you see, my dear old man, I have reached the sportsman *  

paradise. Besides money from India, in spite of the stupid British  

Government's lorVidding, vnli fiow to meiilte water  

am in Russia. To once reach Russia was all that was neef«®fy>  

tny loyal subjects required me to break off all relations with tw  

British, and give them proof of my sincerity by entering the  

dominions of the Tsar before they would undertake to tfnd me  

large sums of money.  

 

I can imagine the rage that the India officials will btf m at my  
success, though they will pretend to suppress me altogether, but  

wWchthey will find impossible to do nevertheless. Yes! they have  

made a blunder the cost of which will be enormous to the British  

nation, though it may brmg no good to me. But revenge for all  

the insults 1 have suffered wiU quite compensate me fo^ *1^  

inconvenience that I have had to undergo.  

 

Write me a line, cluldie. about your health, though d® f t)t in it,  

or otherwise, mix younclf up in my affairs.  

 

Send the two knives you and Fred have made for me to Purdey  
to pack up with my other things.  

 

Send my love to Fred and blessing of the Guru of the Sikhs and  

with the same to yourself, my chfldie.  

 

P.S. The joy of your cousins will know no bounds nOw! I tele-  

graphed my arnval to them. k> all India will know. ‘ *  
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that I am endeavouring to land in India at the head of a  

small European volunteer army of my own ? Docs it not seem  

ridiculous on my part? With kind regards, that is »f a proud  

rebel is permitted to send them  

 

In one letter he asked for Bamba's riding saddle,  

presumably for Ada’s use, to be forwarded to Kieif- I  

setting aside all political affairs for some time to come, be  

confided. ‘I am going to indulge in some splendid sport in  
the Caucasul,'‘Tl^Spprt$nun’s Paradise".’’* But there was  

no word for Queert-Vietdrii? though perhaps the Maha-  

rajah’s odd communicatiof>4Q^r daughter Vicky. Crown  

Princess of Prussia, was meant for her eyes also, for it was  

sent to Osborne when the addressee was in fact in Germany.  



The crown princess immediately sent the letter on to her  
mother, asking for advice as to how’ to reply.  

 

My beloved Mama. To my great surprise - } today r^frived the  

enclosed! I hope you will tell me ivJietfirr I am to send an answer  

ot twat, vf « - in v/hit terms'. I cannot help feeling tetty for him  

& regretting that he has l^ien into such bad hands. & become  

soured and an enemy to England!  

 

I was fold the Maharajah was still very grateful to y®** foi the  
kindness you showed him personally. - Perhaps there might be  

some means ofbringing him to his senses & back to the nght road.  

He may have some real grievances too.  

 

IVhy he should wticc to me I am sure t don’t know, - perhaps  

because the German Govt. & Court make such professiori*  

friendship to Russia which I may be supposed to share '*  

 

The Maharajah had enclosed for the crown princess the  

text of a letter he had sent to the Ddify Felegraph which,  

though he complained they had not, they had m faa  
published. It contained a lengthy reiteration of his grievances  

and ended: ‘Yes, I prefer being the puppet of Mr Katkofi*.  

and a Russian subject, to being die dupe of Great Britain, a  

nation which professes to be guided by a high code of  

Christian morality, though practising not even the rudi-  

mentary justice towards her weak victims.' The Maharajah’s  

letter to the crown princess read:  
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Midamc. ThinkinE i. migh. intcrc< '"’’S'h  

 

indii. now lomc .hi.ry y«M ago. I ^ IVJ  

 

presented at Osborne to your Impena! ^ , ..un,e that I  

 

very young and who med '° “'“‘'1 ”,’’,^'p„rio, rhal I am thb  

 

ihouldca-cr become the proud tcbleliirl and larri  
 

day igaimt the government of J which have  

 

injustice, the cruel opposition, and . „„ „ to what  

 

been infiiaed upon me by Englandhave pen Christian  

 

that Power really is. though professing a J , God  

 

Morality. 1 am  

 
inthe Universe, the Bntish Empire ofl eventually.  

 

swindle and fraud will come to ^ '^"“'"'"phbed at Berlin while  

 

Theaccountofthcmannerinwhichl j .nme little amuse-  



 
travelling as ‘Patrick Casey* mosthaveafforded seme little am  

mem to Your Imperial Highness.  

 

Before sending the Maharajah s letter on memo-  

 

for advice, the queen showed it J'effcct his rebel-  

 

randum on the subject indicated the 5 , ‘General  

 
lious aaivitics seemed to be having mo Maicsty for  

 

Sir Henry Ponsonby begs  

 

allowing him to sec this ,L- office do not allow  

 

Dulecp Singh. He suppose that the India  

 

him any of his money? His prod „5d he did not care  

the Irish Secret Press in Paris.  

 
about these proclamations which wou might  

 

if he supplied the Imh rebels in Pans with funds  

become dangerous.'*’ had time to  

 

On IS September 1S87. ‘ was delivered  

 

advise her daughter how to ‘'P'''’ ‘ di,d of coUapse  

 

atBalmoral; ‘Regret inform you M ^u„5 following  

 
suddenly this morning widi renal co p Adand  

 

chill on Friday. Sir William Gull s represen  
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was in attendance. Prince Victor is here. Mother unconscious  

twelve hours before death. Fantily wish buried at Elveden.  

Am arranging accordingly. Everything very quiet. Arthur  
Oliphant.’**  

 

The queen noted in her journal for that day; ‘The unfor-  

tunate M. D.S. has published a most violent, crazy letter,  

speaking of being “the lawful Sovereign of the Sikhs'* and  

"England’s implacable foc“!Hcafd this evening that his poor  

abandoned wife, the M'ce Bamba, had died quite suddenly  

yesterday. How terrible for the poor children, who arc quite  

fatherless & motherless!*  

 

On hearing the news the Maharajah telegraphed to Victor:  
’Heart-broken - can't realize - will write next week.’**  

Queen Victoria sent a message of condolence to the Maha-  

rajah, as did the Prince of Wales. The queen had no acknow-  

ledgement, but the prince showed her his reply which could  

hardly be considered gracious. ‘Bertie came & sat with me  



when I came home,’ she entered m the journal on 7 October,  
 

showed me a really monstrous letter from the Maharajah  

D.S. to Sir Dighton Probyn, who in spite of all the M’s  

violent rebellious letters ic publications, had written in  

Bertie’s name, to console him on the death of his wife. He  

surely must be off his head.’ The letter read;  

 

Sir Dighton Probyn ’sleitcr conveying to me Your Royal High-  

ness’ sympathy in my late bereavement has been forsvarded to me  
from England - Under other eiraimitances J should have felt most  

grateful for Your Royal Highness's condescension, but m the  

present circumstances, while your lUustnous Mother proclaims  

Herself the Sovereign of a throne and an Empire both of which  

have been acquired by fraud by Pious Christian England, and of  

which Your Royal Highness also hopes one day to become the  

Emperor, these empty conventional words addressed to me  

amount to an insult. For Your Royal Highness’s sympathy can  

only be expressed by one fnend towards another-but which can-  

not ever exist between enemies.  

 
signed Dulecp Singh  

Sovereign of the Sikh Nation and proud implacable foe of  

England.*”  
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The secretary of state. Lord Cross, had advised that the  

erow^prineeS’s reply to the Mahanjah’s e..^ mtph  

reasonably contain condolences on the f  
tetnind him that his childt^ w«e fathetle» «  

 

mothctlcss.DutsvhenshownhisIcttcr -nlvatallThe  

 

Cost advised that she would do best not to reply at all.  

queen informed her daughter according y-  

 

1 was juu going to write to you to tend the whm^rcad  

 

the demented Maharajah gave Dertie & wh. I Daveno. -  

 

,o„, a of the ,th ^th u.  
 

where I like to think you ate '"'“’6 " ' ' ", shld,  

 

Ctcrtt (vkho left yciterday) to aik him answer  

 

be sent after this dreadful letter tt^ertie D.S.’s  

 

that it shld. certainly not be Mmt- T^e ^ jj most sad &  

 

conduct politically A: morally « as bad as P° • „ bm  

 
grieves me very much. - Many m«»kes have b«n m a  

he shld. not be so ungrateful for all the gt. kindness  

him...,**  

 

Utd Cross had some gossip for >- 0 ^ on"h“  



 
of Wales had written his private cond ;_.uitine letter,  

wife', death, and received in return a "’f"  

which he showed to me and which made him very angry  

I believe he will send it to the Emperor.  

 

Injuly iSaythcMaharajah'spaironandprotagoni , . ^  

 

fell ilL •M.^atkofTs serious and ou«  

 
me great uneasiness,’ he wrote to his R without  

 

Cheremetoff. Tor were he to die, 1 ifo^Russia  

 

anyone to protect me and might be turn general  

 

through some intrigue at the "High beyond the  

 

his projects could not be said to be a money  

 

plotting stages. Despite lettcis indeed several  
 

wascominginfromindiatosupportn > London  

 

of his so-called princely allies were , whatever  

 

celebrating Queen Victoria's SleoUeesed  

 

moneythcimpovcrishcdThakurSinghm ^  

 

he was probably keeping to himself. T  
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plan 10 enter the Punjab in duguisc, suddenly throw it off.  

and declare himselfthe awaited Guru and their rightful king;  

the Russian military party pretended to approveand promised  

any number of officers to lead his men in revolt against the  

British. There svas another plan to go to Meshed and Merv,  

but his movement toward* Asia was still discouraged by the  

foreign minister. He was heard to complain ‘all is to be  

wretched pcace’.^*  

 
Ada had become a positive block to his mobility. She was  

heavily pregnant and would not let him out of her sight,  

dampinghisenthusiasm and initiatives with feminine reserva-  

tions ; sometimes he thought she might be a British spy and  

would not let her read his mail from India. Following the  

report of Damba's death in the Russian press, the word soon  

went round that she was not the real maharani as had been  

supposed and her posirion in Moscow society was eom-  

prombed. Morale did not improve when lack of funds forced  

them to move to the cheaper Hotel Billow,  

 
To make matters worse, Katkoff died that August. 'Kai-  

kofTs death is indeed a very heavy blow to me,’ he wrote  

CO Count Cheremetoff, a copy of which letter ended up  

in the hands of the Security Police, ‘and I am now left  

without a protector alone in a strange land and the Imperial  



Foreign Office I fear against me; but trusting in God I take  
courage and am ready to meet all difficulties.’^*  

 

On the day after Christmas Ada gave birth to a daughter,  

Paulina Alexandra, at a dme when money was so short that  

the Maharajah was even offering hb rich Indian dothes for  

sale. He wrote to his lawyer settling what was left of his  

property on hb illegitimate child.’*  

 

Even ifKatkoffwas dead, the Maharajah had a few power-  
ful friends with whom to conspire. The newspaper ptc^-  

prietor had asked General Kuhll^rg, head of the boundarj*  

commbsion, to befriend him, but there was little help he  

could give at that time. KatkofTs son-in-law, who was a  

member of the imperial council, and his friends, assured the  

Maharajah that as soon as railway communications were  
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CFtablishcd .o Afghan frondpr Ufa Rusmm avcuU drive  

,hc Drirish OUF of India. Their EO"'"’,"’'"' S  

 

promised, make India over tohrm a, they had ^ ™  

Ly could possibly rule already; Rnisu s sole objeet they  

elaimed, was to weaken the British m  

grand plans, it seemed, were put forward ”  

 

■DalipisnowlivinBinafoorsparadrse-hrmselfasSovere^^^^^  
 

of the Sikhs, the Coekney girl as an t  

 

spy reported. The Maharajahhad also quamlW sA *>m^  

 

ud-Dim a Persian renegade whom >>' f  

him on the Afghan society  

 

prow gf. had made a better impress, on '““"hTd  

 

ind this rankled with the a in  

 
questioned the Persian about *' ^arv ^  

 

India, he replied. ‘there wai not a dog usm’ Nobody  

 

the new generation knew nothing about him . Nobooy  

 

seemed to be taking him seriously. activities of his  

 

The main hope lay in the outcome of «tmt.«  

 

ADC Atoor Singh, who had b'?' ""‘/ff PoS. to  
obtain money from P"^Thcsewouldbcshown  

 

get written assurances oftheir suppon. J .r verify  

 

to the Russian,, who would then send out ribing  



 
them. He was also to obtain money for l c p p  

 

‘highRussianoffidals\andtavmtmfiu^^^  

 

out a plan to cut railway lines and telcg P hhad  

 

Russian force should appear at the of an  

 

been ordered by the Maharajah to CO <r-rinE to help  
 

unsigned letter he had received from ^  

hU cause in any possible way. Introducing h.s semnt  

unknown well-wisher, the Maharajah ha w  

 

My unknown friend. I received your letter me  

 

whi/h made me happy, but you must be careful m wntmg^  

for your own sake. Your letter appeared name, may  

 

opened. I pray to God that your s«wd. Y ^  
 

not fall into the hands of the Bnnsh Gove ^ special  

 

Way to communicate important news wou ereat, and he  

 

messenger to me. The expenses would not c >  
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could come from Calcutta by a French boat to Port Said, and from  

there to Consiiniinoplc, and via Odessa. A French passport would  

be better than an English one. The bearer of this will give you news  

by word of mouth. Please help him in every way.^’  

 

Aroor Singh, bearing this message, had duly proceeded to  

India by a complicated route designed to outwit British spies.  

Scaeted on his person was hts master's appeal to his ‘Brother  

Princes of Hindustan’;  

 
We send our faithful and trusted Aroor Singh from here to  

announce to you our arrival in Russia and to inform you that we  

shall soon come to India to your assistance. Therefore, believe no  

repora to the contrary whether they be published by the British  

Government or by the newspapers. We shall give our life to free  

you from the English yoke, and only ask you to be prepared for  

your deliveranee, for by the aid of the Almighty we shall succeed  

But as it is necessary that we should report to the Emperor of  

Russia who among you ate for His Imperial Majesty and who for  

the continuanee of the British rule, therefore, we request you to  

inform by word of mouth only our trusted Ambassador on which  
side you mean to take part in the coming struggle.  

 

If you should decide on serving the Emperor then confirm your  

fidelity to His Imperial Majesty by sending some kind of token, in  

order that you might not lose thcreward for your preferred loyalty  



on the day of the defeat of the accursed British.  
 

Look to the efficiency of your armies and get them in order.  

 

The above is our address should you wish to communicate duect  

with us, but we advise you not to write to us for fear of your  

letters falling into the hands of the British Government.  

 

Dalip Singh.  

 
Sovereign of the Punjab.^®  

 

Another letter for delivery was to the ex-king of Oudh.  

then living in some comfort and contentment on a pension  

considerably larger than Duleep Singh’s, in Calcutta;  

 

With great joy I announce to you that I have reached Russia  

and hope through the mercy of God and with the aid of the  

Emperorof Russia soon to come to India and deliver your Majesty  

from the hands of the accursed Eti^ish and to replace you on your  

throne.  
 

 

 

‘ENGLAND’S PROUD IMPLACABLE FOE’  

 

You and 1 though placrd in similar drcumstanco by the same  

wicked hand, yet I hi« reached this great Empire, while you are  

still in the hands of your enemies, therefore. I advise you to be  

very careful.  

 

Many Princes of India have written to say that they will assist  
me both with their armies and money. Also some 45,000 Sikhs in  

the British army in India are with the entire Punjab Joya! to me,  

but as I desire your Majesty to join us also, 1 therefore address  

you on the subject.  

 

Please do not write, but send me some token that I may be  

assured of your goodwill also to the glorious cause of liberating  

our mother country from the hateful yoke of the accursed English  

rule ...3'  

 

Aroor Stngh had not been long enough in India to fulfil  

any part of hh mission when he called, as instructed, on the  
writer of the friendly letter to Moscosv. The man turned out  

to be a Bengali and the two were soon entering into a con-  

spiratorial conversation concerning the Maharajah’s great  

plans. Invited for a drive by his new friend, their horse-drawn  

conveyance drove straight into the police compound where  

Aroor Singh was promptly arrested. The amiable Bengali  

was in fact a police inspector who had written a dummy  

letter to the Maharajah which bad completely taken him in.  

Aroor Singh's compromising papers were confiscated and  

interrogation began. Triumphant British police officers con-  

sidered him ‘a man of no great intelligence’ and it v.’as sug-  
gested that he might be a ’plant’ from the other slde.’^ But  

his interrogaton had some difficulty in extracting informa-  

tion. According to Colonel Hendenon of the Police Depart-  

ment: ‘His story is that he was sent by Dalip Singh for the  

sole object of raising money in India and was told not to  



show his face again unless he returned with a large sum.  
Aroor Singh is a dull, heavy man and to all appearances about  

as bad a messenger as Dalip Singh could have chosm.*^^ His  

captors were undecided about the way he should be treated :  

’The prisoner having asked me for some ice. brandy, claret  

and Vichy water, I propose to supply him at present with  
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such stimulants as the medical officer may recommend, and  

1 would request instructions if he can have ice or Vichy  

vsfater,’^* the commandant of the Chunar prison wrote to  

his superior. But Aroor Singh appeared to have had no in-  

hibitions in his conversations with the secret agent who had  

brought about his arrest. This intelligence was incorporated  

in a report to Mortimer ‘Durand, the Indian Government  

foreign secretary:  

 

Plan of Campaign; As soon as the Russians have completed the  
Railway they are making through Central Asia (which is expected  

to be in about a year and a halff. a Russian army accompanied by  

Dalip Singh is to invade India, the native soldiers who will be sent  

to the front with the British army on reaching the neighbourhood  

of the Russians, arc to desert and place themselves under the com-  

mand of Dalip Singh, whilst the native soldiers on their way to  

the front are suddenly to mutiny, loot the stores and attack the  

Brimh regiments: at the same rime arrangements will be made to  

destroy railway and telegraph wires all over the country; and to  

enable the people, in certain places, to rise against British rule the  

native sutes are ar this rime to declare themselves for Dalip Singh  
and to attack the British with their armies.  

 

After Plans; When the British have been turned out of India,  

Rssssia is to be recompestsed by receisdng double the amount  

incurred by her for the expenses of the war ... a yearly tribute is  

also to be paid to Russia. Dalip Singh is to be installed as ruler of  

India, and is to be helped by a Supreme Council, the country to  

be governed on liberal principles and the people to be allowed to  

have local selC-govemmenr and freedom of speech.  

 

For correspondence, a crude and cumbersome cypher is used, m  

which each fetter of the alphabet is repr e sented by a number of  
dots correspondmg with its numerical position.^*  

 

The police in India, svith mctnories of the mutiny, were  

keeping a close eye on the situation and thetr spies were  

successfully infiltrating the Duleep Singh plotters. Thafcur  

Singh, supposedly out of their clutches in French Pondi-  

cherry, was under surveillance. He was in bad health and  

short of money, but there was reason to believe that he had  

successfully suborned a senior officer and a number of Sikh  
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soldicn who had slipped into Pondicherry to enlist in the  

Maharajah’s name.  

 

Tlsahur Singh was soon to die, and it was rumoured in the  

hazaan that he had been poisoned by Uritish agents. With  

Aroor Singh in gaol, the Maharajah's only effective ally was  

now tlie mysterious Kashmiri Abdul Rasul, now styled  

’privatcsecrctary’, who hadcomc over from Paris tojoin him.  

Abdul Rasul, who spoke fluent English. Persian, Turkish,  
Arabic, liindustaniand Kashmiri, had settled in London after  

the Russo-Turkish war and started an anti-Uritisb newspaper  

in Persian. His description, according to the police file, was  

unprepossessing: ‘Age about 47: height 5' 6*; fair com-  

plexion. medium build, true type of Kashmiri in appearance  

with a very quick nervous expression: marked strongly from  

small pox, has a scarlike deep bum on bis left cheek or ehiri,  

dividing a closely cropped grisly beard. The hair does not  

grow on this scar.’’*  

 

In 1SK4 he had joined Wolselcy’s Nile expedition at inter-  
preter, but had been suspected of carrying on intrigues with  

the Mahdi. He had been put on trial but had been released  

on lack ofcvidosce, though he subsequently admitted to the  

Maharajah that in fact he had been an enemy agent. Abdul  

Rasul svas a man of parts and had useful contacts through-  

out the Mediterranean, including Zobair Pasha, Gordon’s  

former colleague in the Sudan. That disenchanted cx-slavcr  

could hardly be likely to love the British: he himself had been  

imprisoned in Gibraltar, his money had been confiscated,  

and his son had been shot for continuing the slave trade. But  

even the wily professional Abdul Rasul was no match for  
the British- A native agent of the police, referred to in reports  

only by the initials *A.S.’, and to the conspirators as ‘The  

Father of the Turban' on account of his large floppy head-  

gear. gained Abdul Rasul’s complete confidence, travelling  

with him on his mission to the Mediterranean and sending  

reports to his masters in India covering every aspect of the  

great intrigue, which included the closing of the Suca Canal  

and causing uprisings in the Sudan.  
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The crafty ‘Father of the Turban' even got to see the great  

Zobair in Cairo and duly reported his encounter to the Indian  

authorities:  

 

I saw Zobair Pasha today and A.IC (Abdul Rasul] explained in  

Arabic that ! am a fellow countryman of the Maharajah. When I  

took leave Zobair said (m Arabic namUted by A.R.) that being  
of the same complexion, he had a great regard for the people of  

Hindustan and was ready to assist the Maharajah with person,  

wealth and men; he could not publish his plans but would do  

everything. He regretted that of the so ctorcs of people in India  

nothing can be done against the English. He said that he always  



understood the Sikhs are brave but unfortunately had no hopes  
from them; his own people though few in number are ready  

to fight.  

 

I represented that the Sikhs are unarmed but he replied this  

was the case of the Sudanese but they possessed themselves of  

the arms of the Englishmen. He told me to give Salam to the  

Raja of Faridkoc and Bawa Khem Singh, and bid them to raise a  

revolt in the Punjab when he gave a signal by a hostile attack on the  

Englbh.  
 

A.R. told me afterwards that Zobair's plan is to close the Suez  

Canal and that until this is done, the English power in India cannot  

be shaken. The Sultan's tninbtcrs whoarc favourable to the Englbh  

arc not concerned in thb plan but only some of them who arc  

favourable to Russia and also to Dalip Singh. The plan will be  

carried out soon and the Canal will be entirely dosed  

 

But all thb was mere plotting. Nothing was aaually hap-  

pening to make the Mahar^ah feel that he was striking a  

positive blow at hb enemies. He seemed to be losing hb  
nerve: sometimes he would be in tears, bewailing the day he  

had ever Ibtcned to Thakur Singh who had led him into such  

treacherous depths, cursing the Indians for their infirmity of  

purpose and lack of generosity, and the Russians for not  

taking him seriously.  

 

Indications of hb moods and activities filtered back to  

London through the reporc of the Bnnsh vice-consul in  

Moscow:  
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fticDd Of mine .he other d.y .ta » J  

 

i, very .U sf.er ‘toLlrhl <■“  

 

y'j::°.^d”re™,r. .o'?”nee. for. he ..id! •. find . cso do no yood  

 

'’i:;.„yhon,.hevhi.,<^h^o;;^;^^^^  

reached me. 1 have ‘ „ Ujvc the country. In a  

 
'.o’lTott rerir. .0 you nrore ful.y md  

definitely on the subject.  

 

2;ili February u M.Mr.iiDahn Singh has left Hotel  

 

'“Hf.Llo'Eh.nVen.hs.hcin.^d,^  

 

■^vr;;eTr:’.hrDX' -v'l':’'"' “  

 

of .hrei!^. .. .0 uh.. he e.n snd w.ll do.  

 
A. the beginnin 6 ^ v{^Jv5”iilmwlte5 at the Hotel  

 

r;;?t.trr?unh\?r%r.;\va. receW^^^^^ in July fro- sn  

 

English traveller pasting through the etty.  



 
Another penon of sehojlheards-smethingatKieff-^^^^^^  

 

Singh. He ” he-E 'v t,"“i'» »«kt hat been twice oHicially  

west of KiefTand within the lart six wee  

 

viiitcd there by G'""*) 1". , and who last winter had  

 

The English girl with JJ’,, w, wife and he himself  

 
a child by him. it apparendy rccogniwo German  

 

is known in Kieff as the -Indun Secretary, inter-  

 

somewhat vaguely attaehed to ^ j,! affairs would appear  

 

pretcr and general factotum and his financial  

 

to have improved. , ^ of my Panslavist  

 

I may add while on g,a seen Jamul-udJm  
 

acquaintances, a Russian otTia .  
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during hii v«it to thii country, seemed much impmsed by the  
prospect which that imposter had held out of a general rising in  

India, whenever the Kussiam chose to give the tigna!.-**  

 

As he could hardly return to his estate in England, the  

Maharajah had the idea ofbu^ng one in Russia and becom-  

ing a Russian citizen. He had ‘taken refuge’ in a village in the  

neighbourhood of Kieff. where there was good shooting.  

But money was short and plans were developing with de-  

pressing slowmess. Lord Cross, who was then slaying at Bal-  

moral. had some recent intelligence to impart to Lord  

Dufferin; *So far as I can team Dulcep Singh begins to sec  

that he has failed in a dangerous game, and talks of going  
to Algiers or Italy; but he is a dangerous and crafty fellow,  

and for anything I knosv all this may be put forward as a  

blind; but I believe that as far as Russia is concerned, for  

some reason or ocher she is not inclined to take him up. and  

wishes, for the present at alt eveno, to act in a conciliatory  

manner towards England.*'**  

 

The British Foreign Office was under the impression that  

the Maharajah planned to move on to the Crimea and thence  

to Tiflis. In fact he had decided to return to Paris for a time,  

to raise money by the sale of jewellery he had deposited  
with his agent, and from there carry on the struggle in any  

way that presented ioelf. He was again in a hopeful mood -  

he had just completed his fiftieth year and according to the  

Guru’s prophecy ‘in the first battle he would be defeated and  

he would lake refuge in a little village where the spirit would  



fall upon him and he would know himself. Thenceforward  
bis career would be murnpham.’**  
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‘Apologizing All Round*  

 

 

The Maharajah waa back in Paris at the beginning of  

November 1888. Though his rebellious plans had been foiled  

by the political climate, hit pride would not allow him to  

admit defeat even if a part of him wanted a icconciliaiion  

with his imagined persecutors. He maintained that ninety  

per cent of the Indian princes were behind him and that at  

soon as the Russians had finished building their railway, they  
would move towards India. He claimed to have forty  

thousand Sikh troops on whom he could count absolutely  

and voluntcen from Ireland. Hungary. Austria, Prance and  

Germany ready on his command to proceed to the Indian  

frontier without pay. That he needed million to train and  

equip his army, he admitted, and if it did not seem to be  

forthcoming from his brother princes, that was because it  

would be difficult for them to send it without incurring  

British suspicions. That was the story he gave to the Paris  

concspondtnt of Tlir Staniafi. He closed the interview in  

typical Maharajah style; ‘You »vill sec. I shall make my  
appearance in India. I do not care a jot for my life, and I am  

certain of being supported by my people. I may be beaten,  

but 1 do not believe it, and at least I shall either die or be  

victorious.’* To another journalist be described the British  

as ‘a thieving, hypocritical Christian nation, grabbing at  

what docs not belong to them all over the world*. He con-  

tinued in top form:  

 

Let them wail a bit. In less than three yean - in less than two  

perhaps - I and my 250,000.000 ftltow-eountrymen will have  

driven them out of India. I am working quietly, secretly, but  
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none the l«s surely, and in rbe long run we shall see who will pre-  

vail. I am the proud and implacable foe of England. Individually  

I do not hate Englishmen, from whom, during the coune of my  

thirty-two years’ residence in their country. I received much  
kindness. But as a nation I hate them. I am laying my plans for  

a grand emp . ! intend to consolidate the natives of India against  

the common enemy. No compromise with the British Govern-  

ment is possible now. I would not even accept from it the  

indemnity 1 originally asked. It is war to the knife. Wait and see!'  



 
He was still playing the role of the sovereign of the Sikhs,  

and planned to revive an order of chivalry created by Runjit  

Singh for distribution in Russia and elsewhere to worthy  

adherents. To the people of India be addressed another of his  

proclamations: ‘Countrymen, be brave!' he exhorted them.  

‘Be great and noble, like your anceuorsl Remember that  

only in unity can strength be found against our enemies.'^  

Once again he opened up a correspondence with the queen,  

bofdly asking hernocso much for the return of his dominion,  
which he said was not hers to bestow, but for his family  

jewel, the Koh-i^nooforatleast its value in cash from herown  

 

 

 

Madam, While residing in England, 1 appealed both to your  

Majesty and to England's Prime Minister the Marquis of Salisbury,  

for justice. I asked that a competent Court of Law Lords of the  

House of Peers pronounce judgement upon the conduct of your  

Indian Adminbtration towards me. your unfortunate Ward, be  

appointed: but I suppose as your Majesty is a Constitutional  
Sovercign.justicc was refused me. And for the same reasons, it will  

be useless for me to demand the restoration of my Kingdom,  

ssvindled from me by your Christian Government, but which I  

hope shortly, by the aid of Prosndencc. to tcuke from tny robbers.  

 

But my diamond, the Koh-i-noor, I understand, is entirely at  

your own penonal disposal. Therefore, believmg your Majesty to  

be 'the most religious lady* that your subjects pray for every  

Sunday, I do not hesitate to ask that diis gem be restored to me,  

oT else that a fair price be paid for it to me out of your privy purse  

By such an act of justice, your Majesty would acquire a dear  
consaence before God, before whom aU of us, whether Christians,  
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N^ahommcdan j or Sikh*, mmi render jn actouni of deeds done in  

the body and fdfd the lawofChritt. thu* washing your hands of  

at leait one of the Mark M'orkf of your Majesty's righteous  

Covemmenc.  
 

Remember that the tenets of Christianity teach every true  

believer to defraud no man and to do to othen as you would wish  

that they should do unto you.  

 

The T reaty of the annexation of the Punjab was extorted from  

me» when 1 was a mere infant of some eleven years of age by my  

Christian Guardian, for his own benefit, and by that illegal instru-  

ment he confiscated both my diamond and my dominions.  

 

!iut as that Treaty was abrogated by the arbitrary interpretation  
of its stipulations by yout Government, in its ossts favour, 1 demand  

andrecUim the restoration ofmyjewel and of my sovereign rights,  

of which 1 was defrauded by the perfidious representative of  

 

England.  



 
f pray your Majesty to forgive any apparent expression of dts-  

r«pect that may appear in my letter. It is unintentional. I would  

not willingly be diseourteous to any Sovereign, and far lets to your  

Majesty, who is not only a lady, but who penonilly showed to  

me the kindness ofa Mother during my long sojourn in England  

and exile from my native (and.  

 

( have the honour to subscribe myself. Your Most Gracious  

Majesty, The deeply wronged legitimate Sovereign of the Sikhs,  
Dulcep Singh, Maharajah.'  

 

He sent a copy of his letter to the queen to his neighbour  

in Norfolk, Lord Wahingham. T doubt that you will  

approve of it,* he wrote, 'but my object is to try to make  

the D. Govt, to explain before Christendom why it was that  

I have been dispossessed of my kingdom by Christian  

England.* He ended with a request that must have seemed  

oddly juxtaposed with its impertinent enclosure: ‘I had  

definitely arranged to return to Russia in July next. If any of  

your friends have a pup or two (setters or pointers) that they  
have no use for themselves would you mind asking /or two  

for me and send them to Hveden from where they will be  

forwarded to me. S asfc this favour for the sake of old times.  

 

Victor was angry and embarrassed when Walsingham  
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showed him bis father’s letter. He had returned to England  

from Canada, where he had teen sent as ADC to Sir John  

Ross so that he might be kept away from what Cross called  

‘evil influences’,* to discuss the possible sale of Elveden. The  

Maharajah, when pressed to sell by his friends in order to  

provide for his family, had declared 'it must rest on my son’s  

wishes’/ It was quite clear to the son that if hk father con-  

tinued on hk present course there was no hope at all of retain-  

ing it. Victor could see that hk father’s proclamations and  

vengeful outbursts were damaging the family interests and  
wrote imploring him to give up hk 'mad schemes’* and to  

come back to them as a father. Arthur Oliphant. at that time.  

suggestedtoPonsonby that Victor might personally influence  

affain: *1 should be very glad to hear,’ he WTore, ‘that it is  

deemed expedient for Victor to visit hk father, for, in my  

opinion, such a meeting could not result in harm to the son  

-- and might do good to the father.’’  

 

In the same letter Oliphant indicated that the other  

children hoped that Elveden might be retained: ’Princess  

Bamba has a most difficult disposition - & we think it is very  
probable that she would be more inclined to accept the  

situation in which the family is now placed if the old home  

at Elveden were finally dkposed of. 1 believe there k a con-  

stant hope on her part that somehow or other they will be  

able to get back there. 1 know Prince Victor also entertains  



a similar empty hope. Princess Catherine shares Bamba’s  
views on the subject; the two litde ones only arc content as  

they arc ... Prin« Frederick, whenever he can get away  

from Cambridge, spends some days at farmhouses on the  

esute.’ Ceruinly Frederick wanted to keep the place going;  

like hk father he was a first-class shot and he used to bring  

over from Cambridge hk fellow undergraduate, the future  

Lord Rothschild, for a day’s shooting, for which he chained  

 

^lO.  
 

A week after Oliphant suggested that Victor might go  

over and see hk father, a celebration took place m Pans to  

which he was not invited. None of the children of the first  

 

 

ago  

 

 

QUEEN VICTORIA'S MAHARAJAH  

expressed during the last few days the following: “Thai if he  
does not obtain from India the pecuniary aid which he  

expects, he might find himself in extreme poverty, in which  

case he thought the Government would show its mag-  

nanimity by giving him back his rejected stipend on his  

returning here ‘and apologinng all round' : His mental con-  

dition is a curious study.’’**®  

 

‘Apologising all round' might have been an effective way  

out of an ambivalent situation in early editions of The Boys'  

Own Book, but Lord Cross, to whom Oh'phant's informaoon  

was forwarded, responded in a manner that implied the  
Maharajah was hartUy ‘playing the game’: ‘Viscount Cross  

... is quite aware that the Maharajah, who has sold his jewels,  

is becoming poorer every day, and that at the present  

moment he is increasing his endeavours to do mischief,  

especially through his agents in Pondicherry.'**  

 

It may have been true that dissident Sikhs were still turning  

up in French Pondicherry, but now that Tbakur Singh was  

dead there was not much to be hoped for from that quarter.  

Nor had the Maharajah's latest plea to the Sikhs, issued  

from Geneva on 25 June 1889. as yet brought in any of the  

funds it so earnestly requested;  
 

Beloved FcUow-Counnymen. It is with feelings of deep grati-  

tude and sincere pride that we thank you for the offer of your  

lives to the sact^ cause of Freedom of which we are the  

champion.  

 

But as you say that you have no money to give, it becomes  

necessary for us to explain how small a sacrifice is asked of you to  

enable us to enter India vridi a European army and deliver you  

from the accursed British Raj.  

 
Beloved fellow councrymen. jxwi number m all Indu some  

250,000,000 souls, and if each of you would subscribe only one  

pice during eight or tune months, the required sum would be  

raised and surely this is within the means of us all  

Believe not that this money is for our personal use.  



 
Our personal necessities are provided for from our own slender  

resources and you must bear m mind that all eontribunons will  

be receipted for with tokens, by authorized agents appointed by  
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„ co,:joindy «ith .he comminte of "f “SI  

 

oo, .eion. amooB you .ho« .olcn. u-Jl be redeemed by » «..b  

 

eebBi^*- You number about «.^.ooo 'J' y,  

 

bebeve .hat to none of you * P” J„„di  

 

in the name of Sri Guru Govind Singh Ji. one anna  
during eight inonthi' time. eontribute  

 

And above all thinga. do »e done diat tn^ " ^  

 

■hould K-nd on delegate, to .be ^o^' «■ ‘ J ^  

 

deliberation, and .uperin.end <1^ ^ m . . .  

 

ate tubwribed for the put chaw of arm. chotne between  

 

Tbemomen.i.ra...rrro.chingwbenyuumuu^r^_^b«^^^^^  
independenee and eternal .lave^- p , nf conflict i. near. In  

 

ha, .Men word, which .bow that thebou of  

 

that conflict England mult be anay^ P „„  

 

Will be your own fiult. if thctc Inm  

 

»tiUunce. . - j.— f that frotn the  

 

And in the provt.ion, for the future, w e deeree  

 
date of thu our ptewnt Iboyal ,1| Hmdu-  

 

„..Cow killing i, r‘’»'“lYP'£“^;dr»>'0 h‘”  

 

.tananda.compenutiontotheMohatnrMdan^^^^  

 

to enjoyed thi. r''T'''P; .i'Lu'be paid upon our arnval in  

a pecuniary Indemnity which .hall be p pu  

 

'"‘‘■'j wu , nP.ll taxe. to die Britbh Government i, for-  

 
and. The payment of all '‘ee. ' „,„dcd to refuw com-  

 

bidden and the population n h ,11 who dhobey ihK  

 

plianee wid. every order for j me.nnme .hould  



 
decree will be properly puni.brf later ano ■  

 

be put out of carte immediately by o . ' jp-yduted and all  

 

3.d, The Public debt of India « „ P niPve. a,  

 

lUilway and telegraph line, are “f" , period of at  

 

may have held .tock in either o sovereign  
 

lea,, three year, prior to dre publication of tbi.  

deeree. .hall be Kcured againit dl lo...  

 

Tbi, exception applie. to „„ine practical patriot,.  

 

bythciract..hallprovcthcmKlv ^ exceed. 5 per cent per  

 

adi. All debt, upon which the “r j p,ove that he  

anJum are abolUhed. ’»be«  

 
ha. contributed liberally to die aucee.. of  

 

 

 

QUEEN Victoria's maharajah  

 

5 th. All persons imprisoned by the British authorities shall be  

released from confinement and their places in jails shall be occupied  

by those who, having means at thdr disposal, have refused to sub-  

Kiibc to the fund for the hbetation of their native country.  

 
6th. All persons who have suffered from the tyranny and in-  

justice of the accursed British Gos-emment will be reinstated as far  

as practicable upon their thrones and in their rights after a  

scrupulous investigation of their grievances.  

 

yd). As soon after our return to India as circumstances will permit  

a plebiscite vrill be held in every province, not under the rule of  

anyNativePrince.and the people called upon to select the govern-  

ment of its choice. For example Bengal will be permitted to try  

the virtues of the Republic.  

 

8th. All Hindus, Sikhs, Mohammadans and Chnstians are invited  
to Oder up prayers to God for our triumph, and upon furnishing  

evidence that they have so done, all shall be rewarded, according  

to the well known liberality of our ancestors, as soon as by the aid  

of the Almighty and the material support of Russia, we will appear  

again among you as a conqueror.  

 

As circumstances may oblige us to be scrupulously prudent, it  

may so happen that we might be prevented direci future com-  

munication with our beloved fellow countrymen, who in that cue  

are invited to atuch to all proclamations issued by the Executive  

Committee the same impoiiance as if they have our royal  
signature.  

 

Dalip Singh.  

 

Sovereign of the Sikh Nation and Implacable Foe of the British  



Government.**  
 

A first-hand report on the 'implacable foe' came from  

Arthur Oliphant in mid-September:  

 

Lut week 1 went to Paris . . . for a few days. While there 1 saw  

the Maharajah more than once. Hu Highness introduced me to 'his  

young wife', as he termed her, fit she u young, (only a year older  

than the eldest daughter Princess Bamba). She u a pleasant man-  

nered person, and speaks English well, but with an accent. The  
Maharajah was exceedingly pleasant to me - and thanked me  

heartily for my care of his chUdien. He had my father's picture tn  
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hi, ,p.„mcn. .nJ ,.id he i, nce-„ «uho., i..  

 

rer.“:rT;ireS"ESre'’h~ ■= -p-  

 
He did not uy if he intend, teiumme "> "hmite.  

 

At the beginning of 1890 “ lemj'in'^'nf the  

 

that undermined ,, ®.g:, ,„ill hotel bedroom  

 

Maharajah-,f.ghting,p.rit.Alonein^ 1 '"  

he had a ttroke. Uncertain “f ' „d „tcn a  

 

affliction, he had ,taggctcd out into the  

 
driv:“anrotrd";rMo'oh;:^feTno.h^^  

 

hU face. ^ l occurrence in the  

 

Victor, who had sew a report l ..^cd to Paris. He  

papen. got leave from Ins wjd, the army  

 

him, elf wa, in a gloomy , .j, had been served  

 

in Canada he had got itito *bt and ^  

by a money-lender. Going to N penniless. He  

 
wife he hid falien in love With g Hauchtcrofabankcr,  

 

had then transferred hn alfecnon, to 'b' ^“P'“,ir„,.,i. hot  

described by him '’’“natch ^nation for  

 

her father had refused to allow without his status as  

 

Victor was critical: his father mig financial future de-  

 

a rebel being reviewed. Vi«oVhXtothe^^  

pended on his inheritance identify himself m any  
 

to consider also. He had no wi Punjab, only to  

 

way with India and his f**"* much of an English-  

 



sctlle down in England and hew father Victor used all  
man as possible. In his talk* ^is fatherj.ct  

his powers of persuasion to • -Awards his family-  

 

schemes’** and accept his responsi thing  

 

It was not too difficult to make him agree tn  

a8$  
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for everybody was for him to ask the queen for a pardon.  

The ailing Maharaj'ah was pleased to leave it to Victor to be  

the ‘go-between for a recondliation'.’*  

 

On 2 April, Cross wrote to Lord Lansdowne, the new  

viceroy: 'I fancy he (the Maharajah] is in a bad way and  

getting worse both morally and bodily. His eldest son has  

been over to Paris once or twice, 1 am sorry to say. They  
will not do each other any good. The son has committed an  

act of bankruptcy; 1 cannot pay his debts again, but I mean  

to keep him in the army ifl can. He is, however, a thorough  

oriental in extravagance.'*’ Like his father’s, Victor's money  

troubles were to be a continuing source of worry to the  

queen.  

 

It was not until the middle of July that plans to ask for a  

pardon began to mature. Ponsonby had news of them from  

the ever-informaiive Oliphant:  

 
I write these lines to say that I have heard from P. Victor  

Duleep Singh just now ... to inform me that his father is no wone,  

altho’ he seems very much weaker. P. Victor also says that his  

father is going to write the Queen for pardon - and leave to return  

to England P. Fredenckisabotberebybisfather'srequesthelping  

his brother & his father's wife to nurse the Maharajah - Victor has  

written toaDoctor to send a man-nurse at once; 6; has begged me  

to write to his sisters, who are at Cassel. to tell them that their  

father is til, that the two brothers are with him, & that there is no  

danger, & ( am to suggest that they voJI be so pleased to hear of  

their father's desire to rerun*.  

 
P.S. Since receiving P. Victor’s note I went to Lincoln's Inn &  

saw Mr Burrell of Farrcr &r Co., rhe MR's soliciron - Mr BurreD  

went to Paris on Sunday night by Maharajah's desire — & Mr  

Burrell says that the left leg & side are paralized [nr] - & the left  

side of the face b drawn - but that the M.R. can move hb left  

hand. He said that the Donor was of the opinion that he should be  

moved out of Pans speedily. Mt Burrell said the Maharajah was  

calm— & be was not surprised to hear from me of the intention to  

ask for pardon - Mr Burrell appears to think that the M.R. will  

never walk, agam - & that another stroke may possibly foUow soon.  

Ifthe poor deluded M.R. only Rturned to ^gland to die, it vvould  
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. maitct of con.o1..ioo to the children  

teen h.d fotgieen h.m, I U..II be pletted if I can be of any  

service.* **  

 
UdyLocin wit altoanttiom to beofiervta: the Mahara-  

jah had wrftten to tell her that he had a, led for pardon and  

in a letter to Pon.onby the claimed tome credit ^  

in the affair: 'I hope 1 may not be deemed too  

but I ihould be molt deeply gtatefol if you  

 

the Queen hai granted the pardon loughi. 1  

 

Hand my motive in aiking thii. 1 told ^ . waithen  

 

than once urged thiiitep on the Maharajah, ^ h  
 

too mad to yield. God however ti omnipotent and  

 

'’‘^n'ia'lul'y '.hc Maharajah had a lurpriie vilitor. It wa, hh  

fri™dfJim«rlieedayi.\onaldteilie-Mrf^^^^^^^^^  

 

Leven. who 'happened to be m Paru 3iid_ .  

 

a call. The Mihitajah had been moved into a larg .  

airy room.  

 
He wai a pid.ble light (Uven “ .^“"""nd'dr^ me  

left lide paralyied. he held out a “'"’“"^"f^rfor coming -  

losvards him, tc with fioodi of tean everybody, he  

 

over over again. He wished to be » pc for all he had  

 

i,id:.ndrepea,edlyearre,wd.heo|mo«eon.m^^^^  

 

done. It Kcmed indeed as if his deep ic g Imcw) had  

 

youth he wa, the molt truly " ecM wiy he  

 
returned - and I troll it hav He °VJ,7h’/”ad w""'”' "  

 

had behaved towards Her Majesty, & mic»ht craeiously be  

 

rather dieuted. a letter, in the hope that ' ^™Vth^  

 

pleased to forgive him - He Y4aue!itly his dc^P  

 

Prince of Wales ... He expressed & thusLoughc him  

 

tothc Almighty for having struckhim . always coherent.  
 

to a sense of his wrong doing - but he ^ i, hardly  

 

and I think now, a, I have long  

 



responsible forhis actions. His doctor, whoa f. that he  
 

tells me the M. was even theri J^r^s often the  

 

does not doubt his brain and liver are a  

case with that disease.*®  

 

 

287  

 
 

 

QUEEN victoria’s MAHARAJAH  

 

Cut despite his shocking state of health the Maharajah  

appeared not to have lost all his old spirit. He ulked ‘openly'  

to Ronald Leven about his lecent adventures in Russia and  

told him that 'they could do nothing now, but when they go  

to war with us tfirn they would arrange matters with him',^‘  

an attitude that did not seem to relate to the humility he  

expressed in the letter just written to the queen and which he  
now showed to Leven*.  

 

May it please Your Majesty, My son Victor is writing iWs letter  

from my dictation - 1 have been struck down by the hand of God  

and am in consequence quite unable to write myself- 1 have been  

disappointed in everyone in whom I had been led to believe and  

now my one desire is to die at peace with all men - I therefore  

pray Your Majesty to pardon me for all I have done against You  

and Your Government and 1 ditow myself entirely on Your  

clemency.  

 
It seems to me that it is the will of God that 1 should suffer  

injustice at the hands of Your people.  

 

r can find no one to curse Great Britain and in spice of all her  

faults and her injustices God blesses her and makes her great and  

when I look at her, I feel that in fighting against Yout country I  

have been fighting against God - 1 would return to England were  

I assured of Your free pardon. I am Your Majesty's obedient  

servant  

 

On his return to England Leven hastened to consult that  

other friend and supporter of the Maharajah, the Duke of  
Graftorj. Grafton had already pressed the matter of a pardon  

with Ponsonby: 'I feel that something ought to be done to  

save him from himself, his greatest enemy,’ he had recently  

written. ‘Is there any hope of the Queen accepting his regrets  

and allowing him to return . . . With all his faults he is not  

alone to blame, the Government have behaved worse & they  

are the real cause of the whole case.’ As a near neighbour,  

the duke was also concerned with the situation at Elveden -  

the house denuded of furniture and the shootmg going to  

the dogs: ‘If he does not come it is high time his Estate is  

put in order for it is a disgrace to the Country that such  
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miimanagerrimr ihd. be carried out by Trujtecj appointed  
by the Government. 16,000 acre* without a labourer em-  

ployed except under keepers who arc a dhgracc to the place,  

also men temporarily employed without homes &r living  

where they can, game live dead, eggs sold and all around  

poached for them.’^^  

 

Leven showed Grafton a copy of the Maharajah’s letter  

and produced it again to the third member of the ’Maharajah  

committee’, Lord Hcnnikcr. Hcnniker, who had already had  
a word with the secretary of state for India, Lord Cross, on  

the subject, considered that ‘the clTect on India must be the  

chief consideration',^* in which case it must have been clear  

to them both that a pardon might be the most cffeciivc way  

to mutile the Maharajah for all time by publishing his sub-  

mission and demonstrating clemency. Hcnniker took up the  

matter with Ponionby, commenting on the letter's odd com-  

position ; *lt shows to my mind most distinctly that the writer  

is olThis head. The end of it is laughable, w*ere tt not ud  

to think of his being in such a state.’ Hcnniker went on to  

say that he was not very keen on the idea of the Maharajah  
coming to England: as their guardian his main concern was  

the welfare of the children w-ho, under Oliphant’s paternal  

care, were beginning to settle down, even if the latter found  

it 'impossible to gain any confidence in the Princess Uamba,  

who rules the othen’.^’ Hcnniker continued:  

 

Wc have the children in hand, at last now; and if he came back,  

he must take charge of them. He is surrounded by all sorts of  

people who will cling to him if he hat money to give them. He  

is, evidently, not responsible for his actions, & t think Lord Leven 's  

suggestion a good one - that hr should, if he is pardoned, have a  
ccrain income given to him under trust, the residue of his stipend  

to be accumulated for the benefit of his children. If he had jCS<ooo  

a year & we were to go on with the children as we do now, he  

Would have enough to live on, but not enough to encourage those  

who get money out of him . . . The Maharajah would fikc to five  

in luly. Might not thb be better than his return to this country -  

for the present at all events. The question is a mosi difficult one.**  

 

Z89  

 

 

 
QUEEN victoria’s MAHARAJAH  

 

Queen Victoria did not see why she shoidd not have her  

chastened Maharajah back, even if Lord Salisbury was set  

against his returning. *(1) cannot agree with Ld. S's objection  

to this poor unfortunate Maharajah’s return to England as he  

wd. be far safer here,’ she cyphered Lord Cross. ‘I believe  

many feel with me that the former Govt, are very gt!y to  

blame for what has happened & therefore we shd. be  

merciful.’”  

 
In Paris, the Maharajah, and in particular his family,  

anxiously awulcd a reply to his request for pardon. The  

reaction from the palace simply indicated that the matter was  

not to be settled there, but that it would be necessary to apply  

through the correct channel, in this case the scctciaty of state.  



Accordingly he wrote to the despised department, though  
obliquely soliciting the indulgence of the queen rather than  

Cross, her minister; ‘My Lord. 1 write to express my great  

regret for my past conduct towards Her Majesty the Queen-  

Empress oflndia. I humbly ask Her Majesty to pardon me,  

and I trust entirely to the clemency of the Queen.’** If the  

Maharajah had indeed chosen bis words carefully so as to  

avoid prostration before the India Offjce, Lord Cross’s reply  

made it perfectly dear that it was the government to whom  

the petitioner's Mfrimate obedience was required: ‘...I am  
now commanded to inform you that, on the understanding  

that henceforward your Highness will remain obedient to the  

Queen'Empress oflndia. and will regulate your movements  

in conformity with instructions that may be issued to you  

by Her Government, Her Majesty, by the advice of Her  

Ministers, has been graciously pleased to accord you the  

pardon you have sought.’** The Maharajah chose nor to  

reply, getting Victor to acknowledge and say that his father  

was too ill to write.^®  

 

The Maharajah did in fact have a ‘shght relapse’ at the  
beginning of August, and Victor considered himself in duty  

bound to stay with him. The colonel of his regiment ‘flatly  

refused’^' to give him any more leave and it was finally  

agreed that he should leave the army where his performance  

 

ago  
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had not in any ca« ihow*n gttat promuc. But by the middle  

of the month hh father wai apparently well enough to con-  

template a visit to England, which would indulge his restless  

wife, give him some sea air and allow him to see his children.  

Victor informed Ponsonby of the impending vitit: *1 hope  

to bring my father over to England on Tuesday next the  

26ih and 1 have taken No. 6Clifton Gardens, Folkestone, for  

him for one month. Although he is rapidly recovering his  

strength and can now walk a little by himself, his head is  

not quite clear yet and he has been therefore compelled to  

postpone writing to the Queen himself as he has so much  

wished.*-**  
 

The Maharajah arrived in England on the date arranged  

and settled into the small house with Victor and Frederick,  

Ada and her two little children. Oliphani, who had been  

holidaying with the younger children in Lowestoft, had sent  

eleven-year-old Edward and thirteen-year-old Sophia to  

visit their father and meet for the first time their stepmother  

and half-sisten. There was no room for them in the house,  

so they and their nurse stayed at an hotel nearby. Damba and  

Catherine were still at Dresden with their governess Miss  

Schafer, but the)- saw their father when they returned in  
September on their way to Oxford where they had entered  

Somerville Hall. 'The Maharajah was delighted with the  

children,* wrote Anhur Oliphant, 'and was profuse in his  

thanks for our eatc of them.*** Lord Cross, even if it did not  

seem to be any of hh business, wrote to Ponsonby ‘I do  



not want these young ladies to go to D. Singh. They arc  
much better off at Oxford. At the same time if their father  

insists upon it 1 am not quite sure that 1 can prevent it.* The  

queen wrote in the margin ‘think wc cd. ur^e strongly  

agst. it.’*-*  

 

Financial arrangcmcnis for the Maharajah's future had not  

yet been settled, though Grafton and Hennikcr were still try-  

ing to have their plan agreed to by all parties. ‘Pray say  

nothing about it.* the latter had counselled Ponsonby the  
day before the Maharajah’s arrival in England, ‘as the whole  
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thing is very difficulc to arrange at present, with a man who  

is partially mad. & an Indian Council not at all on his side.  

The Queen will understand this, and will know that I do my  
best. I propose to let the M.R. settle down at Folkestone &  

then go there to sec him. Perhaps 1 ought to go to meet him  

but I think not. and I decide to leave him alone for a short  

while.*^*  

 

An account of activities at Folkestone duly reached the  

queen via Oliphanwirt 'hlSTtgidar Reiter to her private  

secfctai'y:  

 

1 think I saw that you were to be at Windsor today so I write  

you a line to say that I went down to Folkestone yesterday and  
lunched with the Maharajah — I found him very feeble — very  

humble - very penitent - poor fellow - but m a better condition  

than Ihad expected. He complained a good deal of a heavy & diny  

sort of feeling in the head - I recommended massage for the  

muscles at the back of the neck, tc he appeared to think well of  

the idea. ... U is very nice to see the thorough understanding  

between the Father and Prince Victor who has been quite a nurse  

and mother &: sister to his Father. - 1 hope that this episode may  

be for Victor's lasting benefit. The MR talks of going to Aix>la-  

Chapelle for baths - and then to winter in Pans.'**  

 

While the Maharajah was takmg the waters at Ai*-la-  
Chapelle a plot had been hatched by Hennikcr and Ponsonby  

for him to meet the quern during one of her trips to the  

Continent. She was to be in France in March of i8pi and  

Victor and Frederick were to arrange for their father to be  

on hand. Thus the Maharajah, who had expressed his tvish to  

see her, was at Nice when she duly arrived at nearby Grasse  

and installed herself and her small retinue at the Grand  

Hotel. The queen had registered on this occasion as the  

Countess of Balmoral and her informal programme on the  

morning ofthe thirty-first had been a drive in a donkey cart  

round Miss Alice de Rothschild's beautiful garden to admire  
her red and mauve anemones which were then looking their  

best. After luncheon at the hotel she received, in the 'small  

drawing room below’, 'the poor misguided Maharajah'.^’  
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She dccribcd ,hc mcennB in  

 

emotion in a letter to her diUKhtcr Vicky.  

 

The ^r °“^"Pthfh“rnV°orFrrf^ri”^^  

 
hiving dnven over from Ni ]„u„t minner it ever,  

 

quite bild & vy. pey “"j' 1^,, he kh«d. md tiid:  

 

When I came m I gave him my paralysed tho  

 

•pardon mynotkneehng fojhwlc .. -j _& almost  

 

he can stand and walk a ^ v^7f.t of crying  

 

directly he burst out into a m l_j:,n servant Muhammed  
 

almost iCTcaming foorf hand. A' he  

 

did when he lott hi, child) - .nd I .tmked & h id h^t ^ _  

 

heeime calm & ,aid: Tr.y mej. fotpvr^^ V ^  

 

amweted -They ate rn'f,"" ofihe o» ofhi, left atm .■ >  

 

brokendownman Ardwclt ^med pleased with the inter-  

 
gt. ttial. - 1 toon took ^";",.tth.. - me. again dr  

 

»'^v7hi'.;:‘H.:ti.onea^^^  

 

Corte,pondeneeteve.UU.a.*eMahat,^^^^^^^^^  

 

the fact that the queen prince of Wales,  

 

for he wrote to complain ah . ■ j he met the  

 

whoseemedtohavehadno.ueh.nh.bitionMvn  

 
tvs s*"  

 

the Maharajah Duleep Smgh. _ Upv,as pretty -but appeared  

 

made the acquaintance othiiwif ^ q j „ho  

 

to me -dc la Jcvtsctic.UcyOTdWiS p„bably U  

 

she wa,. but have been told , You must advise me  

 

Henniker may know about i’" pat. ofhi, letter u  
 

what answer to make & I mus .J . jjthcr ‘crushed* still & not  

 

„o,,impe..inen.-bu.beo dee.dedl,m.her_^^  

 



answerable for what he doc . ,f j,,, wife w  
 

In his reply to the ^SThe^mngements  

 

the queen had nothing at all to ou  
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made for her to meet the Maharajah, adding his first written  

reference to ‘Miss Ashsted’, otherwise the Maharajah's  

former mistress Polly Ash of the Alhambra, and her allow-  

ance ofyCj.ooo a year, which may have been common gossip  

at the India Oflice all along.  

 

Sir Henry Ponsonby wfith his humble duty thinks the best  

answer the PrinceofWalescangivcthe Maharajah is that he knows  

nothing of the arrangements for his visit here as they were made  

by Prince Victor and Lord Hcnnikcr.  
 

Prince Victor, who was at Aachen, wrote j times and tele-  

graphed twice to settle it for his father and said his brother would  

come with the Maharajah.  

 

Mr. Oliphant told Sir Henry Ponsonby that he did not think  

there was anything against the Maharani'scharacter though she was  

of low origin. There was another - a Miss Ashsted (?) who he  

gave j.ooo a year to during his first wife’s life.'**  

 

The Prince of Wales, who probably knew a)] about Miss  
'Ash’, replied : ‘Thanks for your letter of pth. I am nor at all  

keen about entering into a correspondence with the  

Maharajah with reference to the non-reception of the  

Maharanee by the Queen - Sc why on earth he wrote to me  

I don't know. He ought of course to have written to yowl  

but I suppose poor Henniker will have to supply the "broad  

shoulders" on this occasion.'^*  

 

A note by the queen on the draft of Ponsonby’s letter  

indicated that it was not because of her former profession  

that she would not receive the new maharani, but because  

she disapproved of the fact that she had lived with the  
Maharajah during his first wife’s lifetime. As she expressed  

it .the Queen has the strong impression that this Maharani  

has not been correct. Her being an actress wd. not raise any  

objections.'  

 

The next news of the JVIaharajah to arrive at the palace  

came in a letter from Henniker to Ponsonby, dated 8 May:  

 

I hear from Victor Dulcep Stngh that his father is taking rooms  

for the Maharani in Paris, and proposes to take a house near Paris  
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for the summer. I think this h the bc« solution of the present  
difficulty. 1 hope the Queen will think J am right. To have the  

Maharajah over here just now would not be convenient: but 1  

told Victor that I hoped his father would understand that he was  

not prevented from coming to England - only that it seemed  

expedient he should not do so just now. ... He - Victor -- told me  

that the Maharajah was quite svell tn his mind on all ordinary  

topics, but went off at random when speaking of his troubles, and  

on serious business.^*  

 
From Oliphant came the usual comprehensive report on  

his young charges:  

 

Princess Catherine passed her first examination at Somerville  

Hall, but her elder sister Princess Damba failed in French prose and  

translation, tho* she succeeded in grammar. After they came down  

from Oxford they, with Mm Schafer, spent a few days in London  

with Mn Ohphant and me; & saw pictures - went to the opera  

6: concern - Ar they much enjo>'ed it - after that they went to  

Essen whete they spent a few days with their aunt, a daughter of  

old Mr Mullet (their grandfather) who is married to the financial  
manager of Krupp’s wotks. then to Wilhelm (svhicb is dose to  

Miss Schafer's home) and on to Dayreuth - which they very much  

enjoyed.  

 

Then they went to Basle where I sent the younger sister & little  

Edsvard to meet them, and they are now altogerher very happy at  

Hotel Axcmtcin, Lake of Lucerne ... I think Her Majesty will sec  

that improvement has taken place in Princess Damba 's mind, - the  

Ictict (enclosed) from Bayreuth being quite chatty, and showing  

how much they have been inicresicd there.  

 
I shall be very sorry for them if they have to return to their  

father's house, but, ifhc insists. I don's know that there is any course  

for us to pursue than that of yielding to his wish.  

 

There was additional news about the father; ‘1 was in Paris a  

fortnight ago and saw the Maharajah. He is still very weak  

and unable to walk much, f did not like the appearance of  

his face - he looked bloated and unhealthy. In speech he was  

very humble and grateful for all God's mercies; but be did  

not touch on the subject of bis children, iho’ he was pleased  

to hear from me of their well doing.’  
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OUphant added a postscript «diich contained more positis'c  

information of the Maharajah'smovements: ‘The Maharajah  

had contemplated visiting Rome just now with his son  

Frederick, but 1 hear from the latter that he has deferred his  
visit until after the Autumn - The Maharajah's wife is at  

Ostend with her children - Prince Frederick is at Carlsbad  

and Prince Victor is svith his father at St. Cloud.'*^  

 

The younger children spent the summer on the Continent,  



chaperoned by the excellent Miss Schafer. In Ssvitrerland  
Bamba played the part of the queen of Sheba in a tabttau  

vii'cnt and looked, according to her governess, ‘extremely  

weir in her oriental costume. There was an adventure at  

GrindcKvald when the Bear Hotel, where they svere wajing.  

caught fire and some of their belongings were burned. The  

Maharajah, ineansvhile. was taking the waters at Royan, near  

Bordeaux. He was drinking excessively and his health was by  

no means good - 'very indifferent*, according to OUphant -  

‘he it, I fear, a mherable being.'*'  
 

The Maharajah wintered in Algiers, where Victor and  

Frederick joined him; Ada's younger daughter was  

christened Ada Irene Helen Beryl in the English church  

there. Early in 1S93 there was bad ness-s from Oliphant: It  

seemed that thirteen-year-old Edward had returned from  

his preparatory school at Cobham and developed pleuro-  

pneumonia; the doctors feared the worst. The Maharajah  

commissioned Oliphant to send a daily tdegram reporting  

on his son's health.** Although Edward showed some im-  

provement, the doctor said there was no quesuon of going to  
Eton, as he W 3 s supposed to do m April. In that month the  

boy's condition was worse; the tubercular swellings m his  

stomach would not subside. 'The little boy is on a water bed'  

wrote the cver-solidtous Oliphant to Ponsonby for the  

benefit of the queen, *- and life » sustained by Brandy-  

Champagne, Brands Essence, P'alemme and nutrient enemas of  

egg. milfe, etc.' Oliphant feared that it was ‘only a question  

of rime as to the wearing out of the delicate little frame’ **  

Bamba was showmg what Oliphant described as ‘the im-  
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pcrious side of her nature' -• she did not believe in doctors  

and nurses and resented their strict regime. Victor tras’cllcd  

from Paris several times to visit his brother; the Maharajah  

announced that he too planned to come over, though  

Oliphant did not think the vbit at all likely to take place as  

the poor man had recently had two heart attacks.^'^  

 

Nevertheless the Maharajah did manage thejoumey, stay-  

ing at a Hastings hotel fortbesveckend of 24 April. Oliphant  
reported that he was ‘very much overcome on seeing his  

little son. and wept bitterly and loudly - when Prince Victor  

told him he must not do so. he was quiet. He told his little  

boy he had come a long way to sec him. and hoped his  

visit would do him good.’ Before leaving the Maharajah  

wrote on a sheet of paper 'The Lord is my Shepherd* and  

gave it to his son.'**  

 

Queen Victoria had been following Edward's illness with  

concern. There was bad netvs on 2</ April. Oliphant’s last  

read; ‘I sstitc to Inform Her Majesty with the  
greatest regret that the little prince is rapidly failing.’*® A  

week after the Maharajah’s return to Paris, the news came  

of his youngest son's death. He was not well enough to be  

present at the burial at Elveden.  

 



The Maharajah fretted in the close confinement of his Paris  
lodging, missing his sport and his old friends, assailed by feel-  

ings of melancholy and self-pity. Oliphant reported that he  

was 'in a most critical condition, kidney trouble - dropsical  

symptoms - intense irritability of temper*.*® At times he  

would be his amiable old self, at others he would fulminate  

against the India Office and concoct svild plans to get even  

with them; sometimes he svoold express regret for his in-  

gratitude to 'his only real friend' - the queen. He seemed  

to have given up altogether his aspirations to saintly Sikhdom  
- Abdul Rasul, back in Paris after release from imprison-  

ment in India, was suing him for breach of contract. Lord  

DufTcrin, his old antagonist, who was just then Ambassador  

in Paris, reported back to the queen that Baron Texter dc  
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Raviii. » Parit friend of the Maharajah, had told him h<  

had talked a great deal about religion and the Utble  

and had ‘expreaud hit with to die with hit hand upon that  

Book*.**  

 

Victor, detpite hit admirable patience and tentc of duty  

at hit fathet'i eldot ton. wai having a difficult time. The  

poor Maharajah mutt have realired that he wai being a  

burden to hit family and, perhap becaute hit lecond wife  

wat not ihowinp him the dedication he felt wai hit due. laid  

he would po to Egypt for the winter, and would go alone.  
No doubt he widied to make hh peace with the American  

mmionariet in Cairo who mutt have fclr uncomfortable at  

the outcome of a marriage they had encouraged. It wai. of  

course, not praaieal for him to travel alone, to Victor uid  

be would accompany him and made all the arrangCTnenti  

for the journey, but no tooncr had he done to than hit father  

changed hit mind, declaring that he had thought better of the  

idea and would re«vi>ic Algiers, It could he imagined that  

he had a hankering for the temperate Mediterranean, but  

despite any ideat he may have had in this direction he wat  

finally penuaded that they would uke a small house in  

Lendon for the winter, and accordingly in October.  
Frederick went to look for one with hit stepmother, glad to  

escape from the difficult domestic aimotphexc. Victor hurned  

off to Berlin to be svith hit best fnend, Lord Carnarvon,  

who had been taken ill ihcre.”  

 

It was the first time in two years that hit wife had left  

him without her. but there were hh two little girli, Paulina  

and Ada. to keep him company. He had them visit him every  

day and enjoyed their simple prattle. Five-ycar-^ild Paulina  

reported that she had had a Icircr from ‘Mammy* and that  

she was planninga reply. Her father told her to send his los-e  
and to ask when she was coming back. He would let the  

children play with his silver hawk bells, retained since boy-  

hood. a treat they invariably demanded. On Saturday. 21  

October, he sent for them three times during the course of  

the day and on the last occasion, m a spmt they did not  
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then understand, made them a present of the precious  

mementos of his sporting youth.**  

 

That night the Maharajah had what was described as an  

apoplectic fit. He died on the evening of the following day,  
never having regained consciousness.  

 

Tlie queen heard thesadnewseven before the family. Lord  

Dufferin telegraphed: ‘The Maharajah Dulcep Singh has died  

here suddenly in the absence of any of his family who will  

not arrive till this evening - 1 have recommended to sanaion  

the body being embalmed.**' The following day the Prince  

of Wales telegraphed his mother from Newmarket: *1 was  

much shocked at poor Dufeep Singh's death having known  

him so long and saw him in Paris three years ago.'**  

 
To Victor, now returned to Paris, and very distressed at  

having been absent at the critical time, the queen wrote her  

condolences:  

 

My dear Victor Dulcep Singh. It is with sincere concern that  

1 heard of the death of your father which was telegraphed to me  

by Lord Dufferin &: of which t was afterwards informed by your  

kind letter for which 1 thank you very much. 1 need hardly say  

how 1 like to Ju-tll on former years when I knew your dear Father  

so well, and saw him so often, tlf we were all so fond of him. He  

was so handsome &• so charming! But I will dwell on the few  
years which followed which were so painful. Iris however a great  

comfort a satisfaction to me that I saw the Maharajah Dulcep  

Singh two years ago at Grasse. that all was made up between  

us. I know ihat this was much owing to your, & your brother  

Frederick's good influence. I have desired my Lord in Waiting,  

Lord Camoys, to attend your Father’s funeral on my behalf, &  

to place a wreath on his coffin. Pray accept the expression of  

my warmest sympathy in your bcasry loss, & to convey the same  

to your brothers & sisters. Be assured that I shall always take the  

deepest interest in the welfare & happiness of younrlf and your  

Brother Sistcis - 4: Believe me always your affectionate friend  

Sc Godmother. Victoria R.f.**  
 

ft IS not on record iTthe bereaved maftaranf was in any  

way put out by the queen’s continuing lack of recognition.  
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The funeral took place on 39 October in the little church  

opposite the house at Elvedcn. TTie Maharajah’s coffin stood  

on low pine trestles in the simple chancel, flanked on each  

side by family pews. Long before half-past twelve, when the  

service was scheduled to begin, the church was quite filled  



by estate workers and people from neighbouring villages,  
many of whom discreetly withdrew into the churchyard on  

the arrival of the ‘gentry’ come up from London by special  

train. To the accompaniment of appropriately gloomy  

chords from the organ, Ada entered the church led by  

Victor, followed by Frederick, Bamba, Catherine and Sophia.  

Lord Czmoys made a stately scand-m for the queen. Lord  

Kimberley also sent a representarive. Sir Owen Borne  

attended in person. After the service the coffin was carried  

on the shoulders of burly tenants to the open grave and  
deposited in a small stone vault. Wreaths from old friends  

lay round about: the maharani’s was a star of lilies and  

camellias svith ADA worked in violets in the middle; there  

were remembrances from the Walsinghams, the Henmfccn,  

Ronald Leven, Mitchell Henry MR, the Logins' son, and  

many other friends from France and England. The Prince of  

Walessem a wreath inscribed ‘For old Lang Syne’. Another,  

made of immortelles, simply said 'From Queen Viaoria’.*’  

TTie plate on the coffin lid told a brief story of birth and  

death — ‘Dulecp Singh, Maharajah of Lahore, GHCSI. Bom  

4th September tSjS. Died zz October 189J.’  
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The Maharajah’s second wife, Ada. died in 1930.  

 

Of fhe Maharajah’s chSSfcn hy his first marriage, Victor  

married Lady Anne Coventry in 1892 and died without issue  

in 191S. Frederick died unmarried in 2928; he was a popular  

Norfolk squire and an enthusiastic local historian. He Jived  

at Bio Norton Hall. Bamba married Dr Sutherland, who was  

at one time in charge of the Lahore Medical School. Bamba  

died in Lahore, without issue, in 1957. Of Catherine and  

Sophia, little information can be found, except that neither  

had children, and Sophia died in 1948.  
 

As for the children of the second marriage: Ada married  

M. Villement and died without issue in 2926, having com-  

m/ffed suicide. Paulina married Lieut. Terry and was also  

childless.  

 

Thus, so far as the record shows, there are no living direct  

descendants of the Maharajah Duleep Singh.  

 

Elveden was sold by the Maharajah’s trustees at the India  

Office to the ist Earl of Jveagh in 2894 for £iS9>ooo. The  
estate is owned today by the present Lord Iveagh.  

 

In 2966 Thakur Singh’s grandson was paid 5.000 rupees  

by the Government of the Punjab as payment of ‘symbolic  

compensation of land confiscated during the British regime ,  



and in recognition of the pan he played in Duleep Singh s  
‘struggle against the British Government in India'.  
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